IN SEARCH OF IN VIVO MSC

EDITED BY: Simone Pacini and Mario Petrini PUBLISHED IN: Frontiers in Cell and Developmental Biology







Frontiers Copyright Statement

© Copyright 2007-2017 Frontiers Media SA. All rights reserved.

All content included on this site, such as text, graphics, logos, button icons, images, video/audio clips, downloads, data compilations and software, is the property of or is licensed to Frontiers Media SA ("Frontiers") or its licensees and/or subcontractors. The copyright in the text of individual articles is the property of their respective authors, subject to a license granted to Frontiers.

The compilation of articles constituting this e-book, wherever published, as well as the compilation of all other content on this site, is the exclusive property of Frontiers. For the conditions for downloading and copying of e-books from Frontiers' website, please see the Terms for Website Use. If purchasing Frontiers e-books from other websites or sources, the conditions of the website concerned apply.

Images and graphics not forming part of user-contributed materials may not be downloaded or copied without permission.

Individual articles may be downloaded and reproduced in accordance with the principles of the CC-BY licence subject to any copyright or other notices. They may not be re-sold as an e-book.

As author or other contributor you grant a CC-BY licence to others to reproduce your articles, including any graphics and third-party materials supplied by you, in accordance with the Conditions for Website Use and subject to any copyright notices which you include in connection with your articles and materials.

All copyright, and all rights therein, are protected by national and international copyright laws.

The above represents a summary only. For the full conditions see the Conditions for Authors and the Conditions for Website Use.

ISSN 1664-8714 ISBN 978-2-88945-235-4 DOI 10.3389/978-2-88945-235-4

About Frontiers

Frontiers is more than just an open-access publisher of scholarly articles: it is a pioneering approach to the world of academia, radically improving the way scholarly research is managed. The grand vision of Frontiers is a world where all people have an equal opportunity to seek, share and generate knowledge. Frontiers provides immediate and permanent online open access to all its publications, but this alone is not enough to realize our grand goals.

Frontiers Journal Series

The Frontiers Journal Series is a multi-tier and interdisciplinary set of open-access, online journals, promising a paradigm shift from the current review, selection and dissemination processes in academic publishing. All Frontiers journals are driven by researchers for researchers; therefore, they constitute a service to the scholarly community. At the same time, the Frontiers Journal Series operates on a revolutionary invention, the tiered publishing system, initially addressing specific communities of scholars, and gradually climbing up to broader public understanding, thus serving the interests of the lay society, too.

Dedication to Quality

Each Frontiers article is a landmark of the highest quality, thanks to genuinely collaborative interactions between authors and review editors, who include some of the world's best academicians. Research must be certified by peers before entering a stream of knowledge that may eventually reach the public - and shape society; therefore, Frontiers only applies the most rigorous and unbiased reviews.

Frontiers revolutionizes research publishing by freely delivering the most outstanding research, evaluated with no bias from both the academic and social point of view. By applying the most advanced information technologies, Frontiers is catapulting scholarly publishing into a new generation.

What are Frontiers Research Topics?

Frontiers Research Topics are very popular trademarks of the Frontiers Journals Series: they are collections of at least ten articles, all centered on a particular subject. With their unique mix of varied contributions from Original Research to Review Articles, Frontiers Research Topics unify the most influential researchers, the latest key findings and historical advances in a hot research area! Find out more on how to host your own Frontiers Research Topic or contribute to one as an author by contacting the Frontiers Editorial Office: **researchtopics@frontiersin.org**

IN SEARCH OF IN VIVO MSC

Topic Editors: Simone Pacini, University of Pisa, Italy Mario Petrini, University of Pisa, Italy



Although MSCs have been largely studied for their interesting applications in clinical trials, several aspects of MSC biology are still unclear. The heterogeneity and morpho-functional variability of MSC cell preparations could be expression of the effects of culture conditions. Culture determinants can indeed select, or simply promote, particular subpopulations of MSC-like cells. Recently, perivascular localization of MSC precursors may explain their presence in a wide range of tissues and organs. In particular, in bone marrow pericytes has been identified as the major source of MSCs and the positivity to nestin has been decribed in correlation with the establishment of the hemopoietic niche. In this figure, immunofluorescence on bone marrow slice for CD146 (red) and nestin (green) reveals the perivascular localization of the cells that has been considered the *in vivo* progenitor of bone marrow MSCs. (C) 2016 Simone Pacini all rights reserved

The concept of multipotent mesenchymal stromal cells (MSCs) arose from the work of A. J. Friedenstein and coworkers in which the authors observed that culturing human bone marrow (BM) cell suspensions, in plastic dishes, lead to isolation of proliferating adhered colonies of fribroblastoid cells able to differentiate into chondrocytes or osteoblasts, in vitro and *in vivo*. Authors firstly described these cells as colony forming units of fibroblastoid cells (CFU-Fs) referring to their ability to form large colonies on plastic surfaces.

The acronymous "MSC" became popular after the work of A. I. Caplan et al in 1991 where the authors proposed that in adult BM, a population of stem cells could differentiate into different tissues originated from the mesodermal layer, during embryonic development. They termed these cells as "mesenchymal stem cells" (MSCs). Later, the multilineage differentiation capability of MSCs was then definitively demonstrated, these cells shown a stable phenotype expressing novel markers as CD105, CD73 and CD90 and could be expanded retaining the ability to differentiate, in vitro, into vary mesodermal tissues. Some investigators described these latest findings as the definitive characterization of the culture expanded CFU-F population originally described by Friedenstein group, but the identity of the putative *in vivo* MSC remain enigmatic.

Emerging interest in identifying the MSCs *in vivo* counterpart in order to indicate feasible prospective isolation methods lead to increasing number of ex vivo isolating immunological procedures. Nonetheless, any effort failed to describe a definitive and widely accepted protocol, and significantly contributed to the ongoing confusion in the description of the *in vivo* MSC identity. Meanly, the inconclusive data about isolation of the putative MSC progenitor could be ascribed to the assumption that any marker expressed on culture-expanded MSCs was also likely to be present *in vivo*. Consequently, independent laboratories have begun to use different markers of cultured MSCs to search for MSCs in the source tissue. This has resulted in the perception that these *in vivo* progenitors were highly heterogeneous cell population and that the different protocols applied could lead to the isolation of distinct sub-populations showing increased CFU-F frequencies.

This issue is organized in two sections. In the first section, there are collected articles regarding the effects of culture determinats on the heterogeneity of MSC preparations, and how to interpret data from culture expanded cells. The second section presents contributes regarding the impact of MSCs and their *in vivo* counterpart on health and disease.

Citation: Pacini, S., Petrini, M., eds. (2017). In Search of *In Vivo* MSC. Lausanne: Frontiers Media. doi: 10.3389/978-2-88945-235-4

Table of Contents

05 Editorial: In Search of In vivo MSC

Simone Pacini and Mario Petrini

Section 1. HETEREOGENEITY OF CULTURED MSCs AND THE "SELECTIVE GROWTH HYPOTHESIS"

08 Human bone marrow mesenchymal progenitors: perspectives on an optimized in vitro manipulation

Eric Cordeiro-Spinetti, Wallace de Mello, Lucas Siqueira Trindade, Dennis D. Taub, Russell S. Taichman and Alex Balduino

- 16 Growth Factor Content in Human Sera Affects the Isolation of Mesangiogenic Progenitor Cells (MPCs) from Human Bone Marrow Marina Montali, Serena Barachini, Francesca M. Panvini, Vittoria Carnicelli, Franca Fulceri, Iacopo Petrini and Simone Pacini
- 27 Are MSCs angiogenic cells? New insights on human nestin-positive bone marrow-derived multipotent cells Simone Pacini and Iacopo Petrini
- 38 In vitro alteration of physiological parameters do not hamper the growth of human multipotent vascular wall-mesenchymal stem cells Carmen Ciavarella, Silvia Fittipaldi, Silvia Pedrini, Francesco Vasuri, Enrico Gallitto,

Antonio Freyrie, Andrea Stella, Elena Gostjeva and Gianandrea Pasquinelli

- 48 Nanotopography Induced Human Bone Marrow Mesangiogenic Progenitor Cells (MPCs) to Mesenchymal Stromal Cells (MSCs) Transition Sara Antonini, Marina Montali, Emanuela Jacchetti, Sandro Meucci, Paolo D. Parchi, Serena Barachini, Francesca M. Panvini, Simone Pacini, Iacopo Petrini and Marco Cecchini
- 58 Glycan Profiling Shows Unvaried N-Glycomes in MSC Clones with Distinct Differentiation Potentials

Katherine M. Wilson, Jane E. Thomas-Oates, Paul G. Genever and Daniel Ungar

Section 2. IN VIVO MSCs AND DISEASE

- 68 Stem cell therapy and tissue engineering for correction of congenital heart disease Elisa Avolio, Massimo Caputo and Paolo Madeddu
- 85 Intractable diseases treated with intra-bone marrow-bone marrow transplantation Ming Li, Kuquan Guo and Susumu Ikehara
- **91** *Recruitment of bone marrow-derived cells to periodontal tissue defects* Yasuyuki Kimura, Motohiro Komaki, Kengo Iwasaki, Masataka Sata, Yuichi Izumi and Ikuo Morita
- **97** *Cancer-associated mesenchymal stem cells aggravate tumor progression* Chie Kudo-Saito





Editorial: In Search of In vivo MSC

Simone Pacini * and Mario Petrini

Department of Clinical and Experimental Medicine, University of Pisa, Pisa, Italy

Keywords: *in vivo* MSC, MSCs, mesenchymal stem cells, multipotent stem cells, multipotent cell differentiation, bone marrow transplantation, adult stem cells

Editorial on the Research Topic

In Search of In vivo MSC

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Atsushi Asakura, University of Minnesota, United States

Reviewed by:

Atsushi Asakura, University of Minnesota, United States Aaron W. James, Johns Hopkins University, United States Akiyoshi Uezumi, Tokyo Metropolitan Institute of Gerontology, Japan

> *Correspondence: Simone Pacini simone.pacini@do.unipi.it

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Stern Cell Research, a section of the journal Frontiers in Cell and Developmental Biology

> Received: 04 April 2017 Accepted: 15 May 2017 Published: 29 May 2017

Citation:

Pacini S and Petrini M (2017) Editorial: In Search of In vivo MSC. Front. Cell Dev. Biol. 5:60. doi: 10.3389/fcell.2017.00060 The concept of multipotent mesenchymal stromal cells (MSCs) arose from the work of Friedenstein et al., in which the authors observed that culturing human bone marrow (hBM) cell suspensions, lead to isolation of proliferating adhered colonies of fribroblastoid cells able to differentiate into chondrocytes or osteoblasts, *in vitro* (Friedenstein et al., 1968), and *in vivo* (Friedenstein et al., 1974). Emerging interest in identifying the MSCs *in vivo* counterpart lead to increasing number *of ex vivo* isolating procedures. Nonetheless, any effort failed to describe a definitive accepted protocol, and significantly contributed to the ongoing confusion in the *in vivo* MSC identity (Trombi et al., 2009; Cordeiro-Spinetti et al., 2014; Montali et al., 2016). This resulted in the perception that these *in vivo* progenitors were highly heterogeneous cell population.

Due to this uncertainty, after several decades from its first description the colony-forming units assay remain the elective indirect method to quantify mesenchymal progenitors in a cell suspension. Nonetheless, it is known that colonies are highly heterogeneous and arise from a single progenitor with different level of "stemness" or "commitment" (Muraglia et al., 2000; Russell et al., 2010), which may correlate with colony size and cell distribution (Kuznetsov et al., 2009). In this issue, Eric Cordeiro-Spinetti and colleagues discuss how variability in FBS could affect CFU-F size, frequency and morphology. Authors suggest a "Selective Growth Hypothesis" where distinct mesenchymal progenitors could be differentially induced to proliferate or to remain quiescent depending on serum concentration of different growth factors (Cordeiro-Spinetti et al., 2014).

We had also proposed the "Selective Growth Hypothesis" explaining the emergence of a new stromal progenitor in primary cultures of hBM cells (Trombi et al., 2009). These cells, recently renamed "Mesangiongenic Progenitor Cells" (MPCs) retaining both mesengenic and angiogenic potential (Montali et al., 2016). MPCs could be easily obtained culturing hBM cells in minimal essential medium supplemented with pooled human AB type sera (PhABS) in place of FBS. However, the efficient MPC isolation had always been affected by a great lot-to-lot variability. Here, Montali et al. demonstrated that this variability is in close correlation with the concentration of few specific growth factors, supporting the hypothesis propose by Cordeiro-Spinetti's group.

Most of the controversies still debated on MSC differentiating/supporting potential, could be ascribed to the heterogeneity of MSC culture products and the variability related to their fabrication. Unfortunately, there are still no phenotypical and molecular markers that could be efficiently applied evaluating the potential of a MSC primary culture. Here Wilson et al. investigated the possibility to apply glycan profiling to predict the cell differentiating potential. In their interesting new approach, Authors compare *N*-Glycomes from different MSC clones showing distinct osteogenic activity, *in vitro*.

In addition, one the most debated controversy in MSC biology is represented by the genuine angiogenic potential of these cells. In this issue, Iacopo Petrini and I try to answer to the question: "Are MSC angiogenic cells?" hypothesizing that the presence of undetected MPCs, could be responsible for the angiogenic potential of MSC cultures reported by some Authors but not yet definitely demonstrated (Pacini and Petrini).

Here above, the "Selective Growth Hypothesis" has been discussed in correlation to the concentration of particular growth factors. Nonetheless, many others culture parameters could deterministically and stochastically varying during the culture time as cell density, pH, temperature, nutrient impoverishment, medium evaporation and oxygen tension (Pacini, 2014), resulting in cell stressing conditions. Under those conditions some particularly stress resistant sub-populations could be positively selected. Ciavarella et al. explored this hypothesis, applying extremely adverse conditions to cultures of vascular wall-derived MSC and reporting interesting results on cell survival. Moreover, Antonini et al. suggest that also nanotopography of the culture surface should be taken in account as further culture determinant Antonini et al. These results corroborate the hypothesis that an untreatable number of external factors contributing to the heterogeneity of in vitro isolated/expanded populations.

BM still represents the most extensively studied source of MSCs and the hypothesis that these cells could migrate from BM to other injured organs triggering tissue regeneration has gaining evidence. Kimura et al. demonstrate the recruitment of BM-derived MSC progenitors in periodontal tissue defects produced in a chimeric mouse model. Moreover, it has been demonstrated that these cells could be recruited also by tumor tissues in respond to inflammatory molecules and MSCs have been considered contributing to cancer progression. In this topic, Kudo-Saito summarizes current knowledge about the role of MSCs in tumor aggravation.

BM-derived cells could also be applied to allogeneic BM transplantation (BMT) where hemopoietic stem cells (HSCs) and MSCs could be systemically administered, restoring normal hemopoiesis thank to their *"homing"* ability and BMT also represents a therapeutic approach to autoimmune diseases. However, some reports demonstrated that stroma cells could be

REFERENCES

- Cordeiro-Spinetti, E., de Mello, W., Trindade, L. S., Taub, D. D., Taichman, R. S., and Balduino, A. (2014). Human bone marrow mesenchymal progenitors: perspectives on an optimized *in vitro* manipulation. *Front. Cell Dev. Biol.* 2:7. doi: 10.3389/fcell.2014.00007
- Friedenstein, A. J., Chailakhyan, R. K., Latsinik, N. V., Panasyuk, A. F., and Keiliss-Borok, I. V. (1974). Stromal cells responsible for transferring the microenvironment of the hemopoietic tissues. Cloning *in vitro* and retransplantation *in vivo. Transplantation* 17, 331–340.
- Friedenstein, A. J., Petrakova, K. V., Kurolesova, A. I., and Frolova, G. P. (1968). Heterotopic of bone marrow. Analysis of precursor

trapped in the liver when are systemically infused. To overcome this obstacle, Professor Ikehara's group defined the methodology to directly inject BM into the bone cavity, demonstrating that this methods results more effective in allogenic BMT. This Research Topic hosts an interesting review article about the application of *intra-bone marrow-bone marrow transplantation* (IBM-BMT) in the treatment of rheumatoid arthritis and malignant tumors (Li et al.).

Expanded and *ex vivo* isolated MSCs from different tissues of origin has been under extensive investigations also for the treatment of heart diseases, which have a great impact on public health. Professor Paolo Madeddu, in collaboration with Paolo Caputo and Elisa Avolio, here presented a comprehensive review on stem cell therapies for congenital heart diseases (Avolio et al.).

Although MSCs might be considered the most intensely studied adult multipotent cells, comparison of existing preclinical and clinical data reveals a significant level of uncertainty. Most of the reduced predictability of pre-clinical studies could be ascribed to the uncertainty about the genuine MSC *ex vivo* ancestors. The identification of these cells could be affected by an untreatable number of variables related to the donors, the tissue of origins and cell manipulations.

Thus, the application of highly purified cell populations, finely characterized and unequivocally defined by specific manipulation procedures is of primary importance. All the contributions collected in this Research Topic strongly suggest avoiding the generic definition of MSC to characterize the various multipotent cell populations object of study.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

SP: Revised the literature and drafted the article, MP: Revised the literature and final approve.

FUNDING

This work was funded by "Centro per l'Uso Clinico delle Cellule Staminali" (CUCCS) as part of the project "Impiego di cellule stromali mesenchimali di origine midollare nelle pseudoartrosi, cisti ossee di astragalo e osteotomie in plus delle ossa lunghe" (project number 539999_2014_Petrini_ CUCCS).

cells for osteogenic and hematopoietic tissues. *Transplantation* 6, 230–247.

- Kuznetsov, S. A., Mankani, M. H., Bianco, P., and Robey, P. G. (2009). Enumeration of the colony-forming units-fibroblast from mouse and human bone marrow in normal and pathological conditions. *Stem Cell Res* 2, 83–94. doi: 10.1016/j.scr.2008.07.007
- Montali, M., Barachini, S., Pacini, S., Panvini, F. M., and Petrini, M. (2016). Isolating Mesangiogenic Progenitor Cells (MPCs) from human bone marrow. *J. Vis. Exp.* e54225. doi: 10.3791/54225
- Muraglia, A., Cancedda, R., and Quarto, R. (2000). Clonal mesenchymal progenitors from human bone marrow differentiate *in vitro* according to a hierarchical model. J. Cell Sci. 113(Pt 7), 1161–1166.

- Pacini, S. (2014). Deterministic and stochastic approaches in the clinical application of mesenchymal stromal cells (MSCs). *Front. Cell Dev. Biol.* 2:50. doi: 10.3389/fcell.2014.00050
- Russell, K. C., Phinney, D. G., Lacey, M. R., Barrilleaux, B. L., Meyertholen, K. E., and O'Connor, K. C. (2010). *In vitro* high-capacity assay to quantify the clonal heterogeneity in trilineage potential of mesenchymal stem cells reveals a complex hierarchy of lineage commitment. *Stem Cells* 28, 788–798. doi: 10.1002/stem.312
- Trombi, L., Pacini, S., Montali, M., Fazzi, R., Chiellini, F., Ikehara, S., et al. (2009). Selective culture of mesodermal progenitor cells. *Stem Cells Dev.* 18, 1227–1234. doi: 10.1089/scd.2009.0054

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2017 Pacini and Petrini. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) or licensor are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

Human bone marrow mesenchymal progenitors: perspectives on an optimized *in vitro* manipulation

Eric Cordeiro-Spinetti¹, Wallace de Mello^{1,2}, Lucas Siqueira Trindade³, Dennis D. Taub⁴, Russell S. Taichman⁵ and Alex Balduino^{1,6}*

¹ LaBioTeC, Universidade Veiga de Almeida, Rio de Janeiro, Brazil

² Laboratório de Pesquisas sobre o Timo, Instituto Oswaldo Cruz, Fiocruz, Rio de Janeiro, Brazil

³ Department of Biological Sciences, Tokyo Metropolitan University, Hachioji, Tokyo, Japan

⁴ Department of Vetarans Affairs, Hematology and Immunology Research, Washington DC Veterans Affairs Medical Center, Washington, DC, USA

⁵ School of Dentistry, Department of Periodontics and Oral Medicine, University of Michigan, Ann Arbor, MI, USA

⁶ Excellion Serviços Biomédicos, Petrópolis, Rio de Janeiro, Brazil

Edited by:

Mario Petrini, University of Pisa, Italy

Reviewed by:

Robert Paul Rhoads, Virginia Polytechnic Institute and State University, USA Hong Zhang, Harvard Stem Cell Institute, Harvard Medical School, USA

*Correspondence:

Alex Balduino, Laboratório de Biologia e Tecnologia Celular – LaBioTeC, Universidade Veiga de Almeida, Rua Ibituruna, 108, casa 3, 2° andar – Vila Universitária, Tijuca, Rio de Janeiro, RJ 20271-901, Brazil e-mail: balduino@uva.br When it comes to regenerative medicine, mesenchymal stem cells (MSCs) are considered one of the most promising cell types for use in many cell therapies and bioengineering protocols. The International Society of Cellular Therapy recommended minimal criteria for defining multipotential MSC is based on adhesion and multipotency *in vitro*, and the presence or absence of select surface markers. Though these criteria help minimize discrepancies and allow some comparisons of data generated in different laboratories, the conditions in which cells are isolated and expanded are often not considered. Herein, we propose and recommend a few procedures to be followed to facilitate the establishment of quality control standards when working with mesenchymal progenitors isolation and expansion. Following these procedures, the classic Colony-Forming Unit-Fibroblast (CFU-f) assay is revisited and three major topics are considered to define conditions and to assist on protocol optimization and data interpretation. We envision that the creation of a guideline will help in the identification and isolation of long-term stem cells and short-term progenitors to better explore their regenerative potential for multiple therapeutic purposes.

Keywords: bone marrow, mesenchymal stem cell, colony, in vitro expansion, mutipotent progenitor

INTRODUCTION

To minimize discrepancies and inconsistencies, and allow comparison of data generated in different laboratories, members of the International Society of Cellular Therapy (ISCT) (Horwitz et al., 2005) have recommended minimal criteria for defining multipotential mesenchymal stem cells (MSCs). By ISCT criteria, MSCs must adhere and grow on a substrate in vitro and give rise to osteoblasts, chondrocytes, adipocytes, and hematopoiesissupporting reticular stroma when cultured under proper differentiation conditions. MSCs must also express CD73, CD90, and CD105, but not express hematopoietic cells and endothelial cells markers (Barry et al., 1999, 2001; Jones et al., 2002; Horwitz et al., 2005; Dominici et al., 2006; Sarugaser et al., 2009). Further investigation unveiled a few other surface markers, among which CD146 has been demonstrated to be consistently expressed by all MSCs and progenitors (Bianco et al., 1988; Shih, 1999; Dennis et al., 2002; Tuli et al., 2003; Zannettino et al., 2003; Sacchetti et al., 2007).

Growing evidence indicates an intimate relationship between MSCs and those cells identified as pericytes, since these two populations demonstrate similar behavior and potential *in vitro* and *in vivo* (Shi and Gronthos, 2003; Sacchetti et al., 2007; Taichman et al., 2010; Péault, 2012). Pericytes are perivascular cells which reside on the abluminal side of sinusoids and are known to express the proteoglycan NG2, alpha smooth muscle actin (α SMA), and Platelet Derived Growth Factor Receptor

(PDGFR) (Andreeva et al., 1998; Crisan et al., 2008a, 2009; Maier et al., 2010). Similarities to pericytes led to the concept that all tissues in the body harbor their own population of mesenchymal*like* stem cells. Of note, it is important to stress that these cells are influenced by the niche they occupy *in vivo*, making them similar to each other, but with a few distinct characteristics and differentiation bias. Mesenchymal-*like* stem cells and progenitors have been isolated from several tissues, but adipose tissue and bone marrow are usually indicated as most promising sources of these cells by those working in the cell therapy and bioengineering fields (Da Silva Meirelles et al., 2006; Crisan et al., 2008b; Corselli et al., 2011). Yet to date, no specific or combination of markers can be used to distinguish multipotential MSCs from committed progenitors. A differentiation cascade, similar to the hematopoietic system, has not yet been assembled and confirmed.

Friedenstein and coworkers (Friedenstein et al., 1974a,b; Friedenstein, 1976; Owen and Friedenstein, 1988) were the first to describe the existence of a second category of progenitors residing in the marrow cavity, and named them stromal progenitor cells. His cues came with an *in vivo* assay, in which bone marrow cells were loaded into chambers and implanted subcutaneously in rats (Friedenstein et al., 1966, 1974b). After several weeks of implantation, bone-*like* mineralized nodules and cuboidal osteoblasts were observed inside the chambers in the new-formed tissue. The chamber's pores were too small and prevented cells from migrating into or out of the chambers, supporting the concept

that the new bony tissue formed inside the chambers was exclusively generated from donor cells rather than recipient cells. Additional studies identified this activity belonging to the nonhematopoietic stromal fraction. In vitro, they showed that when bone marrow cells were placed into culture at low density, a few of them adhered, proliferated, and gave rise to colonies of fibroblast-like cells (CFU-f). These adherent fibroblast-like cells, but not the hematopoietic cells, when implanted in vivo, differentiated into bone tissue and bone marrow stroma, confirming that the bone marrow microenvironment is the niche for two distinct progenitors populations (Friedenstein et al., 1966, 1974a; Owen and Friedenstein, 1988). Cells were then named stromal stem cells. Later, further clonal manipulation and in vivo observations led different authors to propose different names, such as mesenchymal stem cells (Caplan, 1991, 2007) and skeletal stem cells (Bianco, 2011), to define almost the same cell population. However, it is important to stress that, even though these names have been used unrestrictedly as synonyms by several different authors, conceptually and originally, they indicate significant differences among the cells, mainly concerning their differentiation potential.

Although several research groups have described different strategies to isolate mesenchymal cells, the CFU-f assay has undergone almost no change since its original description by Friedenstein and coworkers (Friedenstein et al., 1970, 1974b). Higher proliferative rates are usually related to the stem cell and progenitor populations in most normal tissues. It is therefore assumed that each colony of fibroblast-*like* cells (CFU-f) originates from a single stem and/or progenitor cell (Friedenstein et al., 1966, 1974a,b; Latsinik and Epikhina, 1974; Friedenstein, 1976), and the number of colonies observed represents the number of nucleated cells plated.

For researchers working with mesenchymal cells isolation and expansion, this is the most widely accepted assay used to quantify progenitors numbers. In the present perspective we addressed major topics we believe are most relevant regarding a few specific and distinct aspects of *in vitro* cell adhesion and growth. Even though CFU-f assay is very simple to perform, we proposed three different strategies based on progenitors *in vitro* clonogenic potential, which might be helpful to define standard conditions to optimize *in vitro* manipulation, and provide data linearity and reproducibility.

NUMBER OF CELLS IN A COLONY

In the late 1960's and early 1970's, Alexander Friedenstein and colleagues (Friedenstein et al., 1966, 1970) began their journey into the bone marrow cavity and defined the primary conditions to quantify a sub-population of, by that time, osteogenic progenitors among all bone marrow stromal cells (Friedenstein et al., 1966, 1982). In the original protocol, single cell suspensions of bone marrow cells are plated at low-density $(10^4-10^5$ nucleated cells per cm²) and incubated in DMEM supplemented with fetal bovine serum (FBS). Seventy-two hours later, the non-adherent cells are washed out and the adherent fraction is incubated in fresh culture medium. Culture medium is renewed every 3–4 days over a ten-day culture. After a total of 13 days, the cells

are fixed and further stained in crystal violet, and the colonies are counted (Satomura et al., 2000; Kuznetsov et al., 2009). It is assumed in this case that when bone marrow cells are plated in low-density cultures, the colonies will not reach each other's borders supporting that each colony is derived from a single progenitor. However, it is important to keep in mind that colonies are heterogeneous and, although each one is derived from a single progenitor, not all display a multilineage differentiation potential. Many are already committed to a specific lineage, following the hierarchical-like and controlled differentiation cascade (Muraglia et al., 2000; Sarugaser et al., 2009; Russell et al., 2010). Colonies also display different sizes and cell distribution within the cultures, which may correlate to cell differentiation stage (Figure 1). Additional studies have revealed that \sim 30% of all BM mesenchymal progenitors colonies present trilineage potentialosteogenic, chondrogenic, and adipogenic-in vitro. Sacchetti and coworkers (Sacchetti et al., 2007) demonstrated that ~50% of the CD146⁺ clonal mesenchymal progenitors isolated from the bone marrow cultures give rise to compact bone, but not bone marrow, when implanted in vivo, indicating that half of the progenitors, upon isolation from an adult bone marrow, are already committed to the osteogenic lineage.

As for several tissues, cells are classified into three categories: (1) stem cells, (2) intermediate progenitors and (3) differentiated cells. Typically, differentiated cells possess low proliferation ability in vitro, while intermediate progenitors present high proliferative rates under stimulus. On the other hand, stem cells are quiescent cells in vivo, but in vitro, under the proper culture conditions, exit the quiescence stage and become highly proliferative (Stanley et al., 1971; Urabe et al., 1979; Nicola and Metcalf, 1986; Oh and Humphries, 2012; Bianco et al., 2013). When analyzed in this perspective, it is expected that several stromal cell populations adhere to the culture flask surface in the first three days of culture, namely differentiated reticular cells, committed progenitors and stem cells. Only progenitors and stem cells will proliferate to generate colonies. Regardless progenitors commitment, what features each group of cells must present to be identified as a colony? Based on the original protocol and refinements suggested by several laboratories (Wagner et al., 2009; Bianco et al., 2013), only colonies consisting of more than 50 cells should be classified as a colony (Kuznetsov et al., 2009). Colonies quantification can be performed under the microscope, but stained colonies with more than 50 cells are easily observed directly by the "naked eye." It must be acknowledged that growth-promoting activity will vary from FBS lot to lot, which may change CFU-f results. Thus, a quality control should be used to screen FBS lots to avoid suboptimal or "superoptimal" conditions, which may result in changes in colony formation and impact cell growth and differentiation (Mannello and Tonti, 2007).

It is clear that cell proliferation status changes accordingly as FBS is changed, which will considerably impact CFU-f results. Cell proliferation depends upon growth factors concentration and, regardless all the controls applied to serum fabrication, this varies largely from FBS lot to lot. Conversely, it is not clear how progenitors respond to serum variations. It must be determined if proliferation of progenitors *in vitro* follows a simultaneous or selective growth pattern, the latter being all





different fetal bovine serum lots. The "Simultaneous Growth Hypothesis" suggests colonies are similarly affected and respond simultaneously, proliferating more or less, but in the same proportion. The "Selective Growth Hypothesis," suggests that in response to different FBS lots, a few progenitors will proliferate more than others, as a result of growth factors concentration and combination.

progenitors will respond differently when FBS lot is changed (**Figure 2**). It is expected that all progenitors in a plate respond similarly (Simultaneous Growth Hypothesis) and, as the FBS lot is changed, they all may proliferate more or less. It is unclear if this is what occurs *in vitro*. Different from the concept that all colonies will be bigger or smaller, the Selective Growth Hypothesis proposes that big colonies might get bigger and small clusters might even not reach the colony status.

At this point, one should know that colony size (the number of cells in a colony) will matter, but only under optimized conditions. To avoid discrepancies and ensure reproducibility, the ideal condition would be to run the CFE assay under chemically defined and controlled culture medium conditions, using recombinant growth factors instead of serum, but this can be cost prohibitive. Moreover, what combination of factors is necessary to expand mesenchymal progenitors *in vitro* remains to be defined. We propose, however, that colony number, colony size, and progenitors phenotype be tested every time serum change is necessary.

DOES COLONY SIZE RELATE TO STEMNESS?

Colony forming ability is not exclusive to the mesenchymal system (Queensberry et al., 1974; Dexter, 1979; Nicola and Metcalf, 1986). A similar *in vitro* assay has been widely used to quantify hematopoietic progenitor cells. In the past, this was the only quantification tool, but it was replaced by the development of more meticulous flow cytometric phenotyping methods, which is now mostly utilized to quantify and identify hematopoietic stem cells and progenitors, although the colony assay remains widely used. It must be clear, however, that cell transplantation into myeloablated animals is the only way to fully identify *bona fide* long-term hematopoietic stem cells (Morrison et al., 1995; Gazit et al., 2008).

Hematopoietic stem cells and progenitor colony forming ability is observed when cells are cultured in semi-solid culture medium, which maintains them in close proximity to each other, as they proliferate in the presence of specific growth factors (Queensberry et al., 1974; Dexter, 1979; Nicola and Metcalf, 1986). Unlike the CFU-f assay, which is used to quantify MSCs and committed progenitors indiscriminately, the colony forming assay can be used to quantify lymphoid, erythroid, myeloid, and multipotent progenitors separately depending on the combination of specific growth factors added to the culture system (Stanley et al., 1971; Dexter, 1979; Urabe et al., 1979; Nicola and Metcalf, 1986; Quesenberry et al., 1987). Hematopoietic progenitors grow at different culture rates and present distinct morphologies *in vitro*, allowing identification and quantification of different progenitors separately and quickly.

One major observation from the hematopoietic colonyforming assay is that committed progenitors start to proliferate early (day 1 of culture), and develop into distinct colonies in 5-10 days. On the other hand, most primitive progenitors can take a few days to exit the quiescent stage and will eventually form full colonies after 9-14 days in culture (Stanley et al., 1971; Dexter, 1979; Urabe et al., 1979; Nicola and Metcalf, 1986; Quesenberry et al., 1987). Although primitive progenitors take longer to form colonies, the colonies generated are typically 2-4 times larger than those derived from committed progenitors. This in vitro behavior is in full accordance with in vivo observations, as hematopoietic stem cells are typically quiescent however, when properly stimulated, achieve higher proliferative rates compared to other progenitors (Carow et al., 1993; Ponchio et al., 1995; Hao et al., 1996; Petzer et al., 1996; Oh and Humphries, 2012). For these reasons it is often inferred that the larger the colony, the more primitive the progenitor it had been derived from.

A similar line of observation could be applied to the colonyforming unit fibroblast assay. In a 13-day culture, the committed progenitors will initiate proliferation faster *in vitro* giving rise to colonies, but these cells will rapidly undergo clonal exhaustion. Conversely, uncommitted progenitors will take longer to activate the proliferation cascade, and do not arrest during the culture period and thus result in larger colonies. Indeed, it is not unusual to correlate colony size with primitiveness of the cell of origin.

A question remains unanswered: "Is thirteen days sufficient for all multipotential stem cells to enter the cell cycle and become highly proliferative cells ex vivo?" Primitive stem cells are likely to remain deeply quiescent or proliferate very slowly in vivo. When placed in vitro, they may require longer to leave the quiescent stage but, once stimulated, their proliferative rate is likely to increase beyond that observed for intermediate progenitors. Many hypothesize that the most quiescent mesenchymal stem cells might take longer to start proliferation in vitro, which means that a few small/medium colonies may not be representative of exhausted committed progenitors, but rather indicate yet-toproliferate stem cells (Figure 3). This possibility challenges many assumptions derived from the CFU-f assay, and suggests that colony size may not necessarily reflect primitiveness. Cells in colonies derived from committed progenitors are usually large stellate-like cells, while in colonies derived from stem cells are often small and fusiform (Gothard et al., 2013). In this case, cell morphology may be a useful tool to tell apart exhausted or expanding small- and medium-sized colonies.

As discussed above, growth factor concentrations in FBS differs among serum lots, and does have significant outcomes on CFU-f size, frequency and even colony morphology. Viewed in terms of the Selective Growth Hypothesis (**Figure 2**), distinct categories of mesenchymal progenitors may be dependent upon different growth factors (and concentrations) to proliferate (or remain quiescent) *in vitro*.



than committed progenitors. However, recent data indicate that a few progenitors might require a longer time to enter replicative cycles *in vitro*. We and others hypothesize that, if cultured longer, these progenitors might originate larger colonies.

PROGENITORS ADHESION IN VITRO

Previously published data imply that all human bone marrowderived mesenchymal stem cells and progenitors with the ability to form fibroblast-like cell colonies adhere within 2-48 h in vitro, followed by a fetal bovine serum-dependent growth (Friedenstein, 1976; Castro-Malaspina et al., 1980; Kastrinaki et al., 2008; Kuznetsov et al., 2009). After this period of incubation, non-adherent cells are discarded and adherent cells are further expanded for at least 10 additional days. The original protocol designed by Friedenstein and coworkers, and corroborated by several other laboratories (Friedenstein et al., 1966, 1970; Owen and Friedenstein, 1988), established the requirement for a 72-h adhesion period prior to the elimination of non-adherent cells. This adhesion period is still considered a critical step for isolation and expansion of these progenitors. It has been described that bone marrow stromal cells must adhere to a substrate in vitro for their survival and proliferation, regardless their differentiation potential (Bruder et al., 1997; Pittenger et al., 1999; Dominici et al., 2006). Notwithstanding, authors demonstrate that stromal progenitor cells, or at least a subset of them, can be maintained in stirred suspension cultures for 21 days, and might even proliferate when induced by a combination of cytokines and growth factors (Baksh et al., 2003). Which specific stromal progenitors subsets remain in suspension are yet to be determined.

The average colony forming efficiency for normal human adult bone marrow may vary from 1 to 30 per 1×10^5 nucleated marrow cells (Beresford et al., 1994; Oreffo et al., 1998; Doucet et al., 2005; Bernardo et al., 2007; Kuznetsov et al., 2009). As previously discussed (Kuznetsov et al., 2009), such different values might be the result of either distinct cell isolation/preparation procedures or cell culture conditions, the latter meaning FBS capacity to induce progenitors proliferation *in vitro*. Although proliferation status has been a very useful tool to evaluate FBS quality, progenitors adhesion capacity, not usually considered, is crucial for colony forming efficiency and does affect the results. It is not clear, however, if and how different concentrations of growth factors and cytokines in FBS would impact progenitors adhesion in vitro. Most recently, Di Maggio and coworkers (Di Maggio et al., 2012) demonstrated that highly proliferative multipotent progenitors can be isolated from the non-adherent fraction, after 3 days, when bone marrow cells are cultured in the presence of FGF2. In addition to previous observations (Baksh et al., 2003), these data indicate that mesenchymal progenitors, or at least a subset, might change its adhesion properties accordingly as growth factors and cytokines concentration change in FBS. Currently, it is difficult to precise how much time mesenchymal stem cells and progenitors need to adhere in vitro, and how it is influenced by FBS growth factors concentrations. Further studies will be necessary as progenitors adhesion represents one crucial step when it comes to mesenchymal progenitors isolation.

PERSPECTIVE

The fibroblast-like colony-forming assay is simple to perform: cells are plated; progenitors adhere to the substrate and proliferate in a short culture period; cells are fixed and stained; colonies with more than 50 cells are counted. The number of progenitors in a given cell population can be easily approximated. Colony-forming efficiency results, however, depend upon an optimized procedure and several steps must be optimized to provide linear and reproducible data. Herein, our purpose was to revisit this classic method and open a discussion based on three issues to assist assay performance and data interpretation, but mostly to help researchers establish in their labs a standardized procedure. It is critical to optimize the ability of the cells to proliferate in response to growth factors present in the FBS, or any other source used, and this is commonly neglected due to the "quantification-only" use of the method. As a renewable source for tissue regeneration, in vitro cell expansion is almost always required for MSC populations, meaning that these cells will not be used as primary cultures, but only after, at least, 3 passages. It would be expected that after several rounds of expansion, most primitive progenitors and stem cells would take over the culture at the expense of other progenitors. Nevertheless, this has not been well elucidated so far and it is not known how mesenchymal population responds to different growth factors concentration in different serum lots. Although several research groups have described different strategies MSCs, the cell populations obtained and expanded remain heterogeneous in terms of stem cells and committed progenitors regardless of the method used for isolation (Muraglia et al., 2000; Sacchetti et al., 2007). No current method ensures isolation of a pure population of MSCs, or even whether this is desirable but this fact, the lack of standards, makes difficult understanding of the biology and true potential of these cells.

For these reasons it would be interesting that researchers establish a "surveillance system" when working with mesenchymal progenitors isolation and expansion. We therefore propose a list of three procedures recommended as controls. First, it would be highly desirable for each laboratory to keep a standard collection of bone marrow samples to be used as references for testing serum lots. Conceptually, each lab could select representative bone marrow samples, split each of them into equal aliquots (10, 20, 30, or as many as possible), freeze all at the same time, and cryopreserve (**Figure 4**). These aliquots will be used to test serum "quality" every time changes of lots are necessary.

As a second control instrument, the influence of FBS in progenitors adhesion should be evaluated, regarding colony forming efficiency (**Figure 5**). In one group (we suggest triplicate), bone marrow cells are incubated in culture medium supplemented with control serum. After 72 h, non-adherent cells are discarded and adherent cells are cultured for 10 additional days also in culture medium supplemented with control FBS. In another group, bone marrow cells are incubated in culture medium supplemented with testing serum. After 72 h, non-adherent cells are discarded and adherent cells are culture for 10 additional days in culture medium supplemented with control FBS. The main objective of the assay is to analyze if different serum lots contribute to colony forming efficiency change at the expense of cell adhesion or cell proliferation.

Mesenchymal progenitors' self-renewal capacity can be tested by evaluating the ability of expanded clones to originate secondary colonies upon replating. As a third parameter, we propose the secondary colony forming efficiency assay (**Figure 6**). One thousand cells from the primary colony-forming cultures may be replated and cultured for additional 10 days. Cells are, then, fixed and stained. It is important to highlight that, in all three assays colony numbers, and colony size must be rigorously evaluated and compared.







It is clear that cell behavior *in vivo* and *in vitro* changes from person to person, from animal to animal, even among syngeneic siblings, and over time in the same individual. We propose that these three strategies combining in-colony proliferation rate analyses with colonies formation and quantification, progenitors adhesion, and recloning ability, if used as a lab surveillance instrument, will assist in the development of a greater understanding of the biology of MSCs and other adherent populations *in vitro*. We would like to propose the creation of control guidelines which will facilitate the identification and isolation of long-term stem cells and short-term progenitors as a crucial step to better explore their potential and define their applicability in the cell therapy and bioengineering fields.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We must thank Professor Radovan Borojevic and Professor Adriana Cesar Bonomo for their enthusiastic and provocative discussions, and support which inspired this perspective. This work was directly supported by Ministry of Science and Technology (MCT) through the Brazilian National Council for Scientific and Technological Development – CNPq, and Carlos Chagas Filho Foundation for Research Support in Rio de Janeiro – FAPERJ; by grants from the DOD (W81XWH-11-1-0684) PC100829 CA093900 and the National Institute of Health (AR0568903, R44 DE022493-02A10, DE022493, DK082481). This work is also supported, in part, by the Intramural Program of the National Institute on Aging, NIH. PC100829 CA093900 1U54CA163124-01.

REFERENCES

- Andreeva, E. R., Pugach, I. M., Gordon, D., and Orekhov, A. N. (1998). Continuous subendothelial network formed by pericyte-like cells in human vascular bed. *Tissue Cell* 30, 127–135. doi: 10.1016/S0040-8166(98)80014-1
- Baksh, D., Davies, J. E., and Zandstra, P. W. (2003). Adult human bone marrowderived mesenchymal progenitor cells are capable of adhesion-independent survival and expansion. *Exp. Hematol.* 31, 723–732. doi: 10.1016/S0301-472X(03)00106-1
- Barry, F., Boynton, R., Murphy, M., Haynesworth, S., and Zaia, J. (2001). The SH-3 and SH-4 antibodies recognize distinct epitopes on CD73 from human mesenchymal stem cells. *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun.* 289, 519–724. doi: 10.1006/bbrc.2001.6013
- Barry, F. P., Boynton, R. E., Haynesworth, S., Murphy, J. M., and Zaia, J. (1999). The monoclonal antibody SH-2, raised against human mesenchymal stem cells, recognizes an epitope on endoglin (CD105). *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun.* 265, 134–139. doi: 10.1006/bbrc.1999.1620
- Beresford, J. N., Joyner, C. J., Devlin, C., and Triffitt, J. T. (1994). The effects of dexamethasone and 1,25-dihydroxyvitamin D3 on osteogenic differentiation of human marrow stromal cells *in vitro. Arch. Oral Biol.* 39, 941–947. doi: 10.1016/0003-9969(94)90077-9
- Bernardo, M. E., Avanzini, M. A., Perotti, C., Cometa, A. M., Moretta, A., Lenta, E., et al. (2007). Optimization of *in vitro* expansion of human multipotent mesenchymal stromal cells for cell-therapy approaches: further insights in the search for a fetal calf serum substitute. *J. Cell. Physiol.* 211, 121–130. doi: 10.1002/jcp.20911
- Bianco, P. (2011). Minireview: the stem cell next door: skeletal and hematopoietic stem cell "niches" in bone. *Endocrinology* 152, 2957–2962. doi: 10.1210/en. 2011-0217
- Bianco, P., Cao, X., Frenette, P. S., Mao, J. J., Robey, P. G., Simmons, P. J., et al. (2013). The meaning, the sense and the significance: translating the science of mesenchymal stem cells into medicine. *Nat. Med.* 19, 35–42. doi: 10.1038/nm.3028
- Bianco, P., Costantini, M., Dearden, L. C., and Bonucci, E. (1988). Alkaline phosphatase positive precursors of adipocytes in the human bone marrow. *Br. J. Haematol.* 68, 401–403. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2141.1988.tb04225.x
- Bruder, S. P., Jaiswal, N., and Haynesworth, S. E. (1997). Growth kinetics, selfrenewal, and the osteogenic potential of purified human mesenchymal stem cells during extensive subcultivation and following cryopreservation. J. Cell.

Biochem. 64, 278–294. doi: 10.1002/(SICI)1097-4644(199702)64:2<278::AID-JCB11>3.0.CO;2-F

- Caplan, A. I. (1991). Mesenchymal stem cells. J. Orthop. Res. 9, 641–650. doi: 10.1002/jor.1100090504
- Caplan, A. I. (2007). Adult mesenchymal stem cells for tissue engineering versus regenerative medicine. J. Cell. Physiol. 213, 341–347. doi: 10.1002/jcp.21200
- Carow, C. E., Hangoc, G., and Broxmeyer, H. E. (1993). Human multipotential progenitor cells (CFU-GEMM) have extensive replating capacity for secondary CFU-GEMM: an effect enhanced by cord blood plasma. *Blood* 81, 942–949.
- Castro-Malaspina, H., Gay, R. E., Resnick, G., Kapoor, N., Meyers, P., Chiarieri, D., et al. (1980). Characterization of human bone marrow fibroblast colonyforming cells (CFU-F) and their progeny. *Blood* 56, 289–301.
- Corselli, M., Chen, C.-W., Sun, B., Yap, S., Rubin, J. P., and Péault, B. (2011). The tunica adventitia of human arteries and veins as a source of mesenchymal stem cells. *Stem Cells Dev.* 21, 1299–1308. doi: 10.1089/scd.2011.0200
- Crisan, M., Chen, C.-W., Corselli, M., Andriolo, G., Lazzari, L., and Péault, B. (2009). Perivascular multipotent progenitor cells in human organs. *Ann. N. Y. Acad. Sci.* 1176, 118–123. doi: 10.1111/j.1749-6632.2009.04967.x
- Crisan, M., Huard, J., Zheng, B., Sun, B., Yap, S., Logar, A., et al. (2008a). Purification and culture of human blood vessel-associated progenitor cells. *Curr. Protoc. Stem Cell Biol.* 86, 295–309. doi: 10.1002/9780470151808. sc02b02s4
- Crisan, M., Yap, S., Casteilla, L., Chen, C.-W., Corselli, M., Park, T. S., et al. (2008b). A perivascular origin for mesenchymal stem cells in multiple human organs. *Cell Stem Cell* 3, 301–313. doi: 10.1016/j.stem.2008.07.003
- Da Silva Meirelles, L., Chagastelles, P. C., and Nardi, N. B. (2006). Mesenchymal stem cells reside in virtually all post-natal organs and tissues. J. Cell Sci. 119, 2204–2213. doi: 10.1242/jcs.02932
- Dennis, J. E., Carbillet, J.-P., Caplan, A. I., and Charbord, P. (2002). The STRO-1+ marrow cell population is multipotential. *Cells Tissues Organs* 170, 73–82. doi: 10.1159/000046182
- Dexter, T. M. (1979). Cell interactions in vitro. Clin. Haematol. 8, 453-468.
- Di Maggio, N., Mehrkens, A., Papadimitropoulos, A., Schaeren, S., Heberer, M., Banfi, A., et al. (2012). FGF-2 Maintains a niche-dependent population of self-renewing highly potent non-adherent mesenchymal progenitors through FGFR2c. *Stem Cells* 30, 1455–1464. doi: 10.1002/stem.1106
- Dominici, M., Le Blanc, K., Mueller, I., Slaper-Cortenbach, I., Marini, F., Krause, D., et al. (2006). Minimal criteria for defining multipotent mesenchymal stromal cells. the international society for cellular therapy position statement. *Cytotherapy* 8, 315–317. doi: 10.1080/14653240600855905
- Doucet, C., Ernou, I., Zhang, Y., Llense, J.-R., Begot, L., Holy, X., et al. (2005). Platelet lysates promote mesenchymal stem cell expansion: a safety substitute for animal serum in cell-based therapy applications. *J. Cell. Physiol.* 205, 228–236. doi: 10.1002/jcp.20391
- Friedenstein, A. J. (1976). Precursor cells of mechanocytes. Int. Rev. Cytol. 47, 327–359. doi: 10.1016/S0074-7696(08)60092-3
- Friedenstein, A. J., Chailakhjan, R. K., and Lalykina, K. S. (1970). The development of fibroblast colonies in monolayer cultures of guinea-pig bone marrow and spleen cells. *Cell Tissue Kinet.* 3, 393–403.
- Friedenstein, A. J., Chailakhyan, R. K., Latsinik, N. V., Panasyuk, A. F., and Keiliss-Borok, I. V. (1974a). Stromal cells responsible for transferring the microenvironment of the hemopoietic tissues. Cloning in vitro and retransplantation *in vivo*. *Transplantation* 17, 331–340. doi: 10.1097/00007890-197404000-00001
- Friedenstein, A. J., Deriglasova, U. F., Kulagina, N. N., Panasuk, A. F., Rudakowa, S. F., Luriá, E. A., et al. (1974b). Precursors for fibroblasts in different populations of hematopoietic cells as detected by the *in vitro* colony assay method. *Exp. Hematol.* 2, 83–92.
- Friedenstein, A. J., Latzinik, N. W., Grosheva, A. G., and Gorskaya, U. F. (1982). Marrow microenvironment transfer by heterotopic transplantation of freshly isolated and cultured cells in porous sponges. *Exp. Hematol.* 10, 217–227.
- Friedenstein, A. J., Piatetzky-Shapiro, I. I., and Petrakova, K. V. (1966). Osteogenesis in transplants of bone marrow cells. J. Embryol. Exp. Morphol. 16, 381–390.
- Gazit, R., Weissman, I. L., and Rossi, D. J. (2008). Hematopoietic stem cells and the aging hematopoietic system. *Semin. Hematol.* 45, 218–224. doi: 10.1053/j.seminhematol.2008.07.010
- Gothard, D., Dawson, J. I., and Oreffo, R. O. C. (2013). Assessing the potential of colony morphology for dissecting the CFU-F population from human bone

marrow stromal cells. Cell Tissue Res. 352, 237–247. doi: 10.1007/s00441-013-1564-3

- Hao, Q. L., Thiemann, F. T., Petersen, D., Smogorzewska, E. M., and Crooks, G. M. (1996). Extended long-term culture reveals a highly quiescent and primitive human hematopoietic progenitor population. *Blood* 88, 3306–3313.
- Horwitz, E. M., Le Blanc, K., Dominici, M., Mueller, I., Slaper-Cortenbach, I., Marini, F. C., et al. (2005). Clarification of the nomenclature for MSC: The international society for cellular therapy position statement. *Cytotherapy* 7, 393–395. doi: 10.1080/14653240500319234
- Jones, E. A., Kinsey, S. E., English, A., Jones, R. A., Straszynski, L., Meredith, D. M., et al. (2002). Isolation and characterization of bone marrow multipotential mesenchymal progenitor cells. *Arthritis Rheum.* 46, 3349–3360. doi: 10.1002/art.10696
- Kastrinaki, M.-C., Andreakou, I., Charbord, P., and Papadaki, H. A. (2008). Isolation of human bone marrow mesenchymal stem cells using different membrane markers: comparison of colony/cloning efficiency, differentiation potential, and molecular profile. *Tissue Eng. Part C. Methods* 14, 333–339. doi: 10.1089/ten.tec.2008.0173
- Kuznetsov, S. A., Mankani, M. H., Bianco, P., and Robey, P. G. (2009). Enumeration of the colony-forming units-fibroblast from mouse and human bone marrow in normal and pathological conditions. *Stem Cell Res.* 2, 83–94. doi: 10.1016/j.scr.2008.07.007
- Latsinik, N. V., and Epikhina, S. Y. (1974). Adhesive properties of hematopoietic and lymphoid cells forming fibroblast colonies in monolayer cultures. *Bull. Exp. Biol. Med.* 76, 1459–1461. doi: 10.1007/BF00787562
- Maier, C. L., Shepherd, B. R., Yi, T., and Pober, J. S. (2010). Explant outgrowth, propagation and characterization of human pericytes. *Microcirculation* 17, 367–380. doi: 10.1111/j.1549-8719.2010.00038.x
- Mannello, F., and Tonti, G. A. (2007). Concise review: no breakthroughs for human mesenchymal and embryonic stem cell culture: conditioned medium, feeder layer, or feeder-free; medium with fetal calf serum, human serum, or enriched plasma; serum-free, serum replacement nonconditioned medium, o. *Stem Cells* 25, 1603–1609. doi: 10.1634/stemcells.2007-0127
- Morrison, S. J., Uchida, N., and Weissman, I. L. (1995). The biology of hematopoietic stem cells. Annu. Rev. Cell Dev. Biol. 11, 35–71. doi: 10.1146/annurev.cb.11.110195.000343
- Muraglia, A., Cancedda, R., and Quarto, R. (2000). Clonal mesenchymal progenitors from human bone marrow differentiate *in vitro* according to a hierarchical model. J. Cell Sci. 113(Pt 7), 1161–1166.
- Nicola, N. A., and Metcalf, D. (1986). Specificity of action of colony-stimulating factors in the differentiation of granulocytes and macrophages. *Ciba Found. Symp.* 118, 7–28.
- Oh, I.-H., and Humphries, R. K. (2012). Concise review: multidimensional regulation of the hematopoietic stem cell state. *Stem Cells* 30, 82–88. doi: 10.1002/stem.776
- Oreffo, R. O., Bord, S., and Triffitt, J. T. (1998). Skeletal progenitor cells and ageing human populations. *Clin. Sci. (Lond).* 94, 549–555.
- Owen, M., and Friedenstein, A. J. (1988). Stromal stem cells: marrow-derived osteogenic precursors. *Ciba Found. Symp.* 136, 42–60.
- Péault, B. (2012). Are mural cells guardians of stemness?: from plurito multipotency via vascular pericytes. *Circulation* 125, 12–13. doi: 10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.111.073445
- Petzer, A. L., Hogge, D. E., Landsdorp, P. M., Reid, D. S., and Eaves, C. J. (1996). Self-renewal of primitive human hematopoietic cells (long-term-culture-initiating cells) *in vitro* and their expansion in defined medium. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 93, 1470–1474. doi: 10.1073/pnas.93.4.1470
- Pittenger, M. F., Mackay, A. M., Beck, S. C., Jaiswal, R. K., Douglas, R., Mosca, J. D., et al. (1999). Multilineage potential of adult human mesenchymal stem cells. *Science* 284, 143–147. doi: 10.1126/science.284.5411.143
- Ponchio, L., Conneally, E., and Eaves, C. (1995). Quantitation of the quiescent fraction of long-term culture-initiating cells in normal human blood and marrow and the kinetics of their growth factor-stimulated entry into S-phase *in vitro*. *Blood* 86, 3314–3321.
- Queensberry, P. J., Bealmear, P., Ryan, M., and Stohlman, F. (1974). Serum colony stimulating and inhibiting factors in irradiated germfree and conventional mice. *Br. J. Haematol.* 28, 531–539. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2141.1974.tb06672.x
- Quesenberry, P. J., McNiece, I. K., Robinson, B. E., Woodward, T. A., Baber, G. B., McGrath, H. E., et al. (1987). Stromal cell regulation of lymphoid and myeloid differentiation. *Blood Cells* 13, 137–146.

- Russell, K. C., Phinney, D. G., Lacey, M. R., Barrilleaux, B. L., Meyertholen, K. E., and O'Connor, K. C. (2010). *In vitro* high-capacity assay to quantify the clonal heterogeneity in trilineage potential of mesenchymal stem cells reveals a complex hierarchy of lineage commitment. *Stem Cells* 28, 788–798. doi: 10.1002/stem.312
- Sacchetti, B., Funari, A., Michienzi, S., Di Cesare, S., Piersanti, S., Saggio, I., et al. (2007). Self-renewing osteoprogenitors in bone marrow sinusoids can organize a hematopoietic microenvironment. *Cell* 131, 324–336. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2007.08.025
- Sarugaser, R., Hanoun, L., Keating, A., Stanford, W. L., and Davies, J. E. (2009). Human mesenchymal stem cells self-renew and differentiate according to a deterministic hierarchy. *PLoS ONE* 4:e6498. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0006498
- Satomura, K., Krebsbach, P., Bianco, P., and Gehron Robey, P. (2000). Osteogenic imprinting upstream of marrow stromal cell differentiation. J. Cell. Biochem. 78, 391–403. doi: 10.1002/1097-4644(20000901)78:3%3C391::AID-JCB5%3E3.0.CO:2-E
- Shi, S., and Gronthos, S. (2003). Perivascular niche of postnatal mesenchymal stem cells in human bone marrow and dental pulp. *J. Bone Miner. Res.* 18, 696–704. doi: 10.1359/jbmr.2003.18.4.696
- Shih, I. M. (1999). The role of CD146 (Mel-CAM) in biology and pathology. J. Pathol. 189, 4–11. doi: 10.1002/(SICI)1096-9896(199909)189:1<4::AID-PATH332>3.0.CO;2-P
- Stanley, E. R., Bradley, T. R., and Sumner, M. A. (1971). Properties of the mouse embryo conditioned medium factor(s) stimulationg colony formation by mouse bone marrow cells grown *in vitro*. J. Cell. Physiol. 78, 301–317. doi: 10.1002/jcp.1040780219
- Taichman, R. S., Wang, Z., Shiozawa, Y., Jung, Y., Song, J., Balduino, A., et al. (2010). Prospective identification and skeletal localization of cells capable of multilineage differentiation *in vivo*. *Stem Cells Dev.* 19, 1557–1570. doi: 10.1089/scd. 2009.0445
- Tuli, R., Tuli, S., Nandi, S., Wang, M. L., Alexander, P. G., Haleem-Smith, H., et al. (2003). Characterization of multipotential mesenchymal progenitor

cells derived from human trabecular bone. Stem Cells 21, 681-693. doi: 10.1634/stemcells.21-6-681

- Urabe, A., Murphy, M. J., Haghbin, M., and Gee, T. S. (1979). Erythroid progenitors (BFU-e and CFU-e) in acute leukaemia. J. Clin. Pathol. 32, 666–669. doi: 10.1136/jcp.32.7.666
- Wagner, J., Kean, T., Young, R., Dennis, J. E., and Caplan, A. I. (2009). Optimizing mesenchymal stem cell-based therapeutics. *Curr. Opin. Biotechnol.* 20, 531–536. doi: 10.1016/j.copbio.2009.08.009
- Zannettino, A. C. W., Harrison, K., Joyner, C. J., Triffitt, J. T., and Simmons, P. J. (2003). Molecular cloning of the cell surface antigen identified by the osteoprogenitor-specific monoclonal antibody, HOP-26. J. Cell. Biochem. 89, 56–66. doi: 10.1002/jcb.10481

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Received: 30 October 2013; paper pending published: 28 November 2013; accepted: 24 February 2014; published online: 27 March 2014.

Citation: Cordeiro-Spinetti E, de Mello W, Trindade LS, Taub DD, Taichman RS and Balduino A. (2014) Human bone marrow mesenchymal progenitors: perspectives on an optimized in vitro manipulation. Front. Cell Dev. Biol. **2**:7. doi: 10.3389/fcell. 2014.00007

This article was submitted to Stem Cell Research, a section of the journal Frontiers in Cell and Developmental Biology.

Copyright © 2014 Cordeiro-Spinetti, de Mello, Trindade, Taub, Taichman and Balduino. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) or licensor are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Growth Factor Content in Human Sera Affects the Isolation of Mesangiogenic Progenitor Cells (MPCs) from Human Bone Marrow

Marina Montali¹, Serena Barachini¹, Francesca M. Panvini¹, Vittoria Carnicelli², Franca Fulceri³, Iacopo Petrini² and Simone Pacini^{1*}

¹ Department of Clinical and Experimental Medicine, University of Pisa, Pisa, Italy, ² Department of Surgical, Medical and Molecular Pathology and Critical Care Medicine, University of Pisa, Pisa, Italy, ³ Department of Translational Research and New Technologies in Medicine and Surgery, University of Pisa, Pisa, Italy

Mesangiogenic Progenitor Cells (MPCs) are human bone marrow-derived multipotent

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Erdal Karaoz, Liv Hospital, Turkey

Reviewed by:

Aaron W. James, University of California, Los Angeles, USA Nedime Serakinci, Near East University, Turkey

> *Correspondence: Simone Pacini simone.pacini@do.unipi.it

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Stem Cell Research, a section of the journal Frontiers in Cell and Developmental Biology

Received: 12 July 2016 Accepted: 29 September 2016 Published: 17 October 2016

Citation:

Montali M, Barachini S, Panvini FM, Carnicelli V, Fulceri F, Petrini I and Pacini S (2016) Growth Factor Content in Human Sera Affects the Isolation of Mesangiogenic Progenitor Cells (MPCs) from Human Bone Marrow. Front. Cell Dev. Biol. 4:114. doi: 10.3389/fcell.2016.00114

cells, isolated in vitro under selective culture conditions and shown to retain both mesengenic and angiogenic potential. MPCs also co-isolated with multipotent stromal cells (MSCs) when bone marrow primary cultures were set up for clinical applications, using human serum (HS) in place of fetal bovine serum (FBS). MPC culture purity (over 95%) is strictly dependent on HS supplementation with significant batch-to-batch variability. In the present paper we screened different sources of commercially available pooled human AB type serum (PhABS) for their ability to promote MPC production under selective culture conditions. As the majority of "contaminating" cells in MPC cultures were represented by MSC-like cells, we hypothesized a role by differentiating agents present in the sera. Therefore, we tested a number of growth factors (hGF) and found that higher concentrations of FGF-2, EGF, PDGF-AB, and VEGF-A as well as lower concentration of IGF-1 give sub-optimal MPC recovery. Gene expression analysis of hGF receptors was also carried out both in MSCs and MPCs, suggesting that FGF-2, EGF, and PDGF-AB could act promoting MSC proliferation, while VEGF-A contribute to MSC-like cell contamination, triggering MPC differentiation. Here we demonstrated that managing hGF contents, together with applying specific receptors inhibitors (Erlotinib-HCl and Nintedanib), could significantly mitigate the batch-to-batch variability related to serum supplementation. These data represent a fundamental milestone in view of manufacturing MPC-based medicinal products.

Keywords: mesangiogenic progenitor cells, mesenchymal stromal cells, human serum, growth factors, bone marrow culture, cell-based medicinal product, *Erlotinib*, *Nintedanib*

INTRODUCTION

Mesenchymal stromal cells (MSCs) are multipotent adult progenitor cells isolated *in vitro* from a plethora of different tissues (reviewed in Murray et al., 2014) as their perivascular origin has been demonstrated and widely accepted (da Silva Meirelles et al., 2006; Crisan et al., 2008). MSC role as skeletal tissue progenitors has been investigated in a variety of studies in animal models, and cell-based therapy approaches demonstrated their beneficial effects in the regeneration of damaged

skeletal tissues including bone (Watson et al., 2014), cartilage (Richardson et al., 2015), tendons (Pacini et al., 2007), and meniscus (Yu et al., 2015). For those reasons, most of the tissue engineering strategies and regenerative medicine approaches, developed to de novo skeletal tissue formation, involved MSCs (Yousefi et al., 2016). Nonetheless, it has been reported that an effective tissue remodeling response is in tight correlation with the formation of vascularized tissue (Rao and Stegemann, 2013; Hutton and Grayson, 2014). Commonly, the vascularization of the newly formed tissues in vivo has been expected driven in large part by the host response to the implant, and trigged by hypoxic condition surrounding the grafted cells (Chamberlain et al., 2015). Nonetheless, this effect could be hypothesized in acute injuries with moderate tissue loss, but in case of large implants or poor blood supply, as in non-union fracture or pseudoarthrosis (Hak et al., 2014), the vascularization of constructs would be compromised. Modular constructs obtained applying both osteoprogenitor cells, as MSCs, and endothelial cells (ECs) or their precursors (EPCs), have been investigated as an option in order to sustain vascularization of the implants, independently from the host response (Butler and Sefton, 2012). However, MSCs have been estimated to represent around 0.001-0.01% of human bone marrow mononuclear cells (hBM-MNCs) (Subbanna, 2007; Lechanteur et al., 2016), and similarly ECs and EPCs represent rare populations in their tissues of origin (Pelosi et al., 2014), thus pre-clinical and clinical applications of these cells, alone or in combination, require extensive ex vivo cell expansion to obtain therapeutic cell doses. Most widely accepted MSC isolation and expansion protocols, from bone marrow, are based on basal media supplemented with fetal bovine serum (FBS) (Haynesworth et al., 1992; Prockop, 1997). Similarly, consistent fractions of FBS should be applied also in the EC and EPC isolation (Kirton and Xu, 2010). However, all supplements of animal origin expose patients to a number of risks and represent a major obstacle to comply with good manufacturing practice (GMP) guidelines (Herberts et al., 2011). The urgent need for FBS alternatives led to consider human serum (HS) as the straightforward substitute in clinical-grade MSC production (Altaie et al., 2016).

In 2009, during the attempt to produce multipotent mesenchymal stromal cells (MSCs) in xeno-free GMP-compliant culture conditions, we had shown the occurrence of mesodermal (currently renamed "mesangiogenic") progenitor cells (MPCs), in hBM-MNC cultures when using autologous serum (AS) (Petrini et al., 2009) or pooled human AB type serum (PhABS) (Trombi et al., 2009). MPCs have been described *in vitro* as slow cycling MSC progenitors that also retain angiogenic properties (Fazzi et al., 2011). They are characterized by peculiar fried egg-shape morphology, expression of pluripotency-associated markers *OCT4* and *NANOG*, and intense nestin expression (Pacini et al., 2010). MPCs lack mesenchymal-associated markers CD73, CD90, and CD105 while showing occurrence of CD31, CD11c, and CD18.

After more than 6 years spent on MPC characterization and optimization of isolating procedures, we believe that these cells could facing a new era and possibly being involved in skeletal tissue engineering and regeneration. As MPCs demonstrated

in vitro retaining both mesengenic and angiogenic potential, it reasonable hypothesizes the development of MPC-based implants in alternative to the modular constructs. The need of two or more different expanded cell populations giving a mesangiogenic potential to the engineered tissues could be overtaken applying cell populations like MPCs (Pacini and Petrini, 2014). However, the definition of a highly reproducible clinical-grade manufacturing process represents a first step in dealing with a possible application of MPCs in cell-based therapies. From the first report of mesangiogenic cells in human bone marrow cultures applying AS, a consistent variability in the MPC harvesting was reported. Only two out of every three samples cultured showed detectable MPC population coisolated with MSCs, with percentages that could vary 10-fold (Petrini et al., 2009). As a consequence, we believe that the supplementation with human sera could induce considerable culture variability, during cell manufacturing process, depending on donor sex and age as well as diseases and pharmacological treatments at the time of serum collection, especially in the autologous context. Consistent production of almost pure MPC cultures has been achieved applying commercially available PhABS. Under these selective culture conditions it was possible to obtain MPCs from all the samples, with recoveries showing very low coefficient of variation (\approx 10%). Conversely, culturing the same samples in FBS supplemented media led to cell products constituted by MSCs only (Trombi et al., 2009). Nonetheless, we recently reported that isolation of MPCs at high grade of purity (over 95%) would be possible only after accurate screening of commercially available PhABS (Montali et al., 2016). In fact, a small number of tested batches produced cell products with consistent percentages of MSC-like cell population, compromising the purity of the MPC preparations. In order to define specific sera properties, allowing the optimal MPC manufacturing process, would be helpful the comparisons between PhABS with good performances and PhABS promoting MSC "contamination."

Human serum contains a large and untreatable number of biological active molecules possible affecting the MPC isolation and inducing MSC proliferation (Rodrigues et al., 2010). However, recent efforts in the establishment of serum-free media for MSC in vitro expansion, demonstrated that human platelet lysate (hPL) could efficiently replace serum in culture (reviewed in Burnouf et al., 2016). This important finding narrows the choice of essential components to platelet granules content (Fekete et al., 2014). Platelets contain a lot of potent biological active molecules (Semple et al., 2011), mainly stored in the α granules (Golebiewska and Poole, 2015), in addition to important factors involved in coagulation. These molecules include different chemokines (Semple et al., 2011) and human growth factors (hGFs), such as epidermal growth factor (EGF), basic fibroblast growth factor (FGF-2), platelet derived growth factor isoforms (PDGF-AA, -AB, and-BB), insulin-like growth factor-1 (IGF-1), vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF), and some others (Nurden et al., 2008).

In order to define reproducible MPC manufacturing process, in the present paper we moved a first step focusing on the effect of the platelet-derived hGFs, mentioned above, on the MPC production. EGF, FGF-2, PDGFs, IGF-1, and VEGF have been reported regulating proliferation and survival of BM-derived MSCs. Thus, we hypothesize that these five hGFs or some of them could promote expansion of MSCs, during primary bone marrow cultures intended for MPC production. Here we compare six different commercial PhABS, selected on the basis of their different performance, attempting to correlate the percentage of "contaminant" MSC-like cells with the serum concentration of those hGFs.

MATERIALS AND METHODS Screening of Human Sera for MPC Isolation

The study has been performed according to the declaration of Helsinki and the sample collection protocol was approved by the ethical committee of "Azienda Ospedaliero-Universitaria Pisana". Bone marrow aspirates were obtained after written consent from 8 patients (4M/4F, median age 65), undergoing orthopedic surgery for hip replacement. Soon after femoral neck osteotomy, approximately 10 ml of bone marrow were aspirated, using a 20 ml syringe containing 500 U.I. of heparin, and promptly sent to the cell culture facility. Samples were diluted 1:4 and hBM-MNCs collected by density gradient centrifugation using Ficoll-PaqueTMPREMIUM (GE Healthcare, Uppsala, Sweden). After two washes in Dulbecco's Modified Phosphate Buffer (D-PBS, LifeTechnologies, Carlsbad, USA-CA) cells were plated at 8×10^5 /cm² in hydrophobic six-well plates for suspension culture (Greiner Bio-One, Kremsmünster, Austria) and cultured in minimal essential medium supplemented with PhABS as previously described (Montali et al., 2016). Briefly, low-glucose Dulbecco's modified Eagle medium (DMEM, LifeTechnologies) was supplemented with 2 mM Glutamax[®] (LifeTechnologies), 100 µg/mL gentamicin (LifeTechnologies), and 10% PhABS. We tested six different commercially available PhABS (AB type and off-the-clot) from four different manufacturers (Table 1). Culture medium was changed every 48 h. After 7-8 days, plates were morphologically screened for MPCs using an inverted microscope, and cells subsequently detached by TrypLE[®] Select (LifeTechnologies) digestion and washed in D-PBS.

MSC Cell Culture

Duplicate hBM-MNC samples collected by density gradient centrifugation were plated at 2×10^5 /cm² in gas-treated

TABLE 1 | PhABS details.

culture plates for adherent cells. DMEM was supplemented with 2 mM Glutamax[®] (LifeTechnologies), 100 μ g/mL gentamicin (LifeTechnologies), and 10% FBS (LifeTechnologies). Culture medium was changed after 48 h to remove non-adherent cells and refreshed twice a week.

Flow Cytometry

To identify MPCs and MSC-like cells (Keating, 2012) in MPC primary cultures freshly detached cells were incubated with anti-CD90 FITC-conjugated, anti-CD73 PE-conjugated, anti-CD31 PE/Cy7-conjugated, anti-CD18 APC-conjugated, and anti-CD45 VioBlue[®] -conjugated (Miltenvi Biotec, BergischGladbach, Germany) antibodies for 30' at 4°C in the dark and washed twice in MACSQuant[®] Running Buffer (Miltenyi Biotec). Data were acquired using MACSQuant® flow cytometer and analyzed by MACSQuantify® Analysis Software (MiltenviBiotec). MPCs were identified as CD31⁺CD18⁺CD45^{low}CD73^{neg}CD90^{neg} events and MSCs CD31^{neg}CD18^{neg}CD45^{neg}CD73^{bright}CD90^{bright} as events. Statistical analysis was performed by one-way analysis of variance (ANOVA) test and Dunnett's post-test for multiple comparison. Results were expressed as mean value \pm standard error (SE).

Gene Expression

MPCs and MSCs from primary cultures were washed twice in D-PBS, and pellets cryo-preserved in liquid nitrogen to be processed. Total RNA extraction was performed soon after thawing, using RNeasyMicro Kit (Qiage, Hilden, Germany) according to manufacturer. RNA samples (100 ng) were retrotranscribed using QuantiTect[®] Reverse Transcription Kit (Qiagen) and 2 µl samples of 10-fold cDNA dilutions were amplified by quantitative Real Time PCR (qRT-PCR), using iCycler-iQ5 Optical System (Bio-Rad, Hercules, USA-CA) and SsoAdvancedSYBR Green SuperMix (Bio-Rad). Samples were run in duplicate. Primer pairs (Sigma-Aldrich, St. Luis, USA-MO) were designed to detect growth factor receptor genes: BMPR1A, BMPR2, EGFR, FGFR1, FGFR2, FGFR3, IGF1R, IGF2R, KDR, PDGFRA, PDGFRB, TGFBR1, TGFBR2, and TGFBR3 (Supplementary Table S1). Relative quantitative analysis was performed following $2^{-\Delta\Delta Ct}$ Livak method (Livak and Schmittgen, 2001). Normalization was performed by using RPL13A and ACTB housekeeping genes. Values were reported as log-ratios of mean MPC/MSC normalized fold expression.

IABLE 1 PRABS details.							
Code	Lot#	Manufacturer	Туре	Production method	Gender	Origin	
LZM	N.R.*	Lonza, Basel, Switzerland	AB	Off-the-clot	Male only	USA	
LZMF	N.R.*	Lonza, Basel, Switzerland	AB	Off-the-clot	Not declared	USA	
SERL	E8051213	SeraLab, West Sussex, UK	AB	Off-the-clot	Male only	USA	
SIGM	SLBF-3954V	Sigma Aldrich, St. Luis, USA	AB	Off-the-clot	Not declared	USA	
BIOW1	S10443S4190	BioWest, Nuaillé, France	AB	Off-the-clot	Male only	EU	
BIOW2	S10169S4190	BioWest, Nuaillé, France	AB	Off-the-clot	Male only	EU	

*N.R., Not Recorded.

Enzyme-Linked Immunosorbent Assay (ELISA)

Growth factor quantification was performed on 200 μ l aliquots of serum batches, by colorimetric solid phase ELISA. In particular; epidermal growth factor (EGF), fibroblast growth factor-2 (FGF-2), and platelet-derived growth factor AB (PDGF-AB) were quantified using Quantikine[®] immunoassay kit (R&D Systems, Minneapolis, USA-MN). Vascular endothelial growth factor A (VEGF-A) was quantified by VEGF-A (human) BioLISA Kit Bender MedSystems[®] (Vienna, Austria) and insulin-like growth factor-1 (IGF-1) by IGF-1 600 ELISA kit from DRG International (Marburg, Germany). Assays were performed according to manufacturer. Percentages of MSC-like cells in MPC primary cultures were correlated with growth factor concentrations in specific sera batches by Spearman's correlation.

Recombinant hGF Treatments during MPC Isolation

hBM-MNCs were obtained from 4 patients (2M/2F, median age 68) and processed for MPC isolation as described above, applying two different sera batches: LZM, already screened for good performance and BIOW2 that produced cultures with consistent MSC-like cell "contamination." LZM cultures were also performed in presence of 50 ng/ml rhEGF (ThermoFisher Scientific, Waltham, MA USA), 20 ng/ml rhFGF-2 (ThermoFisher Scientific), 50 ng/ml rhPDGF-AB (PeproTech EC Ltd., London, UK) or 50 ng/ml rhVEGF (ThermoFisher). Combined treatments were also performed adding rhEGF and rhFGF-2, or rhVEGF and rhPDGF-AB. In parallel BIOW2 cultures were also supplemented with 100 ng/ml rhIGF-1 (PeproTech EC Ltd., London, UK), 30 ng/ml rhIGF-2 (PeproTech EC Ltd.) alone or in combination. The culture media were changed every 2 days restoring concentrations of the hGFs. After 7 days cells were detached by TrypLE® Select digestion and processed for flow cytometry to quantify MPC and MSC percentages in the cultures, as described above. Data were collected in duplicate and reported as median values \pm standard error (SE). One-way ANOVA test, coupled with Dunnett's post-test, was applied to identify significant differences.

Inhibition of hGF Receptors, during Primary Cultures

Further six bone marrow samples (4M/2F median age 68) were processed, as described above, to obtain MPC culture in BIOW2 sera batch with or without adding 4 nM of *Erlotinib*-HCl (OSI-744, SelleckChem, Houston, USA-TX), a potent EGFR inhibitor, and 100 nM of *Nintedanib* (BIBF 1120, SelleckChem) to simultaneously inhibit VEGF, FGF, and PDGF receptors. Cell cultures were performed in duplicate in six-well culture plates for suspension cultures, media were changed after 48 and 72 h restoring inhibitors concentration and at day 6 cultures were detached for flow cytometry analysis to quantify mesenchymal CD73⁺CD90⁺ population. Similarly and in parallel, MPC cultures were performed applying LZM sera batch in presence or absence of 50 nM of *Linsitinib* (OSI-906, SelleckChem) as

IGF-1R inhibitor. Significant differences were revealed by oneway ANOVA test, and the inhibition index was calculated as difference in CD73⁺CD90⁺ percentages in treated and notreated cultures divided by the percentage in the non-treated. Data were collected in duplicate and reported as median values \pm standard error (SE).

Inhibition of hGF Receptors, during Mesengenic Differentiation of MPCs

Erlotinib-HCl and *Nintedanib* were also applied during mesengenic differentiation of MPCs. Briefly, MPC culture in LZM sera batch were validated for a purity higher than 95% and re-plated at 20,000 cells/cm² in gas-treated 6-well plates for adherent cultures. After overnight incubation medium was replaced with StemMACSTM MSC expansion XF medium (Miltenyi Biotec), according to previously reported protocol (Montali et al., 2016). In parallel, mesengenic differentiation was performed in presence of 4 nM of *Erlotinib*-HCl and 100 nM of *Nintedanib*. Cultures were maintained changing medium twice a week and restoring inhibitor concentration. After 7 days mesengenic differentiation was previously reported (Fazzi et al., 2011).

RESULTS

We were able to isolate and grow MPCs from hBM-MNC primary cultures supplemented with all six PhABS under test. Cell yields were adequate (1.20 \pm 0.23 \times 10⁵ cells/well, n = 8) to perform further analysis. Cultures supplemented with Lonza PhABS from males (LZM) or from males and females (LZMF) showed to be constituted almost exclusively by cells with the typical fried eggshape morphology that identifies MPCs (Figure 1A; Petrini et al., 2009). Flow cytometry confirmed the characteristic CD31⁺CD18⁺CD45^{low}CD73^{neg}CD90^{neg} MPC phenotype for over 95% of the cell population (red dots in Figure 1A) beside a very small CD31^{neg}CD18^{neg}CD45^{neg}CD73^{bright}CD90^{bright} population of MSC-like cells (blue dots in Figure 1A; Montali et al., 2016). Similar results were obtained using SeraLab PhABS (SERL) (Figure 1A). Sigma-Aldrich PhABS (SIGM) supplementation resulted in the presence of occasional spindleshaped MSC-like cells together with a mild increase in the percentage of MSC immunophenotype (Figure 1A). Cultures supplemented with two lots of BioWest PhABS (BIOW1, BIOW2) showed a large population (10-30%) of MSC-like cells, co-isolated with MPCs. Most MSC-like cells were organized in clusters or in colonies (white arrows in Figure 1A).

We previously defined the cut point for MPC cell production as 95% of CD31⁺CD18⁺CD45^{low}CD73^{neg}CD90^{neg} cells within MPC primary cultures (Montali et al., 2016). Three out of the six serum batches resulted suitable for MPC production, showing percentages of MSC-like cells lower than 5% with no significant variation: LZM ($2.7 \pm 0.6\%$), LZMF ($3.3 \pm 0.5\%$), SERL ($3.3 \pm$ 1.2%). SIGM was borderline ($5.9 \pm 1.4\%$), while BIOW1 and BIOW2 turned out not to be fitting because of significantly (p <



0.01 to LZM, p < 0.05 to LZMF and SERL) higher percentages of MSC-like cells (17.7 \pm 4.8% and 16.2 \pm 3.9%, respectively) resulting in MSC/MPC frequencies around 1:4–1:5 (**Figure 1B**).

MPCs from LZM supplemented cultures were selectively chosen for gene expression analysis of growth factor receptors in comparison to standard FBS-cultured MSCs. Expression of 3 out of the 14 genes analyzed was over one log higher in MSCs: *FGFR2* (-1.74 log, p < 0.05, n = 8), *PDGFRA* (-1.58 log, p < 0.05, n = 8), and *EGFR* (-1.33 log, p < 0.01, n = 8). *PDGFRB* and *TGFR3* were also significantly more expressed in MSCs although at lower levels (-0.90 and -0.69 log, respectively, p < 0.05,

n = 8). Conversely, *IGF2R* and *KDR* expression was significantly higher in MPCs, with *IGF2R* only over one log higher (1.27 log, p < 0.01, n = 8, **Figure 2**). Higher levels of *IGF1R* and *TGFRB2* were detected in MPCs with a confidence limit lower than 90% (0.37 log, p = 0.373 and 0.51 log, p = 0.198, n = 8, respectively). *BMPR1A*, *BMPR2*, *FGFR1*, *FGFR3*, and *TGFRB1* showed no significant differences.

The "contamination" of MSC-like cells in MPC primary cultures was correlated to the concentration of growth factors in the different sera. Higher concentrations of EGF, FGF-2, PDGF-AB and VEGF-A were consistently found in BIOW1



and BIOW2 that produced cultures with higher percentages of MSC-like cells (Table 2). FGF-2 revealed a dose-dependent correlation showing a Spearman ratio of 0.943 (p < 0.05, n = 8, Figure 3). In order to confirm the involvement of these hGFs in the poor performance of a pooled sera batch, we separately added consistent amount these factors to LZM supplemented cultures. Percentages of MSC-like cells resulted significantly increased in the rhEGF (34.3 \pm 14.0%, p < 0.01, n = 4) and rhFGF-2 (39.2 \pm 17.5%, p < 0.01, n = 4) treated primary cultures, respect to LZM control (4.6 \pm 1.7%, n = 4, Figure 4). Combining these two hGFs produced similar results (40.5 \pm 17.9%, n = 4), with no significant differences respect to cultures treated with EGF or FGF-2 separately. Conversely, adding rhVEGF (5.6 \pm 1.4%, n = 4) or rhPDGF-AB (6.4 \pm 0.5%, n = 4) resulted having no significant effects on MPC cultures when added separately. Combination of those hGF instead showed a mild increase in MSC-like cell percentages (11.3 \pm 0.3%, p < 0.01, n = 4), resulting in cultures with purity lower than the cut-off point established for feasible MPC products.

Medium supplemented with BIOW2 was selected in order to verify if higher concentration of IGFs could be related to the good performances of feasible sera batches. A consistent reduction,

TABLE 2	PhABS g	rowth factor	concentrations.
---------	---------	--------------	-----------------

PhABS	EGF	FGF-2	PDGF-AB	VEGF-A	IGF-1
batch	(pg/ml)	(pg/ml)	(pg/ml)	(pg/ml)	(ng/ml)
LZM	44	0.3	584	80	205
LZMF	154	2.0	1223	175	157
SERL	7	0.5	564	78	141
SIGM	42	1.1	584	78	167
BIOW1	263	7.6	1943	440	114
BIOW2	261	5.7	2000	495	132

around 50%, of the MSC "contamination" was reported in rhIGF-1 (17.1 \pm 0.1%, *p* < 0.01, *n* = 4) and rhIGF-2 (17.7 \pm 0.2%, *p* < 0.01, *n* = 4) treated cultures, alone or in combination (19.8 \pm 2.8%, *p* < 0.01, *n* = 4) respect to BIOW2 control (45.8 \pm 1.6%, *n* = 4, **Figure 4**).

The effect of high concentration of EGF, FGF-2, VEGF and PDGFs in the poor performance of pooled sera batches, during MPC production, was also confirmed by receptor inhibition experiments. In fact, the addition of *Erlotinib*-HCl and *Nintedanib* to BIOW2 cultures resulted in the 50% reduction of the CD73⁺CD90⁺ population (mean inhibition index: 54.2 \pm 7.7%, p < 0.05, n = 6) at the primary cultures, producing suitable MPC products (>95% of purity) comparable to ones obtained applying LZM (**Figure 5A**). Elevated levels of IGF-1 were instead detected in the sera batches with low mesenchymal contamination (LZM, LZMF) but the inhibition of its receptors did not produce any detectable effect during primary culture (**Figure 5B**).

Erlotinib-HCl and *Nintenadib* also affected the *in vitro* MPC mesengenic differentiation, with a decreased AlamarBlue[®] reduction from 20 to 40% respect to control (mean inhibition index: $22.7 \pm 10.9\%$, p < 0.05, n = 6). Conversely, *Linsitinib* produced no detectable effects (data not shown).

DISCUSSION

Ex vivo expansion of bone marrow-derived multipotent cells requires supplementation of basal culture medium in order to sustain cell proliferation while maintaining cell differentiation capability (Bernardo et al., 2011). FBS-based expansion protocols have been used in the very first clinical applications of these promising cells (Le Blanc et al., 2004, 2008). However, safety concerns have been raised regarding use of supplements of animal origin in clinical-grade expansion protocols (Sensebé and Bourin, 2008; Reinhardt et al., 2011; Sensebé et al., 2011). Consequently, many efforts have been made to replace animal derived supplements and reagents with human blood derivatives as autologous serum (AS) (Stute et al., 2004), pooled human AB serum (PhABS) (Bieback et al., 2009), platelet lysate (PL) (Hemeda et al., 2014) or a combination of them (Kocaoemer et al., 2007; Muraglia et al., 2015).

In this view, during the last years our group has been focusing on the definition of a clinical grade protocol to culture bone marrow-derived multipotent cells by replacing FBS



with AS or PhABS. Our efforts led to the first description of *mesangiogenic progenitor cells* (MPCs) as previously not described cell population, co-isolated in AS-supplemented MSC cultures (Petrini et al., 2009). In parallel, a group of colleagues demonstrated the long-term efficacy and safety of this kind of cell products for the healing of atrophic pseudarthrosis of the upper limb (Giannotti et al., 2013). In this paper, Authors also hypothesized that MPCs detected in the applied cell populations, even if at low percentage (1–10%), could contribute to the long lasting healing (follow-up at 76 months) reported for the eight enrolled patients. This interesting hypothesis could be corroborated by the idea that implanted MPCs could provide efficient tissue regeneration, differentiating into *early* MSCs, as well as contribute to the vascularization of the engineered construct due to their demonstrated angiogenic properties (Fazzi et al., 2011). After these encouraging clinical results, we believe that manufacturing MPC-based medicinal products could provide a new promising tool in skeletal tissue engineering.

As MPCs have been reported being not-proliferating cells, the expansion is not actually permitted. Nonetheless, the frequency of MPCs has been estimated around 1% of hBM-MNCs, which is hundred to thousand times higher respect to MSCs (Trombi et al., 2009), leading us to hypothesized cell-based therapies involving this non-expanded multipotent progenitors. The possible application of not *in vitro* amplified cell products carries significant advantages in terms of: (i) a reduced risk of cell transformation, (ii) reduced cellular senescence, and (iii) reduced exposition to bacterial and viral contamination, minimizing the



FIGURE 4 | Managing hGF medium contents, by adding recombinant factors, affected the sera performance during MPC isolation. Adding rhEGF or rhFGF-2, alone or in combination, to the cultures supplemented with good performance serum (LZM), resulted in significantly increased MSC-like population (red bars). Under these conditions, MPC/MSC ratio was comparable to those reported applying MSC-inducing PhABS. Treating with rhVEGF or rhPDGF-AB had no effects on MPC isolation, but a combination of those two hGFs produced mild but significant increase in MSC-like counterpart. BIOW2 batch was selected as PhABS with poor performance, evaluating the effects of rhIGF-1 and rhIGF-2 during MPC isolation. The treatment with rhIGFs, either alone or in combination, produced a 50% reduction of the MSC-like population (**p < 0.01, respect to control).

culture time (Schneider et al., 2010). However, this could provide limited number of cell doses forcing to investigate any possible clinical application of MPCs in the context of personalized cell therapies, which involved small-scale CBMP production similar to that described by Giannotti et al. (2013). Anyway, in the attempt to define manufacturing conditions, selective for MPCs, we observed large variability in MPC yield using AS as well as different manufacturers and batches of commercial PhABS.

In general, CBMPs represent complex biological products displaying high rate of intrinsic variability, mainly derived from two sources: (i) process starting material and (ii) process conditions (Williams et al., 2012). In particular for MPC-based product, the first mentioned source of variability could not be eliminated in the autologous context where starting materials are obtained by different patients. Moreover, even if the variability related to the production process could be significantly reduced applying automated and well-controlled manufacturing process (Liu et al., 2010; Pacini, 2014), the serum supplementation represents an inescapable source of variability. Here we showed such variability to correlate with some of the most important growth factors contained in platelet lysates (Fekete et al., 2012), whose concentrations in the serum fluctuate regardless of donors' age, sex or production method. Best performance in MPC production was obtained with serum concentrations of IGF-1 over 150 ng/ml combined to low levels of EGF (<160 pg/ml), FGF-2 (<2.0 pg/ml), PDGF-AB (<1200 pg/ml), and VEGF-A



(<180 pg/ml). Screening these five growth factors could provide a simple means to select high quality HS batches for the production of MPC-based CBMPs. Moreover, data presented here also provide interesting application for *Erlotinib*-HCl and *Nintedanib* in the production of MPC in autologous serum, where any possible source of variability, related to fluctuations in hGF serum concentration, could be mitigated by receptors inhibition. This could possibly results in qualified MPC products independently by patient sex, age, etc.

Taking in consideration only hGFs as serum factors influencing MPC cultures, represents the mayor limit of this study. Serum is highly complex biological fluid composed also by many other macromolecules (i.e., cytokines and immunoglobulins), different lipids, hormones and other small molecules. Further investigations are needed to exhaustively define the essential components required to produce high quality MPC-based cell product. Anyway, here we clearly demonstrate that managing the interactions of these hGFs with their receptors could also represents a new tool in MSC production. In fact, culturing bone marrow in AS, or PhABS, and in presence of Erlotinib-HCl and Nintedanib could lead to highly purified MPCs that could act as culture initiating cells to produce more homogeneous and synchronized MSC cultures. Those cultures could be easily obtained applying the same HS, by removing receptor inhibition and supplementing with recombinant hGF cocktail including at least EGF and FGF-2, as demonstrated here. Our findings are in accordance with Yamaguchi et al. that reported comparable results between FBS and PhABS, in MSC culture, when PhABS cultures had been supplemented with 10 ng/ml of FGF-2 (Yamaguchi et al., 2002). However, the extensive literature on serum supplements in MSC cultures is very controversial. A number of authors showed no significant differences between AS and FBS (Yamamoto et al., 2003; Spees et al., 2004; Stute et al., 2004), while Shigeno and Ashton obtained greater response using AS (Shigeno and Ashton, 1995), in contrast to the extensively reported higher performances applying FBS (Koller et al., 1998; Kuznetsov et al., 2000). It is reasonable hypothesized that the origins of those controversial data, in MSC manufacturing, reside in the lack of preliminary characterization of hGF content in the HS applied. We also believe that those inconsistencies originate from restricting focus on MSCs, without taking into account the positive effects of the MPC presence within the CBMP once implanted *in vivo*.

HS batches rich in EGF and FGF-2 apparently worsen the production of standard monomorphic MPC cultures probably supporting the proliferation of MSC-like cells from other distinct and rare progenitors reported in the bone marrow. These mesengenic progenitors could include skeletal stem cells (SSCs), recently described as the genuine skeletal tissue stem cells (Bianco and Robey, 2015) or CD146-positive non-stem osteoprogenitor (Sacchetti et al., 2007). This hypothesis is validated by our data on growth factor receptor expression. Significantly higher levels of EGFR, FGFR2, and PDGFRA were reported in MSCs suggesting that these specific growth factors could have trophic effect on MSC-like cells (Ng et al., 2008) instead of inducing MPCs to differentiate. Conversely, VEGF-A was detected at higher concentrations in MSC-inducing sera while KDR was more expressed in MPCs, together with TGFBR2, suggesting a role for VEGF-A and possibly TGF-B in MPC differentiation toward the mesenchymal lineage. IGF-1 appeared to be acting as MPC-promoting factor as its levels were particularly high in MPC-inducing sera LZM, LZMF, and SERL, mirroring IGF receptor expression in MPCs.

In conclusion, we believe that MPCs represent also a promising alternative to hBM-MNCs as culture-initiating cells in the production of clinical grade MSCs. A purified and well-characterized progenitor cell population cultured under specific controlled conditions would significantly improve CBMP reproducibility and consequently the predictability of pre-clinical studies. MPCs are found at frequencies one to two logs higher

REFERENCES

- Altaie, A., Owston, H., and Jones, E. (2016). Use of platelet lysate for bone regeneration - are we ready for clinical translation? *World J. Stem Cells* 8, 47–55. doi: 10.4252/wjsc.v8.i2.47
- Bernardo, M. E., Cometa, A. M., Pagliara, D., Vinti, L., Rossi, F., Cristantielli, R., et al. (2011). *Ex vivo* expansion of mesenchymal stromal cells. *Best Pract. Res. Clin. Haematol.* 24, 73–81. doi: 10.1016/j.beha.2010.11.002
- Bianco, P., and Robey, P. G. (2015). Skeletal stem cells. *Development* 142, 1023–1027. doi: 10.1242/dev.102210
- Bieback, K., Hecker, A., Kocaömer, A., Lannert, H., Schallmoser, K., Strunk, D., et al. (2009). Human alternatives to fetal bovine serum for the expansion of mesenchymal stromal cells from bone marrow. *Stem Cells* 27, 2331–2341. doi: 10.1002/stem.139

than the other MSC progenitors described in bone marrow. Moreover, future clinical applications for CBMPs based on undifferentiated and not expanded MPCs could take advantage from their angiogenic potential that is suggestive of possible beneficial effects on neo- or re-vascularization of target tissues. A complete definition of the active growth factor cocktail for MPC efficient isolation, expansion, and differentiation is still required also in order to possibly develop specific chemically defined media (CDM), which will eliminate the biological variability related to the serum supplementation.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

MM: Conception and design, Data collection, assembly, analysis, and interpretation. SB: Data collection, assembly, analysis, and interpretation. VC: Collection and assembly of RT-PCR data. FF: Collection and assembly of ELISA assay data. FP: Data collection. IP: Conception and design. SP: Conception and design; Data collection, assembly, analysis, and interpretation; Manuscript writing.

FUNDING

This work was funded by "Centro per l'Uso Clinico delle Cellule Staminali" (CUCCS) as part of the project "Impiego di cellule stromali mesenchimali di origine midollare nelle pseudoatrosi, cisti ossee di astragalo e osteotomie in plus delle ossa lunghe" (project number 539999_2014_Petrini_CUCCS).

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

Authors would like to thank Dr. Paolo Parchi from the 1st Orthopedic Division of the department of Translational Research and New Technology in Medicine and Surgery, University of Pisa, for providing high quality bone marrow samples.

SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: http://journal.frontiersin.org/article/10.3389/fcell. 2016.00114

- Burnouf, T., Strunk, D., Koh, M. B., and Schallmoser, K. (2016). Human platelet lysate: replacing fetal bovine serum as a gold standard for human cell propagation? *Biomaterials* 76, 371–387. doi: 10.1016/j.biomaterials.2015. 10.065
- Butler, M. J., and Sefton, M. V. (2012). Cotransplantation of adipose-derived mesenchymal stromal cells and endothelial cells in a modular construct drives vascularization in SCID/bg mice. *Tissue Eng. Part A.* 18, 1628–1641. doi: 10.1089/ten.tea.2011.0467
- Chamberlain, M. D., West, M. E., Lam, G. C., and Sefton, M. V. (2015). In vivo remodelling of vascularizing engineered tissues. Ann. Biomed. Eng. 43, 1189–1200. doi: 10.1007/s10439-014-1146-x
- Crisan, M., Yap, S., Casteilla, L., Chen, C.-W., Corselli, M., Park, T. S., et al. (2008). A perivascular origin for mesenchymal stem cells in multiple human organs. *Cell Stem Cell* 3, 301–313. doi: 10.1016/j.stem.2008.07.003

- da Silva Meirelles, L., Chagastelles, P. C., and Nardi, N. B. (2006). Mesenchymal stem cells reside in virtually all post-natal organs and tissues. J. Cell Sci. 119, 2204–2213. doi: 10.1242/jcs.02932
- Fazzi, R., Pacini, S., Carnicelli, V., Trombi, L., Montali, M., Lazzarini, E., et al. (2011). Mesodermal progenitor cells (MPCs) differentiate into mesenchymal stromal cells (MSCs) by activation of Wnt5/calmodulin signalling pathway. *PLoS ONE* 6:e25600. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0025600
- Fekete, N., Gadelorge, M., Fürst, D., Maurer, C., Dausend, J., Fleury-Cappellesso, S., et al. (2012). Platelet lysate from whole blood-derived pooled platelet concentrates and apheresis-derived platelet concentrates for the isolation and expansion of human bone marrow mesenchymal stromal cells: production process, content and identification of active components. *Cytotherapy* 14, 540–554. doi: 10.3109/14653249.2012.655420
- Fekete, N., Rojewski, M. T., Lotfi, R., and Schrezenmeier, H. (2014). Essential components for *ex vivo* proliferation of mesenchymal stromal cells. *Tissue Eng. C Methods* 20, 129–139. doi: 10.1089/ten.tec.2013.0061
- Giannotti, S., Trombi, L., Bottai, V., Ghilardi, M., D'Alessandro, D., Danti, S., et al. (2013). Use of autologous human mesenchymal stromal cell/fibrin clot constructs in upper limb non-unions: long-term assessment. *PLoS ONE* 8:e73893. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0073893
- Golebiewska, E. M., and Poole, A. W. (2015). Platelet secretion: from haemostasis to wound healing and beyond. *Blood Rev.* 29, 153–162. doi: 10.1016/j.blre.2014.10.003
- Hak, D. J., Fitzpatrick, D., Bishop, J. A., Marsh, J. L., Tilp, S., Schnettler, R., et al. (2014). Delayed union and nonunions: epidemiology, clinical issues, and financial aspects. *Injury* 45, S3–S7. doi: 10.1016/j.injury.2014.04.002
- Haynesworth, S. E., Goshima, J., Goldberg, V. M., and Caplan, A. I. (1992). Characterization of cells with osteogenic potential from human marrow. *Bone* 13, 81–88. doi: 10.1016/8756-3282(92)90364-3
- Hemeda, H., Giebel, B., and Wagner, W. (2014). Evaluation of human platelet lysate versus fetal bovine serum for culture of mesenchymal stromal cells. *Cytotherapy* 16, 170–180. doi: 10.1016/j.jcyt.2013.11.004
- Herberts, C. A., Kwa, M. S., and Hermsen, H. P. (2011). Risk factors in the development of stem cell therapy. J. Transl. Med. 9:29. doi: 10.1186/1479-58 76-9-29
- Hutton, D. L., and Grayson, W. L. (2014). Stem cell-based approaches to engineering vascularized bone. *Curr. Opin. Chem. Eng.* 3, 75–82. doi: 10.1016/j.coche.2013.12.002
- Keating, A. (2012). Mesenchymal stromal cells: new directions. Cell Stem Cell 10, 709–716. doi: 10.1016/j.stem.2012.05.015
- Kirton, J. P., and Xu, Q. (2010). Endothelial precursors in vascular repair. *Microvasc. Res.* 79, 193–199. doi: 10.1016/j.mvr.2010.02.009
- Kocaoemer, A., Kern, S., Klüter, H., and Bieback, K. (2007). Human AB serum and thrombin-activated platelet-rich plasma are suitable alternatives to fetal calf serum for the expansion of mesenchymal stem cells from adipose tissue. *Stem Cells* 25, 1270–1278. doi: 10.1634/stemcells.2006-0627
- Koller, M. R., Maher, R. J., Manchel, I., Oxender, M., and Smith, A. K. (1998). Alternatives to animal sera for human bone marrow cell expansion: human serum and serum-free media. *J. Hematother.* 7, 413–423. doi: 10.1089/scd.1.1998.7.413
- Kuznetsov, S. A., Mankani, M. H., and Robey, P. G. (2000). Effect of serum on human bone marrow stromal cells: *ex vivo* expansion and *in vivo* bone formation. *Transplantation* 70, 1780–1787. doi: 10.1097/00007890-200012270-00018
- Le Blanc, K., Frassoni, F., Ball, L., Locatelli, F., Roelofs, H., Lewis, I., et al. (2008). Mesenchymal stem cells for treatment of steroid-resistant, severe, acute graft-versus-host disease: a phase II study. *Lancet* 371, 1579–1586. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(08)60690-X
- Le Blanc, K., Rasmusson, I., Sundberg, B., Götherström, C., Hassan, M., Uzunel, M., et al. (2004). Treatment of severe acute graft-versus-host disease with third party haploidentical mesenchymal stem cells. *Lancet* 363, 1439–1441. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(04)16104-7
- Lechanteur, C., Briquet, A., Giet, O., Delloye, O., Baudoux, E., and Beguin, Y. (2016). Clinical-scale expansion of mesenchymal stromal cells: a large banking experience. J. Transl. Med. 20, 145. doi: 10.1186/s12967-016-0892-y
- Liu, Y., Hourd, P., Chandra, A., and Williams, D. J. (2010). Human cell culture process capability: a comparison of manual and automated production. J. Tissue Eng. Regen. Med. 4, 45–54. doi: 10.1002/term.217

- Livak, K. J., and Schmittgen, T. D. (2001). Analysis of relative gene expression data using real-time quantitative PCR and the $2^{-\Delta\Delta CT}$ method. *Methods* 25, 402–408. doi: 10.1006/meth.2001.1262
- Montali, M., Barachini, S., Pacini, S., Panvini, F. M., and Petrini, M. (2016). Isolating mesangiogenic progenitor cells (MPCs) from human bone marrow. J. Vis. Exp. 15, 113. doi: 10.3791/54225
- Muraglia, A., Todeschi, M. R., Papait, A., Poggi, A., Spanò, R., Strada, P., et al. (2015). Combined platelet and plasma derivatives enhance proliferation of stem/progenitor cells maintaining their differentiation potential. *Cytotherapy* 17, 1793–1806. doi: 10.1016/j.jcyt.2015.09.004
- Murray, I. R., West, C. C., Hardy, W. R., James, A. W., Park, T. S., Nguyen, A., et al. (2014). Natural history of mesenchymal stem cells, from vessel walls to culture vessels. *Cell. Mol. Life Sci.* 71, 1353–1374. doi: 10.1007/s00018-013-1462-6
- Ng, F., Boucher, S., Koh, S., Sastry, K. S., Chase, L., Lakshmipathy, U., et al. (2008). PDGF, TGF-β, and FGF signaling is important for differentiation and growth of mesenchymal stem cells (MSCs): transcriptional profiling can identify markers and signaling pathways important in differentiation of MSCs into adipogenic, chondrogenic, and osteogenic lineages. *Blood* 112, 295–307. doi: 10.1182/blood-2007-07-103697
- Nurden, A. T., Nurden, P., Sanchez, M., Andia, I., and Anitua, E. (2008). Platelets and wound healing. *Front. Biosci.* 1, 3532–3548. doi: 10.2741/2947
- Pacini, S. (2014). Deterministic and stochastic approaches in the clinical application of mesenchymal stromal cells (MSCs). *Front. Cell Dev. Biol.* 2:50. doi: 10.3389/fcell.2014.00050
- Pacini, S., Carnicelli, V., Trombi, L., Montali, M., Fazzi, R., Lazzarini, E., et al. (2010). Constitutive expression of pluripotency-associated genes in mesodermal progenitor cells (MPCs). *PLoS ONE* 5:e9861. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0009861
- Pacini, S., and Petrini, I. (2014). Are MSCs angiogenic cells? New insights on human nestin-positive bone marrow-derived multipotent cells. *Front. Cell Dev. Biol.* 2:20. doi: 10.3389/fcell.2014.00020
- Pacini, S., Spinabella, S., Trombi, L., Fazzi, R., Galimberti, S., Dini, F., et al. (2007). Suspension of bone marrow-derived undifferentiated mesenchymal stromal cells for repair of superficial digital flexor tendon in race horses. *Tissue Eng.* 13, 2949–2955. doi: 10.1089/ten.2007.0108
- Pelosi, E., Castelli, G., and Testa, U. (2014). Endothelial progenitors. Blood Cells Mol. Dis. 52, 186–194. doi: 10.1016/j.bcmd.2013.11.004
- Petrini, M., Pacini, S., Trombi, L., Fazzi, R., Montali, M., Ikehara, S., et al. (2009). Identification and purification of mesodermal progenitor cells from human adult bone marrow. *Stem Cells Dev.* 18, 857–866. doi: 10.1089/scd. 2008.0291
- Prockop, D. J. (1997). Marrow stromal cells as stem cells for nonhematopoietic tissues. Science 276, 71–74. doi: 10.1126/science.276.5309.71
- Rao, R. R., and Stegemann, J. P. (2013). Cell-based approaches to the engineering of vascularized bone tissue. *Cytotherapy* 15, 1309–1322. doi: 10.1016/j.jcyt.2013.06.005
- Reinhardt, J., Stühler, A., and Blümel, J. (2011). Safety of bovine sera for production of mesenchymal stem cells for therapeutic use. *Hum. Gene Ther*. 22, 775; author reply 776. doi: 10.1089/hum.2011.2501
- Richardson, S. M., Kalamegam, G., Pushparaj, P. N., Matta, C., Memic, A., Khademhosseini, A., et al. (2015). Mesenchymal stem cells in regenerative medicine: focus on articular cartilage and intervertebral disc regeneration. *Methods* 99, 69–80. doi: 10.1016/j.ymeth.2015.09.015
- Rodrigues, M., Griffith, L. G., and Wells, A. (2010). Growth factor regulation of proliferation and survival of multipotential stromal cells. *Stem Cell Res. Ther.* 26:32. doi: 10.1186/scrt32
- Sacchetti, B., Funari, A., Michienzi, S., Di Cesare, S., Piersanti, S., Saggio, I., et al. (2007). Self-renewing osteoprogenitors in bone marrow sinusoids can organize a hematopoietic microenvironment. *Cell* 131, 324–336. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2007.08.025
- Schneider, C. K., Salmikangas, P., Jilma, B., Flamion, B., Todorova, L. R., Paphitou, A., et al. (2010). Challenges with advanced therapy medicinal products and how to meet them. *Nat. Rev. Drug Discov.* 9, 195–201. doi: 10.1038/nrd3052
- Semple, J. W., Italiano, J. E. Jr., and Freedman, J. (2011). Platelets and the immune continuum. Nat. Rev. Immunol. 11, 264–274. doi: 10.1038/nri2956
- Sensebé, L., and Bourin, P. (2008). Producing MSC according GMP: process and controls. *Biomed. Mater. Eng.* 18, 173–177. doi: 10.3233/BME-2008-0520

- Sensebé, L., Bourin, P., and Tarte, K. (2011). Good manufacturing practices production of mesenchymal stem/stromal cells. *Hum. Gene Ther.* 22, 19–26. doi: 10.1089/hum.2010.197
- Shigeno, Y., and Ashton, B. (1995). Human bone-cell proliferation *in vitro* decreases with human donor age. *J. Bone Joint. Surg. Br.* 77, 139–142.
- Spees, J. L., Gregory, C. A., Singh, H., Tucker, H. A., Peister, A., Lynch, P. J., et al. (2004). Internalized antigens must be removed to prepare hypoimmunogenic mesenchymal stem cells for cell and gene therapy. *Mol. Ther.* 9, 747–756. doi: 10.1016/j.ymthe.2004.02.012
- Stute, N., Holtz, K., Bubenheim, M., Lange, C., Blake, F., and Zander, A. R. (2004). Autologous serum for isolation and expansion of human mesenchymal stem cells for clinical use. *Exp. Hematol.* 32, 1212–1225. doi: 10.1016/j.exphem.2004.09.003
- Subbanna, P. K. (2007). Mesenchymal stem cells for treating GVHD: in vivo fate and optimal dose. Med. Hypotheses 69, 469–470. doi: 10.1016/j.mehy.2006.12.016
- Trombi, L., Pacini, S., Montali, M., Fazzi, R., Chiellini, F., Ikehara, S., et al. (2009). Selective culture of mesodermal progenitor cells. *Stem Cells Dev.* 18, 1227–1234. doi: 10.1089/scd.2009.0054
- Watson, L., Elliman, S. J., and Coleman, C. M. (2014). From isolation to implantation: a concise review of mesenchymal stem cell therapy in bone fracture repair. *Stem Cell Res. Ther.* 5:51. doi: 10.1186/scrt439
- Williams, D. J., Thomas, R. J., Hourd, P. C., Chandra, A., Ratcliffe, E., Liu, Y., et al. (2012). Precision manufacturing for clinical-quality regenerative medicines. *Philos. Trans. A Math. Phys. Eng. Sci.* 370, 3924–3949. doi: 10.1098/rsta.2011.0049

- Yamaguchi, M., Hirayama, F., Wakamoto, S., Fujihara, M., Murahashi, H., Sato, N., et al. (2002). Bone marrow stromal cells prepared using AB serum and bFGF for hematopoietic stem cells expansion. *Transfusion* 42, 921–927. doi: 10.1046/j.1537-2995.2002.00149.x
- Yamamoto, N., Isobe, M., Negishi, A., Yoshimasu, H., Shimokawa, H., Ohya, K., et al. (2003). Effects of autologous serum on osteoblastic differentiation in human bone marrow cells. J. Med. Dent. Sci. 50, 63–69.
- Yousefi, A. M., James, P. F., Akbarzadeh, R., Subramanian, A., Flavin, C., and Oudadesse, H. (2016). Prospect of stem cells in bone tissue engineering: a review. *Stem Cells Int.* 2016:6180487. doi: 10.1155/2016/ 6180487
- Yu, H., Adesida, A. B., and Jomha, N. M. (2015). Meniscus repair using mesenchymal stem cells - a comprehensive review. *Stem Cell Res. Ther.* 6:86. doi: 10.1186/s13287-015-0077-2

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2016 Montali, Barachini, Panvini, Carnicelli, Fulceri, Petrini and Pacini. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) or licensor are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.



Are MSCs angiogenic cells? New insights on human nestin-positive bone marrow-derived multipotent cells

Simone Pacini * and Iacopo Petrini

Department of Clinical and Experimental Medicine, University of Pisa, Pisa, Italy

Edited by:

Anthony Scime, York University, Canada

Reviewed by:

Susumu Ikehara, Kansai Medical University, Japan Robert Paul Rhoads, Virginia Polytechnic Institute and State University, USA

*Correspondence:

Simone Pacini, Department of Clinical and Experimental Medicine, University of Pisa, Via Roma 56, 56126 Pisa, Italy e-mail: simone.pacini@do.unipi.it Recent investigations have made considerable progress in the understanding of tissue regeneration driven by mesenchymal stromal cells (MSCs). Data indicate the anatomical location of MSC as residing in the "perivascular" space of blood vessels dispersed across the whole body. This histological localization suggests that MSCs contribute to the formation of new blood vessels in vivo. Indeed, MSCs can release angiogenic factors and protease to facilitate blood vessel formation and *in vitro* are able to promote/support angiogenesis. However, the direct differentiation of MCSs into endothelial cells is still matter of debate. Most of the conflicting data might arise from the presence of multiple subtypes of cells with heterogeneous morpho functional features within the MSC cultures. According to this scenario, we hypothesize that the presence of the recently described Mesodermal Progenitor Cells (MPCs) within the MSCs cultures is responsible for their variable angiogenic potential. Indeed, MPCs are Nestin-positive CD31-positive cells exhibiting angiogenic potential that differentiate in MSC upon proper stimuli. The ISCT criteria do not account for the presence of MPC within MSC culture generating confusion in the interpretation of MSC angiogenic potential. In conclusion, the discovery of MPC gives new insight in defining MSC ancestors in human bone marrow, and indicates the tunica intima as a further, and previously overlooked, possible additional source of MSC.

Keywords: mesenchymal stromal cells, endothelial differentiation, angiogenesis, adult stem cells, bone marrow, nestin, neo-vascolarization, *in vivo* MSC

DISCOVER, ISOLATION, AND CHARACTERIZATION OF MSCs

In the late sixties, A. J. Friedenstein and coworkers first described the multipotent mesenchymal stromal cells (MSCs). When human bone marrow (BM) cells were cultured in plastic dishes colonies of adhered fribroblastoid cells proliferate and hematopoietic precursors progressively disappear. These cells have been named Colony Forming Units of Fibroblastoid cells (CFU-Fs) because of their ability to form large colonies on plastic surfaces. MSCs are able to differentiate into chondrocytes and osteoblasts, in vitro (Friedenstein et al., 1968), and in vivo (Friedenstein et al., 1974). By that time, T. M. Dexter and colleagues developed a culture system to study hematopoiesis and demonstrated that bone marrow hematopoietic stem cells (HSCs) were unable to adhere onto the culture flasks but necessitate an underlying layer of adherent cells that mimics the bone marrow stromal compartment (Dexter et al., 1977). After the demonstration that CFU-Fs originate from the bone marrow stroma, their name was changed in bone marrow stromal cells (Lanotte et al., 1981). In 1991, A. I. Caplan suggested the presence of a stem cell population in the adult BM able to differentiate into multiple mature cell lineages sharing a common precursor in the mesodermal layer of the embryo. Therefore, these cells were named "mesenchymal stem cells" (Caplan, 1991). Subsequently, the differentiation potential of MSCs into multiple mature lineages has been confirmed: these cells have a stable phenotype that can be easily expanded in culture and maintain the ability to differentiate into osteoblasts, chondrocytes, adipocytes, tenocytes,

myocytes and stromal cells supporting hematopoiesis (Pittenger et al., 1999). MSCs became popular when K. Le Blanc et al. showed that MSCs are "invisible" to the immune system because they express only the class I Major Histocompatibility Complex (MHC-I) but not the class II and co-stimulatory molecules such as CD40, CD80, and CD86. This is relevant in the prospective of allogeneic transplantation with possible therapeutic applications (Le Blanc et al., 2003).

The isolation and the expansion of MSCs are easily feasible from the adult bone marrow in most cellular laboratories. Therefore, MSCs have been largely evaluated and employed in several premature clinical trials. However, a precise characterization of these cells is still missing as well as standardized protocols for their isolation and expansion. Consequently, results are controversial and the biology of MSCs is still unclear.

More recently, the International Society for Cellular Therapy (ISCT) has proposed minimal criteria to define MSCs (Dominici et al., 2006):

- (1) MSCs are plastic-adherent cells in standard culture conditions,
- (2) MSCs express the surface marker: CD105, CD73, and CD90 and do not to express the hematopoietic markers: CD45, CD34, CD14, and CD11b, and
- (3) MSCs must be able to differentiate toward osteogenic, adipogenic and chondrogenic lineages when exposed to the proper conditions *in vitro*.

Finally, MSCs have been re-named "mesenchymal stromal cells" modifying the term "stem" into "stromal" in order to maintain the same acronym and avoid possible over-interpretation of their limited pluripotent potential (Horwitz et al., 2005).

TISSUE ORIGINS AND DISTRIBUTION OF MSCs

Cells matching the ISCT criteria can be isolated not only from the bone marrow but also from other adult and the fetal tissues (De Bari et al., 2001; Zuk et al., 2001; In't Anker et al., 2004; Seo et al., 2004). In these studies the culture condition adopted to establish BM-derived MSCs were applied to cells isolated from other tissues, in order to determine if MSCs reside also in different organs. In mice, L. da Silva Meirelles et al. demonstrated that long-term culture of MSCs could be established from a wide range of different adult tissues including fat, muscles, pancreas, vena cava, kidney glomerulus, aorta, brain and many others alongside bone marrow (da Silva Meirelles et al., 2006). Notably, all the cell populations that L. da Silva Meirelles established, independently from their origin, were long-term culture of adherent cells, with MSC phenotype and able to differentiate into mesenchymal cell lineages. These data suggest the presence of MSCs in virtually in all organs and tissues of the body. Three hypotheses try to explain the tissue distribution of MSCs:

- (1) MSCs permanently reside in multiple tissues and organs,
- (2) MSCs reside in only in particular tissues but can circulate in blood, and
- (3) MSCs are circulating blood cells.

The presence of CFU-Fs in blood of adult mammals was shown in 2007 (He et al., 2007). However, the contamination with fragments of connective tissue could not be ruled out to justify the presence of MSCs in the collected sample. Disputes remain regarding the existence of circulating MSCs (Roufosse et al., 2004; Kuznetsov et al., 2007). L. da Silva Meirelles demonstrated the presence of MSCs within tissue cleaning the organs using intravascular perfusion before their collection. Nonetheless, the possibility that MSCs may circulate locally or systemically under non-physiological conditions, i.e., tissue injury, is not excluded. Although, the features of MSC from different organs are similar, mild differences in differentiation potential and surface markers have been reported. These differences have been related to the influence of a modified local environment (niche) present in different site of the body.

MSC can be isolated from the wall of blood vessels (Doherty et al., 1998; Bianco et al., 2001), and in 2007, B. Sacchetti et al. demonstrated a common phenotype for BM-derived CFU-Fs and Adventitial Reticular cells (ARCs). ARCs populate sinusoids and lay in close contact with the endothelium. Strong evidence indicate that the fibroblastoid colonies described by Friedenstein *in vitro* originate from the ARCs isolated *ex vivo* (Sacchetti et al., 2007). Stromal progenitors in human BM that reside in the sub-endothelial layer of sinusoids strongly express the melanoma-associated adhesion molecule (MCAM/CD146). A. Tormin et al. confirmed that CD271 is an *in vivo* marker of BM-derived MSCs (Quirici et al., 2002) and described a subset of CD271+ cells that express CD146. Cells expressing CD271 and CD146 are the ARCs present in the sub-endothelial layer of sinusoids. The remaining CD271+/CD146- cells maintain the MSC features but *in vivo* reside in the trabecular bone-lining endosteal niche (Tormin et al., 2011). Therefore, there are at least two cells able to generate MSCs from the bone marrow one in the perivascular (CD271+/CD146+) and one in the endosteal niche (CD271+/CD146-).

M. Corselli et al. isolated two distinct MSC progenitors from the stroma vascular fraction (SVF) of the adipose tissues (Corselli et al., 2012). CD34–CD146+ pericytes encircling capillaries and microvessels and CD34+CD146– adventitial cells surrounding larger arteries and veins. MSC-like cultures can be expanded from both these populations, suggesting a vascular origin for the MSCs of the adipose tissue, similarly to what observed in bone marrow. A hierarchical organization of cell differentiation has been proposed for the vascular progenitor of MSCs being the adventitial cells the precursors of pericytes. Indeed, under proper conditions, ARCs differentiate into pericytes *in vitro*. Later, M. Crisan et al., isolating the cells through CD146, demonstrated the perivascular origin of MSCs in multiple organs (Crisan et al., 2008).

A new hypothesis that MSCs are localized *in vivo* in "perivascular" spaces that extend through the whole post-natal organism has been proposed. While this latest hypothesis is gaining consensus among researchers, the term "perivascular" is somehow ambiguous because it include the proximity of vessel and the wall itself. More precisely, two intra-vessel wall compartments, the *adventitia* and *sub-endothelium*, have been indicated as possible locations for these two MSC progenitors. The relationship between these two progenitors remains obscure, even if they have been largely characterized. Their histological localization, suggests a role of MSC in blood vessel formation *in vivo*. MSCs can directly differentiate into vascular cells (endothelial cells and smooth muscle cells) and/or as supporting vascular (re)generation in response to the paracrine secretion of stimulating factors (Lin and Lue, 2013).

CONTROVERSIES ABOUT THE ANGIOGENIC POTENTIAL OF MSCs

One of the most interesting debates regarding MSCs concerns their angiogenic potential. Due to the possible role of MSC in therapeutic (re)-vascularization, an increasing number of studies *in vitro* and *in vivo* have been performed (reviewed in Vittorio et al., 2013).

The formation of new blood vessel can be divided in:

- (1) Vasculogenesis: *de novo* formation of blood vessels from the endothelial precursors or angioblasts,
- (2) Angiogenesis: includes sprouting of existing vessels and intussusceptive angiogenesis, and
- (3) Arteriogenesis: remodels a pre-existing collateral circulation (Makanya et al., 2009; van Royen et al., 2009; Melero-Martin et al., 2010; Carmeliet and Jain, 2011; Potente et al., 2011).

Although MSCs support these processes through the release of angiogenic factors and protease (reviewed in Watt et al., 2013), the relevance of their differentiation into endothelial lineages is still debated.

The demonstration of MSC commitment toward endothelial lineage is often limited to the detection of the upregulation of typical EC surface molecules including CD31, CD34, VEGF receptors (VEGFR1, VEGFR2) and von Willebrand factor (vWF). As phenotype modification is insufficient to demonstrate differentiation, additional functional tests are often performed. These tests include *in vitro* tube formation on Matrigel[®] and uptake of acetylated-low density lipoproteins (Ac-LDL). Nonetheless, it might be inaccurate describing these differentiated MSCs as fully mature and functional ECs basing on these *in vitro* assays. For example, Ac-LDL uptake has been described also in macrophages and pericytes (Voyta et al., 1984).

A large effort was spent for the optimization of protocols able to induce endothelial differentiation of MSCs. VEGF stimulates the differentiation of MSCs into ECs. In 2004, J. Oswald et al. demonstrated that confluent human BM-derived MSCs cultured in 2% fetal calf serum (FCS) and 50 ng/ml VEGF for a week, displayed upregulation of endothelial surface markers including VEGFR1, VEGFR2, VE-Cadherin, VCAM-1, and vWF. Moreover, when incubated on Matrigel® in vitro, MSCs formed characteristic capillary-like structures (CLS) (Oswald et al., 2004). Similarly, M. Jazayeri et al. cultured human BM-derived MSCs in medium supplemented with 5% FCS, IGF and VEGF and detected CD31, vWF, Tie2, VCAM1, and VE-cadherin on the cell surface. In addiction, applying electron microscopy Authors showed the presence of typical EC morphological features including Weibel-Palade bodies, tight junctions and caveolae (Jazayeri et al., 2008). Similar results were also achieved using "endothelial growth medium-2" (EGM-2, which contains VEGF, EGF, FGF-2, IGF-1, hydrocortisone, heparin, ascorbic acid and 2% FCS) (Liu et al., 2007) and MSCs isolated from the adipose tissue (Cao et al., 2005; Fischer et al., 2009). Conversely, V.D. Roobrouck et al. reported that VEGF treatment of human BM-derived MSCs significantly increased mRNA expression of CD34, VEGFR1, and VEGFR2, but not of Tie-2 and vWF or CD31 that was even decreased. These MSCs also failed forming CLS in Matrigel® assays, (Roobrouck et al., 2011). In parallel, W. Fan et al. demonstrated that human BM-derived MSCs cultured in the presence of different concentrations of VEGF did not show increase in CD31, vWF or VEGFR2 expression (Fan et al., 2011).

In vivo G. V. Silva et al. demonstrated that MSCs applied in a region of myocardial ischemia can differentiate into smooth muscle cells and endothelial cells leading to increased vessel density and an improvement the cardiac function, in a canine model (Silva et al., 2005). Nonetheless, there is a consolidating concept that the angiogenic effect of MSCs is predominantly caused by their paracrine actions rather than their EC trans-differentiation potential. A. Al-Khaldi et al. showed that, in the murine Matrigel® plug assay, more than 99% of the new-formed blood vessels originated from host-derived EC, while a small portion of injected BM-derived MSCs were found in the close proximity of- or within blood vessels (Al-Khaldi et al., 2003). Moreover, the observation that MSCs in vitro committed through endothelial lineages were not superior to "naïve" MSCs in stimulating in vivo angiogenesis, may underline the relevance of the secretion of proangiogenic factors that is also sustained by uncommitted MSCs (Liu et al., 2007; Fan et al., 2011). Thus, the up-regulation of endothelial marker, under specific culture conditions, could represent an *in vitro* artifact and not a real differentiation into functional endothelial cells. BM-derived MSCs seems to be an important regulator of neo-vascularization by the secretion of pro-angiogenic factors as well as by differentiating into functional pericytes able to stabilize the new-formed vasculature (Au et al., 2008), rather than a source of endothelial progenitor cell.

Most of the controversial data about endothelial differentiation of MSCs need to be discussed as consequence of the sub-optimal protocols of differentiation (Janeczek Portalska et al., 2012). Moreover, a critical issue is the heterogeneity of the primary MSC cultures used to generate endothelial progenitors.

HETEROGENEITY OF CULTURE EXPANDED MSCs

The anatomic localization and the physiological function of MSCs are not clearly characterized. MSCs are commonly isolated from long-term cultures; therefore, it remains difficult to determine the primary cells of origin. The loose ISCT criteria hamper the identification of unique precursors of MSCs. Indeed, several types of primary cells with different features can fulfill the definition of MSCs *in vitro*. Being the definition permissive, the presence of a unique common precursor for cells with MSC features cannot be hypothesized. In BM, MSCs can originate from both perivascular and endosteal progenitors, therefore, it is difficult to distinguish if there is a unique common precursor or if the loose ISCT definition is unable to identifies two different progenitor populations. However the clinical applications of MSCs are only partially limited by the incomplete characterization of the progenitor cells.

The heterogeneity of MSC cultures, defined according to ISCT criteria, is becoming evident in more recent articles and brings into question the utility of these ambiguous criteria. From the beginning, different terms have described the morphology of plastic-adherent cells: fibroblastoid (Werts et al., 1980), giant fat cells and blanket cells (Allen and Dexter, 1983), spindle shaped flattened cells (Kuznetsov et al., 1997) and very small round cells (Colter et al., 2001). Thus, mesenchymal cell morphology seems to be highly dependent on culture conditions: supplements, seeding density, number of passages and culture time (Wagner and Ho, 2007; Barachini et al., 2009). It is still unclear if there is any relation between these different morphology and cell functions.

There is not a consensus on the surface markers of MSCs, aside from the unspecific CD105, CD90, CD44, and CD73, because different laboratories use different sets of antigens. Therefore, the differentiation into mature cells with a mesengenic ancestor seems to be the more reliable and stringent criteria to define MSCs. However, the differentiation potential of MSC is variable. This variability is observed between different donors (Phinney et al., 1999) and also within different colonies obtained from the same subject (Russell et al., 2010). Indeed, colonies obtained from the same individual could be characterized as mono-, bior tri-potent on the basis of their ability to differentiate into, respectively one, two or three types of tissue: osteogenic, chondrogenic and adipogenic lineages. Moreover, it has been clearly demonstrated that repeated passages progressively reduce the multi-lineage differentiation ability, introducing a further element of complexity (Muraglia et al., 2000). It is possible to

hypothesize that the angiogenic potential of MSC is subject to a similar variability that is influenced by the same factors.

MSCs are heterogeneous not only among different colonies but also within the same colony (Digirolamo et al., 1999). Cells show variable differentiation potential in relation to their topographic localization inside the colony. Cells from the center and the margins of the colony differ for shape, differentiation potential and surface markers (Ylöstalo et al., 2008; Sengers et al., 2010). Therefore, the term "multipotent mesenchymal stromal cells" does not identify a population of cells with uniform features and unambiguous potential but refers to a highly heterogeneous population that is dramatically affected by donors characteristics (Russell et al., 2013), isolation methods (Wagner and Ho, 2007; Barachini et al., 2009), culture conditions (Bieback et al., 2009).

Several possible mechanisms may explain the basis of the MSC heterogeneity, beside the already described variability introduced by ex vivo procedures (Pevsner-Fischer et al., 2011). Hypotheses on the origin of this variability include: stochastic events, occurring during expansion and differentiation and a possible in vivo heterogeneity of the isolated cell populations. In this latter hypothesis, specific culture conditions select, or simply promote, particular subpopulations of MSCs giving reason of the observed heterogeneity and the morpho-functional variability. According to this scenario, numerous multipotent cell populations can be described in bone marrow, some of them able to differentiate into lineage from the three germ layers: endoderm, mesoderm and ectoderm (triploblastic differentiation). However, the isolation and successive characterization of these cells is strictly dependent on the application of specific culture conditions. For example, "marrow-isolated adult multipotent inducible (MIAMI)" cells can differentiate into, neural and pancreatic-like cells in addition to skeletal tissue lineage (D'Ippolito et al., 2004). The isolation and expansion of MIAMI cells require specific culture conditions with low oxygen tension.

Recently a unique multipotent sub-population in adult human BM-derived MSCs has been isolated using fluorescent activated cell sorting (FACS) for stage-specific embryonic antigen 3 (SSEA-3). BM-derived MSCs show poluripotency-differentiation properties (Kuroda et al., 2013). Interestingly, stress conditions could enrich the expression of SSEA-3 in cultured MSCs (Kuroda et al., 2010). Y. Kuroda et al. demonstrated that long-term trypsin incubation could increase the recovery of cell clusters containing pluripotency-associated markers and renamed these cells as "multi-lineage differentiating stress-enduring" (MUSE) cells.

Thus, if mild modifications in the culture conditions, or in the culture procedures, can induce/preserve an embryonic-like differentiation potential in BM-derived cells, it is reasonable to suppose that angiogenic potential behaves similarly and is significantly affected by manipulation *in vitro*.

MESODERMAL PROGENITOR CELLS (MPCs) IN ADULT HUMAN BONE MARROW

In 2007, we attempted to optimize MSC culture conditions for clinical application selecting media without supplements of animal origin. When medium was supplemented with autologous serum instead of that of bovine origin, a small population of cells with distinct shape was noticed. These cells presented rounded, fried-egg shape, instead of the usual spindle morphology of MSCs, were highly refractive and remain firmly attached to the plastic during trypsin digestion

In 2008, by replacing fetal bovine serum (FBS) with pooled human AB serum (PhABS) in the culture medium of human BM cells, we were able to characterize this new population of adherent cells (Petrini et al., 2009). These cells are quiescent: Ki-67 negative; with long telomeres and express the pluripotencyassociated transcription factors Oct-4 and Nanog instead of RUNX2 and Sox9 typical for MSC-phenotype (Pacini et al., 2010). Phenotypically, these cells share the expression of CD105 with MSCs but lacked expression of CD73, CD90, CD166, CD271 and those other markers typical of the mesenchymal phenotype such as MSCA-1. Interestingly, this cell population rapidly produces mesenchymal offspring when supplemented with FBS or human cord blood serum. Thus, this novel population of cells, isolated from the BM, has in vitro characteristics of a progenitor of the mesengenic lineage and therefore has been named "Mesodermal Progenitor Cells" (MPCs).

ISOLATION OF MPCs FROM HUMAN BM SAMPLES

Method for the isolation of MPCs from BM samples is feasible, inexpensive and based on selective culture conditions (Trombi et al., 2009). Initially, MPCs were co-isolated together with MSCs applying media supplemented with autologous serum or PhABS, in culture. It became evident that MPCs have different adhesion properties compared to MSCs. In fact, applying standard trypsin-based cell detaching protocols, MSCs were entirely harvested while most of the MPCs remain firmly attached to the plastic surface and required different proteases' solution (TrypLE Select® from LifeTechnologies) to be detached. Therefore, plastic features and coating of the culture surfaces influence the proportion of MPCs and MSCs in the primary cultures. We firstly tested not gas-treated hydrophobic plastics, usually applied for cultures in suspension, and surprisingly MPCs were able to attached on that surface also. Conversely, the hydrophobic conditions resulted not permissive for MSC. Thus, a selective culture could be established using these conditions allowing the recovery of MPCs with a purity of more than 95%. We also noticed that a higher yield of MPC recovery was achieved using higher seeding densities, than that usually applied for MSC isolation. In summary, PhABS supplementation and high density seeding on hydrophobic plastics were the selective culture conditions necessary for MPCs isolation from BM-MNCs. This method has been consolidated and it is highly reproducible allowing the quality screening of the MPC preparations before their employment in the different studies.

The mechanisms behind the difference, in MPC recovery, between culturing cells in FBS or PhABS-containing medium are still unknown. Nonetheless, we demonstrated that the addition of PhABS, even in small percentages, to FBS primary cultures allows MPC isolation, suggesting the presence of undetected agents able to induce MPCs in the human serum (Trombi et al., 2009). Conversely, when FBS is added to cultures grown in PhABS, cells differentiate into MSCs without any significant reduction in the number of MPCs indicating a possible semi-conservative proliferation of MPCs. What characterized FBS against PhABS is the different origin in terms of species (bovine instead of human) and stage of body development (fetal against adult). The differentiation of MPCs into MSCs is induced replacing PhABS with FBS (Petrini et al., 2009), or using human cord blood-derived serum (unpublished data). These preliminary results suggest that media supplementation with fetal sera represent the culture condition for the mesengenic induction of MPCs, independently from the adopted species.

Mesengenic potential of MPCs

Later, we have been able to demonstrate a hierarchical multistep model of mesenchymal differentiation with at least three different populations of multi-potent cells (Fazzi et al., 2011). Indeed, MPCs can generate exponentially growing MSC cultures after 2 weeks of stimulation with differentiating conditions. The differentiation proceeds through the commitment into an intermediate cell population; we named early MSCs. Timing of MPC mesengenic differentiation was definitively clarified and specific morphologies, phenotypes and growing features of the three protagonists described (Figure 1A). Studying Wnt signaling activation during MPC differentiation, we showed that non-canonical Wnt5/Calmodulin pathway was involved in the commitment of MPCs into early MSCs and demonstrated that Calmidazolium Chloride, a Calmodulin inhibitor, was able to interfere with the differentiation only at this initial step while has no effect on passage from early to late MSCs.

Angiogenic potential of bone marrow-derived MPCs

From the beginning it has been clear that MPCs have angiogenic potential because they form capillary-like structures (CLS) after a multiple steps of differentiation (Petrini et al., 2009; Trombi et al., 2009; Pacini et al., 2010). Interestingly, the inhibition of the Wnt5/Calmodulin signaling pathway has no effects on the MPC differentiation toward endothelial lineage suggesting that Wnt signaling pathway activation finely regulates MPC fate. On the contrary of mesengenic, all the passage of angiogienic differentiation have not been described to date due to the lack of specific culture protocols. Indeed, to partially induce endothelial differentiation we applied protocols optimized for endothelial progenitor cells (EPCs) with mild modifications (Hill et al., 2003). This was sufficient to demonstrate the angiogenic potential of MPCs and suggested that exist a BM-derived endothelial progenitor cell distinct from EPCs.

The high expression of CD31 and Nestin in MPCs suggest the existence of a primitive progenitor for the endothelial lineages (Petrini et al., 2009; Trombi et al., 2009; Pacini et al., 2010). Nestin is a class VI intermediate filament protein originally described as a marker of neural stem cells that is expressed during the development of central nervous system (CNS) (Lendahl et al., 1990). Although Nestin expression is down regulated during the differentiation into neurons or glial cells (Dahlstrand et al., 1995), it can be detected in adult neural progenitor cells (Reynolds et al., 1992; Morshead et al., 1994) and in some CNS tumors (Tohyama et al., 1992). Frequently, Nestin is not expressed by the cancer cells themselves but can be observed in the endothelial cells of the tumor regardless of malignancy grade or its histotype (Sugawara et al., 2002). This suggests that Nestin can be a

marker of proliferating tumor endothelial cells and not only of neuroepithelial elements. Therefore, Nestin expression correlates with angiogenesis because it is expressed in proliferating vascular endothelial cells of the tumor (Kim et al., 2002; Teranishi et al., 2007; Gravdal et al., 2009; Eaton et al., 2010). K. Sugawara et al. demonstrated a high expression of Nestin in bovine aortic proliferating endothelial cells in static culture. This expression rapidly decreases under conditions of laminar shear stress flow, suggesting that Nestin expression is typical of early proliferating endothelial precursors but is loss in mature endothelial cells of normal tissues. In the recent years, the emerging concept of Nestin as a novel early angiogenic marker is gaining consensus in normal ad tumor angiogenesis (reviewed in Matsuda, 2013).

MPCs express CD31/PECAM (Pacini et al., 2013) but rapidly loose these markers during differentiation contextually with the lost of Nestin (**Figure 1A**). Preliminary data show that MPCs can make "sprouting" when directly seeded in Matrigel® 3D-cultures but are not able to efficiently form CLS without a step of predifferentiation. Therefore, MPCs could represent a very staminal progenitor with angiogenic potential more immature than what is reputed to date.

MPCs DO NOT SHOW FEATURES OF PERICYTES OR ADVENTITIAL PROGENITORS

Pericytes surround blood capillaries, precapillary arterioles, postcapillary venules and collecting venules (Sims, 1986; Allt and Lawrenson, 2001); where they can be identify by the expression of CD146 together with less specific markers such as α -smooth muscle actin (α -SMA), desmin, NG-2, platelet-derived growth factor receptor (PDGFR)- α , aminopeptidase A and N, RGS5, and the promotertrap transgene *XlacZ4* (Gerhardt and Betsholtz, 2003).

Pericytes and Adventitial Progenitor Cells (APCs) belong to the same cell lineage, according to several authors (Tormin et al., 2011; Corselli et al., 2012). Pericytes and APCs differ in their position in the vessel wall morphology, and some surface markers. However, this distinction is not absolute because exist a continuum between the phenotype of the classical APCs and the typical pericytes when they are distributed along small vessels such as arteriole, capillary, and venule. It has been suggested that pericytes may reside under the endothelium even in large vessels and support the endothelial removal and repair after injuries. From this point of view, these cells can be considered a reservoir of MSC-like undifferentiated cells (da Silva Meirelles et al., 2006). Conversely, Corselli's data demonstrated that APCs differentiate into pericytes in vitro, suggesting a "centripetal" (from the *adventitia* toward sub-endothelial layer) relationship between these cells (Corselli et al., 2012). Both the "centrifugal" and the "centripetal" model assumed that the intima would not be involved in the generation of MSC-like cells.

Interestingly, our MPCs express the early angiogenic markers Nestin and CD31/PECAM, suggesting their plausible location in the *tunica intima*. Although the localization of MPCs in the lumen-facing wall of vessels has been not definitively demonstrated, preliminary histological evaluations revealed the expression of Nestin in the sinusoids, arterioles/venules and larger



vessels of bone marrow (Figure 2). A higher Nestin expression was observed in sinusoids' endothelium, whereas a lower Nestin expression was localized in only few cells located in the sub-endothelium and *adventitia*.

MPC do not express CD146, a specific markers of pericytes, as well as CD271. Therefore, it is unlikely MPCs reside in the *adventitia* or in the sub-endothelium (Petrini et al., 2009; Trombi et al., 2009; Pacini et al., 2010). Thus, any model of perivascular localization of MSC-like cells will be incomplete without the inclusion of the *tunica intima* among the possible sources of these cells.



FIGURE 2 | Nestin expression in human bone marrow biopsies. (A) Consistent expression of Nestin is detectable in the *tunica intima* of large vessels, arterioles and venules (dark brown color). Few cells of the sub-endothelium and *adventitia* show a weakly positive Nestin staining (light brownish color). Furthermore, Nestin is highly expressed

in the sinusoids and two colors immunofluorescence reveals that Nestin is positive in lumen-facing cells surrounded by CD146+/Nestinpericytes. **(B)** Schematic representation of possible tissue distribution of MPC (represented in green) and other bone marrow vessels-residing cells.

NEW HYPOTHESIS ON ANGIOGENIC PROPERTIES OF BM-DERIVED MULTIPOTENT STROMAL CELLS

Recently, we have proposed that the yield of MPCs, co-isolated in the standard BM-MSC preparations, is influenced from the host, the batches of the serum and from the density of cell seeding (Petrini et al., 2009). The inter-population variability introduced by different donors and cell isolation protocols, affect the yield of MPCs, *early* MSCs or *late* MSCs. According to the hierarchical model, MPCs are progenitors of the mesenchymal lineage and account for 1–3% of mononuclear cells of the bone marrow (BM-MNCs). When BM-MNCs are seeded in standard FBScontaining media MPCs rapidly differentiate into mesengenic lineages forming the typical MSC culture in few days.

The variable angiogenic potential described in the literature of MSCs is probably related to the heterogeneous composition of the cultures expanded from the bone marrow that includes sub-populations of MPCs and MSCs when defined according to ISCT criteria (**Figure 1B**). Indeed, the expanded or exponentially growing MSCs are Nestin-negative and *de facto* coincide with our *late* MSCs. Late MSCs do not retain any angiogenic potential because these cells are already committed toward other mesengenic lineage (Figure 1B). Most of the reports do not apply specific protocols for MPC's isolation; thus, these MSC cultures represent an uncontrolled heterogeneity of multipotent cells with an unpredictable angiogenic potential. Because MPCs show resistance to trypsin digestion, these cells are expected to be lost during subsequent passages reducing progressively the angiogenic potential of the sub-cultures. Not surprisingly, the most successful endothelial differentiation protocols have been obtained from early passages of MSC's cultures (Oswald et al., 2004; Fan et al., 2011; Janeczek Portalska et al., 2012). Conversely, protocols specific for endothelial differentiation may commit a pure population of MPCs into homogeneous clones of MSCs. The clinical utility of BM-derived cells will be improved by a more precise phenotypization able to distinguish MPCs from early and late MSCs.

Recently, Frenette's group demonstrated in the hematopoietic niche the presence of Nestin-positive bone marrow cells with mesengenic potential of differentiation. Using *Nes-Gfp* transgenic mice, authors identified a highly selected fraction of

Acronym		MSCs	MPCs	Pericytes	ARCs	APCs	TBLCs
Phenotype							
	CD90	+	_	+	+	+	+
	CD105	+	+	+	+	+	+
	CD73	+	-				
	Nestin	±	+		±		
	CD31	-	+	-	-	-	_
	CD146	±	-	+	-	-	±
	CD271	+	-	±			+
	CD34	-	-	-	+	+	_
Distribution		Bone marrow (Pittenger et al., 1999), adipose tissue (Zuk et al., 2001) and many others tissue cultures (da Silva Meirelles et al., 2006)	Bone marrow cultures (Petrini et al., 2009)	Sub-endothelium of vessels and microvessels in bone marrow (Tormin et al., 2011) and adipose tissue (Corselli et al., 2012)	Adventitia of vessels and microvessels in bone marrow (Sacchetti et al., 2007)	Adventitia of vessel and microvessel in adipose tissue (Tormin et al., 2011; Corselli et al., 2012)	Adjacent to trabecular bone (Tormin et al., 2011)
Role in angiogenesis		Controversial	Sprouting and direct differentiation into ECs	Stabilization of new formed vasculature	Mural cells and endothelium support	Mural cells and endothelium support	Not involved

Table 1 | Bona fide multipotent progenitor cells of bone marrow and adipose tissues.

MSCs able to form the HSC niche (Méndez-Ferrer et al., 2010). In vivo, both in human and mouse, these cells are positive for PDGFRa, CD51 and Nestin expression and negative for CD45 CD31 CD235a (Ter119- in mice). Although the two types of BM stem cell can form a single niche, only a small fraction of Nestin+ cells exhibits MSC activity when tested in mesensphere or CFU-F assays (Méndez-Ferrer et al., 2010). Also for Nestinpositive cells, the protocols of isolation and expansion dramatically affect the composition of cell populations in culture; thus harsh isolation protocols will be needed to avoid the development of heterogeneous populations and allow the characterization and functional definition of these interesting cells. Further the co-expression of PDGFRa and CD51 identifies a subset (about 60%) of Nestin-positive cells with an enriched potential to form HSC niches and to perform mesenchymal differentiation (Pinho et al., 2013). Limited data are available regarding the angiogenic potential of Nestin-positive cells. Because PDGFRa+ CD51+ hematopoietic-supporting stromal cells do not express CD45 (a hematopoietic marker) and CD31 (an endothelial marker), it can be hypothesized the presence of an additional population of Nestin-positive CD31-positive cells not described in the previous analysis.

CONCLUSIONS

Although MSCs have been largely studied for their interesting applications in clinical trials, these cells have not been fully characterized because of the lack of standardized protocols between different laboratories. Controversies remain, and several aspects of MSC biology are still unclear. The heterogeneity and morpho-functional variability of MSC cell preparations could explain most of the conflicting data in the literature. Together with the effects of culture conditions that can indeed select, or simply promote, particular subpopulations of MSC-like cells (**Table 1**), the described possible multiple origins of MSCs contribute to the confusing interpretation of the experimental data. More stringent phenotypization criteria may help to prevent this issue. Recently, perivascular localization of MSC precursors may explain their presence in a wide range of tissues and organs and suggests some angiogenic potential.

Therefore, we hypothesize that the presence of the recently described Mesodermal Progenitor Cells (MPCs) could be responsible for the controversial data regarding angiogenic potential of MSC cultures. Although these cells can be co-isolated with MSC culture, different protocols may determine a different yield of MPCs.

The discovery of Nestin-positive CD31-positive MPCs supports their role as MSC ancestors in human bone marrow and indicates the *tunica intima* as a possible source of MSCs.

Further studies are needed to deeply investigate the MPC biology and confirm their anatomical home in human bone marrow. Nonetheless, the identification of MPCs suggests the opportunity of a revision of the MSC definition in order to achieve their expected clinical utility (Keating, 2012).

Finally, MPCs represent a valuable cell population for the proof of new concepts in tissue engineering, where the neo-vascularization plays a crucial role in the establishment of successful therapies. Future studies evaluating MPC-based therapies will take advantage of their mesengenic and angiogenic potential in order to regenerate skeletal tissues and support their growth with a newly formed vasculature.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

Simone Pacini: Literature review and article draft. Iacopo Petrini: revision.

REFERENCES

- Al-Khaldi, A., Eliopoulos, N., Martineau, D., Lejeune, L., Lachapelle, K., and Galipeau, J. (2003). Postnatal bone marrow stromal cells elicit a potent VEGFdependent neoangiogenic response *in vivo. Gene Ther.* 10, 621–629. doi: 10.1038/sj.gt.3301934
- Allen, T. D., and Dexter, T. M. (1983). Long term bone marrow cultures: an ultrastructural review. *Scan Electron Microsc.* (Pt 4), 1851–1866.
- Allt, G., and Lawrenson, J. G. (2001). Pericytes: cell biology and pathology. Cells Tissues Organs. 169, 1–11. doi: 10.1159/000047855
- Au, P., Tam, J., Fukumura, D., and Jain, R. K. (2008). Bone marrow-derived mesenchymal stem cells facilitate engineering of long-lasting functional vasculature. *Blood* 111, 4551–4558. doi: 10.1182/blood-2007-10-118273
- Barachini, S., Trombi, L., Danti, S., D'Alessandro, D., Battolla, B., Legitimo, A., et al. (2009). Morpho-functional characterization of human mesenchymal stem cells from umbilical cord blood for potential uses in regenerative medicine. *Stem Cells Dev.* 18, 293–305. doi: 10.1089/scd.2008.0017
- Bianco, P., Riminucci, M., Gronthos, S., and Robey, P. G. (2001). Bone marrow stromal stem cells: nature, biology, and potential applications. *Stem Cells* 19, 180–192. doi: 10.1634/stemcells.19-3-180
- Bieback, K., Hecker, A., Kocaömer, A., Lannert, H., Schallmoser, K., Strunk, D., et al. (2009). Human alternatives to fetal bovine serum for the expansion of mesenchymal stromal cells from bone marrow. *Stem Cells* 27, 2331–2341. doi: 10.1002/stem.139
- Cao, Y., Sun, Z., Liao, L., Meng, Y., Han, Q., and Zhao, R. C. (2005). Human adipose tissue derived stem cells differentiate into endothelial cells *in vitro* and improve postnatal neovascularization *in vivo. Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun.* 332, 370–379. doi: 10.1016/j.bbrc.2005.04.135
- Caplan, A. I. (1991). Mesenchymal stem cells. J. Orthop. Res. 9, 641–650. doi: 10.1002/jor.1100090504
- Carmeliet, P., and Jain, R. K. (2011). Molecular mechanisms and clinical applications of angiogenesis. *Nature* 473, 298–307. doi: 10.1038/nature10144
- Colter, D. C., Sekiya, I., and Prockop, D. J. (2001). Identification of a subpopulation of rapidly self-renewing and multipotential adult stem cells in colonies of human marrow stromal cells. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 98, 7841–7845. doi: 10.1073/pnas.141221698
- Corselli, M., Chen, C. W., Sun, B., Yap, S., Rubin, J. P., and Péault, B. (2012). The tunica adventitia of human arteries and veins as a source of mesenchymal stem cells. *Stem Cells Dev.* 21, 1299–1308. doi: 10.1089/scd.2011.0200
- Crisan, M., Casteilla, L., Lehr, L., Carmona, M., Paoloni-Giacobino, A., Yap, S., et al. (2008). A reservoir of brown adipocyte progenitors in human skeletal muscle. *Stem Cells* 26, 2425–2433. doi: 10.1634/stemcells.
- D'Ippolito, G., Diabira, S., Howard, G. A., Menei, P., Roos, B. A., and Schiller, P. C. (2004). Marrow-isolated adult multilineage inducible (MIAMI) cells, a unique population of postnatal young and old human cells with extensive expansion and differentiation potential. *J. Cell Sci.* 117, 2971–2981. doi: 10.1242/jcs.01103
- Dahlstrand, J., Lardelli, M., and Lendahl, U. (1995). Nestin mRNA expression correlates with the central nervous system progenitor cell state in many, but not all, regions of developing central nervous system. *Brain Res. Dev. Brain Res.* 84, 109–129. doi: 10.1016/0165-3806(94)00162-S
- da Silva Meirelles, L., Chagastelles, P. C., and Nardi, N. B. (2006). Mesenchymal stem cells reside in virtually all post-natal organs and tissues. J. Cell Sci. 119, 2204–2211. doi: 10.1242/jcs.02932
- De Bari, C., Dell'Accio, F., Tylzanowski, P., and Luyten, F. P. (2001). Multipotent mesenchymal stem cells from adult human synovial membrane. *Arthritis Rheum.* 44, 1928–1942. doi: 10.1002/1529-0131(200108)44:8<1928::AID-ART331>3.0.CO;2-P
- Dexter, T. M., Allen, T. D., and Lajtha, L. G. (1977). Conditions controlling the proliferation of haemopoietic stem cells *in vitro*. J. Cell. Physiol. 91, 335–344. doi: 10.1002/jcp.1040910303
- Digirolamo, C. M., Stokes, D., Colter, D., Phinney, D. G., Class, R., and Prockop, D. J. (1999). Propagation and senescence of human marrow stromal cells in culture: a simple colony-forming assay identifies samples with the greatest potential to propagate and differentiate. *Br. J. Haematol.* 107, 275–281. doi: 10.1046/j.1365-2141.1999.01715.x

- Doherty, M. J., Ashton, B. A., Walsh, S., Beresford, J. N., Grant, M. E., and Canfield, A. E. (1998). Vascular pericytes express osteogenic potential *in vitro* and *in vivo*. *J. Bone Miner. Res.* 13, 828–838. doi: 10.1359/jbmr.1998.13.5.828
- Dominici, M., Le Blanc, K., Mueller, I., Slaper-Cortenbach, I., Marini, F., Krause, D., et al. (2006). Minimal criteria for defining multipotent mesenchymal stromal cells. The International Society for Cellular Therapy position statement. *Cytotherapy* 8, 315–317. doi: 10.1080/14653240600855905
- Eaton, C. L., Colombel, M., van der Pluijm, G., Cecchini, M., Wetterwald, A., Lippitt, J., et al. (2010). Evaluation of the frequency of putative prostate cancer stem cells in primary and metastatic prostate cancer. *Prostate* 70, 875–882. doi: 10.1002/pros.21121
- Fan, W., Crawford, R., and Xiao, Y. (2011). The ratio of VEGF/PEDF expression in bone marrow mesenchymal stem cells regulates neovascularization. Differentiation 81, 181–191. doi: 10.1016/j.diff.2010.12.003
- Fazzi, R., Pacini, S., Carnicelli, V., Trombi, L., Montali, M., Lazzarini, E., et al. (2011). Mesodermal progenitor cells (MPCs) differentiate into mesenchymal stromal cells (MSCs) by activation of Wnt5/calmodulin signalling pathway. *PLoS ONE* 6:e25600 doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0025600
- Fischer, L. J., McIlhenny, S., Tulenko, T., Golesorkhi, N., Zhang, P., Larson, R., et al. (2009). Endothelial differentiation of adipose-derived stem cells: effects of endothelial cell growth supplement and shear force. J. Surg. Res. 152, 157–166. doi: 10.1016/j.jss.2008.06.029
- Friedenstein, A. J., Chailakhyan, R. K., Latsinik, N. V., Panasyuk, A. F., and Keiliss-Borok, I. V. (1974). Stromal cells responsible for transferring the microenvironment of the hemopoietic tissues. Cloning *in vitro* and retransplantation *in vivo*. *Transplantation* 17, 331–340. doi: 10.1097/00007890-197404000-00001
- Friedenstein, A. J., Petrakova, K. V., Kurolesova, A. I., and Frolova, G. P. (1968). Heterotopic of bone marrow. Analysis of precursor cells for osteogenic and hematopoietic tissues. *Transplantation* 6, 230–247. doi: 10.1097/00007890-196803000-00009
- Gerhardt, H., and Betsholtz, C. (2003). Endothelial-pericyte interactions in angiogenesis. *Cell Tissue Res.* 314, 15–23. doi: 10.1007/s00441-003-0745-x
- Gravdal, K., Halvorsen, O. J., Haukaas, S. A., and Akslen, L. A. (2009). Proliferation of immature tumor vessels is a novel marker of clinical progression in prostate cancer. *Cancer Res.* 69, 4708–4715. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-08-4417
- He, Q., Wan, C., and Li, G. (2007). Multipotent mesenchymal stromal cells in blood. Stem Cells 25, 69–77. doi: 10.1634/stemcells.2006-0335
- Hill, J. M., Zalos, G., Halcox, J. P., Schenke, W. H., Waclawiw, M. A., Quyyumi, A. A., et al. (2003). Circulating endothelial progenitor cells, vascular function, and cardiovascular risk. N. Engl. J. Med. 348, 593–600. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa022287
- Horwitz, E. M., Le, B. K., Dominici, M., Zetterberg, E., and Ringdén, O. (2005). Clarification of the nomenclature for MSC: the International Society for Cellular Therapy position statement. *Cytotherapy* 7, 393–395. doi: 10.1080/14653240500319234
- In't Anker, P. S., Scherjon, S. A., Kleijburg-van der Keur, C., de Groot-Swings, G. M., Claas, F. H., Fibbe, W. E. et al. (2004). Isolation of mesenchymal stem cells of fetal and maternal origin from human placenta. *Stem Cells* 22, 1338–1345. doi: 10.1634/stemcells.2004-0058
- Janeczek Portalska, K., Leferink, A., Groen, N., Fernandes, H., Moroni, L., van Blitterswijk, C., et al. (2012). Endothelial differentiation of mesenchymal stromal cells. *PLoS ONE* 7:e46842. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0046842
- Jazayeri, M., Allameh, A., Soleimani, M., Jazayeri, S. H., Piryaei, A., and Kazemnejad, S. (2008). Molecular and ultrastructural characterization of endothelial cells differentiated from human bone marrow mesenchymal stem cells. *Cell Biol. Int.* 32, 1183–1192. doi: 10.1016/j.cellbi.2008.07.020
- Keating, A. (2012). Mesenchymal stromal cells: new directions. Cell Stem Cell 10, 709–716. doi: 10.1016/j.stem.2012.05.015
- Kim, H. S., Kang, H. S., Messam, C. A., Min, K. W., and Park, C. S. (2002). Comparative evaluation of angiogenesis in gastric adenocarcinoma by nestin and CD34. *Appl. Immunohistochem. Mol. Morphol.* 10, 121–127. doi: 10.1097/00022744-200206000-00005
- Kuroda, Y., Kitada, M., Wakao, S., Nishikawa, K., Tanimura, Y., Makinoshima, H., et al. (2010). Unique multipotent cells in adult human mesenchymal cell populations. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sc.i U.S.A.* 107, 8639–8643. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0911647107
- Kuroda, Y., Wakao, S., Kitada, M., Murakami, T., Nojima, M., and Dezawa, M. (2013). Isolation, culture and evaluation of multilineage-differentiating stress-enduring (Muse) cells. *Nat. Protoc.* 8, 1391–1415. doi: 10.1038/nprot. 2013.076
- Kuznetsov, S. A., Krebsbach, P. H., Satomura, K., Kerr, J., Riminucci, M., Benayahu, D., et al. (1997). Single-colony derived strains of human marrow stromal fibroblasts form bone after transplantation *in vivo. J. Bone Miner. Res.* 12, 1335–1347. doi: 10.1359/jbmr.1997.12.9.1335
- Kuznetsov, S. A., Mankani, M. H., Leet, A. I., Ziran, N., Gronthos, S., and Robey, P. G. (2007). Circulating connective tissue precursors: extreme rarity in humans and chondrogenic potential in guinea pigs. *Stem Cells* 25, 1830–1839. doi: 10.1634/stemcells.2007-0140
- Lanotte, M., Allen, T. D., and Dexter, T. M. (1981). Histochemical and ultrastructural characteristics of a cell line from human bone-marrow stroma. *J. Cell Sci.* 50, 281–297.
- Le Blanc, K., Tammik, C., Rosendahl, K., Zetterberg, E., and Ringden, O. (2003). HLA expression and immunologic properties of differentiated and undifferentiated mesenchymal stem cells. *Exp. Hematol.* 31, 890–896. doi: 10.1016/S0301-472X(03)00110-3
- Lendahl, U., Zimmerman, L. B., and McKay, R. D. (1990). CNS stem cells express a new class of intermediate filament protein. *Cell* 60, 585–595. doi: 10.1016/0092-8674(90)90662-X
- Lin, C. S., and Lue, T. F. (2013). Defining vascular stem cells. *Stem Cells Dev.* 22, 1018–1026. doi: 10.1089/scd.2012.0504
- Liu, J. W., Dunoyer-Geindre, S., Serre-Beinier, V., Mai, G., Lambert, J. F., Fish, R. J., et al. (2007). Characterization of endothelial-like cells derived from human mesenchymal stem cells. *J. Thromb. Haemost.* 5, 826–834. doi: 10.1111/j.1538-7836.2007.02381.x
- Makanya, A. N., Hlushchuk, R., and Djonov, V. G. (2009). Intussusceptive angiogenesis and its role in vascular morphogenesis, patterning, and remodeling. *Angiogenesis* 12, 113–123. doi: 10.1007/s10456-009-9129-5
- Matsuda, Y. (2013). Nestin: a novel angiogenesis marker and possible target for tumor angiogenesis. World J. Gastroenterol. 19, 42–48. doi: 10.3748/wjg.v19.i1.42
- Melero-Martin, J. M., De Obaldia, M. E., Allen, P., Dudley, A. C., Klagsbrun, M., and Bischoff, J. (2010). Host myeloid cells are necessary for creating bioengineered human vascular networks *in vivo*. *Tissue Eng. Part A* 16, 2457–2466. doi: 10.1089/ten
- Méndez-Ferrer, S., Michurina, T. V., Ferraro, F., Mazloom, A. R., Macarthur, B. D., Lira, S. A., et al. (2010). Mesenchymal and haematopoietic stem cells form a unique bone marrow niche. *Nature* 466, 829–834. doi: 10.1038/nature09262
- Morshead, C. M., Reynolds, B. A., Craig, C. G., McBurney, M. W., Staines, W. A., Morassutti, D., et al. (1994). Neural stem cells in the adult mammalian forebrain: a relatively quiescent subpopulation of subependymal cells. *Neuron* 13, 1071–1082. doi: 10.1016/0896-6273(94)90046-9
- Muraglia, A., Cancedda, R., and Quarto, R. (2000). Clonal mesenchymal progenitors from human bone marrow differentiate *in vitro* according to a hierarchical model. J. Cell Sci. 113, 1161–1166.
- Oswald, J., Boxberger, S., Jørgensen, B., Feldmann, S., Ehninger, G., Bornhäuser, M., et al. (2004). Mesenchymal stem cells can be differentiated into endothelial cells *in vitro*. *Stem Cell*. 22, 377–384. doi: 10.1634/stemcells.22-3-377
- Pacini, S., Carnicelli, V., Trombi, L., Montali, M., Fazzi, R., Lazzarini, E., et al. (2010). Costitutive expression of pluripotency-associated genes in Mesodermal Progenitor Cells (MPCs). *PLoS ONE* 5:e9861. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0009861
- Pacini, S., Fazzi, R., Montali, M., Carnicelli, V., Lazzarini, E., and Petrini, M. (2013). Specific integrin expression is associated with podosome-like structures on mesodermal progenitor cells. *Stem Cells Dev.* 22, 1830–1838. doi: 10.1089/scd.2012.0423
- Petrini, M., Pacini, S., Trombi, L., Fazzi, R., Montali, M., Ikehara, S., et al. (2009). Identification and purification of mesodermal progenitor cells from human adult bone marrow. *Stem Cells Dev.* 18, 857–866. doi: 10.1089/scd.2008.029
- Pevsner-Fischer, M., Levin, S., and Zipori, D. (2011). The origins of mesenchymal stromal cell heterogeneity. *Stem Cell Rev.* 7, 560–568. doi: 10.1007/s12015-011-9229-7
- Phinney, D. G., Kopen, G., Righter, W., Webster, S., Tremain, N., and Prockop, D. J. (1999). Donor variation in the growth properties and osteogenic potential of human marrow stromal cells. *J. Cell. Biochem.* 75, 424–436. doi: 10.1002/(SICI)1097-4644(19991201)75:3<424::AID-JCB8>3.0.CO;2-8
- Pinho, S., Lacombe, J., Hanoun, M., Mizoguchi, T., Bruns, I., Kunisaki, Y., et al. (2013). PDGFRα and CD51 mark human nestin+ sphere-forming mesenchymal stem cells capable of hematopoietic progenitor cell expansion. *J. Exp. Med.* 210, 1351–1367. doi: 10.1084/jem.20122252

- Pittenger, M. F., Mackay, A. M., Beck, S. C., Jaiswal, R. K., Douglas, R., Mosca, J. D., et al. (1999). Multilineage potential of adult human mesenchymal stem cells. *Science* 284, 143–147. doi: 10.1126/science.284.5411.143
- Potente, M., Gerhardt, H., and Carmeliet, P. (2011). Basic and therapeutic aspects of angiogenesis. *Cell* 146, 873–887. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2011.08.039
- Quirici, N., Soligo, D., Bossolasco, P., Servida, F., Lumini, C., and Deliliers, G. L. (2002). Isolation of bone marrow mesenchymal stem cells by antinerve growth factor receptor antibodies. *Exp. Hematol.* 30, 783–791. doi: 10.1016/S0301-472X(02)00812-3
- Reynolds, B. A., Tetzlaff, W., and Weiss, S. (1992). A multipotent EGF-responsive striatal embryonic progenitor cell produces neurons and astrocytes. J. Neurosci. 12, 4565–4574.
- Roobrouck, V. D., Clavel, C., Jacobs, S. A., Ulloa-Montoya, F., Crippa, S., Sohni, A., et al. (2011). Differentiation potential of human postnatal mesenchymal stem cells, mesoangioblasts, and multipotent adult progenitor cells reflected in their transcriptome and partially influenced by the culture conditions. *Stem Cells* 29, 871–882. doi: 10.1002/stem.633
- Roufosse, C. A., Direkze, N. C., Otto, W. R., and Wright, N. A. (2004). Circulating mesenchymal stem cells. *Int. J. Biochem. Cell Biol.* 36, 585–597. doi: 10.1016/j.biocel.2003.10.007
- Russell, K. C., Phinney, D. G., Lacey, M. R., Barrilleaux, B. L., Meyertholen, K. E., and O'Connor, K. C. (2010). *In vitro* high-capacity assay to quantify the clonal heterogeneity in trilineage potential of mesenchymal stem cells reveals a complex hierarchy of lineage commitment. *Stem Cells* 28, 788–798. doi: 10.1002/stem.312
- Russell, K. C., Tucker, H. A., Bunnell, B. A., Andreeff, M., Schober, W., Gaynor, A. S., et al. (2013). Cell-surface expression of neuron-glial antigen 2 (NG2) and melanoma cell adhesion molecule (CD146) in heterogeneous cultures of marrow-derived mesenchymal stem cells. *Tissue Eng. Part A* 19, 2253–2266. doi: 10.1089/ten
- Sacchetti, B., Funari, A., Michienzi, S., Di Cesare, S., Piersanti, S., Saggio, I., et al. (2007). Selfrenewing osteoprogenitors in bone marrow sinusoids can organize a hematopoietic microenvironment. *Cell* 131, 324–336. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2007.08.025
- Sengers, B. G., Dawson, J. I., and Oreffo, R. O. (2010). Characterisation of human bone marrow stromal cell heterogeneity for skeletal regeneration strategies using a two-stage colony assay and computational modelling. *Bone* 46, 496–503. doi: 10.1016/j.bone.2009.10.002
- Seo, B. M., Miura, M., Gronthos, S., Bartold, P. M., Batoli, S., Brahim, J., et al. (2004). Investigation of multipotent postnatal stem cells from human periodontal ligament. *Lancet* 364, 149–155. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(04)16627-0
- Silva, G. V., Litovsky, S., Assad, J. A., Sousa, A. L., Martin, B. J., Vela, D., et al. (2005). Mesenchymal stem cells differentiate into an endothelial phenotype, enhance vascular density, and improve heart function in a canine chronic ischemia model. *Circulation* 111, 150–156. doi: 10.1161/01.CIR.0000151812.86142.45
- Sims, D. E. (1986). The pericyte—a review. *Tissue Cell* 18, 153–174. doi: 10.1016/0040-8166(86)90026-1
- Sugawara, K., Kurihara, H., Negishi, M., Saito, N., Nakazato, Y., Sasaki, T., et al. (2002). Nestin as a marker for proliferative endothelium in gliomas. *Lab. Invest.* 82, 345–351. doi: 10.1038/labinvest.3780428
- Teranishi, N., Naito, Z., Ishiwata, T., Tanaka, N., Furukawa, K., Seya, T., et al. (2007). Identification of neovasculature using nestin in colorectal cancer. *Int. J. Oncol.* 30, 593–603. doi: 10.3892/ijo.30.3.593
- Tohyama, T., Lee, V. M., Rorke, L. B., Marvin, M., McKay, R. D., and Trojanowski, J. Q. (1992). Nestin expression in embryonic human neuroepithelium and in human neuroepithelial tumor cells. *Lab. Invest.* 66, 303–313.
- Tormin, A., Li, O., Brune, J. C., Walsh, S., Schütz, B., Ehinger, M., et al. (2011). CD146 expression on primary nonhematopoietic bone marrow stem cells is correlated with *in situ* localization. *Blood.* 117, 5067–5077. doi: 10.1182/blood-2010-08-304287
- Trombi, L., Pacini, S., Montali, M., Fazzi, R., Chiellini, F., Ikehara, S., et al. (2009). Selective culture of mesodermal progenitor cells. *Stem Cells Dev.* 18, 1227–1234. doi: 10.1089/scd.2009.0054
- van Royen, N., Piek, J. J., Schaper, W., and Fulton, W. F. (2009). A critical review of clinical arteriogenesis research. J. Am. Coll. Cardiol. 55, 17–25. doi: 10.1016/j.jacc.2009.06.058
- Vittorio, O., Jacchetti, E., Pacini, S., and Cecchini, M. (2013). Endothelial differentiation of mesenchymal stromal cells: when traditional biology meets mechanotransduction. *Integr. Biol. (Camb)*. 5, 291–299. doi: 10.1039/c2ib20152f

- Voyta, J. C., Via, D. P., Butterfield, C. E., and Zetter, B. R. (1984). Identification and isolation of endothelial cells based on their increased uptake of acetylated-low density lipoprotein. J. Cell Biol. 99, 2034–2040. doi: 10.1083/jcb.99.6.2034
- Wagner, W., and Ho, A. D. (2007). Mesenchymal stem cell preparations–comparing apples and oranges. Stem Cell Rev. 3, 239–248. doi: 10.1007/s12015-007-9001-1
- Watt, S. M., Gullo, F., van der Garde, M., Markeson, D., Camicia, R., Khoo, C. P., et al. (2013). The angiogenic properties of mesenchymal stem/stromal cells and their therapeutic potential. Br. Med. Bull. 108, 25–53. doi: 10.1093/bmb/ldt031
- Werts, E. D., DeGowin, R. L., Knapp, S. K., and Gibson, D. P. (1980). Characterization of marrow stromal (fibroblastoid) cells and their association with erythropoiesis. *Exp. Hematol.* 8, 423–433.
- Ylöstalo, J., Bazhanov, N., and Prockop, D. J. (2008). Reversible commitment to differentiation by human multipotent stromal cells in single-cell-derived colonies. *Exp. Hematol.* 36, 1390–1402. doi: 10.1016/j.exphem.2008.05.003
- Zuk, P. A., Zhu, M., Mizuno, H., Huang, J., Futrell, J. W., Katz, A. J., et al. (2001). Multilineage cells from human adipose tissue: implications for cell-based therapies. *Tissue Eng.* 7, 211–228. doi: 10.1089/107632701300062859

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Received: 04 March 2014; accepted: 30 April 2014; published online: 20 May 2014. Citation: Pacini S and Petrini I (2014) Are MSCs angiogenic cells? New insights on human nestin-positive bone marrow-derived multipotent cells. Front. Cell Dev. Biol. 2:20. doi: 10.3389/fcell.2014.00020

This article was submitted to Stem Cell Research, a section of the journal Frontiers in Cell and Developmental Biology.

Copyright © 2014 Pacini and Petrini. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) or licensor are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.



In vitro alteration of physiological parameters do not hamper the growth of human multipotent vascular wall-mesenchymal stem cells

Carmen Ciavarella^{1*}, Silvia Fittipaldi^{1,2}, Silvia Pedrini¹, Francesco Vasuri³, Enrico Gallitto⁴, Antonio Freyrie⁴, Andrea Stella⁴, Elena Gostjeva² and Gianandrea Pasquinelli³

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Simone Pacini, University of Pisa, Italy

Reviewed by:

Jan A. Plock, University of Zurich, Switzerland Vijay S. Gorantla, University of Pittsburgh Medical Center, USA

*Correspondence:

Carmen Ciavarella, Department of Specialty, Diagnostic and Experimental Medicine (DIMES), S. Orsola-Malpighi General Hospital, University of Bologna, Via Massarenti, 9, 40138 Bologna, Italy ciavarella.carmen@gmail.com

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Stem Cell Research, a section of the journal Frontiers in Cell and Developmental Biology

> Received: 15 February 2015 Accepted: 15 May 2015 Published: 04 June 2015

Citation:

Ciavarella C, Fittipaldi S, Pedrini S, Vasuri F, Gallitto E, Freyrie A, Stella A, Gostjeva E and Pasquinelli G (2015) In vitro alteration of physiological parameters do not hamper the growth of human multipotent vascular wall-mesenchymal stem cells. Front. Cell Dev. Biol. 3:36. doi: 10.3389/fcell.2015.00036 ¹ Laboratory of Clinic Pathology, Department of Specialty, Diagnostic and Experimental Medicine (DIMES), S. Orsola-Malpighi Hospital, University of Bologna, Bologna, Italy, ² Laboratory of Metakaryotic Biology, Department of Biological Engineering, Massachusetts Institute of Technology, Cambridge, MA, USA, ³ Unit of Surgical Pathology, Department of Specialty, Diagnostic and Experimental Medicine (DIMES), S. Orsola-Malpighi Hospital, University of Bologna, Bologna, Italy, ⁴ Unit of Vascular Surgery, Department of Specialty, Diagnostic and Experimental Medicine (DIMES), S. Orsola-Malpighi Hospital, University of Bologna, Bologna, Italy

Background: Mesenchymal stem cells (MSCs) with multilineage potential and anti-inflammatory property can be isolated from different human tissues, representing promising candidates in regenerative medicine. Despite the common criteria of characterization, many factors contribute to MSC heterogeneity (i.e., tissue origin, coexistence of cell subsets at different stage of differentiation, epigenetic) and no standard methods have been approved to characterize MSCs in cell culture.

Aim: The present study aimed to test whether MSCs resist adverse chemical and physical culture conditions, surviving MSC subpopulations are endowed with the stemness abilities; to characterize MMP expression in AAA-MSCs under the adverse experimental conditions.

Methods and Results: MSCs enzymatically isolated from human abdominal aortic aneurysm (AAA-MSCs) were exposed to media acidification, hypoxia, starving, drying and hypothermia through the following strategies: (1) low-density seeding in closed flasks; (2) exposure to a chemical hypoxia inducer, cobalt chloride; (3) exposure to a dry environment with growing medium deprivation and culture at 4°C. None of these conditions affected MSC viability and stemness profile, as evidenced by NANOG, OCT-4, and SOX-2 mRNA expression in surviving cells. A significant MMP-9 decrease, especially when AAA-MSCs were exposed to hypothermia, was associated with stress resistant stem cells.

Conclusions: AAA-MSCs survive to extremely adverse culture conditions, keeping their morphology and stemness features. Besides MMP-9 role in pathological tissue remodeling, this protease may be related to MSC survival. Future studies on MSCs derived from other tissues will be necessary to refine our culture protocol, which can represent an empirical method to demonstrate MSC stemness, with potential implications for their clinical use.

Keywords: MSCs, survival, hypoxia, dry culture, hypothermia, MMP-9, anhydrobiosis

Introduction

The concept of "cell" originated in 1667 from Hooke's findings and the first attempt to cultivate cells from animal tissues was conducted in 1885 by Roux, who isolated the chick medullary plate and kept it alive for some days in saline solution. Two years later, Arnold cultivated the first leucocytes and many cell culture studies followed (White, 1954). First recorded *in-vitro* functional cell line was cultured in 1955 by Ted Puck and named HeLa (Puck et al., 1956). Since then, there is a large choice of commercial cell line selection in many repository: about 4000 cell lines are maintained by the American Type Culture Collection (ATCC). Currently, many laboratories routinely isolate and grow differentiated as well as stem cells from healthy and pathological tissues to establish primary cell cultures.

Our research group, in the last 15 years, succeeded in establishing viable cell lines with characteristics of mesenchymal stem cells (MSCs) from different vascular tissues. The vascular wall-MSC (VW-MCSs) are negative for CD45 and co-express CD44, CD90, and CD105 molecules, like the bone marrowderived MSCs (Pasquinelli et al., 2007). Further, VW-MSCs express the neuronal stem cell intermediate filament, nestin, the stemness markers stromal precursor antigen-1 (Stro-1), sex-determining region Y-box-2 (SOX-2 or SRY), neurogenic locus notch homolog protein-1 (Notch-1) and octamer binding transcription factor-4 (Oct-4), while maintaining the ability to differentiate into mesengenic as well as vascular, i.e., endothelial and leiomyogenic, lineages, when cultured in appropriate induction media (Pasquinelli et al., 2010; Valente et al., 2014).

A review of the literature indicates that 130 years after stem cell discovery, the specificity of stem cell antigenic profile is still debated (Vasuri et al., 2014) and the identification of stem cells in culture is even more elusive due to the lack of a standard and coherent methodology to select them in culture (Hart, 2014).

Usually stem cells, that are believed to be highly glycolytic (Simsek et al., 2010), are expanded in closed systems (i.e., flasks) with glucose-bicarbonate buffered media as Eagle's MEM, at 37°C, 5% CO₂; they are seeded at a proper density unit that is chosen by taking into account the cell dimensions, the growth kinetics and the flask surface.

Conversely, some sporadic studies have proven that both glucose and CO₂ have detrimental effects on stem cell growth: glucose induces mesenchymal/endothelial stem cell senescence and apoptosis, while the glucose level reduction increases stem cell proliferation and colony forming activity (Kränkel et al., 2005; Saki et al., 2013). In 1985, Barngrover modified the L-15 medium, that was tailored by Leibowitz to promote the growth of the less glycolytic cells (Leibovitz, 1963), by substituting galactose with fructose; this allowed to maintain an optimal pH and lactate/pyruvate ratio (Barngrover et al., 1985). Similarly, cell culture is conventionally performed at 5% CO₂ and 21% oxygen (O₂ atmospheric concentration; 151.2 mm Hg): these gas concentrations are far away from those measured in vivo; according to Souza (2007), oxygen levels range from 1% (7.2 mm Hg) in the bone marrow tissue to 12% in lungs (86.4 mm Hg). Accordingly, CO2 and O2 diffusion in flask strongly influences cells growth; low O₂ tension (i.e., quasi-physiological) stimulates human embryonic cell growth and cellular differentiation as well as low density seeding (Balin et al., 1984). Also hypothermia (4°C) was shown to affect stem cell behavior *in vitro*; hypothermia was used to select satellite muscle stem cells vs. fibroblast, and, most importantly, skeletal muscle stem cells remained in a dormancy state in human cadavers stored at 4°C for 2 weeks giving origin to myotubes after that *ex vivo* cultures have been established (Latil et al., 2012; Marg et al., 2014). These spotted observations indicate that stem cells may survive to a range of stressful conditions including low temperature, starving and hypoxia; even more interesting is the evidence that here we have given about the possibility of the stem cells to survive in an anhydrobiotic dry environment, i.e., in flasks without culture medium or any nutrient supplement.

In this paper the experimental adverse culture conditions described above were empirically replicated in our laboratory using a MSC population isolated from aortic aneurysm (AAA-MSCs), a human cell model characterized by expression of mesenchymal and stemness markers as well as matrix metalloproteinase-9 (MMP-9) upregulation (Ciavarella et al., 2015).

This study was aimed (i) to test extreme culture conditions in a model of MSCs isolated from abdominal aortic aneurysm (AAA-MSCs) (ii) to test AAA-MSC ability to survive to hypoxia, starving, anhydrobiosis and hypothermia, (iii) to analyze AAA-MSC transcriptional profile regarding stemness factors and MMPs.

Materials and Methods

Isolation and Culture of Human MSCs

AAA-MSCs were isolated from the abdominal aorta of three male patients who underwent surgical repair for aneurysm, after obtaining Local Ethic Committee Approval (APP-13-01). Aortic tissues were provided by the Vascular Surgery Unit, S. Orsola-Malpighi University Hospital (Bologna, Italy). AAA-MSC isolation and characterization were performed as previously described (Valente et al., 2014; Ciavarella et al., 2015). Briefly, 2 cm² sections of aneurysmal wall were enzymatically digested with 0.3 mg/mL Liberase type II (Liberase TM Research Grade, Roche) in serum-free Dulbecco's modified Eagle's medium (DMEM; Sigma Aldrich) at 37°C o/n in a rotor apparatus. The tissue homogenate was filtered through cell strainers of different size (100-70-40 µm) and centrifuged at 1200 rpm. Cell viability was assessed by Trypan Blue exclusion. AAA-MSCs at passage 0 were cultured in DMEM enriched with 20% Fetal Bovine Serum (FBS; SIGMA Aldrich) at 37°C under an atmosphere of 5% CO₂ and expanded in vitro.

The transcriptional profile of stemness genes, and MMP-2, MMP-9, was performed to evaluate whether the extreme culture protocols we set up could affect AAA-MSC gene expression.

AAA-MSCs at passage 3 were tested for their ability to survive in stressful *in vitro* conditions, consisting in the lack of oxygen and nutrients, through different unconventional strategies. As explained in the experimental design (**Figure 1**), these strategies included cell culture in closed flasks, using an essential glucose-free medium (MEM) and the complete lack of media either at $4^\circ C$ or $37^\circ C.$

Low-density Culture of AAA-MSCs in Minimum Essential Medium

AAA-MSCs were seeded at low density (200 cells/cm²) in novented T25 flasks with closed cap to keep the cells in a hypoxic environment.

Cells were grown in 10 ml of Minimum Essential Medium (MEM, Gibco), a specific medium under the intellectual property of Prof. W. Thilly (LIMB, Dept. of Biological Engineering, MIT, Cambridge MA) and manufactured on-demand by Gibco. This medium is free of D-glucose, antibiotics and sodium bicarbonate and contains D-fructose. For *in vitro* analysis we added L-glutamine 4 mM and 10% FBS. Culture media were regularly changed each 10 days. After 3 days from seeding, we measured the pH of surnatant, making a comparison with the cells grown in conventional DMEM. At the end of the experimental protocol AAA-MSCs were processed for RNA extraction.

Hypoxic Culture of AAA-MSCs Using CoCl₂

As an alternative strategy to induce oxygen deprivation, we exposed AAA-MSCs to a chemical inducer of hypoxia, Cobalt (II) Chloride hexahydrate (CoCl₂, Sigma). CoCl₂ is a mimetic agent used *in vitro* to induce cellular responses mediated by hypoxia (Piret et al., 2002; Wu and Yonda, 2011).

AAA-MSCs at passage 3 were seeded at a density of 10^4 /well in a 96-well plate in traditional DMEM supplemented with 10% FBS, following the standard cell culture procedures and after 24 h CoCl₂ was added. The treatment was performed for 24–48– 72 h at increasing concentrations (0–100 μ M–500 μ M). After any treatment, cells were processed for RNA extraction. Cell viability after $CoCl_2$ treatment was estimated by Sulforhodamine B (SRB) assay. After treatment, the cells were washed twice with PBS and fixed in 50% aqueous trichloroacetic acid (TCA) for 1 h at 4°C, rinsed several times with water and incubated with 50 µl/well SRB solution (0.4% in 1% acetic acid) for 30 min. SRB solution in excess was washed off by 1% acetic acid. The cells were incubated in 10 mM Tris for 20 min and the absorbance of each well was measured in a microplate reader (Bio-Rad, Hercules, CA, USA) at 570 nm. The results were expressed as a percentage of treated on controls (untreated cells).

AAA-MSC Dry Culture (4°C–37°C)

The third strategy consisted in inducing an anhydrobiotic condition by removing the culture media completely at low temperature. For this purpose, AAA-MSCs were deprived of culture media and kept at 4°C. In parallel, AAA-MSCs from the same sample were treated as described above and maintained at 37°C for 3 days. To ensure the complete environment dehydration, the flasks were housed in a vertical position. After 7 days DMEM 10% FBS was added, flasks were incubated at 37°C and after 14 days treated with trypsin and cells seeded until confluence. At the end of the experimental protocol AAA-MSCs were processed for RNA extraction.

Total RNA Extraction and cDNA Synthesis

AAA-MSCs grown in the described culture conditions, were processed for RNA extraction using TRIreagent (TRIzol reagent, Invitrogen, Italy) according to the manufacturer's instructions. One μ g of total RNA was reverse transcribed in a 20 μ L volume of reaction using High Capacity Reverse Transcription Kit (Applied Biosystems). RNA integrity and concentration were measured using a ND-1000 spectrophotometer (NanoDrop, Fisher Thermo, Wilmington, DE, USA). Reverse transcriptase PCR was performed on all RNA samples with an absorbance



(260/280) ratio between 1,8 and 2,2. cDNA was synthesized from 2 μ g of total RNA by using High Capacity Reverse Transcription Kit (Life Technologies).

RT-PCR Stemness Gene Expression Analysis

Stemness gene primers are listed in **Table 1**. The PCR primers were purchased from Invitrogen and SIGMA Aldrich. Glyceraldehyde-3-phosphate dehydrogenase (GAPDH) was used as housekeeping gene to value the cDNA quality. All PCR products were analyzed on 2% agarose gel electrophoresis with Tris-acetate-EDTA buffer 1X, stained with ethidium bromide incorporation and photographed under ultraviolet light. A 100 bp DNA ladder was loaded to allow PCR product size identification. The gel was subjected to electrophoresis at a constant 100 V for 45 min.

Quantitative Real-time Polymerase Chain Reaction

Real Time Polymerase Chain Reaction was performed to investigate the transcriptional levels of MMPs and apoptotic genes in AAA-MSCs exposed to the extreme culture conditions. Real Time PCR analysis was carried out in a Gene Amp 7000 Sequence Detection System (Applied Biosystems) using the TaqMan approach for the β -glucuronidase (GUS), Bcell lymphoma-2 (BCL-2), BCL-2 associated protein (BAX) genes (Applied Biosystems) and SYBR green approach for all other genes, using specific couples of primers, purchased from SIGMA-Aldrich: MMP-2 (FWD 5'-CCCCAAAACGGACAAA GAG-3', REV 5'-CTTCAGCACAAACAGGTTGC-3, MMP-9 (FWD 5'-GAACCAATCTCACCGACCAG-3', REV 5'-GCCA CCCGAGTGTAACCAT-3').

Each assay was executed in triplicate and target gene expression was normalized to the housekeeping GUS gene. The final results were determined by the comparative 2^{-DDCt} method (Livak and Schmittgen, 2001) where DDCT = [CT Target – CT Gus] treated AAA-MSCs -[CT Target – CT Gus] control AAA-MSCs. Results were expressed as fold changes relative to AAA-MSCs grown in standard culture conditions as controls.

TABLE 1 | List of primers used for RT-PCR detection of stem cells transcriptional factors in AAA-MSCs exposed to stressful *in vitro* cultures.

Gene	Primer sequence	Product size (bp)	T (°C)
GAPDH	FWD 5'-ACCACAGTCCATGCCATCAC-3' REV 5'-TCCACCACCCTGTTGCTGTA-3'	452	61
NANOG	FWD 5'-AAGGCCTCAGCACCTACCTA-3' REV 5'-ACATTAAGGCCTTCCCCAGC-3'	326	58
OCT-4	FWD a 5'-CTCCTGGAGGGCCAGGAATC-3' FWD b 5'-ATGCATGAGTCAGTGAACAG-3' REV 5'-CCACATCGGCCTGTGTATAT-3'	380 402	62
SOX-2	FWD 5'ACCGGCGGCAACCAGAAGAACAG-3' REV 5'-GCGCCGCGGCCGGTATTTAT-3'	208	62

bp, pair of bases; °C, centigrade degrees.

Immunofluorescence Assay

Immunofluorescence was performed on AAA-MSCs exposed to CoCl₂ to detect MMP-9 protein and its alteration following hypoxic induction. Briefly, 4×10^4 AAA-MSCs were cultured on collagen biocoated slide chambers (BD Bioscence, San Jose, CA, USA) and after 24 h CoCl₂ was added to cultures according to the concentration range used for all the other experiments: $0-100 \,\mu$ M-500 μ M for 24, 48, and 72 h. at the end of the treatment, cells were gently were washed with PBS and fixed with cold absolute methanol, for 10 min air dry at room temperature. Fixed cells were then blocked in 1% bovine serum albumin (BSA) in PBS solution and donkey serum, specific for the secondary antibody species, for 30 min at room temperature.

After blocking, cells were incubated with primary antibody anti-MMP-9 (1:500, Cell Signaling) for 1 h at 37°C. Samples were then washed with PBS and incubated with Alexa Fluor 546 (1:250; Invitrogen, Carlsbad, CA, USA) secondary antibody in 1% bovine serum albumin in PBS for 1 h at 37°C in the dark. Finally, after washes, the samples were mounted and nuclei counterstained with Pro Long antifade reagent with DAPI (Molecular Probes, Milan, Italy). Images were acquired by a Leica DMI4000 B inverted fluorescence microscope (Leica Microsystems, Milan, Italy) at × 20 magnification.

Statistical Analysis

All experiments were performed in triplicate. Results were analyzed by GraphPad Prism 5 statistical software (GraphPad Software Inc) and are expressed as mean \pm standard deviation. Statistical analysis was performed using *t*-test and Two-Way ANOVA test for comparison between more than two groups, followed by Bonferroni *post-hoc* test. Results were considered statistically significant at the 95% confidence level (p < 0.05).

Results

Properties of MSC Isolated from Aneurysm Wall (n = 4)

AAA-MSCs were obtained from 4 aortic tissues kindly provided by the Vascular Surgery Unit, S. Orsola—Malpighi University Hospital (Bologna, Italy). Clinical data of patients enrolled in this study are described in **Table 2**.

AAA-MSCs were adherent to plastic substrate, exhibiting a typical spindle-shaped morphology (**Figure 2A**), expressed mesenchymal markers on their surface and stemness genes Oct-4, Nanog, SOX-2. A 400-fold increased MMP-9 expression both at the mRNA and the protein level was observed in AAA-MSCs when compared to MSCs isolated from healthy aorta (Ciavarella et al., 2015).

AAA-MSCs Are Able to Survive Under Different Stress Culture Conditions

AAA-MSCs grown in hypoxic condition and in glucose-free medium showed a reduction of the supernatant pH at day 3, compared to AAA-MSCs derived from the same aortic sample and cultured according to the standard procedures (pH 6.4 in MEM vs. pH 7.5 in the control). The pH acidification did not influence the cell viability, indeed we noticed clusters of surviving AAA-MSCs at day 7 (Figure 2B) and after 2 weeks a monolayer of cells was detectable; no sign of cell death or suffering was simultaneously observed (Figure 2C). Thus, the

TABLE 2 Clinical characteristics of abdominal aortic aneurysm patients.					
Clinical data of AAA patients ($n = 4$)					
Age (mean \pm S.D. and range)	68.75 ± 5.7 (61–74)				
Sex	Males				
DAAA (mean \pm S.D. and range)	$66.25 \pm 13\text{mm}$ (52–70)				
Cholesterol (mean \pm S.D. and range)	155 ± 28 mg/dl (116–178)				
LDL (mean \pm S.D. and range)	84 ± 27 mg/dl (49–110)				
HDL (mean \pm S.D. and range)	51.3 ± 7.8 mg/dl (43–60)				
Triglycerides (mean \pm S.D. and range)	109 ± 34.28 mg/dl (99–155)				
Smoking (%)	75				
Hypertension (%)	100				
Diabetes (%)	0				
Statins (%)	50				

DAAA, abdominal aortic aneurysm diameter; LDL, low density lipoprotein; HDL, high density lipoprotein.

AAA-MSCs demonstrated high resistance to acid environment and glucose deprivation.

Oxygen deprivation was also achieved through the use of CoCl₂ that was added to AAA-MSCs cultures in traditional DMEM with 10% FBS. Interestingly, after 24 h exposure to 100 µM CoCl₂ we did not observe any change in cell viability as measured through the Trypan blue exclusion assay. This result demonstrated a higher cell resistance to the CoCl₂ cytotoxic concentration, as documented in the literature (Wu and Yonda, 2011). Sulforhodamine B assay on AAA-MSCs exposed to higher CoCl₂ concentrations for a longer time, showed a dose- and time-dependent reduced cell viability (Figure 4A). A significant decrease of cell growth was observed when AAA-MSCs were exposed to 500 µM CoCl₂ for 48 h (the relative absorbance in CoCl₂-treated AAA-MSCs was 0.58, compared to 0.9 in untreated control; p < 0.001, Two-Way ANOVA test, followed by Bonferroni post-hoc test) and 72 h (the relative absorbance in CoCl₂-treated AAA-MSCs was 0.63, compared to 0.9 in untreated control; p < 0.05, Two-Way ANOVA test, followed by Bonferroni post-hoc test).

The third drastic strategy consisted in the complete lack of culture media (dry environment) and the maintenance at low temperature. **Figure 2** shows the morphological aspect of AAA-MSCs after culture media discard: cells encountered a volume reduction and lost their typical morphology (**Figures 2D,E**,



FIGURE 2 | Morphological features of AAA-MSCs exposed to hypoxia, nutrient deprivation, dry culture, and/or cold temperature. (A) Typical spindle-shape morphology of confluent AAA-MSCs at passage 3, grown in standard culture conditions; (B) Clusters of AAA-MSCs cultured in no-vented closed flasks using MEM glucose-free at 7 days and (C) at 14 days from seeding, where a cell monolayer is visible; (D,E) AAA-MSCs subjected to media deprivation lost their typical structure, cytoplasmic prolongation and plasma membrane; **(F)** 7 days from media addition, an amount of survival cells was detected; **(G,H)** AAA-MSCs after media deprivation and 7 days at 4°C showed a volume contraction and the typical cell shape was lost; **(I)** after traditional media addition, AAA-MSCs restored their features and reached confluence; **(A–G,I:** 100x magnification; H: 200x magnification).

 37° C; **Figures 2G,H** 4°C). When traditional media was added, cells were cultured according to the standard procedures, and after two passages AAA-MSCs that have restored their original phenotype were observed (**Figures 2F,I**). Hypothermia was more effective than the 37° C alternative in selecting highly stress resistant AAA-MSCs: after 7 days at 4°C, cell viability was strongly decreased, as no cells were detected in the flask under the light microscope. After passaging the cells in culture, we could notice an expanded colony of 8 cm², suggesting that only few cells could survive and be expanded at low temperatures.

Transcriptional Profile of AAA-MSCs Exposed to Stress in *in-vitro* Cultures

As previously shown, AAA-MSCs express transcriptional factors involved in the survival and self-renewal programs typical of stem cells. Here we evaluated the expression of stemness genes NANOG, OCT-4 and SOX-2 after AAA-MSCs have been exposed to the culture conditions described above. No differences in the molecular expression of NANOG, OCT-4 and SOX-2 were observed at RT-PCR in AAA-MSCs exposed to low oxygen levels, media removal and low temperature (**Figure 3A**); the stemness profile of AAA-MSCs was not affected by the adverse culture conditions.

Transcriptional Analysis of MMP-2 and MMP-9 in AAA-MSCs Exposed to Stress in *in-vitro* Cultures

After the exposure to the extreme culture conditions, AAA-MSCs were processed to evaluate the mRNA production of the AAA molecular mediators, MMP-2 and MMP-9, the latter having been found 400-fold up-regulated in AAA-MSCs when compared to MSCs isolated from healthy control aorta. MMP-2 mRNA showed a weak increase in AAA-MSCs following hypoxia (0.8-fold increased, p > 0.05, paired *t*-test) and nutrient deprivation at 37°C (0.7-fold increased, p > 0.05, paired *t*-test), in comparison to AAA-MSCs grown according to the

standard protocol, but no significant differences were observed; a significant increase was recorded after nutrient deprivation and culture at 4°C (0.7-fold higher compared to controls, p < 0.05, paired *t*-test) (**Figure 3B**). A significant decrease of MMP-9 was observed in AAA-MSCs cultured in a dry environment both at 37°C (5.5-fold decreased in comparison to control AAA-MSCs, p = 0.03, paired *t*-test) and 4°C cultures (13.6-fold decreased in comparison to control AAA-MSCs, p = 0.02, paired *t*-test) (**Figure 3C**).

Molecular Profile of AAA-MSCs Exposed to CoCl₂–Induced Hypoxia

RT-PCR revealed that stemness genes NANOG, OCT-4, and SOX-2 were expressed in AAA-MSCs grown in the hypoxic environment induced by cobalt chloride (**Figure 4B**), thus confirming that hypoxia did not influence their stemness genetic profile.

A significant decrease of MMP-9 transcription levels was observed when AAA-MSCs were exposed to $CoCl_2$ for 48 h and 72 h (0.65 after 48 h and 0.75 after 72 h-fold decreased, compared to the untreated AAA-MSCs) (**Figure 5A**). In addition, MMP-9 protein decrease was demonstrated by immunofluorescence detection on AAA-MSCs. Almost no signal was detected in cells treated with 500 μ M CoCl₂ for 48 and 72 h (**Figure 5B**).

Moreover no significant changes in mRNA expression of BCL-2 and BAX were observed between MSC control and MSCs treated with CoCl₂, meaning no increase of death cell percentage (**Figures 5C,D**).

Discussion

In the present study we demonstrate that mesenchymal stem cells (MSCs) can grow in a non-conventional manner, survive when exposed to extreme adverse conditions, exhibiting high resistance to media acidification, glucose, oxygen, and nutrient deprivation,



FIGURE 3 | Transcriptional profile of AAA-MSCs exposed to hypoxia, nutrient deprivation, dry culture and/or cold temperature.
(A) NANOG, OCT-4 and SOX-2 expression was evaluated by RT-PCR and revealed that the oxygen deprivation and the growth medium removal (at 37 and 4°C) did not affect the transcription of genes involved in self-renewal and survival processes. GAPDH was used as housekeeping gene. Results are representative of three independent experiments. (B) MMP-2 and (C) MMP-9 mRNA expression in AAA-MSCs exposed to the described culture protocols. A significant increase of MMP-2 transcript

expression was observed only in AAA-MSCs grown in absence of media at cold temperature; MMP-9 levels of expression decreased in all the experimental conditions, especially when cells were subjected to a dry environment at 4°C. β-glucuronidase gene was used as housekeeping. Results are expressed as fold changes relative to AAA-MSCs grown according to the standard culture protocol (DMEM 20% FBS, 37°C, vented flask). Values are represented as mean ± standard deviation and are representative of at least three independent experiments carried out in triplicate. (*p < 0.05; ***p < 0.001 paired *t*-test).



exposed to CoCl₂. (A) AAA-MSC viability after 24–48–72 h exposure to CoCl₂ (0-100-500 μ M), measured by sulforhodamine B assay. Values are represented as mean \pm standard deviation and are representative of at least three independent experiments (*p < 0.05; ***p < 0.001; Two-Way ANOVA test, followed by Bonferroni post-hoc test). (B) mRNA expression of NANOG, OCT-4 and SOX-2 after 48–72 h exposure to CoCl₂ (0-100-500 μ M), performed by RT-PCR. GAPDH was used as housekeeping gene. Results are representative of three independent experiments.

dry culture, and hypothermia while keeping their morphology and stemness features.

MSCs obtained from human tissues are of great interest for regenerative medicine, thanks to their self-renewal property, multilineage potential (Conget and Minguell, 1999; Pittenger et al., 1999), and immunoregolatory abilities (Ryan et al., 2005).

In 2006, Dominici et al., defined the minimal criteria for MSC characterization: adherence to plastic, specific surface antigen expression, differentiation into adipocytes, osteoblasts and chondroblasts following specific *in vitro* stimulation (Dominici et al., 2006). MSCs can be isolated from various tissues, including adipose tissue (Zuk et al., 2002), umbilical cord blood (Erices et al., 2000), skeletal muscle (Asakura et al., 2001), synovial

membrane (De Bari et al., 2001), arterial wall (Pasquinelli et al., 2007). This factor implies that MSCs of different tissue origins show high variability; in addition, many subsets of cells at distinct stage of their differentiation and commitment coexist in the same MSC pool (Karystinou et al., 2009), increasing the MSC heterogeneity and making the MSC application for clinical use difficult.

We investigated a tissue culture model of MSCs isolated from human abdominal aorta with aneurysm disease and assayed three unconventional approaches to culture them, consisting of hypoxia, starving and cold temperature. Developing these conditions generally require specific facilities and, in our laboratory, it has been executed through empirical approaches to easily reproduce them. These methods are supposed to select the stemness compartment of the AAA-MSC population, targeting the surviving cell population that have the highest resistance to stressful conditions, typical features of stem cells at an undifferentiated status.

In the first condition, AAA-MSCs were cultured at low density in an essential glucose-free growth medium, in closed flasks to ensure the O_2 deprivation. We interestingly noticed that these stressful expedients did not drastically reduce the cell number, despite the supernatant acidification; on the contrary, after 21 days from seeding, AAA-MSCs reached confluence. In addition, we used $CoCl_2$, as a chemical inducer of hypoxia, widely applied in hypoxic culture systems. We interestingly observed that AAA-MSCs could resist exposure to $CoCl_2$ at concentrations that normally result cytotoxic, as shown by the viability assay. A significant cell viability decrease derived only at longer time of exposure (48 and 72 h). These data are consistent with literature indeed hypoxia has been shown to contribute to the undifferentiated status of human MSCs (Basciano et al., 2011).

As hypoxia, both physically and chemically induced, did not influence the AAA-MSC growth, we further investigated the effect of a dry culture in which an anhydrobiotic condition was simulated by the complete removing of the culture media from the flasks that were housed in vertical position at low temperature; the dry culture induces a suffering condition due to the lack of the ordinary nutrient supply, necessary to the cell growing. At the end of the process, we observed the formation of a cell cluster, with a colony aspect, suggesting that clones with high resistance to the extreme environment was selected from the whole cell population. Hypoxia, dry culture as well as hypothermia, did not affect the stemness genes NANOG (Chambers et al., 2003; Hart et al., 2004), OCT-4 and SOX-2 (Richards et al., 2004) expression in our cell model, thus demonstrating that surviving cells express wellestablished markers of stemness and pluripotency. Surprisingly, MMP-9 was almost undetectable at the mRNA level and a reduced signal intensity was noticed on AAA-MSCx esposed to CoCl₂ by immunofluorescence assay; this reduced expression was not related to a proportional decrease in cell viability. As recently reported by Ciavarella et al., AAA-MSCs usually present a significant increase of MMP-9 transcript and protein when compared to healthy aortic MSCs (Ciavarella et al., 2015); this increased protein expression was related to the MMP role as molecular mediators of aneurysm pathogenesis. The



MMP-9 down regulation in AAA-MSCs exposed to the described protocols, suggest additional functions related to MSC survival and differentiation programs.

Many studies have evaluated the extracellular matrix (ECM) contribution in driving the stem cell fate; MMPs are a family of Ca^{2+} and Zn^{2+} endopeptidases that specifically cleave ECM components (Mannello et al., 2006) and are involved in several pathological processes characterized by matrix remodeling, as well as in cell and tissue development (Vu and Werb, 2000; Nagase et al., 2006; Mannello et al., 2006). MMPs and TIMPs are widely expressed by human MSCs (Silva et al., 2003; Panepucci et al., 2004; Ries et al., 2007), suggesting a crucial role also in self-renewal and/or differentiation (Mannello et al., 2006), although the mechanism is not completely elucidated. Heissig et al. (2002) demonstrated that MMP-9 is tightly associated with hematopoietic stem cell recruitment and mobilization from a quiescent niche to a proliferative microenvironment that allows differentiation, through the release of the soluble kit ligand.

Thus, MMP-9 may be not only involved in vascular and neoplastic disease progression through the ECM degradation,

but it can also contribute to define MSC fate, regulating the differentiation and survival program. Future studies exploring the mechanisms involved in MMP-9 modulation will be necessary to elucidate its contribution to stem cell biology.

Conclusions

We have developed empirical strategies to select a pool of stress surviving MSCs, testing their resistance to extreme conditions, consisting of media acidification, glucose, oxygen, nutrient deprivation, dry culturing and hypothermia. We found that a fraction of MSCs is able to survive, without loosing stemness molecular characteristics. Interestingly, MMP-9 underwent a significant decrease of transcript levels. The hereby proposed protocol confirms that MSCs can grow in physiological-like oxygen concentration conditions, avoiding the use of the abnormally high atmospheric O_2 concentration and of CO_2 , toxic for human tissues. A further advantage of the proposed culture method is that closed flask limits contact of cells with the external ambient thus preventing bacteria contamination, a frequent event occurring when primary cultures are established. The possibility to grow successfully stem cells in an anhydrobiotic dry environment opens new questions about what are the surviving limits of undifferentiated mammalian cells. Most importantly, this methods do not require any specific or expensive facilities, so it can be performed in any laboratory with basic equipment and it may represent, once further refined, an effective alternative for MSC *in vitro* culture.

Limits of the Study and Perspectives

The proposed technique reflects the survival property of a MSC population isolated from a pathological source. Meanwhile, our study presents some limitations.

First of all, these experimental protocols need to be applied to an increased number of samples and tested in cell models representative of different tissue sources, other than vascular wall. The evaluation of stem cell differentiation potential under our conditions constitutes another topic to be investigated.

The MMP-9, beyond its participation to ECM remodeling that occurs during pathological processes, may be correlated to physiologic functions that characterize cell biology, like differentiation, survival and development. We have demonstrated that in a cell model that typically express high levels of MMP-9, the drastic alteration of pH, temperature and

References

- Asakura, A., Komaki, M., and Rudnicki, M. (2001). Muscle satellite cells are multipotential stem cells that exhibit myogenic, osteogenic, and adipogenic differentiation. *Differentiation* 68, 245–253. doi: 10.1046/j.1432-0436.2001. 680412.x
- Balin, A. K., Fisher, A. J., and Carter, D. M. (1984). Oxygen modulates growth of human cells at physiologic partial pressures. J. Exp. Med. 160, 152–166. doi: 10.1084/jem.160.1.152
- Barngrover, D., Thomas, J., and Thilly, W. G. (1985). High density mammalian cell growth in Leibovitz bicarbonate-free medium: effects of fructose and galactose on culture biochemistry. J. Cell Sci. 78, 173–189.
- Basciano, L., Nemos, C., Foliguet, B., de Isla, N., de Carvalho, M., Tran, L., et al. (2011). Long term culture of mesenchymal stem cells in hypoxia promotes a genetic program maintaining their undifferentiated and multipotent status. *BMC Cell Biol.* 12:12. doi: 10.1186/1471-2121-12-12
- Chambers, I., Colby, D., Robertson, M., Nichols, J., Lee, S., Tweedie, S., et al. (2003). Functional expression cloning of Nanog, a pluripotency sustaining factor in embryonic stem cells. *Cell* 113, 643–655. doi: 10.1016/S0092-8674(03) 00392-1
- Ciavarella, C., Alviano, F., Gallitto, E., Ricci, F., Buzzi, M., Velati, C., et al. (2015). Human vascular wall mesenchymal stromal cells contribute to abdominal aortic aneurysm pathogenesis through an impaired immunomodulatory activity and increased levels of MMP-9. *Circ. J.* doi: 10.1253/circj.CJ-14-0857. [Epub ahead of print].
- Conget, P. A., and Minguell, J. J. (1999). Phenotypical and functional properties of human bone marrow mesenchymal progenitor cells. J. Cell Physiol. 181, 67–73.
- De Bari, C., Dell'Accio, F., Tylzanowski, P., and Luyten, F. P. (2001). Multipotent mesenchymal stem cells from adult human synovial membrane. *Arthritis Rheum.* 44, 1928–1942. doi: 10.1002/1529-0131(200108)44:8<1928:: AID-ART331>3.0.CO;2-P
- Dominici, M., Le Blanc, K., Mueller, I., Slaper-Cortenbach, I., Marini, F., Krause, D., et al. (2006). Minimal criteria for defining multipotent mesenchymal stromal cells. The International Society for Cellular Therapy position statement. *Cytotherapy* 8, 315–317. doi: 10.1080/14653240600855905

nutrient supply causes a significant reduction of its mRNA levels, not ascribed to cell death or suffering. This is a preliminary result that needs to be explored, evaluating what signaling mechanisms are involved.

Author Contributions

CC and SF conceived and designed the experiments, performed the experiments, analyzed the data and wrote the paper. SP designed the experiments, performed the experiments and analyzed the data. FV interpreted data and revised the paper. EG, AS, and AF provided samples, analyzed data and revised paper. EG and GP conceived and designed the experiments, analyzed the data, wrote the paper and revised the paper critically and gave final approval of the version to be published. All authors read and approved the final manuscript.

Acknowledgments

We are grateful to Professor W. G. Thilly for his suggestions and learning's that were seminal for introducing us to the concept that cells can grow in an unconventional manner as well as to kindly provide the custom tailored culture media.

- Erices, A., Conget, P., and Minguell, J. J. (2000). Mesenchymal progenitor cells in human umbilical cord blood. Br. J. Haematol. 109, 235–242. doi: 10.1046/j. 1365-2141.2000.01986.x
- Hart, A. H., Hartley, L., Ibrahim, M., and Robb, L. (2004). Identification, cloning and expression analysis of the pluripotency promoting nanog genes in mouse and human. *Dev. Dyn.* 230, 187–198. doi: 10.1002/dvdy. 20034
- Hart, D. A. (2014). Why mesenchymal stem/progenitor cell heterogeneity in specific ennvironments? –Implications for tissue engineering applications following injury or degeneration of connective tissues. J. Biomed Sci. Eng. 7, 526–532. doi: 10.4236/jbise.2014.78054
- Heissig, B., Hattori, K., Dias, S., Friedrich, M., Ferris, B., Hackett, N. R., et al. (2002). Recruitment of stem and progenitor cells from the bone marrow niche requires MMP-9 mediated release of kit-ligand. *Cell* 109, 625–637. doi: 10.1016/ S0092-8674(02)00754-7
- Karystinou, A., Dell'Accio, F., Kurth, T. B., Wackerhage, H., Khan, I. M., Archer, C. W., et al. (2009). Distinct mesenchymal progenitor cell subsets in the adult human synovium. *Rheumatology* 48, 1057–1064. doi: 10.1093/rheumatology/ kep192
- Kränkel, N., Adams, V., Linke, A., Gielen, S., Erbs, S., Lenk, K., et al. (2005). Hyperglycemia reduces survival and impairs function of circulating bloodderived progenitor cells. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol.* 5, 698–703. doi: 10.1161/01.ATV.0000156401.04325.8f
- Latil, M., Rocheteau, P., Châtre, L., Sanulli, S., Mémet, S., Ricchetti, M., et al. (2012). Skeletal muscle stem cells adopt a dormant cell state post mortem and retain regenerative capacity. *Nat. Commun.* 3:903. doi: 10.1038/ncomms1890
- Leibovitz, A. (1963). The growth and maintenance of tissue-cell cultures in free gas exchange with the atmosphere. *Amer. J. Hyg.* 78, 173–180.
- Livak, K. J., and Schmittgen, T. D. (2001). Analysis of relative gene expression data using real-time quantitative PCR and the 2(-Delta Delta C(T)) Method. *Methods* 25, 402–408. doi: 10.1006/meth.2001.1262
- Mannello, F., Tonti, G., Bagnara, G. P., and Papa, S. (2006). Role and function of matrix metalloproteinases in the differentiation and biological characterization of mesenchymal stem cells. *Stem Cells* 24, 475–481. doi: 10.1634/stemcells.2005-0333

- Marg, A., Escobar, H., Gloy, S., Kufeld, M., Zacher, J., Spuler, A., et al. (2014). Human satellite cells have regenerative capacity and are genetically manipulable. J. Clin. Invest. 124, 4257–4265. doi: 10.1172/JCI63992
- Nagase, H., Visse, R., and Murphy, G. (2006). Structure and function of matrix metalloproteinases and TIMPs. *Cardiovasc Res.* 69, 562–573.
- Panepucci, R. A., Siufi, J. L. C., Silva, W. A., Proto-Siquiera, R., Neder, L., Orellana, M., et al. (2004). Comparison of gene expression of umbilical cord vein and bone marrow-derived mesenchymal stem cells. *Stem Cells* 22, 1263–1278. doi: 10.1634/stemcells.2004-0024
- Pasquinelli, G., Tazzari, P. L., Vaselli, C., Foroni, L., Buzzi, M., Storci, G. et al. (2007). Thoracic aortas from multiorgan donors are suitable for obtaining resident angiogenic mesenchymal stromal cells. *Stem Cells* 25, 1627–1634. doi: 10.1634/stemcells.2006-0731
- Pasquinelli, G., Pacilli, A., Alviano, F., Foroni, L., Ricci, F., Valente, S., et al. (2010). Multidistrict human mesenchymal vascular cells: pluripotency and stemness characteristics. *Cytotherapy* 12, 275–287. doi: 10.3109/14653241003596679
- Piret, J. P., Mottet, D., Raes, M., and Michiels, C. (2002). CoCl₂, a chemical inducer of hypoxia-inducible factor-1, and hypoxia reduce apoptotic cell death in hepatoma cell line HepG2. Ann. N.Y. Acad. Sci. 973, 443–447. doi: 10.1111/j. 1749-6632.2002.tb04680.x
- Pittenger, M. F., Mackay, A. M., Beck, S. C., Jaiswal, R. K., Douglas, R., Mosca, J. D., et al. (1999). Multilineage potential of adult human mesenchymal stem cells. *Science* 284, 143–147. doi: 10.1126/science.284.5411.143
- Puck, T., Marcus, P., and Cieciura, S. (1956). Clonal growth of mammalian cells in vitro. J. Exp. Med. 103, 615–628. doi: 10.1084/jem.103.2.273
- Richards, M., Tan, S. P., Tan, J. H., Chan, W. K., and Bongso, A. (2004). The transcriptome profile of human embryonic stem cells as defined by SAGE. *Stem Cells* 22, 51–64. doi: 10.1634/stemcells.22-1-51
- Ries, C., Egea, V., Karow, M., Kolb, H., Jochum, M., and Neth, P. (2007). MMP-2, MT1-MMP, and TIMP-2 are essential for the invasive capacity of human mesenchymal stem cells: differential regulation by inflammatory cytokines. *Blood* 109, 4055–4063. doi: 10.1182/blood-2006-10-051060
- Ryan, J. M., Barry, F. P., Murphy, J. M., and Mahon, B. P. (2005). Mesenchymal stem cells avoid allogeneic rejection. J. Inflamm. (Lond). 2:8. doi: 10.1186/1476-9255-2-8
- Saki, N., Ali Jalalifar, M., Soleimani, M., Hajizamani, S., and Rahim, F. (2013). Adverse effect of high glucose concentration on stem cell therapy. *Int. J. Hematol. Oncol. Stem Cell Res.* 7, 34–40.

- Silva, W. A., Covas, D. T., Panepucci, R. A., Proto-Siqueira, R., Siufi, J. L. C., Zanette, D. L., et al. (2003). The profile of gene expression of human marrow mesenchymal stem cells. *Stem Cells* 21, 661–669. doi: 10.1634/stemcells. 21-6-661
- Simsek, T., Kocabas, F., Zheng, J., Deberardinis, R. J., Mahmoud, A. I., Olson, E. N., et al. (2010). The distinct metabolic profile of hematopoietic stem cells reflects their location in a hypoxic niche. *Cell Stem Cell.* 7, 380–390. doi: 10.1016/j.stem. 2010.07.011
- Souza, N. (2007). Too much of a good thing. Nat. Methods 4:386. doi: 10.1038/ nmeth0507-386
- Valente, S., Alviano, F., Ciavarella, C., Buzzi, M., Ricci, F., Tazzari, P. L., et al. (2014). Human cadaver multipotent stromal/stem cells isolated from arteries stored in liquid nitrogen for 5 years. *Stem Cell Res. Ther.* 5:8. doi: 10.1186/scrt397
- Vasuri, F., Fittipaldi, S., and Pasquinelli, G. (2014). Arterial calcification: fingerpointing at resident and circulating stem cells. *World J. Stem Cells.* 6, 540–501. doi: 10.4252/wjsc.v6.i5.540
- Vu, T. H., and Werb, Z. (2000). Matrix metalloproteinases: effectors of development and normal physiology. *Genes Dev.* 14, 2123–2133. doi: 10.1101/ gad.815400
- White, P. R. (1954). *The Cultivation of Animal and Plant Cells*. New York, NY: The Ronald Press Company.
- Wu, D., and Yonda, P. (2011). Induction and testing of hypoxia in cell culture. J. Vis. Exp. 54:2899. doi: 10.3791/2899
- Zuk, P. A., Zhu, M., Ashjian, P., De Ugarte, D. A., Huang, J. I., Mizuno, H., et al. (2002). Human adipose tissue is a source of multipotent stem cells. *Mol. Biol. Cell*. 13, 4279–4295. doi: 10.1091/mbc.E02-02-0105

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2015 Ciavarella, Fittipaldi, Pedrini, Vasuri, Gallitto, Freyrie, Stella, Gostjeva and Pasquinelli. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) or licensor are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Nanotopography Induced Human Bone Marrow Mesangiogenic Progenitor Cells (MPCs) to Mesenchymal Stromal Cells (MSCs) Transition

Sara Antonini¹, Marina Montali², Emanuela Jacchetti³, Sandro Meucci¹, Paolo D. Parchi⁴, Serena Barachini², Francesca M. Panvini², Simone Pacini², Iacopo Petrini⁵ and Marco Cecchini^{1*}

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

So-ichiro Fukada, Osaka University, Japan

Reviewed by:

Bernat Soria, Andalusian Molecular Biology and Regenerative Medicine Centre (Spanish National Research Council), Spain Karen Bieback, Institute of Transfusion Medicine and Immunology, Germany

> ***Correspondence:** Marco Cecchini marco.cecchini@nano.cnr.it

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Stem Cell Research, a section of the journal Frontiers in Cell and Developmental Biology

Received: 14 July 2016 Accepted: 05 December 2016 Published: 20 December 2016

Citation:

Antonini S, Montali M, Jacchetti E, Meucci S, Parchi PD, Barachini S, Panvini FM, Pacini S, Petrini I and Cecchini M (2016) Nanotopography Induced Human Bone Marrow Mesangiogenic Progenitor Cells (MPCs) to Mesenchymal Stromal Cells (MSCs) Transition. Front. Cell Dev. Biol. 4:144. doi: 10.3389/fcell.2016.00144 ¹ NEST, Istituto Nanoscienze-CNR and Scuola Normale Superiore, Pisa, Italy, ² Department of Clinical and Experimental Medicine, University of Pisa, Pisa, Italy, ³ Dipartimento di Chimica, Materiali e Ingegneria Chimica "G.Natta", Politecnico di Milano, Milan, Italy, ⁴ Department of Surgical, Medical and Molecular Pathology and Critical Care Medicine, University of Pisa, Pisa, Italy, ⁵ Department of Translational Research and New Technologies in Medicine and Surgery, University of Pisa, Pisa, Italy

Mesangiogenic progenitor cells (MPCs) are a very peculiar population of cells present in the human adult bone marrow, only recently discovered and characterized. Owing to their differentiation potential, MPCs can be considered progenitors for mesenchymal stromal cells (MSCs), and for this reason they potentially represent a promising cell population to apply for skeletal tissue regeneration applications. Here, we evaluate the effects of surface nanotopography on MPCs, considering the possibility that this specific physical stimulus alone can trigger MPC differentiation toward the mesenchymal lineage. In particular, we exploit nanogratings to deliver a mechanical, directional stimulus by contact interaction to promote cell morphological polarization and stretching. Following this interaction, we study the MPC-MSC transition by i. analyzing the change in cell morphotype by immunostaining of the key cell-adhesion structures and confocal fluorescence microscopy, and ii. quantifying the expression of cell-phenotype characterizing markers by flow cytometry. We demonstrate that the MPC mesengenic differentiation can be induced by the solely interaction with the NGs, in absence of any other external, chemical stimulus. This aspect is of particular interest in the case of multipotent progenitors as MPCs that, retaining both mesengenic and angiogenic potential, possess a high clinical appeal.

Keywords: mesangiogenic progenitor cells, mesenchymal stromal cells, bone marrow culture, polyethylene terephthalate, nanograting

INTRODUCTION

Mesenchymal stromal cells (MSCs) have been the object of extensive research for decades, due to their intrinsic clinical value. *Mesangiogenic progenitor cells* (MPCs), instead, were only recently discovered and characterized. They were firstly co-isolated, in different percentages, with MSCs in human adult bone marrow cultures applying autologous serum (Petrini et al., 2009); later,

the establishment of specific culture conditions selective for MPCs allowed the isolation of these cells with a high grade of purity (>95%). Specifically, when human bone marrow mononuclear cells (hBM-MNCs) are cultured in basal medium supplemented with human serum (HS) on hydrophobic surfaces, it is possible to select slow-cycling MPCs after 6 days of culture (Trombi et al., 2009) because this was the only cell population present in the initial preparation capable of attaching on hydrophobic plastic dishes.

Phenotypically, MPCs are easily distinguishable from MSCs for their fried egg-shape morphology and peculiar immuophenotype characterized by the positivity to CD18, CD31 and nestin as well as negativity to the MSC markers as CD73 and CD90. Interestingly, as MPCs initially showed to retain mesengenic, cardiomyogenic, and angiogenic potential, these cells were firstly named "mesodermal" progenitor cells. Later on, the mesengenic potential was definitively demonstrated and finely described in two steps of differentiation, once cultured in specific pre-formulated media for MSC expansion. Namely, MPCs firstly differentiate into slow cycling CD90⁺/nestin⁺ cells (earlyMSCs), activating non-canonical Wnt signaling, that generate exponentially growing MSC-like cells (lateMSCs) after prolonged culture time (Fazzi et al., 2011). Similarly, angiogenic potential of MPCs was demonstrated. Also in this case the process involves two steps: first, MPCs are induced to VEGF-stimulated angiogenic sprouting; then they complete differentiation by forming capillary tube-like structures in 3D-cultures. Conversely, the cardiomyogenic potential was not definitively demonstrated, suggesting changing the MPC nomenclature into "mesangiogenic progenitor cells" (Montali et al., 2016) in spite of "mesodermal" progenitor cells. MPCs have been demonstrated deriving from a unique bone marrow cell population named Pop#8 (Pacini et al., 2016). This cell population has been sorted from adult human bone marrow as CD45^{low}CD31^{bright}CD64^{bright}CD14^{neg} and showed similarities to monocytoid progenitors. Moreover, MPC morphology and phenotype partially resemble macrophages suggesting that these mesangiogenic progenitors and their in vivo counterparts (Pop#8) could belong to the hemopoietic compartment. Similarly, plasticity of peripheral monocytes and macrophages has been demonstrated. Some groups reported evidences showing that these cells could differentiate into fibroblast-like and collagen-producing cells called "fibrocytes" which participate in tissue repair, mainly sustaining fibrosis (reviewed in Bucala, 2015). Nonetheless, demonstration of genuine mesengenic potential (osteogenic, adipogenic, and chondrogenic) of fibrocytes is still lacking, restricting their tissue repairing potential to scar formation, while sustaining to angiogenesis has been reported for these cells but only as paracrine secretion of pro-angiogenic factors (Grieb et al., 2011). Moreover, fibrocytes derived from peripheral CD45^{bright}CD14⁺ monocytes also characterized for the expression of CD11b, C11c, CD13, and CD16 (Pilling et al., 2009), which have not been detected on bone marrow-derived CD45^{low}CD14^{neg} Pop#8.

As MPCs can be considered progenitors for MSCs, they potentially represent a promising cell population to apply for skeletal tissue regeneration applications. Cell based medicinal products obtained by hBM-MNCs cultured in autologous serum were applied in the treatment of upper limb nonunions (Giannotti et al., 2013). In this paper, authors reported consistent percentages of MPCs (1–10%) within the expected MSC population, although not all of the conditions for MPC selection were complained. Nonetheless, it was suggested that the MPC fraction possibly contributed to the long-term healing reported in the treated patients. This hypothesis arose from the reported MPC plasticity suggesting that, once implanted, these cells could support osteogenesis differentiating into *early*MSCs, as well as contributing to the neo-vascularization of the engineered construct thank to their angiogenic potential.

In order to better investigate and exploit this possible therapeutic scenario in the field of orthopedics, further experiments should be performed *in vitro* in order to predict the MPC differentiation fate resulting from different physicochemical stimulations that selectively mimic specific aspects of the *in vivo* micro-environments.

Bone tissue homeostasis represents a complex biological process finely regulated by humoral stimuli as hormones, growth factors and cytokines as well as by cell-cell and cell-matrix contact interactions (Florencio-Silva et al., 2015). Thus, optimal bone regenerative therapy should enhance mineralized tissue healing through enrichment of the bone defect with a micro/nanostructured matrix scaffold to support the wound, with cells that will give raise to osteoprogenitors and proper biochemical stimuli. Recently, a factor controlling the fate of many osteocompentent cells has been introduced, taking in consideration that micro- e nano-topography of the bone architectures could have a role in the regulation of the activity of the bone cells trough the activation of cellular mechanotransduction mechanisms mediated by adhesion molecules (Green et al., 1995; Zohar, 2012). In particular, this complex bone architecture resulted mainly sustained by collagen and hydroxyapatite (HA), which together form a highly aligned composite matrix that contribute to the toughness and strength of bone itself (Weiner et al., 1999; Kerschnitzki et al., 2011). Collagen triple helices are typically around 300 nm long and 1.5 nm in diameter (Weiner et al., 1999) conferring a linear topography to the bone structure at the nanoscale. Many studies reported the influence of nanotopography to the biology of osteoprogenitors (Dalby et al., 2007; McMurray et al., 2011; Janson et al., 2014) suggesting to control their differentiation applying nanostructured surfaces of orthopedic implants.

MPCs showed particular adhesion properties sustained by podosome-like structures, that were applied for the definition of a MPC selective culture method (Trombi et al., 2009). Further studies demonstrated that gelsolin-served F-actin podosomial structures were re-organizedn in paxillin-served F-actin stress fibers, during the mesengenic differentiation of MPCs (Pacini et al., 2013), suggesting that topographical stimuli could play a crucial role in the MPC fate.

The aim of this study is evaluating the effects of surface nanostructuring on MPCs, considering the possibility that the nanotopography alone can trigger the MPC differentiation toward the mesenchymal lineage. In particular, we exploited nanogratings to deliver a mechanical, directional stimulus by contact interaction to promote cell morphological polarization and stretching. Following this interaction, we studied the MPC-MSC transition by (i) analyzing the change in cell morphotype by immunostaining of the key cell-adhesion structures and confocal fluorescence microscopy, and (ii) quantifying the expression of cell-phenotype characterizing markers by flow cytometry.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Nanograting Fabrication

NGs were fabricated by thermal nanoimprinting lithography (NIL) on copolymer 2-norbornene ethylene cyclic olefin copolymer (COC) foils (IBIDI, Martinsried, Germany). COC was chosen because of its well-documented biocompatibility and optimal optical properties for high-resolution fluorescence microscopy. NIL is based on the combination of pressure and heat, which aids the transfer of the chosen pattern from a rigid mold to thermoplastic materials. Molds were fabricated by electron beam lithography (EBL) and reactive ion etching (RIE) techniques as previously reported (Cecchini et al., 2007). COC foils were imprinted using an Obducat Nanoimprint 24 system (Obducat, Sweden). After cleaning with nitrogen flow, the substrates were placed on top of the silicon molds and softened by raising the temperature up to 150°C. A pressure of 50 bar was then applied for 5 min before cooling down to 70°C, that is below the glass transition temperature of the copolymer (Tg =134°C). Finally, the pressure was released and the mold detached from the substrate with a scalpel. The imprinted substrates were quality checked by optical microscopy and attached to the bottom of hollowed 35 mm Petri dishes by using silicone glue (RS Components RS692-524).

Donors and Sample Collection

Human bone marrow blood samples were collected, after written consent, from 12 patients (5 Male/6 Female, median age 64) during orthopedic surgery for hip replacement. The study has been performed according to the declaration of Helsinki and to the approval of the local ethical committee of "*Azienda Ospedaliero-Universitaria Pisana.*" A 20 ml syringe containing 500 U.I. of heparin was used to aspirate 10 ml of fresh tissue immediately after femoral neck osteotomy and before femoral reaming. Samples were promptly sent to the cell culture facility and processed soon after.

MPC Preparation and Characterization Cell Preparation

MPCs were obtained from hBM applying selective culture conditions, according to the previously reported method (Trombi et al., 2009; Montali et al., 2016). Briefly, bone marrow blood samples were diluted 1:4, carefully stratified on Ficoll-PaqueTM Premium (GE Healthcare, Uppsala, Sweden) and centrifuge at 400 g for 30'. hBM mononuclear cells (hBM-MNCs) were collected at the interface of the density gradient, washed in Dulbecco's modified phosphate saline buffer (D-PBS, Thermo Scientific, Carlsbad, USA-CA) and resuspended in Dulbecco's modified Eagle medium (DMEM, Thermo Scientific) supplemented with 10% of pooled human

type AB serum (PhABS, Lonza, Basel, Switzerland), 1:100 GlutamaxTM (Thermo Scientific) and 100 μ U/ml of penicillin and streptomycin (Thermo Scientific). Cell concentration and vitality were determined by Bürker hemocytometer. From 30 \times 10⁶ to 60 \times 10⁶ hBM-MNCs were then plated in a T75 culture flask for suspension cultures (Greiner Bio-one, Monroe, USA-NC) and incubated at 37°C and 5% CO₂ for 48 h in DMEM/10%PhABS. Cells in suspension were removed with the medium change and then adherent cell were maintained in culture for 6 days. At the end, medium was discard, flasks were washed with D-PBS and 1,5 ml of TrypLE[®] Select detaching solution (Thermo Scientific) was applied for 10' to collect MPCs.

Flow Cytometry

 3×10^5 freshly isolated MPCs were processed for immunophenotyping and incubated with anti-CD11c VioBlue[®]-conjugated, anti-CD18 PE-conjugated, anti-CD31 PE/Cy7-conjugated and anti-CD90 APC-conjugated (all from Miltenyi Biotec, Bergisch Gladbach, Germany) for 30' at 4°C in the dark. Cells were then washed with MACSQuant[®] Running Buffer (Miltenyi Biotec) and resuspended in 500 µl of the same buffer for data acquisition in MACSQuant[®] Flow Cytometer (Miltenyi Biotec). Data were acquired and analyzed by MACSQuantify[®] analysis software (Miltenyi Biotec). Samples with percentage of CD11c⁺CD18⁺CD31⁺CD90^{neg} lower than 95% were excluded from the study.

Nestin Detection and F-Actin Organization

From 8 \times 10⁵ to 1.6 \times 10⁶ hBM-MNCs were seeded in 2well culture chamber slides (Thermo Scientific) and cultured in DMEM/10%PhABS for 6 days, as described above. Cultures were then washed twice in D-PBS and MPCs were fixed in paraformaldehyde 4% for 15'. Permeabilization was performed by incubation in Triton X-100 0.5% (Sigma Aldrich) for 15', after the removal of the fixative by extensive wash in D-PBS. Slides were blocked applying Image-iTTM FX signal enhancer (Thermo Scientific) and incubated with anti- human nestin monoclonal antibody (Abcam, Cambridge, UK) overnight. Antibody excess was removed by washing in Triton X-100 0.5% and slides were then incubated with AlexaFluor® 488-conjugated secondary antibody for 1 h. F-actin staining was performed by AlexaFluor® 555-conjugated phalloidin (Thermo Scientific) for 20'. The slides were finally mounted with ProLong[®] anti-fade reagent with DAPI and pictures were taken using an inverted fluorescence DM IRB microscope (Leica, Wetzlar, Germany) equipped with LAS AF image analysis software (Leica).

Mesengenic Differentiation by Pre-formulated Medium

Freshly detached MPCs were seeded in T75 flasks (20,000 cells/cm²) and let adhere overnight in DMEM/10%PhABS. The day after the medium was changed with MesenPRO[®] RS medium (Thermo Scientific) and the cells were cultured until confluence (P1-MSCs). Cells were then detached by enzymatic digestion with TrypLE[®] Select and sub-cultured at 5000 cells/cm in new T75 flasks for flow cytometry analysis, and in 2-well

culture chamber slides for the detection of nestin (performed at confluence, P2-MSCs).

MPC Culture on T2 Nanogratings

Freshly isolated MPCs were resuspended and adjusted to 40,000 cells/ml in DMEM/10%PhABS, then a cell suspension volume of 500 µl was seeded into four T2 nanostructured inserts, in a drop. Cells were let adhere for 4 h, then additional fresh medium (1.5 ml) was added and cells were cultured for 7 days. In parallel, cultures have been performed on four "FLAT" inserts; additional cultures were also prepared in standard 6wells plates for suspension cultures, in order to evaluate the spontaneous cell differentiation (marked as "CTRL"). For flow cytometry quantification of the mesengenic differentiation, the cells cultured onto the three different substrates were detached by TrypLE[®] Select digestion solution, washed in MACSQuant[®] Running Buffer (MiltenviBiotec), and incubated with the monoclonal antibodies, as described above. The acquisition and analysis were performed applying dot-plot template set up for MPC/P2-MSCs analysis. Mesenchymal differentiation was evaluated by calculating the ratio between events with MSCassociated phenotype, detected in R2 gate, and MPC-related events detected in R1 gate (MSC/MPC).

Statistical Analysis

Data were reported as average value \pm the standard error of the mean (mean \pm SEM), obtained from at least three independent experiments. Data were statistically analyzed by GraphPad PRISM 6.00 program (GraphPad Software, San Diego, CA, USA). For parametric data, Student's *t*-test (unpaired, twotailed) or One-Way ANOVA (Tukey's or Dunnett's multiple comparison test) analysis were used; the mean values obtained in each repeated experiment were assumed to be normally distributed about the true mean. Statistical significance refers to results where p < 0.05 was obtained. Further details on data representation and statistics are reported in the figure legends.

RESULTS

Nanograting Fabrication and Characterization

Three different substrates were chosen to study MPC differentiation toward the MSC phenotype. The substrates were produced starting form 200-µm-thick COC films by hot embossing (Figure 1), as detailed in the Materials and Methods section. This process provided us with nanostructured surfaces covering macroscopic areas (= 1 cm^2), well suitable for fluorescence microscopy and cell/molecular biology studies. Two surface geometries were fabricated, the first having an embossed nanograting (named T2) while the second was obtained with the same thermal and pressure cycle but using a flat mold (i.e., a silicon polished wafer). This last substrate is named FLAT and has been used as control condition for the T2 surface in each experiment. T2 is characterized by ridge and groove width of 1000 nm, and depth of 350 nm. All the COC surfaces were proven to be adhesive for MPCs without requiring any chemical functionalization but plasma activation. In this study and previously (Tonazzini et al., 2013; Jacchetti



et al., 2014) we did not find any cytotoxicity originating by either the surface topographical modification or by the material itself. Finally, standard tissue culture Petri dishes were also used as control condition for the FLAT substrates in order to verify that the material itself did not cause the MPC-MSC transition. Summarizing, three different substrates were exploited for this study, the T2 and FLAT (both in COC), and a standard plastic Petri dish (named CTRL).

MPC Culture Characterization

All of the bone marrow samples could generate MPCs (**Figure 2A**), that were isolated by applying the previously reported method (Trombi et al., 2009; Montali et al., 2016). As expected, culturing hBM-MNCs for 6 days under selective culture conditions led to monomorphic cultures of adherent cells with a peculiar fried egg-shape morphology (**Figure 2A.1**). These cells were then characterized as MPCs for their intense expression of nestin (green in **Figure 2A.2**) and the typical dotted distribution of F-actin, that reveals numerous podosome-like structures (red in **Figure 2A.2**). Also flow cytometry confirmed the expected immunophenotype characterized by the positivity to CD31 (PECAM), CD18 (Integrin β 2), CD11c (Integrin α X)



FIGURE 2 | Isolation and characterization of hBM-derived MPCs. Culturing hBM-MNCs for 6 days under MPC selective conditions lead to almost homogenous population of rounded and highly rifrangent adherent cells (A.1). These cells were definitively characterized as MPCs for their intense positivity to nestin (green in A.2) and for the presence of numerous podosome-like structures characterized by the dotted distribution of F-Actin (red in A.2). Flow cytometry confirmed the MPC phenotype on approximately all analyzed cells (A.3), which were displayed in the lower right quadrant of the CD90 vs. CD31 dot-plot ("R1" green box). After two passages under mesengenic differentiating conditions (P2-MSCs) the cultures were constituted by proliferating and fibroblastoid MSC-like cells (B.1) and nestin was no longer detected (B.2). All MPC-related markers resulted undetectable by flow cytometry on P2-MSCs (B.3), which expressed high levels of CD90, occupying the upper left quadrant of the CD90 vs. CD31 dot-plot ("R2" blue box).

and the lack of CD90 expression (**Figure 2A.3**). Flow cytometry was then applied to determine the purity of MPC cultures before subculture the cells on NGs. Most of the analyzed cell preparations revealed MPC percentages higher than 95% (mean 96.5 \pm 3.2%, n = 10), determined applying the *R1* gate on CD90 vs. CD31 dot-plot (green box in **Figure 2A.3**), and were then processed for subsequent culture. Otherwise, two MPC primary cultures revealed purity lower than 95% (data not shown) with a consistent percentage (10 and 8%) of MSC-like cells, determined applying the *R2* gate (blue box in **Figure 2A.3**). These latest two cell preparations were excluded from the study.

Specific Formulated Media Induced Differentiation of MPCs

In order to verify the differentiation potential of the isolated MPCs, two passages of mesengenic differentiation were applied. After 2 weeks of culture in MesenPRO[®] RS medium, differentiated cells (P2-MSCs) showed a fibroblastoid and spindle-shaped morphology, typical of MSC-like cells (**Figure 2B.1**). F-actin resulted re-organized in stress-fibers (red in **Figure 2B.2**), while very low levels of nestin expression was reported in few rare cells. Flow cytometry revealed almost homogeneous culture of CD90-positive cells, lacking MPC-related markers as CD31, CD18, and CD11c (**Figure 2B.3**). As a consequence, in the CD90 vs. CD31 dot-plot these cell events were plotted in the *R2* gate. In order to definitely confirm

the MSC nature of the differentiated cells, P2-MSC cultures were exposed to adipogenic as well as osteogenic differentiating conditions, and respectively the lipid droplet accumulation and calcium deposition were report for the cultures investigated (n = 10, data not shown).

MPCs Interact with NGs

Initial cell attachment on T2 nanostructures was not significantly altered. After the 4 h incubation, most of the seeded cells resulted firmly adherent to the substrate surfaces without any noticeable difference with respect to those on FLAT or CTRL. After overnight incubation, MPC morphology resulted highly conserved, with cells maintaining the typical rounded fried eggshape. Nuclei appeared slightly oval with compact chromatin, and did not show any alignment to the grating direction. Conversely, all characteristic podosome-like structures resulted aligned in correspondence to the NG crests, while resulting randomly oriented in correspondence of the not patterned areas, similarly to those of the cells seeded on FLAT or CTRL (**Figure 3**). Moreover, numerous filopodia, occasionally detected on some MPCs, showed the ability to align to the NGs.

Nanogratings Trigger MPC Differentiation toward MSC-Like Cells

In order to evaluate the effect of the solely topography of the T2 on the MPCs transition to MSCs, the cell mortally related to the re-plating procedures or to the different substrate chemical





composition have been taken in consideration, eliminating the experiments that showed reduced vitality (<80%) in CTRL and in FLAT cultures (**Figure 4A** pale red area). For the same reason, possible spontaneous differentiation has been evaluated, and experiments in which CTRL or FLAT cultures showed a MSC/MPC ratio higher than 0.1 where excluded from the study (**Figure 4B**). After this evaluation eight experiments showed consistent vitality and absence of spontaneous differentiation (**Figure 4C**), while two experiments were excluded from the

analysis (**Figure 4D**). After 7 days of culture on FLAT inserts, no change in MPC morphology or phenotype were reported and few events were detected in the R2 gate, in all validated experiments (**Figure 5A**). Conversely on T2 NGs, evident signs of differentiation were proven by numerous elongated MSC-like cells oriented along the grating direction, and by a consistent population expressing MSC-associated phenotype, detected in the R2 gate (**Figure 5B**). Quantitatively, normalized MSC/MPC ratio resulted significantly higher in cultures performed on T2



NGs (p < 0.05), with the mean value (0.19 ± 0.05) triplicated with respect to that measured on FLAT (0.062 ± 0.015 , **Figure 5C**).

DISCUSSION

Implant osteointegration represents the key of success in most of the orthopedic procedures. It has been defined as the formation of structural and functional interconnection between the implant and the host bone (Albrektsson et al., 1981). In order to promote osteointegration, many materials and new fabrication processes have been proposed to obtain a high porous implant surface on which the bone cells could adhere and growth (Agarwal and García, 2015). Nowadays, the gold standard is represented by devices made by trabecular metal, which can mimic the bone microstructure and make available an ideal space for cellular colonization and revascularization of the neoformed bone tissue. However, an important limit of the implants and materials currently used in orthopedic surgery is that they present micron-sized textures while the bone is a nanostructured tissue. Collagen and hydroxyapatite, for example, provide a unique nanostructured scaffold for proteins and bone cell interactions. For these reasons, nanomaterials have been proposed with the aim of improving surface properties and creating an environment more conducive for osteoblast function and bone ingrowth (Tran and Webster, 2009; Parchi et al., 2013). Sub-micrometer sized features on traditional implants can control protein absorption and decrease scar tissue growth, bacterial infection and promote appropriate tissue growth. Moreover, they can also guide cell differentiation through physical stimulation, by a process called mechanotrasduction in which physical forces are converted into biochemical signals that are the finally integrated to give specific cellular response (Duncan and Turner, 1995).

Substrate nanotopography has been demonstrated to affect the biology of MSCs *in vitro* and the possibility of controlling the phenotype of these cells by just physically modifying the substrate topography represents one of the most promising



innovations in the field. However, the majority of the studies was conducted with bone marrow derived mesenchymal stromal cells (BM-MSCs). Very recently our group demonstrated that nanogratings, alternate lines of sub-micrometer sized ridges and grooves, can effectively polarize BM-MSCs by pure contact interaction (Antonini et al., 2014), and promote enhanced osteo-differentiation with respect to flat surfaces (Antonini et al., 2016). There is indeed a large consensus considering BM-MSCs as the progenitors of the skeletal tissue related cell lineages for their ability to differentiate into adipocytes, osteoblasts and chondroblasts (Keating, 2012). This study also shows that after interaction with nanograting, BM-MSCs retain their osteodifferentiation potential.

Nonetheless, BM-MSCs represent a heterogeneous cell population isolated *in vitro*, in which the composition and cell biology are strongly affected by the isolating and expanding procedures (Phinney, 2012). Alongside the variability related to donors (Deasy et al., 2007; Siegel et al., 2013) and culture methods (Sharma et al., 2014), multiple origins of BM-MSCs were hypothesized and supported by several experiments demonstrating that genuine MSC cultures can be obtained by different BM subpopulations *in vivo* and *in vitro*, (reviewed in Pacini, 2014).

Remarkably, the MSC frequency in human normal bone marrow has been estimated only about the 0.001 and 0.01% of the mononuclear cells. Conversely, the MPCs frequency, and its

in vivo counterpart denominated Pop#8, results from two to three logs higher (Trombi et al., 2009; Pacini et al., 2016).

Therefore, it is reasonable to hypothesize that the effects exerted by the nanostructured surfaces on MPCs can more strongly affect implant osteointegration than those on very small cell populations such us "skeletal stem cells" (SSCs) (Bianco and Robey, 2015) or CD271⁺CD140^{low/-} (Li et al., 2016), today considered the *bona fide* ancestors of BM-MSCs *in vivo*. Our results indicate that nanogratings can promote MPC to MSC transition, suggesting an *in vivo* scenario in which osteointegration is possibly promoted following MPC to MSC transition and nanograting-driven MSC osteogenic differentiation.

It is known that the substrate directionality stimulus is optimally delivered to many kind of undifferenziated cells, including MSCs, which in turn elongate and align to the nanograting lines. This polarization occurs also at level of cytoskeleton fibers and, though to a lesser extent, of nuclei. In this context, an elegant mechanistic model was proposed suggesting that an increased binding of integrins to ECM proteins would lead to increased FAK recruitment to the adhesion plaque inducing downstream ERK-dependent differentiation (Yee et al., 2008) This model provides an insight into the mechanisms of focal adhesiondependent differentiation that might apply also to the MPC-MSC transition, and shows that nanotopographical surface modifications may directly regulate stem cell differentiation. Substrate topography can, indeed, interfere with focal-adhesion maturation and shaping, which in turn reflects on cellular mechanical stress distribution and shaping.

Interestingly, here we have demonstrated that the MPC mesengenic differentiation could be induced by the solely interaction with the T2 NGs, in absence of any other external stimuli. This aspect opens an interesting issue regarding the heterogeneity of culture expanded MSCs. In fact, it has been hypothesized that expanding MSCs from unfractionated "crude" bone marrow cell suspensions, in uncontrolled open culture systems, could lead to significantly different cell products with

REFERENCES

- Agarwal, R., and García, A. J. (2015). Biomaterial strategies fhor engineering implants for enhanced osseointegration and bone repair. *Adv. Drug Deliv. Rev.* 94, 53–62. doi: 10.1016/j.addr.2015.03.013
- Albrektsson, T., Brånemark, P. I., Hansson, H. A., and Lindström, J. (1981). Osseointegrated titanium implants. Requirements for ensuring a long-lasting, direct bone-to-implant anchorage in man. Acta Orthop. Scand. 52, 155–170. doi: 10.3109/17453678108991776
- Antonini, S., Cappelluti, M., Meucci, S., Jacchetti, E., Vittorio, O., Parchi, P., et al. (2014). Human mesenchymal stromal cell enhanced morphological polarization by contact interaction with polyethylene terephthalate nanogratings. CNANO 10, 773–778. doi: 10.2174/1573413710666140815 205825
- Antonini, S., Meucci, S., Parchi, P., Pacini, S., Montali, M., Poggetti, A., et al. (2016). Human mesenchymal stromal cell-enhanced osteogenic differentiation by contact interaction with polyethylene terephthalate nanogratings. *Biomed. Mater.* 11:045003. doi: 10.1088/1748-6041/11/4/ 045003

unpredictable biological properties because of mild modifications in the culture determinants or even to environmental fluctuations during cell expansion (Pacini, 2014). Data presented here suggest that differences in the intrinsic nanotopography of the culture surfaces, correlated to the materials or to the production processes, should be consider an additional culture determinant that might increase the variability of the final product. Thus, it might be possible that some pre-clinical data collected on MSCs expanded in flasks from bone marrow are not predictive for the therapeutic value of the same cell population cultured in bioreactors (i.e., equipped with hollow fibers), as their proliferation and differentiation potential could be altered by the specific micro- and/or nanotopography of the contact surfaces.

Concluding, the seminal findings reported here sustain the fascinating hypothesis of a topographic control of progenitor cells fate by specific designs of nanostructured surfaces. This aspect is of particular interest in the case of multipotent progenitors as MPCs that, retaining both mesengenic and angiogenic potential, possess a high clinical appeal.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

SA and MM: Conception and design, Data collection, assembly, analysis, and interpretation; EJ: Data collection, assembly, analysis, and interpretation; SM: Microfabrication of nanostrucutres; PP, SB, FP: Data collection, assembly, analysis, and interpretation; SP: Conception and design, Data collection, assembly, analysis, and interpretation. Manuscript writing; IP: Manuscript writing. MC: Conception and design, Data collection, assembly, analysis, and interpretation. Manuscript writing:

FUNDING

This work was partially funded by "Centro per l'Uso Clinico delle Cellule Staminali" (CUCCS) as part of the project "Impiego di cellule stromali mesenchimali di origine midollare nelle pseudoatrosi, cisti ossee di astragalo e osteotomie in plus delle ossa lunghe" (project number 539999_2014_Petrini_CUCCS).

- Bianco, P., and Robey, P. G. (2015). Skeletal stem cells. *Development* 142, 1023–1027. doi: 10.1242/dev.102210
- Bucala, R. (2015). Fibrocytes at 20 Years. Mol. Med. 21(Suppl. 1), S3–S5. doi: 10.2119/molmed.2015.00043
- Cecchini, M., Bumma, G., Serresi, M., and Beltram, F. (2007). PC12 differentiation on biopolymer nanostructures. *Nanotechnology* 18:505103. doi: 10.1088/0957-4484/18/50/505103
- Dalby, M. J., Gadegaard, N., Tare, R., Andar, A., Riehle, M. O., Herzyk, P., et al. (2007). The control of human mesenchymal cell differentiation using nanoscale symmetry and disorder. *Nat. Mater.* 6, 997–1003. doi: 10.1038/nmat2013
- Deasy, B. M., Lu, A., Tebbets, J. C., Feduska, J. M., Schugar, R. C., Pollett, J. B., et al. (2007). A role for cell sex in stem cell-mediated skeletal muscle regeneration: female cells have higher muscle regeneration efficiency. J. Cell Biol. 177, 73–86. doi: 10.1083/jcb.200612094
- Duncan, R. L., and Turner, C. H. (1995). Mechanotransduction and the functional response of bone to mechanical strain. *Calcif. Tissue Int.* 57, 344–358. doi: 10.1007/BF00302070
- Fazzi, R., Pacini, S., Carnicelli, V., Trombi, L., Montali, M., Lazzarini, E., et al. (2011). Mesodermal progenitor cells (MPCs) differentiate into mesenchymal

stromal cells (MSCs) by activation of Wnt5/calmodulin signalling pathway. *PLoS ONE* 6:e25600. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0025600

- Florencio-Silva, R., Rodrigues da Silva Sasso, G., Sasso-Cerri, E., Jesus Simões, M., and Sérgio Cerri, P. (2015). Biology of bone tissue: structure, function, and factors that influence bone cells. *Biomed. Res. Int.* 2015:421746. doi: 10.1155/2015/421746
- Giannotti, S., Trombi, L., Bottai, V., Ghilardi, M., D'Alessandro, D., Danti, S., et al. (2013). Use of autologous human mesenchymal stromal cell/fibrin clot constructs in upper limb non-unions: long-term assessment. *PLoS ONE* 8:e73893. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0073893
- Green, J., Schotland, S., Stauber, D. J., Kleeman, C. R., and Clemens, T. L. (1995). Cell-matrix interaction in bone: type I collagen modulates signal transduction in osteoblast-like cells. *Am. J. Physiol.* 268, C1090–C1103.
- Grieb, G., Steffens, G., Pallua, N., Bernhagen, J., and Bucala, R. (2011). Circulating fibrocytes-biology and mechanisms in wound healing and scar formation. *Int. Rev. Cell Mol. Biol.* 291, 1–19. doi: 10.1016/B978-0-12-386035-4. 00001-X
- Jacchetti, E., Di Rienzo, C., Meucci, S., Nocchi, F., Beltram, F., and Cecchini, M. (2014). Wharton's Jelly human mesenchymal stem cell contact guidance by noisy nanotopographies. *Sci. Rep.* 4:3830. doi: 10.1038/srep03830
- Janson, I. A., Kong, Y. P., and Putnam, A. J. (2014). Nanotopographic substrates of poly (Methyl Methacrylate) do not strongly influence the osteogenic phenotype of mesenchymal stem cells *in vitro*. *PLoS ONE* 9:e90719. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0090719
- Keating, A. (2012). Mesenchymal stromal cells: new directions. Cell Stem Cell 10, 709–716. doi: 10.1016/j.stem.2012.05.015
- Kerschnitzki, M., Wagermaier, W., Roschger, P., Seto, J., Shahar, R., Duda, G., et al. (2011). The organization of the osteocyte network mirrors the extracellular matrix orientation in bone. *J. Struct. Biol.* 173, 303–311. doi: 10.1016/j.jsb.2010.11.014
- Li, H., Ghazanfari, R., Zacharaki, D., Lim, H., and Scheding, S. (2016). Isolation and characterization of primary bone marrow mesenchymal stromal cells. *Ann. N. Y. Acad. Sci.* 1370, 109–118. doi: 10.1111/nyas.13102
- McMurray, R. J., Gadegaard, N., Tsimbouri, P. M., Burgess, K. V., McNamara, L. E., Tare, R., et al. (2011). Nanoscale surfaces for the long-term maintenance of mesenchymal stem cell phenotype and multipotency. *Nat. Mater.* 10, 637–644. doi: 10.1038/nmat3058
- Montali, M., Barachini, S., Pacini, S., Panvini, F. M., and Petrini, M. (2016). Isolating Mesangiogenic Progenitor Cells (MPCs) from human bone marrow. J. Vis. Exp. 15:113. doi: 10.3791/54225
- Pacini, S. (2014). Deterministic and stochastic approaches in the clinical application of mesenchymal stromal cells (MSCs). *Front. Cell Dev. Biol.* 2:50. doi: 10.3389/fcell.2014.00050
- Pacini, S., Barachini, S., Montali, M., Carnicelli, V., Fazzi, R., Parchi, P., et al. (2016). Mesangiogenic progenitor cells derived from one novel CD64^{bright}CD31^{bright}CD14^{neg} population in human adult bone marrow. *Stem Cells Dev.* 25, 661–673. doi: 10.1089/scd.2015.0344
- Pacini, S., Fazzi, R., Montali, M., Carnicelli, V., Lazzarini, E., and Petrini, M. (2013). Specific integrin expression is associated with podosome-like structures on mesodermal progenitor cells. *Stem Cells Dev.* 22, 1830–1838. doi: 10.1089/scd.2012.0423

- Parchi, P. D., Vittorio, O., Andreani, L., Piolanti, N., Cirillo, G., Iemma, F., et al. (2013). How nanotechnology can really improve the future of orthopedic implants and scaffolds for bone and cartilage defects. *J. Nanomedine Biotherapeutic Discov.* 3:114. doi: 10.4172/2155-983X.1000114
- Petrini, M., Pacini, S., Trombi, L., Fazzi, R., Montali, M., Ikehara, S., et al. (2009). Identification and purification of mesodermal progenitor cells from human adult bone marrow. *Stem Cells Dev.* 18, 857–866. doi: 10.1089/scd.2008.0291
- Phinney, D. (2012). Functional heterogeneity of mesenchymal stem cells: implications for cell therapy. J. Cell Biochem. 113, 2806–2812. doi: 10.1002/jcb.24166
- Pilling, D., Fan, T., Huang, D., Kaul, B., and Gomer, R. H. (2009). Identification of markers that distinguish monocyte-derived fibrocytes from monocytes, macrophages, and fibroblasts. *PLoS ONE* 16:e7475. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0007475
- Sharma, R., Pollock, K., Hubel, A., and McKenna, D. (2014). Mesenchymal stem or stromal cells: a review of clinical applications and manufacturing practices. *Transfusion* 54, 1418–1437. doi: 10.1111/trf.12421
- Siegel, G., Kluba, T., Hermanutz-Klein, U., Bieback, K., Northoff, H., and Schäfer, R. (2013). Phenotype, donor age and gender affect function of human bone marrow-derived mesenchymal stromal cells. *BMC Med.* 11:146. doi: 10.1186/1741-7015-11-146
- Tonazzini, I., Meucci, S., Faraci, P., Beltram, F., and Cecchini, M. (2013). Neuronal differentiation on anisotropic substrates and the influence of nanotopographical noise on neurite contact guidance. *Biomaterials* 34, 6027–6036. doi: 10.1016/j.biomaterials.2013.04.039
- Tran, N., and Webster, T. J. (2009). Nanotechnology for bone materials. Wiley Interdiscip. Rev. Nanomed. Nanobiotechnol. 1, 336–351. doi: 10.1002/wnan.23
- Trombi, L., Pacini, S., Montali, M., Fazzi, R., Chiellini, F., Ikehara, S., et al. (2009). Selective culture of mesodermal progenitor cells. *Stem Cells Dev.* 18, 1227–1234. doi: 10.1089/scd.2009.0054
- Weiner, S., Traub, W., and Wagner, H. (1999). Lamellar bone: structure-function relations. J. Struct. Biol. 126, 241–255. doi: 10.1006/jsbi.1999.4107
- Yee, K. L., Weaver, V. M., and Hammer, D. (2008). Integrin-mediated signalling through the MAP-kinase pathway. *IET Syst. Biol.* 2, 8–15. doi: 10.1049/iet-syb:20060058
- Zohar, R. (2012). "Signals between cells and matrix mediate bone regeneration," in *Bone Regeneration (InTech)*, ed H. Tal. doi: 10.5772/38292. Available online at: http://www.intechopen.com/books/bone-regeneration/signals-between-cellsand-matrix-mediate-bone-regeneration

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2016 Antonini, Montali, Jacchetti, Meucci, Parchi, Barachini, Panvini, Pacini, Petrini and Cecchini. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) or licensor are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.



Glycan Profiling Shows Unvaried *N*-Glycomes in MSC Clones with Distinct Differentiation Potentials

Katherine M. Wilson¹, Jane E. Thomas-Oates², Paul G. Genever¹ and Daniel Ungar^{1*}

¹ Department of Biology, University of York, York, UK, ² Department of Chemistry and Centre of Excellence in Mass Spectrometry, University of York, York, UK

Different cell types have different *N*-glycomes in mammals. This means that cellular differentiation is accompanied by changes in the *N*-glycan profile. Yet when the *N*-glycomes of cell types with differing fates diverge is unclear. We have investigated the *N*-glycan profiles of two different clonal populations of mesenchymal stromal cells (MSCs). One clone (Y101), when differentiated into osteoblasts, showed a marked shift in the glycan profile toward a higher abundance of complex *N*-glycans and more core fucosylation. Yet chemical inhibition of complex glycan formation during osteogenic differentiation did not prevent the formation of functional osteoblasts. However, the *N*-glycan profile of another MSC clone (Y202), which cannot differentiate into osteoblasts, was not significantly different from that of the clone that can. Interestingly, incubation of Y202 cells in osteogenic medium caused a similar reduction of oligomannose glycan content in this non-differentiation do not have direct functional links to the differentiation process. Thus *N*-glycans may instead be important for self-renewal rather than for cell fate determination.

Keywords: MALDI-MS, N-glycan, FANGS, immunomodulatory MSCs, multi-lineage differentiation, self-renewal

INTRODUCTION

Mesenchymal stromal cells (MSCs) are a heterogeneous population of cells that contains both adult multipotent and immunomodulatory cell types (Nauta and Fibbe, 2007). They can be isolated from several locations in the human body by exploiting their ability to adhere to plastic. MSCs are often distinguished from other cells types by the expression of CD105, CD73, CD90 cell surface markers and the absence of hematopoietic markers such as CD45, CD43, CD14, and CD19 (Dominici et al., 2006). Once isolated, MSCs can be induced to differentiate into bone, cartilage or fat cells, but not all the cells in a heterogeneous primary isolate behave the same way during a differentiation experiment. In fact, clonal sub-populations of primary MSCs show different features than the parent population. Some clones can differentiate into all three lineages. Others are only capable of dual or single lineage differentiation, while some do not differentiate at all (Pittenger et al., 1999). In addition, MSCs have been observed to provide immunomodulatory functions, a role that is shared by both differentiating and non-differentiating cells (Bartholomew et al., 2002; James et al., 2015). Given the range of phenotypic characteristics and the lack of decisive markers, the precise identification of MSCs is not trivial in a primary mixture. Moreover, the characterization of different MSC lines derived from primary cells would also benefit from the elucidation of further defining molecular features.

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Simone Pacini, University of Pisa, Italy

Reviewed by:

Simone Diestel, University of Bonn, Germany Amar M. Singh, Transposagen Biopharmaceuticals, USA

> *Correspondence: Daniel Ungar

dani.ungar@york.ac.uk

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Stem Cell Research, a section of the journal Frontiers in Cell and Developmental Biology

> **Received:** 21 March 2016 **Accepted:** 13 May 2016 **Published:** 31 May 2016

Citation:

Wilson KM, Thomas-Oates JE, Genever PG and Ungar D (2016) Glycan Profiling Shows Unvaried N-Glycomes in MSC Clones with Distinct Differentiation Potentials. Front. Cell Dev. Biol. 4:52. doi: 10.3389/fcell.2016.00052

We generated single cell-derived clones from immortalized bone-marrow MSCs. Importantly, different clones obtained in the course of immortalization represent the various cell types contained in the heterogeneous primary mixture. Four such clones have been characterized in detail, two of which are capable of differentiation, while the other two represent MSCs with enhanced immunomodulatory features that cannot differentiate (James et al., 2015). The two differentiating lines (Y101 and Y201) are similar in their gene expression profiles, and both show trilineage differentiation potential, although Y101 cells are primed for osteogenic differentiation, and do not differentiate efficiently into adipocytes. The non-differentiating lines (Y102 and Y202) exhibit little differentiation capacity with possibly a very weak adipogenic potential, but express a significant proportion of pro-inflammatory genes, with increased IL-7 production. They are characterized by the unique cell-surface marker CD317, and represent approximately 10% of the mixed primary MSC population. Apart from the inflammatory markers, there are as yet no clear differences in the four lines that would indicate why the '01 lines can and the '02 lines cannot differentiate. These MSC lines thus represent excellent models to study the molecular characteristics of the various MSC populations found in vivo.

Cellular differentiation is accompanied by a change in glycosylation patterns. For example, the antigens marking different stages of embryonic stem cell development are glycans (Gooi et al., 1981). Along similar lines, the N-glycome undergoes remodeling during embryonic cell differentiation (Amano et al., 2010). Glycosylation differences also exist between cells that are at the same stage of differentiation, but have different lineage commitments, such as the extensive differences observed in lectin binding affinities for neuronal and mesenchymal progenitor cells (Dodla et al., 2011). The differentiation of primary MSCs also leads to glycosylation changes. Glycomic comparison of adipocytes and their parental MSCs (a heterogeneous primary population) has uncovered increased sialylation and decreased branching of complex N-glycans as a consequence of differentiation (Hamouda et al., 2013). In contrast, osteogenic differentiation of another heterogeneous primary cell population has been associated with a decrease in the levels of oligomannose type N-glycans (Heiskanen et al., 2009). Although many other changes were observed between MSCs and the derived osteoblasts, detailed quantification of the differences is skewed by the fact that glycan permethylation was not used prior to MALDI-MS analysis, which prevents the quantification of relative glycan abundances (Wada et al., 2007).

While glycosylation differences are a well-accepted feature of different cell types, the functional significance of these variations is less clear. Moreover, it is unknown whether MSC subtypes with different properties, such as differentiation-competent MSCs vs. primarily immunomodulatory MSCs, have differences in their glycosylation profiles. We therefore asked if differences in the glycosylation state between the various MSC sub-populations in our model cultures could be observed, and could potentially contribute to phenotypic differences between the MSC subtypes within a primary mixture. In accordance with previous findings (Heiskanen et al., 2009), we observed a robust change in the *N*glycan profile during osteogenesis of the tested homogeneous MSC line. Interestingly, detailed quantitative *N*-glycan profiling showed remarkable similarity for two different immortalized MSC lines (Y101 and Y202) despite their differing phenotypes.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Cell Culture and Osteogenic Differentiation

Cells were cultured in basal medium composed of DMEM (high glucose, pyruvate, no glutamine) supplemented with 10% fetal bovine serum, 1% penicillin/streptomycin, and 1% GlutaMax-I. To stimulate osteogenesis, cells were seeded at a density of 20,000 cells/cm² and 50 μ g/mL ascorbic acid, 5 mM β -glycerophosphate, and 10 nM dexamethasone were added to basal medium. Culture medium was changed every 3–4 days during assays. For histochemistry cells were cultured in 24-well dishes, for glycan profiling in 10 cm plates.

Preparation of *N*-glycans for Mass Spectrometry

The filter-aided *N*-glycan separation (FANGS) method was carried out as described (Abdul Rahman et al., 2014). Briefly, 1×10^6 cells were seeded into a 10 cm culture dish and harvested 24 h later for glycan preparation. Following SDS lysis and buffer exchange in a centrifugal filter, glycans were released using PNGase F treatment, and permethylated prior to mass spectrometric analysis.

Mass Spectrometry

Permethylated glycans were dissolved in 20 μ L methanol. Two microliters of this sample was mixed with 1 μ L of 0.5 M sodium nitrate (in 70% methanol) and 2 μ L of 20 mg/mL 2,5-dihydroxybenzoic acid (in 70% methanol). Two microliters of this mix was spotted onto a ground steel MALDI target plate (Bruker) and allowed to air dry. Immediately afterwards, 0.2 μ L of ethanol was added to the spot and left to air dry for recrystallization. Samples were analyzed using an ultraflex III MALDI-TOF mass spectrometer (Bruker). The spectra were acquired over the *m*/*z* range 800–6000 using positive-ion mode, with 4000 laser shots in steps of 800, which were summed to give one spectrum per spot. The SmartbeamTM laser power was set to 50–65%.

Data Analysis

Spectra were analyzed using flexAnalysis 3.3 (Bruker), first processed using the centroid peak detection algorithm, using a signal to noise limit of 3, and smoothed for 1 cycle at 0.1 m/z, using the Savitzky-Golay algorithm. Glycan peaks were identified from their mono-isotopic peak m/z values on comparison with those for established *N*-glycan structures. For a glycan to be included in the analysis at least two of its isotopic peaks had to have intensities >3x the noise, and the associated peaks had to fall into an isotopic pattern as predicted based on the glycan's atomic

Abbreviations: ALP, Alkaline phosphatase; FANGS, Filter-aided *N*-glycan separation; MALDI, Matrix-assisted laser desorption/ionization; MS, Mass spectrometry; MSC, Mesenchymal stromal cell; SEM, Standard error of the mean; TOF, Time-of-flight.

composition (Bruker Compass's Isotope Pattern function). The peak intensities of all isotope signals >3x noise for a given glycan were summed to provide that glycan's total peak intensity. To compare different spectra, the total peak intensity values were normalized to the total peak intensities of all glycans identified in that spectrum. Normalized peak intensities could then be averaged across different spectra of the same sample type.

Flow Cytometry Analysis

Cells were washed twice with PBS, and incubated with washing buffer (0.2% bovine serum albumin, 5 mM EDTA in PBS) at 37° C until cells detached. Cells were centrifuged for 5 min at 450 g, resuspended in PBS and 150,000 cells pelleted and resuspended in 120 µL ice-cold PBS. Following 15 min incubation on ice, 120 µL of 10 µg/mL FITC-ConA (Vector Labs) was added to each sample. After two 15 min incubations interspersed with flicking of the tubes, 1 mL of washing buffer was added and the samples were centrifuged for 5 min at 450 g. The cell pellet was resuspended in $100 \,\mu\text{L}$ of washing buffer containing $1 \,\mu\text{g/mL}$ DAPI and incubated on ice in the dark for 5 min, followed by the addition of 1 mL washing buffer, and centrifugation for 5 min at 450 g. The pellet was resuspended in 400 µL PBS for flow cytometry. Data were gated for DAPI-negative FITC-positive cells. Median fluorescence intensity was determined for all gated cells in the sample.

Analysis of cell surface markers was performed as previously described (James et al., 2015).

Statistics

Data were analyzed using Sigma Plot 12.3. Before statistical tests were applied, a normality test (Shapiro–Wilk) and a test of equal variance was performed. For comparing two groups if data passed, a Student's *T*-test was carried out. Otherwise, one-way ANOVA tests were carried out, followed by Holm Sidak *post-hoc* tests if required. If the data failed the normality or variance tests, equivalent non-parametric tests were applied instead. Either a Mann–Whitney test when two groups were being compared, or a Kruskal–Wallis one-way ANOVA on ranks, followed by Dunn's *post-hoc* tests was carried out if more than one group was being compared. Throughout *: P < 0.05, **: P < 0.01, and ***: P < 0.001.

RESULTS

Osteogenic Differentiation of Y101 Cells Alters Their *N*-glycan Profile

To study the sub-type-specific properties of cells from a primary human MSC mixture, previously generated telomerase immortalized lines derived from primary human MSCs, termed hTERT-MSCs (James et al., 2015), were used. The *N*-glycans of one of these lines, Y101, were profiled using the FANGS method (Abdul Rahman et al., 2014). **Figure 1** shows a typical *N*-glycan profile of Y101 cells in which as many as 65 different glycan species were detected. The glycan profile is qualitatively comparable with those reported for primary MSCs (Heiskanen et al., 2009; Hamouda et al., 2013), although different glycan classes cannot be quantitatively compared with those reported in

the older studies, due to their different analysis strategies. The most abundant glycans we observe in these cells are the Man₆-Man₉ oligomannose species (m/z 1783.85, 1987.93, 2192.03, and 2396.14). Among the complex glycans, the singly sialylated, fucosylated biantennary species (m/z 2605.24), followed closely by the same glycan without sialic acid (m/z 2244.08) and then the bis-sialylated version (m/z 2966.42) are most abundant. It is worth noting that the majority of the large complex glycans are fucosylated (e.g., m/z 4226.04, 4314.14, 4587.21, 4676.28, 4764.41, 5037.41, and 5124.57), which most likely indicates the presence of core fucose.

Changes in the N-glycan profile of primary MSCs upon differentiation have been reported (Heiskanen et al., 2009), again with the caveat that that analysis did not allow detailed quantification. The telomerase-immortalized Y101 cell line is capable of robust osteogenic differentiation in vitro (James et al., 2015). This is demonstrated when the cells are stained for secreted alkaline phosphatase (ALP, pink staining) and hydroxyapatite mineral deposits (brown) with an ALP/von Kossa stain at 7 day intervals over a 3 week period (Figure 2A). It is clear from appearance of the pink ALP stain and the stained phosphate deposits that 21 days in osteogenic medium gives strong differentiation (Figure 2A bottom row "21 days" image). These differentiated cells were harvested and their total N-glycan repertoire analyzed using FANGS followed by MALDI-TOF-MS (Figure 2B). The resulting spectra show a very different picture than that from the undifferentiated MSCs. Importantly, the observed changes in glycosylation during osteogenesis were not due to the 21 days spent in culture. When Y101 MSCs were cultured in basal rather than osteogenic medium for 21 days (a treatment that does not promote osteogenesis) the N-glycan spectra obtained were similar to those from MSCs at the start of the incubation period (Figures 2E,F and Supplementary Figure 1). In the differentiated osteoblasts, by far the most abundant glycan peak is now the singly sialylated, fucosylated biantennary complex glycan species (m/z 2605.22), followed, at about half the intensity, by the same complex glycan without sialic acid (m/z 2244.08) and the fully sialylated species (m/z 2966.39). The most abundant oligomannose glycan in osteoblasts, the Man₆ species (m/z 1783.87), is only ranked fourth in relative intensity in the N-glycome of osteoblasts (Figure 2B, Table 1).

Averaging the glycan peak intensities from several biological replicates showed that the most abundant complex glycans were indeed reproducibly much more abundant in osteoblasts than undifferentiated MSCs (**Figure 2C**, **Table 1**). In contrast, the large oligomannose glycans all had very low abundances in the N-glycomes of osteoblasts, although these are among the most abundant glycans in those of the MSCs (**Figure 2C**, **Table 1**). Similarly, the singly glucosylated oligomannose glycan species was undetectable from osteoblasts, although it was notably present from MSCs (m/z 2600.22 **Figures 1**, **2D**, **Table 1**). There was also a trend toward increased abundance of hybrid glycans in osteoblasts (**Figure 2D**, **Table 1**). Differences are even more evident when the total oligomannose and complex glycan levels are compared. The reduction in relative levels of oligomannose glycans are both highly



significant (**Figure 2E**). There is also a significant increase in the total amount of fucosylated species detected from the osteoblasts over that from their MSC progenitors (**Figure 2F**), although glycan species with multiple fucoses were more prevalent in the MSCs (**Table 1**).

MSC Lines Share a Similar *N*-glycan Profile Independent of Their Altered Differentiation Potentials

Given that differentiation considerably alters the *N*-glycan profile, we wondered whether MSCs with diverse differentiation abilities present variations in *N*-glycan profiles. We compared two hTERT-MSC lines: Y101 and Y202. Y101 cells differentiate well into osteoblasts. Y202 cells in contrast, which do show the cell surface markers characteristic of MSCs (**Supplementary Figure 3**; Dominici et al., 2006), are virtually devoid of differentiation potential (James et al., 2015) as exemplified by the lack of ALP and von Kossa staining, used to detect osteogenesis (**Figure 3A** bottom row).

To assess if the differences in differentiation capacity between the different clonal MSC lines are associated with a variation in their *N*-glycan repertoire, we used FANGS followed by MALDI-TOF-MS to profile their glycans. Both MSC lines were cultured for 24 h in basal medium post passaging, prior to *N*-glycan sample harvest and analysis. The overall *N*-glycan profiles of these lines look very similar to each other (**Figure 3B**). Profiling of several biological replicates for the same cell lines followed by averaging of the relative glycan abundances revealed no significant differences at all (**Supplementary Figures 2A,B** and **Supplementary Table 1**). This lack of difference is also apparent when comparing different glycan classes (**Supplementary Figures 2C,D**). A heat map generated using the averaged relative abundances of all glycans from the two different MSC lines, Y101 and Y202, and the osteoblasts derived from Y101 cells clearly shows that the main change in *N*-glycan profile is between the MSCs and the differentiated progeny, rather than within the different lines of MSCs (**Figure 3C**).

It is clear that differentiation alters the glycan profile, yet the glycan profile of the stem cells does not provide clues to their differentiation potential. We therefore wondered if the glycosylation changes are restricted to cells undergoing differentiation, or whether non-differentiating cells, when incubated under differentiation-promoting conditions, alter their glycan profiles. The reduction of oligomannose glycan content was investigated for MSCs incubated in osteogenic medium for 8 days. As expected, Y101 cells showed a clear reduction in oligomannose content, as evidenced by reduced ConA-FITC staining measured using flow cytometry when compared with cells cultured in basal medium (Figure 3D, second and third bars). The lectin ConA binds oligomannose glycans, and is therefore a sensitive tool for uncovering changes in the proportion of this glycan class. Surprisingly, Y202 cells, which do not form mineral deposits, showed the same highly significant reduction in oligomannose content when incubated in osteogenic





TABLE 1 | Averaged relative abundances of individual *N*-glycan structures isolated from Y101 hTERT-MSCs and their osteoblast progeny as well as MSCs kept for 21 days in basal medium.

Glycan composition	Type ^a		Average relative abundance ^b	
		MSC	Osteoblast	21 day basal
Hex ₅ HexNAc ₂	0	2.394 ± 0.120	3.505 ± 1.182	7.095 ± 1.526
Fuc ₁ Hex ₅ HexNAc ₂	0	0.621 ± 0.215	0.187 ± 0.187	0.885 ± 0.405
Hex ₆ HexNAc ₂	0	10.740 ± 0.998	6.846 ± 1.639	13.342 ± 2.521
Hex ₇ HexNAc ₂	0	6.470 ± 0.480	3.010 ± 0.499	6.258 ± 1.252
Hex ₈ HexNAc ₂	0	13.042 ± 0.894	3.476 ± 0.160	9.089 ± 0.790
Hex ₉ HexNAc ₂	0	10.693 ± 0.825	2.383 ± 0.345	5.174 ± 0.521
Hex ₁₀ HexNAc ₂	0	1.119 ± 0.154	0	0.186 ± 0.062
Hex ₅ HexNAc ₃	Н	0.584 ± 0.114	0.509 ± 0.328	0.615 ± 0.166
Hex ₆ HexNAc ₃	Н	0.212 ± 0.130	0.638 ± 0.370	0.916 ± 0.192
Hex ₆ HexNAc ₄	Н	0.965 ± 0.217	1.557 ± 0.483	1.246±0.351
NeuAc1Hex6HexNAc3	Н	0.432 ± 0.184	0.594 ± 0.302	0.709 ± 0.090
NeuAc1Fuc1Hex6HexNAc3	Н	0.032 ± 0.032	0	0
Hex7HexNAc5	Н	0.438 ± 0.127	0.207 ± 0.089	0.125 ± 0.040
NeuAc ₂ Hex ₆ HexNAc ₄	Н	0.581 ± 0.108	1.032 ± 0.084	0.304 ± 0.269
Hex ₈ HexNAc ₆	Н	0.066 ± 0.031	0	0
Hex ₃ HexNAc ₃	С	0.004 ± 0.004	0.178 ± 0.178	0.091 ± 0.112
Fuc ₁ Hex ₃ HexNAc ₃	С	0.431 ± 0.084	0.185 ± 0.185	0.292 ± 0.195
Hex ₄ HexNAc ₃	С	0.335 ± 0.085	0.197 ± 0.197	0.323 ± 0.112
Fuc ₁ Hex ₃ HexNAc ₄	С	0.686 ± 0.106	0.126 ± 0.126	0.287±0.101
Hex ₄ HexNAc ₄	С	0.285 ± 0.056	0.089 ± 0.089	0.224 ± 0.134
$Fuc_1 Hex_4 HexNAc_4$	С	0.552 ± 0.119	0	0
Hex ₅ HexNAc ₄	C	2.151 ± 0.214	1.622 ± 0.485	3.370 ± 0.447
Fuc ₁ Hex ₃ HexNAc ₅	C	0.297 ± 0.093	0	0.000 ± 0.138
NeuAc ₁ Fuc ₁ Hex ₄ HexNAc ₃	C	0.379±0.104	0.139 ± 0.139	0.597 ± 0.269
$Fuc_1 Hex_5 HexNAc_4$	C	8.259 ± 0.655	12.271 ± 1.386	11.951 ± 2.082
NeuAc ₁ Fuc ₁ Hex ₅ HexNAc ₃	C	0	0.138±0.138	0.337 ± 0.132
NeuAc ₁ Hex ₅ HexNAc ₄	C	3.040±0.347	3.757 ± 0.367	3.330 ± 0.169
$Hex_6HexNAc_5$	C	0.383±0.123	0.088 ± 0.088	0.204 ± 0.045
NeuAc ₁ Fuc ₁ Hex ₅ HexNAc ₄	C	11.968 ± 0.722	25.387 ± 2.830	12.152 ± 4.007
NeuGc ₁ Fuc ₁ Hex ₅ HexNAc ₄	C	1.348±0.273	3.712 ± 0.423	1.346 ± 0.789
$Fuc_1 Hex_6 HexNAc_5$	C	1.661 ± 0.213	1.171 ± 0.382	0.590 ± 0.184
NeuAc ₂ Hex ₅ HexNAc ₄	C	1.421 ± 0.340	1.808 ± 0.547	0.030 ± 0.034 0.619 ± 0.078
NeuAc ₁ Fuc ₁ Hex ₅ HexNAc ₅	C	0.143 ± 0.059	0	0
NeuAc ₁ Hex ₆ HexNAc ₅	C	0.461 ± 0.101	0.314 ± 0.150	0.125 ± 0.033
	C	0.252 ± 0.052	0.314 ± 0.130 0.140 ± 0.112	0.123 ± 0.032 0.040 ± 0.032
NeuGc ₁ Hex ₆ HexNAc ₅ NeuAc ₂ Fuc ₁ Hex ₅ HexNAc ₄	C	0.232 ± 0.032 4.784 ± 0.583	7.695 ± 1.401	2.957 ± 1.398
NeuAc ₁ Fuc ₁ Hex ₆ HexNAc ₅	C	4.784 ± 0.383 2.102 ± 0.360	1.827 ± 0.904	2.937 ± 1.393 0.599 ± 0.323
NeuGc1Fuc1Hex6HexNAc5	C	0.351 ± 0.086	0.241 ± 0.103	0.071±0.044
Fuc ₁ Hex ₇ HexNAc ₆	C	0.398±0.084	0.134 ± 0.082	0.043 ± 0.028
NeuAc ₂ Hex ₆ HexNAc ₅	С	0.248±0.096	0.274 ± 0.050	0.249±0.238
NeuAc ₁ Fuc ₆ Hex ₄ HexNAc ₄	C	0.025 ± 0.016	0	0
NeuAc ₂ Fuc ₃ Hex ₅ HexNAc ₄	С	0.011±0.011	0	0
NeuAc ₁ Hex ₇ HexNAc ₆	С	0.091±0.030	0	0
NeuAc ₂ Fuc ₁ Hex ₆ HexNAc ₅	С	1.228±0.269	1.670±0.932	0.345±0.328
NeuAc ₁ NeuGc ₁ Fuc ₁ Hex ₆ HexNAc ₅	С	0.126±0.036	0.210±0.097	0.037±0.057
NeuAc ₁ Fuc ₁ Hex ₇ HexNAc ₆	С	0.588±0.147	0.321 ± 0.242	0.058 ± 0.049
NeuAc ₁ Hex ₈ HexNAc ₆	С	0.075 ± 0.029	0.042 ± 0.042	0.000 ± 0.013
NeuGc2Hex6HexNAc6	С	0.014 ± 0.014	0.058 ± 0.058	0

(Continued)

TABLE 1 | Continued

Glycan composition	Type ^a		Average relative abundance ^b Osteoblast	
		MSC		21 day basal
NeuAc ₃ Hex ₆ HexNAc ₅	С	0.657 ± 0.268	2.034 ± 1.445	0.027 ± 0.033
NeuAc ₂ NeuGc ₁ Hex ₆ HexNAc ₅	С	0.045 ± 0.027	0.288 ± 0.194	0
NeuAc ₂ Hex ₇ HexNAc ₆	С	0.077 ± 0.041	0.092 ± 0.092	0
NeuAc1NeuGc1Hex7HexNAc6	С	0	0.054 ± 0.054	0
NeuAc3Fuc1Hex6HexNAc5	С	0.373 ± 0.114	0.993 ± 0.611	0.089 ± 0.135
NeuAc ₂ NeuGc ₁ Fuc ₁ Hex ₆ HexNAc ₅	С	0.036 ± 0.015	0.167 ± 0.100	0.014 ± 0.028
NeuAc ₂ Fuc ₁ Hex ₇ HexNAc ₆	С	0.520 ± 0.176	0.735 ± 0.587	0.068 ± 0.104
NeuAc1NeuGc1Fuc1Hex7HexNAc6	С	0.038 ± 0.025	0.088 ± 0.076	0.009 ± 0.018
NeuAc ₁ Fuc ₁ Hex ₈ HexNAc ₇	С	0.047 ± 0.030	0	0
NeuAc4Hex6HexNAc5	С	0.083 ± 0.043	0.377 ± 0.255	0
NeuAc ₁ Fuc ₁ Hex ₇ HexNAc ₈ or ^c NeuAc ₃ NeuGc ₁ Hex ₆ HexNAc ₅	С	0	0.065 ± 0.040	0
NeuAc3Hex7HexNAc6	С	0.023 ± 0.014	0.037 ± 0.037	0
NeuAc ₂ Hex ₈ HexNAc ₇	С	0.004 ± 0.004	0.024 ± 0.024	0
NeuAc ₁ NeuGc ₁ Hex ₈ HexNAc ₇ or ^c NeuGc ₂ Fuc ₁ Hex ₇ HexNAc ₇	С	0	0.016±0.016	0
NeuAc ₃ Fuc ₁ Hex ₇ HexNAc ₆	С	0.174 ± 0.077	0.427 ± 0.332	0.024 ± 0.057
Fuc ₂ Hex ₈ HexNAc ₉ or ^c NeuAc ₃ Hex ₈ HexNAc ₆	С	0	0.057 ± 0.047	0.000 ± 0.009
NeuAc ₂ Fuc ₁ Hex ₈ HexNAc ₇	С	0.033 ± 0.020	0.070 ± 0.060	0.000 ± 0.006
NeuAc4Fuc1Hex7HexNAc6	С	0.046 ± 0.024	0.233 ± 0.177	0.005 ± 0.017
NeuAc3Fuc1Hex8HexNAc7	С	0.016 ± 0.010	0.061 ± 0.051	0
NeuAc ₂ Fuc ₁ Hex ₉ HexNAc ₈	С	0.008 ± 0.005	0.013 ± 0.013	0
NeuAc4Fuc1Hex8HexNAc7	С	0.002 ± 0.002	0.019 ± 0.014	0
NeuAc3Fuc1Hex9HexNAc8	С	0.001 ± 0.001	0.011 ± 0.011	0
Fuc ₁ Hex ₂ HexNAc ₂	DP ^d	0.745 ± 0.190	0.746 ± 0.221	1.955 ± 0.311
Hex ₃ HexNAc ₂	DP	0.891 ± 0.220	1.053 ± 0.422	2.830 ± 0.603
Fuc ₁ Hex ₃ HexNAc ₂	DP	2.402 ± 0.504	3.291 ± 1.230	6.714 ± 1.163
Hex ₄ HexNAc ₂	DP	0.618 ± 0.106	1.216 ± 0.282	1.641 ± 0.323
Fuc ₁ Hex ₄ HexNAc ₂	DP	0.396 ± 0.095	0	0.571 ± 0.227

^aGlycans grouped as oligomannose (O), hybrid (H), complex (C), and degradation product (DP).

^bPercentage of total glycan signal \pm SEM for n = 5 (MSC), n = 3 (osteoblast) and n = 2 (21 day basal) are shown.

^c Given the mass of these glycans other glycan compositions are possible, but the most plausible two possibilities are shown.

^dDP are small glycans that are not produced by the mammalian N-glycosylation machinery and therefore most likely originate from lysosomal degradation.

medium (**Figure 3D**, fifth and sixth bars). Thus although Y202 cells do not differentiate into mineral-depositing osteoblasts, they do undergo a significant change, which results in a glycan profile alteration similar to that of osteoblastic Y101 cells.

As a second test we wondered if glycosylation changes are necessary for differentiation into osteoblasts to take place. We used the glycan-processing inhibitor swainsonine, which inhibits mannosidase II. As expected, this caused a major shift in the glycan profile, in which complex glycans almost completely disappeared, and were replaced by hybrid ones (**Supplementary Figure 4**). This allowed us to test whether the shift to complex glycans is required for osteogenesis. While there was a slight reduction in the amount of mineral deposition when the cells where grown in osteogenic medium in the presence of swainsonine, the cells were clearly still capable of forming osteoblasts and depositing calcium phosphate mineral (**Figure 3E**).

DISCUSSION

A previous glycomic study concluded that oligomannose glycans are more abundant in parental stem cells than in their differentiated osteoblasts (Heiskanen et al., 2009). As the glycans in that study were not permethylated a true quantitative assessment of the relative abundance of the various glycan species was not possible (Wada et al., 2007). Our study now provides a detailed quantitative comparison of the MSC and osteoblast glycan profiles of clonal lines made possible by the FANGS method. We find that oligomannose and complex glycans are close to equally abundant in MSCs, while this changes to an almost four-fold higher abundance of the complex glycans in osteoblasts. Shifts in the glycan profile upon differentiation have been reported using quantitative methods such as the MALDI-MS of permethylated glycans and LC-MS of fluorescently labeled glycans (Wada et al., 2007; Hasehira et al., 2012). Comparing



medium, then single cell suspensions stained with ConA-FITC and DAPI and analyzed by flow cytometry. The median intensity of the FITC fluorescence of live cells is shown with SEM from three independent replicates. (E) Y101 cells were cultured in basal medium containing $10 \mu g/mL$ swainsonine for 48 h before addition of osteogenic medium containing swainonsine at the same concentration. Mineral deposition and ALP activity were tested by ALP/von Kossa staining 0, 7, 14, and 21 days after addition of osteogenic medium. ***P < 0.001.

neuronal stem cells and their differentiated progeny, (Yagi et al., 2012) or embryonic stem cells and embryoid bodies (Nairn et al., 2012), showed reductions in oligomannose glycans in the differentiated cells. Along similar lines, the reverse process, generation of induced pluripotent stem (iPS) cells, increased the oligomannose proportion of the glycan profile (Hasehira et al., 2012). None of these comparisons reported a shift in the proportion of oligomannose vs. complex glycans as large as that observed in our study. A likely explanation is that most studies have not compared terminally differentiated specialized cells, but intermediate or mixed stages of differentiation. This possibility is corroborated by the glycomic profiles published for embryonic stem cells and terminally differentiated fibroblasts (An et al., 2012). This latter study used clonal lines, just as our study does, but did not use permethylated glycans, so their quantification is imperfect. Moreover, the fibroblasts investigated were not derived from the stem cells analyzed, so the comparison is largely between a generic stem cell and a generic differentiated cell population, rather than the consequence of the differentiation process per se as in our study. Nevertheless, the shift in oligomannose glycan abundance from 70 to 80% in the stem cells to 30% in the fibroblasts (An et al., 2012) is close to the range that we now report. Our results would therefore be in line with the hypothesis that stemness may require oligomannose glycans (Heiskanen et al., 2009; Hamouda et al., 2013).

Another change within the glycan profile is increased overall fucosylation intensity in osteoblasts. Single fucosylation could be present either on the core or the antennae, but glycans with multiple fucoses have to contain fucose on the antennae. From MSCs we observed several glycans with multiple fucoses as opposed to osteoblasts where single fucosylation predominates. Thus while the overall intensity of fucosylation is elevated in osteoblasts, the level of fucosylation on antennae is likely higher in the stem cells, leading us to speculate that fucosylation on the antennae could be a property of stem cells rather than osteoblasts (Figures 1, 2B and Table 1). Indeed, iPS cells have been shown to have a lower degree of core fucosylation but more on the antennae than their differentiated parents (Hasehira et al., 2012). In addition, Fut9-dependent fucose addition to the antennae has been implicated in embryonic stem cell self-renewal (Li et al., 2009).

Comparison of the two MSC lines shows a remarkable similarity in their *N*-glycan profiles, despite a marked difference in their differentiation capabilities. The profiles of the stem cell lines we report are also similar to the previously reported profiles of primary MSCs (Heiskanen et al., 2009; Hamouda et al., 2013). We would therefore argue that *N*-glycan profiles are a good indicator of overall MSC identity. Importantly, changes to the glycan profile following prolonged culturing of the stem cells are also small, enforcing the usefulness of glycans as an MSC marker. The main difference between the glycan profiles of MSCs before and after prolonged culturing is a significantly higher abundance of degradation products (**Table 1**). The appearance of such *N*-glycans that cannot be made during biosynthetic processing in mammals is most likely a consequence of intermediates accumulating in the lysosome during glycan degradation (Uematsu et al., 2005). These are picked up in our analysis due to the FANGS process capturing all cellular protein-linked *N*-glycans. The amount of these glycan species in the MSCs and osteoblasts is in line with the levels of paucimannose glycans found in other glycan profiling studies of cultured cells (Abdul Rahman et al., 2014). The increased proportion of this glycan class in the cells that were cultured for 21 days may be explained by increased autophagy and/or cell death, possible consequences of over-confluency due to the lack of differentiation. A further conclusion we can make from these observations is that the differences between MSC and osteoblast glycan profiles are not due to the extended culture time, but rather are genuine differentiation-associated changes.

A major question in glycobiology is the function of glycans during cellular processes. While it is well documented that there are changes in glycan profiles between cell types, the functional consequence of these changes is unclear. Our results suggest that the shift to complex *N*-glycans in MSCs is neither required nor sufficient alone to drive osteogenesis. Inhibition of complex *N*glycan formation by swainsonine does not inhibit osteogenesis. In contrast, the shift to a lower proportion of oligomannose glycans in Y202 cells is not accompanied by osteoblast mediated mineralization. Rather, it could more likely be the stem-like properties of MSCs that may benefit from certain glycan features.

Our detailed analysis of two MSC cell lines allows us to speculate about the requirements for the various glycan subtypes of different stem cell functions. Given that the Y202 line, which is unable to differentiate effectively, has the same *N*-glycan profile as the differentiating Y101 MSC line, it is unlikely that glycans directly determine the differentiation potential of these cells. However, continued proliferation and self-renewal are also very important properties of stem cells. Indeed terminal fucosylation has been suggested to be an important factor in stem cell maintenance (Li et al., 2009). It is therefore a possibility that some of the features of the profiles found in both the differentiating and undifferentiating MSC lines, which are absent from osteoblasts, such as increased oligomannose content or the fucosylation of antennae, may contribute to the maintenance of a proliferative phenotype.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

KW, PG, and DU designed the study; KW performed the experiments; KW, JTO, and DU analyzed the data; KW, JTO, PG, and DU wrote the paper.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We are grateful to Jerry Thomas and Adam Dowle of the Biosciences Technology Facility's Proteomics Laboratory, University of York for their help with glycan profiling. The Centre of Excellence in Mass Spectrometry was created thanks to a major capital investment through Science City York, supported by Yorkshire Forward with funds from the Northern Way Initiative. This work was supported by an EPSRC funded studentship (for KW), awarded to PG and DU, and by the Arthritis Research UK Tissue Engineering Centre (19429).

SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: http://journal.frontiersin.org/article/10.3389/fcell. 2016.00052

Supplementary Table 1 | Comparison of averaged glycan abundances for the hTERT-MSC lines Y101 and Y202.

Supplementary Figure 1 | Representative MALDI-TOF spectrum of permethylated *N*-glycans harvested from MSCs grown for 21 days in basal medium. For details see Figure 1.

REFERENCES

- Abdul Rahman, S., Bergstrom, E., Watson, C. J., Wilson, K. M., Ashford, D. A., Thomas, J. R., et al. (2014). Filter-Aided N-Glycan Separation (FANGS): a convenient sample preparation method for mass spectrometric N-glycan profiling. J. Proteome Res. 13, 1167–1176. doi: 10.1021/pr401043r
- Amano, M., Yamaguchi, M., Takegawa, Y., Yamashita, T., Terashima, M., Furukawa, J., et al. (2010). Threshold in stage-specific embryonic glycotypes uncovered by a full portrait of dynamic N-glycan expression during cell differentiation. *Mol. Cell. Proteomics* 9, 523–537. doi: 10.1074/mcp.M900559-MCP200
- An, H. J., Gip, P., Kim, J., Wu, S., Park, K. W., McVaugh, C. T., et al. (2012). Extensive determination of glycan heterogeneity reveals an unusual abundance of high mannose glycans in enriched plasma membranes of human embryonic stem cells. *Mol. Cell. Proteomics* 11:M111.010660. doi: 10.1074/mcp.M111.010660
- Bartholomew, A., Sturgeon, C., Siatskas, M., Ferrer, K., McIntosh, K., Patil, S., et al. (2002). Mesenchymal stem cells suppress lymphocyte proliferation *in vitro* and prolong skin graft survival *in vivo*. *Exp. Hematol.* 30, 42–48. doi: 10.1016/S0301-472X(01)00769-X
- Dodla, M. C., Young, A., Venable, A., Hasneen, K., Rao, R. R., Machacek, D. W., et al. (2011). Differing lectin binding profiles among human embryonic stem cells and derivatives aid in the isolation of neural progenitor cells. *PLoS ONE* 6:e23266. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0023266
- Dominici, M., Le Blanc, K., Mueller, I., Slaper-Cortenbach, I., Marini, F., Krause, D., et al. (2006). Minimal criteria for defining multipotent mesenchymal stromal cells. The International Society for Cellular Therapy position statement. *Cytotherapy* 8, 315–317. doi: 10.1080/14653240600855905
- Gooi, H. C., Feizi, T., Kapadia, A., Knowles, B. B., Solter, D., and Evans, M. J. (1981). Stage-specific embryonic antigen involves alpha 1 goes to 3 fucosylated type 2 blood group chains. *Nature* 292, 156–158. doi: 10.1038/292156a0
- Hamouda, H., Ullah, M., Berger, M., Sittinger, M., Tauber, R., Ringe, J., et al. (2013). N-glycosylation profile of undifferentiated and adipogenically differentiated human bone marrow mesenchymal stem cells: towards a next generation of stem cell markers. *Stem Cells Dev.* 22, 3100–3113. doi: 10.1089/scd.2013.0108
- Hasehira, K., Tateno, H., Onuma, Y., Ito, Y., Asashima, M., and Hirabayashi, J. (2012). Structural and quantitative evidence for dynamic glycome shift on production of induced pluripotent stem cells. *Mol. Cell. Proteomics* 11, 1913–1923. doi: 10.1074/mcp.M112.020586
- Heiskanen, A., Hirvonen, T., Salo, H., Impola, U., Olonen, A., Laitinen, A., et al. (2009). Glycomics of bone marrow-derived mesenchymal stem cells can be used to evaluate their cellular differentiation stage. *Glycoconj. J.* 26, 367–384. doi: 10.1007/s10719-008-9217-6

Supplementary Figure 2 | Comparison of Y101 and Y202 *N*-glycans, for details see Figures 2C–F. Comparisons of averaged (n = 5) Y101 and Y202 normalized *N*-glycan total peak intensities of: (**A**) Individual glycan structures with abundances above 3% of the total. (**B**) Individual glycan structures with abundances of 1–3% of the total. D.P, degradation product, most likely produced in the lysosome. (**C**) Sums of different glycan types. (**F**) Sums of all fucosylated glycan abundances. Error bars show standard error of the mean.

Supplementary Figure 3 | Presence and absence of the indicated cell surface CD markers was determined for Y202 cells using flow cytometry.

Supplementary Figure 4 | Comparison of representative MALDI-TOF spectra of *N*-glycans harvested from Y101 MSCs cultured for 48 h in the presence or absence of swainsonine. The assigned glycan structures are only shown for the most prominent peaks.

- James, S., Fox, J., Afsari, F., Lee, J., Clough, S., Knight, C., et al. (2015). Multiparameter analysis of human bone marrow stromal cells identifies distinct immunomodulatory and differentiation-competent subtypes. *Stem Cell Rep.* 4, 1004–1015. doi: 10.1016/j.stemcr.2015.05.005
- Li, Y. L., Wu, G. Z., Zeng, L., Dawe, G. S., Sun, L., Loers, G., et al. (2009). Cell surface sialylation and fucosylation are regulated by the cell recognition molecule L1 via PLCgamma and cooperate to modulate embryonic stem cell survival and proliferation. *FEBS Lett.* 583, 703–710. doi: 10.1016/j.febslet.2009.01.013
- Nairn, A. V., Aoki, K., Dela Rosa, M., Porterfield, M., Lim, J. M., Kulik, M., et al. (2012). Regulation of glycan structures in murine embryonic stem cells: combined transcript profiling of glycan-related genes and glycan structural analysis. J. Biol. Chem. 287, 37835–37856. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M112.4 05233
- Nauta, A. J., and Fibbe, W. E. (2007). Immunomodulatory properties of mesenchymal stromal cells. *Blood* 110, 3499–3506. doi: 10.1182/blood-2007-02-069716
- Pittenger, M. F., MacKay, A. M., Beck, S. C., Jaiswal, R. K., Douglas, R., Mosca, J. D., et al. (1999). Multilineage potential of adult human mesenchymal stem cells. *Science* 284, 143–147. doi: 10.1126/science.284.5411.143
- Uematsu, R., Furukawa, J., Nakagawa, H., Shinohara, Y., Deguchi, K., Monde, K., et al. (2005). High throughput quantitative glycomics and glycoformfocused proteomics of murine dermis and epidermis. *Mol. Cell. Proteomics* 4, 1977–1989. doi: 10.1074/mcp.M500203-MCP200
- Wada, Y., Azadi, P., Costello, C. E., Dell, A., Dwek, R. A., Geyer, H., et al. (2007). Comparison of the methods for profiling glycoprotein glycans–HUPO Human Disease Glycomics/Proteome Initiative multi-institutional study. *Glycobiology* 17, 411–422. doi: 10.1093/glycob/cwl086
- Yagi, H., Saito, T., Yanagisawa, M., Yu, R. K., and Kato, K. (2012). Lewis Xcarrying N-glycans regulate the proliferation of mouse embryonic neural stem cells via the Notch signaling pathway. J. Biol. Chem. 287, 24356–24364. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M112.365643

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2016 Wilson, Thomas-Oates, Genever and Ungar. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) or licensor are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

Stem cell therapy and tissue engineering for correction of congenital heart disease

Elisa Avolio¹, Massimo Caputo^{2*} and Paolo Madeddu^{1*}

¹ Division of Experimental Cardiovascular Medicine, School of Clinical Sciences, Bristol Heart Institute, University of Bristol, Bristol, UK, ² Congenital Heart Surgery, School of Clinical Sciences, Bristol Heart Institute, University of Bristol, Bristol, UK

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Simone Pacini, University of Pisa, Italy

Reviewed by:

Kyung U. Hong, University of Louisville, USA Giancarlo Forte, St. Anne's University Hospital Brno, Czech Republic

*Correspondence:

Massimo Caputo, Congenital Heart Surgery, Bristol Heart Institute, University of Bristol, Bristol Royal Infirmary - Level 7, Upper Maudlin St., BS2 8HW Bristol, UK massimo.caputo@bristol.ac.uk; Paolo Madeddu, Division of Experimental Cardiovascular Medicine, Bristol Heart Institute, University of Bristol, Bristol Royal Infirmary - Level 7, Upper Maudlin St., BS2 8HW Bristol, UK mdprm@bristol.ac.uk

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Stem Cell Research, a section of the journal Frontiers in Cell and Developmental Biology

> **Received:** 29 April 2015 **Accepted:** 10 June 2015 **Published:** 30 June 2015

Citation:

Avolio E, Caputo M and Madeddu P (2015) Stem cell therapy and tissue engineering for correction of congenital heart disease. Front. Cell Dev. Biol. 3:39. doi: 10.3389/fcell.2015.00039

This review article reports on the new field of stem cell therapy and tissue engineering and its potential on the management of congenital heart disease. To date, stem cell therapy has mainly focused on treatment of ischemic heart disease and heart failure. with initial indication of safety and mild-to-moderate efficacy. Preclinical studies and initial clinical trials suggest that the approach could be uniquely suited for the correction of congenital defects of the heart. The basic concept is to create living material made by cellularized grafts that, once implanted into the heart, grows and remodels in parallel with the recipient organ. This would make a substantial improvement in current clinical management, which often requires repeated surgical corrections for failure of implanted grafts. Different types of stem cells have been considered and the identification of specific cardiac stem cells within the heterogeneous population of mesenchymal and stromal cells offers opportunities for de novo cardiomyogenesis. In addition, endothelial cells and vascular progenitors, including cells with pericyte characteristics, may be necessary to generate efficiently perfused grafts. The implementation of current surgical grafts by stem cell engineering could address the unmet clinical needs of patients with congenital heart defects.

Keywords: congenital heart disease, scaffold, stem cells, tissue engineering, biomaterial

Introduction

Congenital heart disease (CHD) is defined as an abnormality in heart structure that occurs before birth, while the fetus is developing (Sun et al., 2015). It represents the most common congenital anomaly in newborn babies, with a reported prevalence ranging from 6 to 13 per 1000 live births. In the UK alone there are \sim 4600 babies born with CHD each year (Tennant et al., 2010; Khoshnood et al., 2012). Despite considerable progresses in surgical techniques and medical management of newborns with CHD, there are still considerable mortality and morbidity associated with

Abbreviations: 3D, 3-dimensional; BMCs, bone marrow-derived cells; BMMNCs bone marrow mononuclear cells; BP, bovine pericardium; CHD, congenital heart disease/defect; CPs, cardiac pericytes; CSCs, cardiac stem cells; ECM, extracellular matrix; ECs, endothelial cells; EPCs, endothelial progenitor cells; HF, heart failure; HLHS, hypoplastic left heart syndrome; HPs, heart pericytes; iPS, induced pluripotent stem cells; IVC, inferior vena cava; LV, left ventricle; LVOT, left ventricle outflow tract; MI, myocardial infarction; MMPs, matrix metalloproteinases; MSCs, mesenchymal stem cells; PCL, poly-Caprolactone; PGA, poly-Glicolyc Acid; PLLA, poly-L-Lactic Acid; RA, right atrium; RV, right ventricle; RVEF, right ventricle ejection fraction; RVOT, right ventricle outflow tract; TE, tissue engineering; ToF, Tetralogy of Fallot; UCBMNCs, umbilical cord blood mononuclear cells; VEGF(R), Vascular Endothelial Growth Factor (Receptor); VICs, valve interstitial cells; VSMCs, Vascular Smooth Muscle Cells.

severe forms of CHD, which comprise the first cause of mortality by congenital abnormalities (Khoshnood et al., 2012).

In the last decade, clinical needs of CHD have extended to the adulthood. Recent estimations indicate that 80% of neonates and infants with CHD can expect to reach adulthood (Woodward, 2011; Khoshnood et al., 2012). According to the Department of Health, in 2006 there were around 135,000 adults living in England with CHD (http://webarchive.nationalarchives.gov.uk/). The 32nd Bethesda Conference report estimated that there were approximately 2800 adults with CHD per 1 million population and that more than half of them have a moderate or high complexity defect (Baumgartner et al., 2010). These patients often develop heart dysfunction and failure as well as neurological, respiratory and coagulation problems (British Heart Foundation Statistics Database: www.heartstats.org). The economic and social burden of CHD is high and rapidly increasing. In 2004, the U.S. hospital costs for CHD totaled \$1.4 billion (Henaine et al., 2012).

Typical congenital abnormalities comprise valves defects, atrial and ventricular septa defects, stenosis and alterations of the aorta and pulmonary veins and arteries and heart muscle abnormalities. The defects can range in severity from relatively simple problems, such as holes between chambers of the heart that can be surgically closed, to very severe malformations, such as the complete absence of one or more chambers or valves, which cause deficits in blood oxygenation and circulation, heart failure (HF), and eventually premature death (Woodward, 2011; Sun et al., 2015). Common single CHD are represented by holes (intra-cardiac shunts) inside the internal wall of the heart (Figure 1, left): in septal defects, oxygenated blood returning from the pulmonary veins flows from the left to the right chambers of the heart, where it mixes with deoxygenated blood returning from the body, finally causing an overloading of the right ventricle (RV) (Geva et al., 2014; Sun et al., 2015). With time this overload induces remodeling of pulmonary vasculature and hypertension with consequent inversion of the shunt and cyanosis (Woodward, 2011; Sun et al., 2015). When mixed lesions are present at the same time the pathology increases in severity and results in complex CHD (Figure 1, right). The most common one is Tetralogy of Fallot (ToF), which features four cardiac abnormalities: narrowing of the pulmonary outflow tract, a hole connecting the ventricular chambers, RV hypertrophy, and the aorta that lies over the hole between ventricular chambers. In ToF patients, an outflow obstruction prevents the blood flowing from the RV into the pulmonary artery, causing deoxygenated blood to pass through the ventricular hole into the left ventricle (LV) and then into the aorta (Woodward, 2011; Wald et al., 2014). Another very serious condition is the hypoplastic left heart syndrome (HLHS) (or univentricular heart syndrome), characterized by hypoplasia of the LV, the aorta and related valvular components, with systemic flow becoming dependent on a patent ductus arteriosus. In this condition, blood returning to the heart from both the systemic circulation and the lungs mixes before being pumped by the RV to both the systemic and pulmonary circulation, causing severe cyanosis, increased pressure workload and ultimately failure of the RV (Barron et al., 2009).

This review focuses on stem cell therapy and tissue engineering as a new option to implement current surgical methods for definitive correction of CHD. The approach was initially conceived with the objective to repair and/or replace damaged tissues and organs. However, stem cells from young individuals possess superior naivety and plasticity than adult stem cells and could be better suited for regenerative purposes. The use of scaffolds engineered with stem cells may offer unprecedented therapeutic opportunities for addressing unmet clinical needs of patients with complex cardiac defects.

Elective Surgical Correction

The ideal therapeutic option for CHD patients is one-step corrective surgery, during which the heart surgeon closes holes in the heart with stitches or a patch, repairs or replaces valves, widens arteries, and restores the proper location of major blood vessels (Sun et al., 2015). In patients with ToF, the definitive goals are relief of all obstruction to blood flow from the RV to the pulmonary artery and closure of the ventricular septum defect. Reconstruction of RV outflow tract (RVOT) obstruction may involve resection of obstructing muscle bundles, creation of an RVOT patch, pulmonary valvotomy or valvectomy, and pulmonary arterioplasty (Henaine et al., 2012). However, complex CHD usually require more than one open-heart surgery to correct the structural alterations (Woodward, 2011). On the one hand, palliative procedures may be indicated to relieve symptoms of acute HF, allowing definitive correction to be performed when the baby has gained weight and hemodynamics are stabilized (Yuan and Jing, 2009). For instance, babies with HLHS require a surgical palliation within few days from birth as the risk of death is 95% within few weeks from birth without any treatment (Barron et al., 2009; Frescura and Thiene, 2014; Ishigami et al., 2015). On the other hand, multiple reinterventions become often necessary because of deterioration of the implanted grafts (Said and Burkhart, 2014). Patients at the highest risk of death and not suitable for reparative or palliative surgery are candidate to heart transplantation, this extreme option being limited by shortage of donors (Razzouk and Bailey, 2014; Hsu and Lamour, 2015; Ishigami et al., 2015; Sun et al., 2015).

Limitations of Current Surgical Approach

The use of prosthetic materials in the form of conduits, patches and new valves made by xenografts, homografts, or autografts is routine in congenital cardiac surgery. Even though these grafts may be life-saving, they are characterized by some limitations, represented by a limited durability, and the risks of infection, host immune response, and thrombotic complications. A crucial problem still to be overcome in the pediatric population is the lack of growth and remodeling potential of the grafts currently used for CHD surgery (Mirensky and Breuer, 2008). In the following paragraphs, we illustrate the advantages and disadvantages of clinically available grafts. Additionally, these aspects will be reconsidered in the perspective of creating cellularized scaffolds in a subsequent section of this review.

Xenografts are biological grafts deriving from animals, commonly porcine and bovine, largely used in surgery because



of the shortage of human substitutes. Xenogenic bovine pericardium and porcine valves remain the first choice for heart valve substitution (Yap et al., 2013). The porcine valve has the advantage of adequate anatomic structure and unlimited availability. The bovine pericardium contains a higher amount of layered structural proteins than autologous human pericardium, giving it elastic properties that allow conformity to complex anatomical geometries, optimal for RVOT reconstruction (Pok and Jacot, 2011; Strange et al., 2015). In order to avoid the activation of the recipient's immune response, xenografts are decellularized, a process during which animal cells are removed from the graft while the extracellular matrix is preserved, to provide the remaining scaffold with the original anatomical structure (e.g., valve) and the adequate support for the recolonization by the patient's cells after implantation. Different methods have been used for this purpose, among which there are enzymatic cell lysis (Trypsin), detergents and chemicals cell removal (Sodium dodecyl sulfate, Sodium Azide, and Sodium deoxycholate), freeze drying, and a combination of chemical and enzymatic methods (Rieder et al., 2004; Schmidt et al., 2007; Tudorache et al., 2007). An additional type of xenograft manufacture includes cross-linking with chemicals (such as glutaraldehyde), a process by which proteins are crosslinked and collagen fibers stabilized, conferring the graft with tensile strength, elasticity and resistance to degeneration; due to their cytotoxicity, these chemicals eliminate also xenogenic cells (Schmidt et al., 2007; Butcher et al., 2011). However, improvements in pliability and tolerogenicity come at a price (Figure 2). In fact, elimination of valve interstitial cells (VICs), which normally ensure the regular turnover of the valve extracellular matrix (ECM), makes prostheses more susceptible to degeneration, both in vitro and after implantation in a mechanical environment. The seeding of VICs onto the decellularized scaffolds has been proposed to overcome this problem; furthermore, the reseeding of the graft using cells able to produce new ECM is crucial to prevent the degeneration of the graft structure (Cushing et al., 2005). Noteworthy, while decellularized grafts are metabolized and remodeled by matrix-metalloproteinases (MMPs) after implantation in the patient, cross-linked grafts do not allow MMPs degradation, thus interfering with the remodeling process (Schmidt et al., 2007). In fact, to preserve the mechanical properties of biological grafts, the remodeling process should be balanced between the matrix formation and degradation. Last, atherosclerotic processes also participate in prosthetic valve remodeling, with initial accumulation of oxidized low-density lipoproteins, followed by monocyte recruitment, generation of a pro-inflammatory milieu, collagen disruption and osteogenic differentiation of resident ECs and precursor cells recruited from the circulation (Shetty et al., 2009; Gossl et al., 2012).

Cryopreserved homografts—usually valves or vascular conduits—are derived from humans, commonly cadavers. They are the heart valve replacements closest to the natural valve, being non-thrombogenic and having a low risk of infection. Cryopreserved homografts have been used for many years in CHD surgery, for pulmonary or aortic valve replacement, or for RVOT reconstruction during the Ross operation (Gabbieri et al., 2007; Neumann et al., 2013). Homografts are not chemically cross-linked and exhibit good mechanical properties. Disadvantages are their limited availability, more difficult



implantation techniques and failure associated with a specific immune response, especially in young individuals. Although homografts have been associated with a very good hemodynamic performance, the cryopreservation and the thawing process can produce the structural deterioration of the matrices, limiting the durability of the graft (Neumann et al., 2013). In the younger patients, the risk of structural valve deterioration ranges from 71 to 87% at 10 years (Ruel et al., 2005).

Decellularized homografts have been proposed as a good alternative, showing lower explantation and degeneration rates than conventional cryopreserved valve grafts (0–10% vs. 30% after 5 years, respectively) (Cebotari et al., 2011; Ruzmetov et al., 2012). Additionally, implantation of decellularized homografts is reportedly associated with spontaneous recellularization (da Costa et al., 2005; Dohmen et al., 2006b; Cebotari et al., 2011).

Autografts are created using the patient's own tissues. Pulmonary autografts are commonly used in children and young adults with ToF or valves defects. During the Ross procedure, the surgeon replaces the aortic valve with the autologous pulmonary valve of the patient, and performs the reconstruction of the RVOT using a prosthetic valve (Al-Halees et al., 2002). A study in 30 children demonstrated the growth of the pulmonary autograft in parallel with somatic growth (Simon et al., 2001). However, autografts are prone to dilatation with subsequent aortic valve regurgitation (Dohmen et al., 2002). The freedom from RVOT replacement for children is reported to be about 90% at 12 years (Pasquali et al., 2007). Independently of the material used, prosthetic reconstruction of RVOT is often associated with mechanical and electrical abnormalities arising from noncontractile/non-conductive patch material (Tweddell et al., 2000; Perri et al., 2012).

Autologous pericardium is easily harvested during cardiac surgery, but is difficult to handle since it has a propensity to roll at the edges rendering the procedure difficult and time-consuming (Pok and Jacot, 2011).

Synthetic Gore-Tex and *mechanical valves* are durable but lack of growth potential; moreover, mechanical valves require chronic anticoagulation treatment to reduce the risk of thrombosis. Careful monitoring of coagulation parameters is necessary to avoid bleeding complications (Said and Burkhart, 2014).

Considering limitations and limited durability of available prostheses, there is an urgent need of new therapeutic strategies to optimize long-term outcomes in CHD patients. Recent advances in regenerative medicine allow the manipulation of a spectrum of stem/progenitor cells, including endothelial, mesenchymal, and cardiac stem cells, to support the youngest heart repair. In the following sections, we will report two main approaches of regenerative medicine, namely stem cell therapy (transplantation of dispersed stem cells) and tissue engineering (use of grafts functionalized with single or multiple stem cell types). Stem cell therapy has provided first proof-ofconcept, thus paving the way to tissue engineering to fabricate cellularized valves endowed with anti-coagulative properties and living cardiac tissue that grows physiologically in parallel with the heart's growth.

Stem Cell Therapy for CHD

Cell therapy holds promises for treatment of a range of disabling diseases. This therapeutic strategy is based on the injection of dispersed cells in the site of damage, aimed at stimulating the regeneration of the damaged tissue and possibly the recovery
of its function. In the heart, different ways of delivery can be used, that are intracoronary, intramyocardial, intravenous, and epicardial. The therapeutic effects can be determined by a direct cellular effect, given by transdifferentiation of injected cells in cardiovascular cells, or more likely by a cytokineparacrine effect, that means cells release soluble factors that exert protective effects on neighboring cells, although not participating in the formation of new functional tissue by transdifferentiation (Krause et al., 2010). From recent studies a new paracrine mechanism has emerged, based on the release of intracellular material—mainly proteins and micro-RNA—by particular vescicles called exosomes (Ibrahim et al., 2014).

In the cardiovascular medicine field, stem cell-based therapies have been principally applied to the treatment of adult patients with myocardial ischemia or HF (reviewed in Sanganalmath and Bolli, 2013). The first two randomized phase I clinical trials, SCIPIO and CADUCEUS, in which respectively c-Kitpositive Cardiac Stem Cells and Cardiosphere-derived Cells were administered to end-stage HF adult patients, showed positive outcomes regarding safety and efficacy of cell therapy (Bolli et al., 2011; Makkar et al., 2012). Only recently, the approach has been proposed for correction of congenital cardiac defects (Bernstein and Srivastava, 2012; Pincott and Burch, 2012).

Which Cell Type Should Be Used?

A comprehensive solution for complex cardiac defects like ToF requires the generation of valves and grafts containing a spectrum of regenerative cells. On the one hand, the use of multipotent stem cells able to generate all the components of the cardiac tissue, i.e., vascular cells, cardiomyocytes, and stromal cells, represents an option. On the other hand, the combination of different progenitor cells with restricted and predictable lineage commitment might be preferred by regulatory agencies for safety reasons. Hence, at this stage, research on different cell types should be pursued.

Induced Pluripotent Stem Cells

Induced pluripotent stem cells (iPS) are pluripotent cell lines obtained from the ex vivo reprogramming of fetal or adult somatic cells, like fibroblasts. During the reprogramming process, commonly four classical recognized pluripotency factors (NANOG, OCT-4, c-MYC, and KFL-4) are introduced within the cells from an ectopic source, usually carried by retroviral vectors. Reprogrammed cells are characterized by a high plasticity, being able to differentiate in cells of the three embryonal germ layers and thus potentially having the capacity to differentiate in most of the human body's cells (Takahashi et al., 2007; Yu et al., 2007). These last properties make iPS a good choice for application in regenerative medicine. For employment in CHD surgery, iPS derived from the patient's cells could be ideally differentiated in vitro in vascular and myocardial cells before autologous transplantation (Lundy et al., 2013; Yoder, 2015). To date, the limitation to the clinical use of these cells is given by the risk of tumorigenesis deriving from the genomic integration of the viral vectors (Mayshar et al., 2010).

Foetal and Umbilical Cord Cells

The time of diagnosis is key for the decision. Owing to advances and diffusion of pre-natal cardiac imaging, it is now possible to recognize cardiac defects in a large proportion of subjects. For these cases, foetal cells and umbilical cord cells represent valid therapeutic candidates and, in the future, in utero repair of cardiac defects using these cells will become a routine practice. Umbilical cord is collected at the time of birth; umbilical cord blood mononuclear cells (UCBMNCs) can be isolated from the blood, while mesenchymal stem cells are extracted from the Wharton's jelly. Cord stem cells are able to differentiate in cardiomyocyte-like cells and endothelial cells (ECs) (Chen et al., 2009; Wu et al., 2009). Last year, the Mayo Clinic announced the first U.S. stem cell trial with autologous umbilical cord blood cells to treat children with HLHS (http://www.mayo.edu). Foetalderived stem cells can be isolated from the amniotic fluid and include both pluripotent stem cells and more committed cells (Klemmt et al., 2011). Foetal cells could be stored, according to the large experience accumulated with umbilical cord blood cells, and used for multi-stage corrections.

Adult Cells

Despite the promising potential of iPS and foetal cells, so far most preclinical and clinical studies have employed post-natal cells for both safety reasons and easy accessibility to adult tissues. Different cell types derived from post-natal tissues can be used.

Endothelial cells and progenitor cells

Initial focus of research has been the re-endothelialization of cardiac valves to reduce thrombotic complications. Optimal candidates for this purpose are ECs and endothelial progenitor cells (EPCs). The first can be isolated from peripheral, easy accessible veins, such as the saphenous or forearm veins, while the second ones can be purified from the peripheral blood or bone marrow. EPCs can circulate in peripheral blood and can be incorporated in regions of active neovascularization, such as the ischemic myocardium (Xin et al., 2008). Experimental evidence suggests that EPCs participate not only in the process of vasculogenesis substituting the lost ECs but also in the endothelialization of grafts (Young et al., 2007). The significance of EPCs in cardiovascular disease has been reviewed in Madonna and De Caterina (2015).

Mesenchymal stem cells

Mesenchymal stem cells (MSCs) are a heterogeneous subset of stromal stem cells that can be isolated from many adult tissues, including the heart, skeletal muscle, bone marrow and adipose tissue (Uccelli et al., 2008). MSCs stand out as an encouraging option for cell therapy due to their accessible isolation, great expansion potential, immunoregulatory activity and angiogenic properties (Dimarino et al., 2013). Not less relevant, MSCs possess a multipotential differentiation capacity, being able to differentiate, *in vitro*, into cells of the mesodermal lineage (Dominici et al., 2006), and possibly toward cells of endoderm and ectoderm derivation (Uccelli et al., 2008). *In vivo*, although being able to generate new cardiomyocytes and vascular cells, MSCs stimulate vascular and cardiomyocyte regeneration acting prevalently by paracrine mechanisms (Gnecchi et al., 2006, 2012). Also, they may positively influence cardiac metabolism and contractility (Gnecchi et al., 2012). The immune compatibility of the MSCs is a remarkable advantage for the translation of their use in clinics (Castro-Manreza and Montesinos, 2015).

Bone marrow-derived progenitor cells

Total bone marrow-derived cells (BMCs) and especially subpopulations of bone marrow mononuclear cells (BMMNCs, that means either MSCs, or hematopoietic stem cells (HSCs), or monocytes) have been used in transplantation trials in acute myocardial infarction (MI) patients (reviewed in Simari et al., 2014). The advantage of using these cells is the easy accessibility with low risks for the patients, and the possibility to harvest high numbers of cells without requirement of long time in vitro expansion. The mechanisms by which BMCs can contribute to an improvement of cardiac function after transplantation in the patient heart are still debated, but two main mechanisms have been proposed: (1) paracrine influence on surrounding cardiac cells (Uemura et al., 2006), and (2) variable levels of transdifferentiation in ECs, pericytes, VSMCs and cardiomyocytes (Hosoda et al., 2010; Yoon et al., 2010). Noteworthy, the potential of transdifferentiation in cardiomyocytes still represents an open challenge for stem cell scientists; regarding the BM-MSCs subpopulation, there are discrepancies between scientists who reported the cells ability to generate new cardiomyocytes in vivo post-MI (Kawada et al., 2004; Yoon et al., 2005) and those who showed, instead, that BM-MSCs have very limited ability to generate functional contractile cardiac cells (Rose et al., 2008; Beitnes et al., 2009; Dixon et al., 2009; Tendera et al., 2009; Wohrle et al., 2010). Conversely, this cardiogenic ability has been negated to HSCs (Balsam et al., 2004; Murry et al., 2004).

Cardiac stem cells

Harvesting MSCs from accessible sources, like the subcutaneous adipose tissue, represents an attractive option. However, MSCs present in the stroma of different tissues are heterogeneous and may be influenced by the specific environment where they reside. The idea of using more specialized cell populations was pursued with the use of MSCs obtained from the target organ: the heart. Several investigations over the last 15 years have demonstrated that new cardiovascular cells are generated starting from primitive undifferentiated cells (cardiac stem cells-CSCs) resident in the heart since from birth, with this phenomenon playing a primary role after an acute injury as a myocardial infarction (Torella et al., 2006; Bearzi et al., 2007; Hsieh et al., 2007; Bergmann et al., 2009). Several CSC classes have been identified in the adult human heart, based on the expression of different markers (Torella et al., 2007; Beltrami et al., 2011; Bernstein and Srivastava, 2012). The most extensively characterized CSCs express the Stem Cell Factor-receptor (SCF-R, also named c-Kit), the Stem Cell Antigen-1-like (Sca-1) and the Multidrug Resistance-1 (MDR-1, receptor which belongs to the class of ABC transporters that mediate the Hoechst dye efflux from the cell) (Muller et al., 2002; Quaini et al., 2002; Messina et al., 2004; Bearzi et al., 2007). All the above cells do not express transcription factors or membrane and cytoplasmic proteins shared by mature cell types, and thus they are defined as Lineage-negative (Lin-); moreover CSCs are characterized by the capacity of self-renewal, clonogenicity, and multipotency, being able of differentiation in all the mature cardiovascular cell types. All the mentioned properties are essential for the formation of new cardiac tissue, although this latter phenomenon is not sufficient to restore a massive loss of tissue (Muller et al., 2002; Quaini et al., 2002; Messina et al., 2004; Bearzi et al., 2007).

Combinatory cell therapy

The heart is made by different types of cells. Therefore, optimum cell therapy for cardiac repair may require the association of different cell populations with complementary activities leading to balanced cardiomyogenesis/vasculogenesis. Apart from a recent study reporting the benefit of associative treatment with human MSCs and human c-Kit+ CSCs in an immunosuppressed swine model of myocardial infarction (Williams et al., 2013), combinatory cell therapy has received very little attention. We recently reported the advantage of dual therapy with CSCs and vascular pericytes for harmonized repair of the infarcted heart in mice (Avolio et al., 2015a). Interestingly, the two cell populations exert reciprocally enhancing paracrine activities, which lead to increased proliferation of vascular cells and cardiomyocytes and attraction of endogenous CSCs. These seminal examples of combinatory cell therapy set the basis for fabrication of scaffolds functionalized with multiple cell types.

Stem cells in the youngest heart

Despite minor attention has been focused on the pediatric heart, a few studies displayed that CSCs are more abundant in the neonatal period and rapidly decrease over time, making myocardial samples from the youngest hearts an optimal source of stem cells for use in reconstructive surgery (Peral et al., 2014). In particular, the histological examination of RV biopsies from CHD patients aged 2-93 days demonstrated that c-Kit-positive CSCs are four-fold more abundant during the first post-natal month (0.4 vs. 0.1% of total cardiac cells at birth and after 1 month, respectively), and a similar reduction was observed also for NKX2.5-positive cells (Amir et al., 2008). Moreover, Mishra et al., compared c-Kit-positive CSCs isolated from right atrial (RA) specimens of CHD patients selected on the basis of 3 different groups of age: neonates (<30 days), infants (1 month to 2 years) and children (2-13 years), and showed that c-Kit-positive CSCs are two- and three-fold higher in neonates than in infants and children respectively, along with a superior differentiation potential (Mishra et al., 2011). Similarly, a comparison of human hearts aged between 9 days to 77 years showed that the number of CSCs isolated per mg of cardiac tissue was more than three-fold higher in the youngest hearts (Tateishi et al., 2007). In addition to these considerations, a study performed in children aged 19 days to 16 years affected by univentricular heart and chronic pressure overload, showed that the number of c-Kit-positive cells in RV of patients is three-fold higher than in cardiac biopsies posttransplantation, suggesting that the pressure overload may lead to an increase in resident CSCs (Rupp et al., 2012a). This latter may represent an adaptive response in CHD children in the attempt to counteract the alterations in cardiac function, although not sufficient to overcome the challenges of severe CHD.

But stem cells resident in neonatal hearts are not only more abundant than the adult counterparts. A study performed by Simpson et al., showed that c-Kit/CD90-positive CSCs generated from neonatal RA samples are also endowed with a superior regenerative ability than CSCs derived from adult samples, when transplanted in a rat model of acute myocardial infarction (Simpson et al., 2012). Authors showed that neonatal CSCs are characterized by higher levels of c-Kit, flk-1 and Islet-1positive cells in comparison with the adult ones; the younger cells possessed also an increased cardiomyogenic potential both in vitro and in vivo, preventing the formation of the fibrotic scar and improving cardiac functional recovery when transplanted in the animal hearts. Authors supposed that a possible explanation for this augmented regenerative ability of neonatal CSCs might derive from the higher secretion of pro-angiogenic factors, like Vascular Endothelial Growth Factor (VEGF) and Angiogenin, which play a crucial role during the formation of new blood vessels (Simpson et al., 2012).

Besides the above mentioned CSC classes, other cell types have been isolated from the youngest human heart, and may represent a valid option in cell therapy for correction of CHD. Very recently, a population of heart pericytes (HPs) has been identified by the group of B. Péault in myocardial samples from both fetuses at 17-23 weeks of development and post-mortem adults. HPs, recognized as CD34/45-negative and NG2/PDGFR-B/CD146positive cells, possess a multilineage mesodermal differentiation potential, including limited cardiomyogenic properties both in vitro and in vivo in a mouse model of MI, and marked proangiogenic ability in vitro (Chen et al., 2015). Despite this, the potential of these cells has not been evaluated immediately after birth yet. Instead, our group has recently been involved in the isolation and characterization of a population of cardiac pericytes (CPs) from myocardial leftovers of neonates and children operated for correction of CHD (Avolio et al., 2015b). We originally select CPs as CD34-positive CD31-negative cells, and after expansion CPs express pericyte (NG2/PDGFR- β) along with stemness markers (NANOG, OCT-4, SOX-2), are clonogenic and endowed with ability to differentiate into VSMCs, but not into ECs or cardiomyocytes. We demonstrated that CPs are able to attract endothelial and cardiac stem cells in an in vitro migration assay, and support the network forming ability of ECs in an in vitro angiogenic assay (Avolio et al., 2015b). Last, in the human fetal aorta a population of CD133/CD34/VEGFR-positive vascular progenitor cells has been identified and characterized for its unique vasculogenic and myogenic potential in a mouse model of limb muscle ischemia (Invernici et al., 2007).

Preclinical Trials

Since the complex nature of congenital heart defects makes these latter difficult to reproduce in animals, there are no many animal models of CHD, and this represents a significant limit in the translation of new therapies to clinic (Peral et al., 2014; Tarui et al., 2014). Nevertheless, in the last years some efforts and progresses have been done, in particular to reproduce an increased pressure or volume overload of the RV that is a common feature in patients with a HLHS or ToF. Although it is difficult to make an animal model that mimics univentricular hearts, a pressure-overload right-heart model using pulmonary artery banding has been developed in rats (Hoashi et al., 2009) and sheep (Davies et al., 2010), which is useful to evaluate the safety and efficacy of cell transplantation in presence of single ventricular lesions. In these studies, skeletal myoblasts (Hoashi et al., 2009) and cord blood stem cells (Davies et al., 2010) were injected in the animal hearts, determining an improvement of RV function. Also, a first murine model of RV volume overload has been obtained by Reddy et al., by entrapping the pulmonary valve leaflets with sutures (Reddy et al., 2013). In addition, a recent study performed in a piglet ToF model showed the safety and feasibility of intramyocardial administration of human MesP1 (mesodermal posterior 1)-positive /SSEA-1(stage specific embryonic antigen-1)-positive embryonic stem cell-derived cardiac progenitors 4 months after a surgical procedure mimicking the repair of ToF. This latter consisted of an enlargement of the RVOT by a polytetrafluoroethylene patch, the excision of one pulmonary valve leaflet and a pulmonary artery banding. At 3 months followup, animals receiving cell therapy showed some improvements in RV remodeling (reduction of peri-myocyte fibrosis) but unfortunately no significant improvement in RV function compared to control animals (Lambert et al., 2015). Finally, the feasibility and long term safety of autologous UCBMNCs transplanted intramyocardially into the RV of piglet hearts was recently demonstrated (Cantero Peral et al., 2015).

Clinical Trials in Children with CHD

So far, major attention has been dedicated to the therapy of pediatric dilated cardiomyopathy (Rupp et al., 2009; Bergmane et al., 2013; Selem et al., 2013), while experience with stem cell therapy in children with severe CHD or acquired heart failure has been limited to single cases and small-size cohorts.

In 2010, Rupp et al., reported a case of cell therapy with intracoronary injection of autologous BMCs in an 11-monthsold boy with HLHS; although this was only an isolated case, the patient outcome was dramatically improved 3 months after cell therapy, with RV ejection fraction (RVEF) increasing from 22 to 44% (Rupp et al., 2010). More recently, intraoperative administration of autologous UCB-stem cells in a 4-months-old baby undergoing a second palliation surgery gave positive results, improving the RVEF from 30 to 50% at 3 months of follow-up (Burkhart et al., 2015). Again, another study performed in 9 children with severe terminal HF (6 with HF secondary to dilated cardiomyopathy and 3 with CHD) showed the feasibility and safety of intracoronary infusion of autologous BMMNCs, stabilizing patients conditions during the short (3 months) and long term (up to 52 months) follow-up (Rupp et al., 2012b).

The first long term follow-up phase I controlled clinical trial in pediatric patients with CHD, using autologous CSCs, has been concluded only recently (Ishigami et al., 2015). In the TICAP trial (Transcoronary infusion of Cardiac progenitor Cells in patients with single ventricle physiology), autologous CSCs were isolated from 7 children affected by HLHS, aged 5 months to 3 years, and administered via intracoronary delivery 4–5 weeks after surgical palliation. Seven children were selected as control (received palliation surgery without cell therapy). The administration procedure was safe, without any serious adverse event. At 18 months of follow-up, the CSC-treated patients demonstrated an improvement in RVEF from an average baseline value of 47 to 54%, whereas control patients showed little improvement in RVEF, from 47 to 49% (Ishigami et al., 2015). This study gave the first important demonstration of safety and feasibility of autologous CSCs application in young CHD patients. The same group is now carrying out a larger phase II study (Cardiac progenitor Cell infusion to treat univentricular heart disease: PERSEUS), which involves 34 patients randomly assigned to the treatment or control group, to strengthen the positive results collected during the first phase (Tarui et al., 2014).

Tissue Engineering for CHD correction

Tissue engineering is a promising bioengineering technology that aims at the creation of unique substitutes using threedimensional synthetic or biologic scaffolds seeded with autologous stem cells and differentiated cells, to allow individual patients therapy with regeneration, remodeling and growth potential (Cheema et al., 2012; Smit and Dohmen, 2015). On the one hand, scaffolds serve as a site of cell attachment and new tissue formation. On the other hand, their recolonization by cells after implantation seemingly contributes to the creation of a living tissue perfectly integrated in the recipient's organ. Seeded cells may contribute to the homing of resident cells by secretion of chemoattractant factors.

Tissue engineering has been one of the most promising strategies for the regeneration of impaired tissues. For instance, a tissue engineering approach has been used successfully for the repair of injuries to, or congenital absence of complex organs such as the trachea, esophagus, or skeletal muscle (Macchiarini et al., 2008; Badylak et al., 2012). The first success, in 1994, was the reproduction of tracheal cartilage using tissue engineering techniques (Vacanti et al., 1994). Later, bioengineering techniques have been applied also to the heart. Experience accumulated in adult patients suggests that dispersed stem cells may die soon after implantation in the heart, their therapeutic action being attributable to paracrine factors released during the initial post-transplantation phase. Therefore, this approach does not seem to be advantageous for the repair of complex congenital defects, that frequently requires additional tissue in various forms, such as patches, valves and conduits (Dean et al., 2012; Kalfa and Bacha, 2013; Smit and Dohmen, 2015). Stem cells may work more efficiently if embedded in extracellular matrices, prosthetic grafts and patches to create biological structures that, once implanted in the defective heart, can grow and remodel in a physiologic manner in parallel with cardiac and whole body growth (Figure 3) (Bertipaglia et al., 2003; Scholl et al., 2010).

Which Characteristics Should an Optimal Bioengineered Graft Have?

The creation of an optimal bioengineered graft relies upon the careful choice of two main protagonists: (1) the biomaterial and (2) the cells that will repopulate the biomaterial graft. Scaffolds

used in cardiac surgery should provide structural integrity at the time of repair, while permitting infiltration of cells from native tissue and enabling the development of new vessels and blood supply, which contributes to tissue remodeling. The cell-scaffold constructs are configured to serve as a template to promote development of structures that closely mimic the original tissues (Cheema et al., 2012; Fallahiarezoudar et al., 2015). Interestingly, physiological cyclic strain and shear stress may even accelerate the formation of tissue starting from the cellularized graft (Engelmayr et al., 2006). The final result should be a new tissue composed entirely of the patient's autologous cells, able to remodel in response to physiological changes (Butcher et al., 2011; Dean et al., 2012). Not less important, an advantage of coating the prosthetic materials with stem cells or ECs before transplantation is the prevention of thrombotic complications.

The optimal reparative patch for closure of atrial and ventricular septal defects and RVOT reconstruction, as well as the optimal substitutive valves used in pediatric CHD, ideally should possess the following characteristics (Butcher et al., 2011; Dean et al., 2012; Kalfa and Bacha, 2013; Alsoufi, 2014):

- absence of immunogenicity,
- growth potential proportional to somatic enlargement,
- excellent durable hemodynamic profile,
- availability in different sizes,
- pliability,
- association with minimal thromboembolism risk thus not requiring anticoagulation,
- low incidence of structural degeneration,
- resistance to calcification.

These characteristics are critical especially in newborns, in which corrections should be durable for all the course of a normal lifespan, to avoid repeated risky operations. But to date, the optimal scaffold still does not exist, although many progresses have been done in this direction, and a wide series of biological and synthetic materials are currently under evaluation in the attempt to find the optimized one.

An important factor to consider during the creation of a bioengineered graft is its mechanical behavior. Before proceeding with any preclinical validation, the performance of bioengineered grafts is first evaluated *ex vivo*. This is done both before and after the seeding of cells, to understand how the cells affect the matrix remodeling in biological grafts. During these tests, the hydrodynamics functions and the durability of the graft are evaluated, both under static conditions and in presence of pulsatile flow. The elasticity and stiffness of the graft are evaluated with both uniaxial and biaxial mechanical tests (Ghanbari et al., 2009).

Adaptability of Currently Available Grafts to Tissue Engineering

Some undesirable characteristics of currently available grafts discourage the application in CHD patients, but fortunately progresses have been done and promising solutions are underway. The main advantages and disadvantages of materials used for correction of CHD are recapitulated in **Figure 4**.



One matter of concern is that the toxicity of chemical agents used during manufacture of prostheses might inhibit the functionalization by autologous cells. A coating with bioactive substances has been proposed to overcome the last problem and promote the process of recellularization in vivo Dohmen et al., 2006a; Butcher et al., 2011; Strange et al., 2015. Moreover, the use of glutaraldehyde has been challenged because of concerns about the promotion of calcification. Calcification of grafts, in particular valves, is a major problem since it can cause the failure of the graft and the occurrence of further surgery. The risk of calcification in children is even higher than in adults, as in young patients the mobilization of calcium, due to bone remodeling, accelerates the calcification process. A possible solution is represented by anti-calcification treatments (Butcher et al., 2011; Pok and Jacot, 2011). It remains unknown if calcification may affect cells used for tissue engineering. This risk may be higher for cells, including MSCs, which have the propensity to differentiate into osteocytes under inductive conditions (Ohata and Ozono, 2014). However, it cannot be excluded that other cell types may not only resist to xenograft manufacture agents but also contrast their procalcifying action.

The *CorMatrix*[®] ECM (CorMatrix Alpharetta, GA), a patch made of decellularized porcine small intestinal submucosa extracellular matrix (SIS-ECM), displays a lot of potential advantages over other materials currently used in pediatric cardiac surgery, such as ease handling and implantability, abundance, low immunogenicity, high mechanical strength,

minimal scar formation, recruitment of host cells, remodeling without calcification and possible growth potential (Pok and Jacot, 2011; Kalfa and Bacha, 2013). CorMatrix patches have been successfully used in congenital heart surgery for pediatric cardiac and vascular reconstructions (Scholl et al., 2010; Quarti et al., 2011; Witt et al., 2013). Recently, our group confirmed the great recellularization properties of the CorMatrix, successfully growing cardiac pericytes—isolated from children affected by CHD—onto CorMatrix patches up to 3 weeks in a bioreactor, finally showing the engraftment and viability of cells (Avolio et al., 2015b).

Recently, scaffolds have been fabricated using synthetic biodegradable polymers, such as polyglicolyc acid (PGA), poly-Llactic acid (PLLA) and polycaprolactone (PCL). On one hand, the advantages of using these polymers are a limitless supply, ease of shaping, and the possibility to combine the concentrations of the polymers to generate scaffolds that meet the compliance specifications of the environment in which they have to be introduced. But on the other hand, the degradation process by hydrolysis will affect the mechanical properties over time. The degradation rates have been estimated in 2-3 months for PGA and 2 and 3 years for PLLA and PCL, respectively. Although some concerns have been reported about the cytotoxicity of the products of the degradation process (Butcher et al., 2011; Dean et al., 2012; Fallahiarezoudar et al., 2015), these materials are currently the most used in tissue-engineering procedures for the construction of autologous grafts made by the patient's own tissue.



Methods of Cell Seeding and Growth of Tissues In Vitro

During the generation of a bioengineered graft, not only the selection of the proper cell type and the choice of a physiological culture method are crucial in order to achieve good results, but also cell seeding is one of the key issues. How to seed cells efficiently and uniformly, especially in the inner parts of scaffolds with pores, and with no impairment to the cells, has been one of the major challenges for tissue engineering.

Since from the beginning, *static seeding* has been the most frequently used because of its simplicity and the ease to be performed within a common cell culture laboratory, since it does not require sophisticated equipment. However, the efficiency of

static seeding is always low, and the distribution of the cells throughout the scaffold is not uniform, with the inner part of the scaffold holding few cells, even if excellent biocompatible scaffolds with big pores are used. As a consequence, only the superficial layer of the scaffold will be formed by the regenerated tissue (Dai et al., 2009).

One important factor that limits the penetration of cells inside the scaffold is represented by air in the pores, which explains why static seeding cannot reach satisfactory results in term of scaffold repopulation. Different solutions have been considered to overcome this bottleneck.

In *centrifugation seeding*, a moderate centrifugal force is applied during the seeding process, to facilitate the penetration

of cells in the central part of the scaffold (Godbey et al., 2004; Roh et al., 2007). However, whether survived cells remain functional after centrifugation has still to be determined. Moreover, during centrifugation the orientation of the scaffold cannot be controlled, thus that the overlapping of material pieces does not allow a homogeneous distribution of cells. Instead, the low-pressure seeding uses a vacuum desiccator to create a reduced pressure that draws the air in the materials out by pressure difference, facilitating the penetration of the culture media and cells inside the pores (Torigoe et al., 2007). However, despite the seeding efficiency is increased, the low pressure may affect cell viability and function after seeding, thus additional investigations are required (Dai et al., 2009). In perfusion seeding, a continuous cell suspension perfusion is applied through 3Dscaffold pores using bioreactors to assist in cell infiltration and to aid in nutrition (Dai et al., 2009).

A bioreactor is a device able to ensure the biological and physiological environment of the heart and the circulatory system. Mimicking the physiological mechanical forces, shear stress and blood flow, the bioreactor can allow the construction of engineered scaffolds that will be functional after transplantation into the patients (Carrier et al., 1999; Hecker and Birla, 2007). When cellularized scaffolds are kept in culture for long time, the tissue grows and reaches a 3D-structure, so that the static culture system is not adequate to guarantee the perfusion of culture media uniformly. A solution to this problem comes from the dynamic bioreactors, which can maintain viability of tissue-engineered organs by using both mechanical and biochemical conditioning. Apart the basic requirements of cell cultures-which include the control over the time of dissolved O₂ and CO₂, pH, temperature and nutrients concentration-a dynamic bioreactor can provide the control of flow waveform and physiological pressure, keeping culture medium under the pulsatile flow that enables the perfusion of the media inside the entire graft and simulates at the same time the in vivo pressure and heart rate (Carrier et al., 1999; Hecker and Birla, 2007).

Preclinical Studies and Clinical Application of Tissue Engineered-grafts

Tissue engineering-based grafts have been tested in small and large animal models to assess their safety and feasibility before translation to clinics. So far, BMMNCs and ECs have been frequently selected for preclinical studies of tissue engineering applications, probably due to the relative ease of harvesting BM aspirates and peripheral veins compared, for example, to samples of cardiac source. For the sake of brevity and clarity, main animal studies are summarized in **Table 1**. During these procedures, scaffolds were firstly seeded with cells *in vitro*, and secondly implanted into the animals. The results obtained with animals encouraged the test in humans.

Positive results have been obtained also from clinical studies involving the application of tissue engineering-based grafts in children affected by CHD, although they are still limited to few reports. In 2001, the transplantation of a tissue engineeringbased graft on a 4-years-old girl with univentricular heart and pulmonary atresia was recorded. Autologous cells were isolated from a peripheral vein and seeded onto a biodegradable

tubular scaffold composed by PLLA/PCL reinforced with PGA, designed in order to degrade within 8 weeks. Seven months after implantation, the conduit was not occluded and there was no evidence of aneurysm (Shin'oka et al., 2001). Two years later the same group reported other clinical cases of children with CHD who received a biodegradable tissue engineeringbased graft (PLLA/PCL, designed to be degraded in 3-5 years) seeded with total BMCs or selected BMMNCs. Again, the results were positive, with no stenosis documented in the grafts (Matsumura et al., 2003a). The successful transplantation of a vascular biodegradable conduit (PLLA/PCL reinforced with PGA) seeded with saphenous vein derived cells was recorded in a 12-years-old during the Fontan operation (Naito et al., 2003). Later, the clinical results of the application of tissue engineeringbased grafts seeded with autologous BMCs in CHD patients (25 out of 42 patients recruited were <7 years) were published (Shin'oka et al., 2005). The scaffolds were made by PLLA/PCL and PGA, degradable in 2 years. The results were positive, without thrombosis, stenosis or obstruction of the grafts after a median of 16 months; grafts remained patent and their diameter increased in size (Shin'oka et al., 2005). More recently, a similar study was conducted in patients with single ventricle physiology (17 out of 25 patients recruited were <7 years), in which PLLA/PCL/PGA grafts seeded with autologous BMMNCs were implanted as extracardiac cavopulmonary conduits. Four out of 25 patients presented graft obstruction that required angioplasty, but all the other patients experimented a good recovery without failure of the graft (Hibino et al., 2010).

Despite these first encouraging results, the performance of TEgrafts in CHD children still needs to be investigated, since a main limitation of the studies performed so far is the lack of a long term follow-up. Nevertheless, application of tissue engineeringbased grafts to the correction of CHD is still a new field of study, which will be extensively expanded in the coming future.

Future Perspectives

The choice of the appropriate cell type to use for cell therapy is of crucial importance to reach the desired therapeutic goal. In the future, cell types able to guarantee on the one hand the regeneration of the missing or lost tissue, and on the other hand the parallel remodeling of the extracellular matrix in order to provide the new generated tissue with the ability to adapt with the anatomy of the growing cardiovascular system, might be privileged; also, combinatory cell products may represent an interesting and safe option. But, while there is space for improvement in the characterization and quality of the cell product, the field of regenerative medicine for treatment of CHD urgently requires tissue engineering solutions, as dispersed cells are not ideal to reconstruct valves and conduits. To date, one major limitation in the use of prosthetic devices is the need of replacement. Research is currently underway to provide biologically compatible solutions. While there is a remarkably growing interest in possibilities offered by cell therapy and tissue engineering, the clinical application in newborns and children is still in its pioneering phase.

TABLE 1	Preclinical studies with tissue-engineered grafts.
---------	--

Study	Animal model	Cells seeded	Scaffold used	Outcome
Matsumura et al., 2003b	Dog	Allogenic BMMNCs	Copolymer of LA/CL covered by PLLA	TE-grafts were implanted into the vena cava. After up to 8 weeks, no stenosis was observed and cells on the grafts expressed endothelial and VSMc markers
Vincentelli et al., 2007	Lamb	Allogenic BMMNCs or MSCs	Decellularized porcine pulmonary conduits	TE-grafts were implanted into the pulmonary artery. After 4 months, both the valves were recolonized and re-endothe-lialized. BMMNC-valves were thicker and showed inflammatory cell infiltration, while MSC-valves displayed extracellular matrix and cell disposition close to those of native pulmonary valves
Brennan et al., 2008	Lamb	Autologous BMMNCs	PGA scaffolds covered by LA/CL	TE-grafts implanted as inferior vena cava (IVC) interposition grafts. After 6 months, grafts were patent and increased in volume, with no evidence of aneurysmal dilatation. They were histologically comparable to the native IVC
Roh et al., 2010	SCID/beige mice	Xenogenic human BMMNCs	PGA scaffolds covered by LA/CL	TE-grafts were implanted as inferior vena cava interposition grafts. After 24 weeks the original scaffold was degraded and substituted by organized layers of ECM, endothelial and smooth muscle cells, resembling the native IVC
Sutherland et al., 2005	Sheep	Autologous BM-MSCs	PGA/PLLA	The pulmonary valve was resected and TE-valve was implanted into the pulmonary artery. After 4 and 8 months grafts were histologically comparable to the native valve
Shinoka et al., 1995	Lamb	Allogenic ovine artery fibroblasts and ECs	PGA leaflets	The right posterior leaflet of the pulmonary valve was resected and replaced with a TE-valve leaflet. Absence of stenosis. Development of ECM with appropriate cellular architecture
Dohmen et al., 2006b	Sheep	Autologous ECs from jugular vein	Decellularized valve	Scaffold was implanted into the RVOT. After 6 months, there was no calcification, and histologically ECs and fibroblasts were observed
He et al., 2010	Rat	Xenogenic human skeletal muscle pericytes	Poly(ester-urethane) urea scaffolds	TE-grafts were implanted end-to-end into the abdominal aorta. After 8 weeks, pericytes evenly populated the graft. TE-grafts presented extensive tissue remodeling with organized layers of endothelial and smooth muscle cells, and collagen and elastin, resembling the native arterial conduit

Cell therapy products or tissue-engineered products are classified as advanced therapy medicinal products (ATMP) that need to be authorized through centralized procedures. In a tissue-engineered product both components (the scaffold and cell product) must be GMP grade and the combination of the two should be also GMP certified. This includes the manufacture and expansion of cells in the scaffold prior implantation, demonstration of conserved mechanical properties and safety/efficacy in adequate animal models. Therefore, it is likely that the first products to become available for clinical experimentation will be those made by clinical grafts containing cells that have been already tested in clinical trials. In term of safety, it should be kept in mind that CHD is increasingly acknowledged to be associated with genetic polymorphisms. Whether alterations in the genetic program that controls the proper formation of the heart may influence stem cell behavior remains unknown and may represent an additional challenge for the progress of the field.

Advancements in diagnostic screening allow an early diagnosis of CHD and set the basis for guiding the best reconstructive strategy as illustrated in **Figure 5**. In the first scenario, cells are obtained prenatally or at birth with minimally invasive procedures, expanded, incorporated in scaffolds ready for use in definitive surgical correction without need of palliative

procedures. Induced pluripotent cells could be ideally generated to this purpose. Alternatively, cord cells have a potential for cases that do not require an immediate intervention at birth. In the second scenario, when diagnosis is made post-natally, stem cells from remnants of palliative surgery could be expanded in vitro and combined with biomaterials using bioengineering techniques; afterwards, the resulting cellularized graft will be surgically implanted into the diseased heart at the occasion of a second open-chest surgery, helping the surgeon in performing the reconstructive procedures required to manage complex CHD. Looking at the best cell type, the use of stem cells from cardiac source may give the advantage of a physiological commitment to originate all the 3 major cell types of the heart: cardiomyocytes, ECs and VSMCs. Additional cells with complementary activities, namely vascular cells and pericytes could be added in a combinatory approach.

In conclusion, the potential of tissue engineering may provide in the next future definitive solutions for correction of CHD in newborns and children, opening new avenues with immense therapeutic benefits.

Author Contributions

EA: reviewed the literature, drafted the manuscript and prepared the figures; MC: critically revised the manuscript; PM: reviewed



the literature, drafted and critically revised the manuscript. All the authors have approved the final submission of the manuscript.

Acknowledgments

This work was supported by (1) manufacture scale up of human pericyte progenitor cells for regenerative medicine, MRC

References

- Al-Halees, Z., Pieters, F., Qadoura, F., Shahid, M., Al-Amri, M., and Al-Fadley, F. (2002). The Ross procedure is the procedure of choice for congenital aortic valve disease. *J. Thorac. Cardiovasc. Surg.* 123, 437–441. discussion: 441–432. doi: 10.1067/mtc.2002.119705
- Alsoufi, B. (2014). Aortic valve replacement in children: options and outcomes. *J. Saudi Heart Assoc.* 26, 33–41. doi: 10.1016/j.jsha.2013.11.003
- Amir, G., Ma, X., Reddy, V. M., Hanley, F. L., Reinhartz, O., Ramamoorthy, C., et al. (2008). Dynamics of human myocardial progenitor cell populations in the neonatal period. *Ann. Thorac. Surg.* 86, 1311–1319. doi: 10.1016/j.athoracsur.2008.06.058
- Avolio, E., Meloni, M., Spencer, H. L., Riu, F., Katare, R., Mangialardi, G., et al. (2015a). Combined intramyocardial delivery of human pericytes and cardiac stem cells additively improves the healing of mouse infarcted hearts through stimulation of vascular and muscular repair. *Circ. Res.* 116, e81–e94. doi: 10.1161/CIRCRESAHA.115. 306146
- Avolio, E., Rodriguez-Arabaolaza, I., Spencer, H., Riu, F., Mangialardi, G., Slater, S., et al. (2015b). Expansion and characterization of neonatal cardiac pericytes provides a novel cellular option for tissue engineering in congenital heart disease. J. Am. Heart Assoc. 4:e002043. doi: 10.1161/JAHA.115.002043

Translational Stem Cell Research Grant; (2) Bristol Biomedical Research Unit in Cardiovascular Disease (lead for Regenerative Medicine workpackage), National Institute Health Research Biomedical Research Unit (NIHR BRU); (3) preclinical trial with human pericyte progenitors in a large animal model of myocardial infarction, BHF special project grant; (4) BHF Centre of Regenerative Medicine; and (5) the Sir Jules Thorn award 2014. **Figures 1, 2, 5** have been prepared using SERVIER Medical Art.

- Badylak, S. F., Weiss, D. J., Caplan, A., and Macchiarini, P. (2012). Engineered whole organs and complex tissues. *Lancet* 379, 943–952. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(12)60073-7
- Balsam, L. B., Wagers, A. J., Christensen, J. L., Kofidis, T., Weissman, I. L., and Robbins, R. C. (2004). Haematopoietic stem cells adopt mature haematopoietic fates in ischaemic myocardium. *Nature* 428, 668–673. doi: 10.1038/nature 02460
- Barron, D. J., Kilby, M. D., Davies, B., Wright, J. G., Jones, T. J., and Brawn, W. J. (2009). Hypoplastic left heart syndrome. *Lancet* 374, 551–564. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(09)60563-8
- Baumgartner, H., Bonhoeffer, P., De Groot, N. M., de Haan, F., Deanfield, J. E., Galie, N., et al. (2010). ESC Guidelines for the management of grown-up congenital heart disease (new version 2010). *Eur. Heart J.* 31, 2915–2957. doi: 10.1093/eurheartj/ehq249
- Bearzi, C., Rota, M., Hosoda, T., Tillmanns, J., Nascimbene, A., De Angelis, A., et al. (2007). Human cardiac stem cells. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 104, 14068–14073. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0706760104
- Beitnes, J. O., Hopp, E., Lunde, K., Solheim, S., Arnesen, H., Brinchmann, J. E., et al. (2009). Long-term results after intracoronary injection of autologous mononuclear bone marrow cells in acute myocardial infarction: the ASTAMI randomised, controlled study. *Heart* 95, 1983–1989. doi: 10.1136/hrt.2009.178913

- Beltrami, A., Cesselli, D., and Beltrami, C. (2011). "Multiple sources for cardiac stem cells and their cardiogenic potential," in *Regenerating the Heart*, eds I. S. Cohen and G. R. Gaudette (New York, NY: Humana Press), 149–171.
- Bergmane, I., Lacis, A., Lubaua, I., Jakobsons, E., and Erglis, A. (2013). Followup of the patients after stem cell transplantation for pediatric dilated cardiomyopathy. *Pediatr. Transplant.* 17, 266–270. doi: 10.1111/petr.12055
- Bergmann, O., Bhardwaj, R. D., Bernard, S., Zdunek, S., Barnabe-Heider, F., Walsh, S., et al. (2009). Evidence for cardiomyocyte renewal in humans. *Science* 324, 98–102. doi: 10.1126/science.1164680
- Bernstein, H. S., and Srivastava, D. (2012). Stem cell therapy for cardiac disease. Pediatr. Res. 71(4 Pt 2), 491–499. doi: 10.1038/pr.2011.61
- Bertipaglia, B., Ortolani, F., Petrelli, L., Gerosa, G., Spina, M., Pauletto, P., et al. (2003). Cell characterization of porcine aortic valve and decellularized leaflets repopulated with aortic valve interstitial cells: the VESALIO Project (Vitalitate Exornatum Succedaneum Aorticum Labore Ingenioso Obtenibitur). *Ann. Thorac. Surg.* 75, 1274–1282. doi: 10.1016/S0003-4975(02)04706-9
- Bolli, R., Chugh, A. R., D'Amario, D., Loughran, J. H., Stoddard, M. F., Ikram, S., et al. (2011). Cardiac stem cells in patients with ischaemic cardiomyopathy (SCIPIO): initial results of a randomised phase 1 trial. *Lancet* 378, 1847–1857. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(11)61590-0
- Brennan, M. P., Dardik, A., Hibino, N., Roh, J. D., Nelson, G. N., Papademitris, X., et al. (2008). Tissue-engineered vascular grafts demonstrate evidence of growth and development when implanted in a juvenile animal model. *Ann. Surg.* 248, 370–377. doi: 10.1097/sla.0b013e318184dcbd
- Burkhart, H. M., Qureshi, M. Y., Peral, S. C., O'Leary, P. W., Olson, T. M., Cetta, F., et al. (2015). Regenerative therapy for hypoplastic left heart syndrome: first report of intraoperative intramyocardial injection of autologous umbilicalcord blood-derived cells. J. Thorac. Cardiovasc. Surg. 149, e35–e37. doi: 10.1016/j.jtcvs.2014.10.093
- Butcher, J. T., Mahler, G. J., and Hockaday, L. A. (2011). Aortic valve disease and treatment: the need for naturally engineered solutions. *Adv. Drug Deliv. Rev.* 63, 242–268. doi: 10.1016/j.addr.2011.01.008
- Cantero Peral, S., Burkhart, H. M., Oommen, S., Yamada, S., Nyberg, S. L., Li, X., et al. (2015). Safety and feasibility for pediatric cardiac regeneration using epicardial delivery of autologous umbilical cord blood-derived mononuclear cells established in a porcine model system. *Stem Cells Transl. Med.* 4, 195–206. doi: 10.5966/sctm.2014-0195
- Carrier, R. L., Papadaki, M., Rupnick, M., Schoen, F. J., Bursac, N., Langer, R., et al. (1999). Cardiac tissue engineering: cell seeding, cultivation parameters, and tissue construct characterization. *Biotechnol. Bioeng.* 64, 580–589.
- Castro-Manrreza, M. E., and Montesinos, J. J. (2015). Immunoregulation by mesenchymal stem cells: biological aspects and clinical applications. *J. Immunol. Res.* 2015:394917. doi: 10.1155/2015/394917
- Cebotari, S., Tudorache, I., Ciubotaru, A., Boethig, D., Sarikouch, S., Goerler, A., et al. (2011). Use of fresh decellularized allografts for pulmonary valve replacement may reduce the reoperation rate in children and young adults: early report. *Circulation* 124(11 Suppl.), S115–S123. doi: 10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.110.012161
- Cheema, F. H., Polvani, G., Argenziano, M., and Pesce, M. (2012). Combining stem cells and tissue engineering in cardiovascular repair – a step forward to derivation of novel implants with enhanced function and selfrenewal characteristics. *Recent Pat. Cardiovasc. Drug Discov.* 7, 10–20. doi: 10.2174/157489012799362403
- Chen, M. Y., Lie, P. C., Li, Z. L., and Wei, X. (2009). Endothelial differentiation of Wharton's jelly-derived mesenchymal stem cells in comparison with bone marrow-derived mesenchymal stem cells. *Exp. Hematol.* 37, 629–640. doi: 10.1016/j.exphem.2009.02.003
- Chen, W. C., Baily, J. E., Corselli, M., Diaz, M. E., Sun, B., Xiang, G., et al. (2015). Human myocardial pericytes: multipotent mesodermal precursors exhibiting cardiac specificity. *Stem Cells* 33, 557–573. doi: 10.1002/stem.1868
- Cushing, M. C., Jaeggli, M. P., Masters, K. S., Leinwand, L. A., and Anseth, K. S. (2005). Serum deprivation improves seeding and repopulation of acellular matrices with valvular interstitial cells. *J. Biomed. Mater. Res.* A 75, 232–241. doi: 10.1002/jbm.a.30412
- da Costa, F. D., Dohmen, P. M., Duarte, D., von Glenn, C., Lopes, S. V., Filho, H. H., et al. (2005). Immunological and echocardiographic evaluation of decellularized versus cryopreserved allografts during the Ross operation. *Eur.* J. Cardiothorac. Surg. 27, 572–578. doi: 10.1016/j.ejcts.2004.12.057

- Dai, W., Dong, J., Chen, G., and Uemura, T. (2009). Application of low-pressure cell seeding system in tissue engineering. *Biosci. Trends* 3, 216–219.
- Davies, B., Elwood, N. J., Li, S., Cullinane, F., Edwards, G. A., Newgreen, D. F., et al. (2010). Human cord blood stem cells enhance neonatal right ventricular function in an ovine model of right ventricular training. *Ann. Thorac. Surg.* 89, 585–593, e581–e584. doi: 10.1016/j.athoracsur.2009.10.035
- Dean, E. W., Udelsman, B., and Breuer, C. K. (2012). Current advances in the translation of vascular tissue engineering to the treatment of pediatric congenital heart disease. *Yale J. Biol. Med.* 85, 229–238.
- Dimarino, A. M., Caplan, A. I., and Bonfield, T. L. (2013). Mesenchymal stem cells in tissue repair. Front. Immunol. 4:201. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2013.00201
- Dixon, J. A., Gorman, R. C., Stroud, R. E., Bouges, S., Hirotsugu, H., Gorman, J. H. III, et al. (2009). Mesenchymal cell transplantation and myocardial remodeling after myocardial infarction. *Circulation* 120(11 Suppl.), S220–S229. doi: 10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.108.842302
- Dohmen, P. M., da Costa, F., Holinski, S., Lopes, S. V., Yoshi, S., Reichert, L. H., et al. (2006a). Is there a possibility for a glutaraldehyde-free porcine heart valve to grow? *Eur. Surg. Res.* 38, 54–61. doi: 10.1159/000091597
- Dohmen, P. M., da Costa, F., Yoshi, S., Lopes, S. V., da Souza, F. P., Vilani, R., et al. (2006b). Histological evaluation of tissue-engineered heart valves implanted in the juvenile sheep model: is there a need for *in-vitro* seeding? *J. Heart Valve Dis.* 15, 823–829.
- Dohmen, P. M., Lembcke, A., Hotz, H., Kivelitz, D., and Konertz, W. F. (2002). Ross operation with a tissue-engineered heart valve. Ann. Thorac. Surg. 74, 1438–1442. doi: 10.1016/S0003-4975(02)03881-X
- Dominici, M., Le Blanc, K., Mueller, I., Slaper-Cortenbach, I., Marini, F., Krause, D., et al. (2006). Minimal criteria for defining multipotent mesenchymal stromal cells. The International Society for Cellular Therapy position statement. *Cytotherapy* 8, 315–317. doi: 10.1080/14653240600855905
- Engelmayr, G. C. Jr., Sales, V, L., Mayer, J. E. Jr., and Sacks, M. S. (2006). Cyclic flexure and laminar flow synergistically accelerate mesenchymal stem cell-mediated engineered tissue formation: implications for engineered heart valve tissues. *Biomaterials* 27, 6083–6095. doi: 10.1016/j.biomaterials.2006. 07.045
- Fallahiarezoudar, E., Ahmadipourroudposht, M., Idris, A., and Mohd Yusof, N. (2015). A review of: application of synthetic scaffold in tissue engineering heart valves. *Mater. Sci. Eng. C Mater. Biol. Appl.* 48, 556–565. doi: 10.1016/j.msec.2014.12.016
- Frescura, C., and Thiene, G. (2014). The new concept of univentricular heart. *Front. Pediatr.* 2:62. doi: 10.3389/fped.2014.00062
- Gabbieri, D., Dohmen, P. M., Linneweber, J., Lembcke, A., Braun, J. P., and Konertz, W. (2007). Ross procedure with a tissue-engineered heart valve in complex congenital aortic valve disease. J. Thorac. Cardiovasc. Surg. 133, 1088–1089. doi: 10.1016/j.jtcvs.2006.12.023
- Geva, T., Martins, J. D., and Wald, R. M. (2014). Atrial septal defects. *Lancet* 383, 1921–1932. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(13)62145-5
- Ghanbari, H., Viatge, H., Kidane, A. G., Burriesci, G., Tavakoli, M., and Seifalian, A. M. (2009). Polymeric heart valves: new materials, emerging hopes. *Trends Biotechnol.* 27, 359–367. doi: 10.1016/j.tibtech.2009.03.002
- Gnecchi, M., Danieli, P., and Cervio, E. (2012). Mesenchymal stem cell therapy for heart disease. Vascul. Pharmacol. 57, 48–55. doi: 10.1016/j.vph.2012. 04.002
- Gnecchi, M., He, H., Noiseux, N., Liang, O. D., Zhang, L., Morello, F., et al. (2006).
 Evidence supporting paracrine hypothesis for Akt-modified mesenchymal stem cell-mediated cardiac protection and functional improvement. *FASEB J.* 20, 661–669. doi: 10.1096/fj.05-5211com
- Godbey, W. T., Hindy, S. B., Sherman, M. E., and Atala, A. (2004). A novel use of centrifugal force for cell seeding into porous scaffolds. *Biomaterials* 25, 2799–2805. doi: 10.1016/j.biomaterials.2003.09.056
- Gossl, M., Khosla, S., Zhang, X., Higano, N., Jordan, K. L., Loeffler, D., et al. (2012). Role of circulating osteogenic progenitor cells in calcific aortic stenosis. J. Am. Coll. Cardiol. 60, 1945–1953. doi: 10.1016/j.jacc.2012.07.042
- He, W., Nieponice, A., Soletti, L., Hong, Y., Gharaibeh, B., Crisan, M., et al. (2010). Pericyte-based human tissue engineered vascular grafts. *Biomaterials* 31, 8235–8244. doi: 10.1016/j.biomaterials.2010.07.034
- Hecker, L., and Birla, R. K. (2007). Engineering the heart piece by piece: state of the art in cardiac tissue engineering. *Regen. Med.* 2, 125–144. doi: 10.2217/17460751.2.2.125

- Henaine, R., Roubertie, F., Vergnat, M., and Ninet, J. (2012). Valve replacement in children: a challenge for a whole life. Arch. Cardiovasc. Dis. 105, 517–528. doi: 10.1016/j.acvd.2012.02.013
- Hibino, N., McGillicuddy, E., Matsumura, G., Ichihara, Y., Naito, Y., Breuer, C., et al. (2010). Late-term results of tissue-engineered vascular grafts in humans. J. Thorac. Cardiovasc. Surg. 139, 431–436, e431–e432. doi: 10.1016/j.jtcvs.2009.09.057
- Hoashi, T., Matsumiya, G., Miyagawa, S., Ichikawa, H., Ueno, T., Ono, M., et al. (2009). Skeletal myoblast sheet transplantation improves the diastolic function of a pressure-overloaded right heart. *J. Thorac. Cardiovasc. Surg.* 138, 460–467. doi: 10.1016/j.jtcvs.2009.02.018
- Hosoda, T., Kajstura, J., Leri, A., and Anversa, P. (2010). Mechanisms of myocardial regeneration. Circ. J. 74, 13–17. doi: 10.1253/circj.CJ-09-0665
- Hsieh, P. C., Segers, V. F., Davis, M. E., MacGillivray, C., Gannon, J., Molkentin, J. D., et al. (2007). Evidence from a genetic fate-mapping study that stem cells refresh adult mammalian cardiomyocytes after injury. *Nat. Med.* 13, 970–974. doi: 10.1038/nm1618
- Hsu, D. T., and Lamour, J. M. (2015). Changing indications for pediatric heart transplantation: complex congenital heart disease. *Circulation* 131, 91–99. doi: 10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.114.001377
- Ibrahim, A. G., Cheng, K., and Marban, E. (2014). Exosomes as critical agents of cardiac regeneration triggered by cell therapy. *Stem Cell Rep.* 2, 606–619. doi: 10.1016/j.stemcr.2014.04.006
- Invernici, G., Emanueli, C., Madeddu, P., Cristini, S., Gadau, S., Benetti, A., et al. (2007). Human fetal aorta contains vascular progenitor cells capable of inducing vasculogenesis, angiogenesis, and myogenesis *in vitro* and in a murine model of peripheral ischemia. *Am. J. Pathol.* 170, 1879–1892. doi: 10.2353/ajpath.2007.060646
- Ishigami, S., Ohtsuki, S., Tarui, S., Ousaka, D., Eitoku, T., Kondo, M., et al. (2015). Intracoronary autologous cardiac progenitor cell transfer in patients with hypoplastic left heart syndrome: the TICAP prospective phase 1 controlled trial. *Circ. Res.* 116, 653–664. doi: 10.1161/CIRCRESAHA.116.304671
- Kalfa, D., and Bacha, E. (2013). New technologies for surgery of the congenital cardiac defect. *Rambam Maimonides Med. J.* 4:e0019. doi: 10.5041/RMMJ.10119
- Kawada, H., Fujita, J., Kinjo, K., Matsuzaki, Y., Tsuma, M., Miyatake, H., et al. (2004). Nonhematopoietic mesenchymal stem cells can be mobilized and differentiate into cardiomyocytes after myocardial infarction. *Blood* 104, 3581–3587. doi: 10.1182/blood-2004-04-1488
- Khoshnood, B., Lelong, N., Houyel, L., Thieulin, A. C., Jouannic, J. M., Magnier, S., et al. (2012). Prevalence, timing of diagnosis and mortality of newborns with congenital heart defects: a population-based study. *Heart* 98, 1667–1673. doi: 10.1136/heartjnl-2012-302543
- Klemmt, P. A., Vafaizadeh, V., and Groner, B. (2011). The potential of amniotic fluid stem cells for cellular therapy and tissue engineering. *Expert Opin. Biol. Ther.* 11, 1297–1314. doi: 10.1517/14712598.2011.587800
- Krause, K., Schneider, C., Kuck, K. H., and Jaquet, K. (2010). Stem cell therapy in cardiovascular disorders. *Cardiovasc. Ther.* 28, e101–e110. doi: 10.1111/j.1755-5922.2010.00208.x
- Lambert, V., Gouadon, E., Capderou, A., Le Bret, E., Ly, M., Dinanian, S., et al. (2015). Right ventricular failure secondary to chronic overload in congenital heart diseases: benefits of cell therapy using human embryonic stem cellderived cardiac progenitors. *J. Thorac. Cardiovasc. Surg.* 149, 708–715, e701. doi: 10.1016/j.jtcvs.2014.11.033
- Lundy, S. D., Zhu, W. Z., Regnier, M., and Laflamme, M. A. (2013). Structural and functional maturation of cardiomyocytes derived from human pluripotent stem cells. *Stem Cells Dev.* 22, 1991–2002. doi: 10.1089/scd.2012.0490
- Macchiarini, P., Jungebluth, P., Go, T., Asnaghi, M. A., Rees, L. E., Cogan, T. A., et al. (2008). Clinical transplantation of a tissue-engineered airway. *Lancet* 372, 2023–2030. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(08)61598-6
- Madonna, R., and De Caterina, R. (2015). Circulating endothelial progenitor cells: do they live up to their name? *Vascul. Pharmacol.* 67–69, 2–5. doi: 10.1016/j.vph.2015.02.018
- Makkar, R. R., Smith, R. R., Cheng, K., Malliaras, K., Thomson, L. E., Berman, D., et al. (2012). Intracoronary cardiosphere-derived cells for heart regeneration after myocardial infarction (CADUCEUS): a prospective, randomised phase 1 trial. *Lancet* 379, 895–904. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(12)60195-0

- Matsumura, G., Hibino, N., Ikada, Y., Kurosawa, H., and Shin'oka T. (2003a). Successful application of tissue engineered vascular autografts: clinical experience. *Biomaterials* 24, 2303–2308. doi: 10.1016/S0142-9612(03)00043-7
- Matsumura, G., Miyagawa-Tomita, S. T., Shin'oka, Ikada, Y., and Kurosawa, H. (2003b). First evidence that bone marrow cells contribute to the construction of tissue-engineered vascular autografts *in vivo*. *Circulation* 108, 1729–1734. doi: 10.1161/01.CIR.0000092165.32213.61
- Mayshar, Y., Ben-David, U., Lavon, N., Biancotti, J. C., Yakir, B., Clark, A. T., et al. (2010). Identification and classification of chromosomal aberrations in human induced pluripotent stem cells. *Cell Stem Cell* 7, 521–531. doi: 10.1016/j.stem.2010.07.017
- Messina, E., De Angelis, L., Frati, G., Morrone, S., Chimenti, S., Fiordaliso, F., et al. (2004). Isolation and expansion of adult cardiac stem cells from human and murine heart. *Circ. Res.* 95, 911–921. doi: 10.1161/01.RES.0000147315.71699.51
- Mirensky, T. L., and Breuer, C. K. (2008). The development of tissue-engineered grafts for reconstructive cardiothoracic surgical applications. *Pediatr. Res.* 63, 559–568. doi: 10.1203/01.pdr.0000305938.92695.b9
- Mishra, R., Vijayan, K., Colletti, E. J., Harrington, D. A., Matthiesen, T. S., Simpson, D., et al. (2011). Characterization and functionality of cardiac progenitor cells in congenital heart patients. *Circulation* 123, 364–373. doi: 10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.110.971622
- Muller, P., Pfeiffer, P., Koglin, J., Schafers, H. J., Seeland, U., Janzen, I., et al. (2002). Cardiomyocytes of noncardiac origin in myocardial biopsies of human transplanted hearts. *Circulation* 106, 31–35. doi: 10.1161/01.CIR.0000022405.68464.CA
- Murry, C. E., Soonpaa, M. H., Reinecke, H., Nakajima, H., Nakajima, H. O., Rubart, M., et al. (2004). Haematopoietic stem cells do not transdifferentiate into cardiac myocytes in myocardial infarcts. *Nature* 428, 664–668, doi: 10.1038/nature02446
- Naito, Y., Imai, Y. T., Shin'oka, Kashiwagi, J., Aoki, M., Watanabe, M., et al. (2003). Successul clinical application of tissue-engineered graft for extracardiac Fontan operation. J. Thorac. Cardiovasc. Surg. 125, 419–420. doi: 10.1067/mtc.2003.134
- Neumann, A., Cebotari, S., Tudorache, I., Haverich, A., and Sarikouch, S. (2013). Heart valve engineering: decellularized allograft matrices in clinical practice. *Biomed. Tech. (Berl).* 58, 453–456. doi: 10.1515/bmt-2012-0115
- Ohata, Y., and Ozono, K. (2014). Bone and Stem Cells. The mechanism of osteogenic differentiation from mesenchymal stem cell. *Clin. Calcium* 24, 501–508. doi: CliCa1404501508
- Pasquali, S. K., Shera, D., Wernovsky, G., Cohen, M. S., Tabbutt, S., Nicolson, S., et al. (2007). Midterm outcomes and predictors of reintervention after the Ross procedure in infants, children, and young adults. *J. Thorac. Cardiovasc. Surg.* 133, 893–899. doi: 10.1016/j.jtcvs.2006.12.006
- Peral, S. C., Burkhart, H. M., and Nelson, T. J. (2014). Utilization of stem cells to treat congenital heart disease: hype and hope. *Curr. Opin. Pediatr.* 26, 553–560. doi: 10.1097/MOP.0000000000138
- Perri, G., Polito, A., Esposito, C., Albanese, S. B., Francalanci, P., Pongiglione, G., et al. (2012). Early and late failure of tissue-engineered pulmonary valve conduits used for right ventricular outflow tract reconstruction in patients with congenital heart disease. *Eur. J. Cardiothorac. Surg.* 41, 1320–1325. doi: 10.1093/ejcts/ezr221
- Pincott, E. S., and Burch, M. (2012). Potential for stem cell use in congenital heart disease. *Future Cardiol.* 8, 161–169. doi: 10.2217/fca.12.13
- Pok, S., and Jacot, J. G. (2011). Biomaterials advances in patches for congenital heart defect repair. J. Cardiovasc. Transl. Res. 4, 646–654. doi: 10.1007/s12265-011-9289-8
- Quaini, F., Urbanek, K., Beltrami, A. P., Finato, N., Beltrami, C. A., Nadal-Ginard, B., et al. (2002). Chimerism of the transplanted heart. *N. Engl. J. Med.* 346, 5–15. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa012081
- Quarti, A., Nardone, S., Colaneri, M., Santoro, G., and Pozzi, M. (2011). Preliminary experience in the use of an extracellular matrix to repair congenital heart diseases. *Interact. Cardiovasc. Thorac. Surg.* 13, 569–572. doi: 10.1510/icvts.2011.280016
- Razzouk, A. J., and Bailey, L. L. (2014). Heart transplantation in children for endstage congenital heart disease. Semin. Thorac. Cardiovasc. Surg. Pediatr. Card. Surg. Annu. 17, 69–76. doi: 10.1053/j.pcsu.2014.01.009
- Reddy, S., Zhao, M., Hu, D. Q., Fajardo, G., Katznelson, E., Punn, R., et al. (2013). Physiologic and molecular characterization of a murine model of

right ventricular volume overload. Am. J. Physiol. Heart Circ. Physiol. 304, H1314–H1327. doi: 10.1152/ajpheart.00776.2012

- Rieder, E., Kasimir, M. T., Silberhumer, G., Seebacher, G., Wolner, E., Simon, P., et al. (2004). Decellularization protocols of porcine heart valves differ importantly in efficiency of cell removal and susceptibility of the matrix to recellularization with human vascular cells. J. Thorac. Cardiovasc. Surg. 127, 399–405. doi: 10.1016/j.jtcvs.2003.06.017
- Roh, J. D., Nelson, G. N., Udelsman, B. V., Brennan, M. P., Lockhart, B., Fong, P. M., et al. (2007). Centrifugal seeding increases seeding efficiency and cellular distribution of bone marrow stromal cells in porous biodegradable scaffolds. *Tissue Eng.* 13, 2743–2749. doi: 10.1089/ten.2007.0171
- Roh, J. D., Sawh-Martinez, R., Brennan, M. P., Jay, S. M., Devine, L., Rao, D. A., et al. (2010). Tissue-engineered vascular grafts transform into mature blood vessels via an inflammation-mediated process of vascular remodeling. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 107, 4669–4674. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0911465107
- Rose, R. A., Jiang, H., Wang, X., Helke, S., Tsoporis, J. N., Gong, N., et al. (2008). Bone marrow-derived mesenchymal stromal cells express cardiacspecific markers, retain the stromal phenotype, and do not become functional cardiomyocytes *in vitro*. *Stem Cells* 26, 2884–2892. doi: 10.1634/stemcells.2008-0329
- Ruel, M., Kulik, A., Lam, B. K., Rubens, F. D., Hendry, P. J., Masters, R. G., et al. (2005). Long-term outcomes of valve replacement with modern prostheses in young adults. *Eur. J. Cardiothorac. Surg.* 27, 425–433. discussion: 433. doi: 10.1016/j.ejcts.2004.12.002
- Rupp, S., Bauer, J., Tonn, T., Schachinger, V., Dimmeler, S., Zeiher, A. M., et al. (2009). Intracoronary administration of autologous bone marrow-derived progenitor cells in a critically ill two-yr-old child with dilated cardiomyopathy. *Pediatr. Transplant.* 13, 620–623. doi: 10.1111/j.1399-3046.2008.01024.x
- Rupp, S., Bauer, J., von Gerlach, S., Fichtlscherer, S., Zeiher, A. M., Dimmeler, S., et al. (2012a). Pressure overload leads to an increase of cardiac resident stem cells. *Basic Res. Cardiol.* 107, 252. doi: 10.1007/s00395-012-0252-x
- Rupp, S., Jux, C., Bonig, H., Bauer, J., Tonn, T., Seifried, E., et al. (2012b). Intracoronary bone marrow cell application for terminal heart failure in children. *Cardiol. Young* 22, 558–563. doi: 10.1017/S1047951112000066
- Rupp, S., Zeiher, A. M., Dimmeler, S., Tonn, T., Bauer, J., Jux, C., et al. (2010). A regenerative strategy for heart failure in hypoplastic left heart syndrome: intracoronary administration of autologous bone marrow-derived progenitor cells. J. Heart Lung Transplant. 29, 574–577. doi: 10.1016/j.healun.2009.10.006
- Ruzmetov, M., Shah, J. J., Geiss, D. M., and Fortuna, R. S. (2012). Decellularized versus standard cryopreserved valve allografts for right ventricular outflow tract reconstruction: a single-institution comparison. *J. Thorac. Cardiovasc. Surg.* 143, 543–549. doi: 10.1016/j.jtcvs.2011.12.032
- Said, S. M., and Burkhart, H. M. (2014). When repair is not feasible: prosthesis selection in children and adults with congenital heart disease. *Semin. Thorac. Cardiovasc. Surg. Pediatr. Card. Surg. Annu.* 17, 22–29. doi: 10.1053/j.pcsu.2014.01.002
- Sanganalmath, S. K., and Bolli, R. (2013). Cell therapy for heart failure: a comprehensive overview of experimental and clinical studies, current challenges, and future directions. *Circ. Res.* 113, 810–834. doi: 10.1161/CIRCRESAHA.113.300219
- Schmidt, D., Stock, U. A., and Hoerstrup, S. P. (2007). Tissue engineering of heart valves using decellularized xenogeneic or polymeric starter matrices. *Philos. Trans. R. Soc. Lond. B Biol. Sci.* 362, 1505–1512. doi: 10.1098/rstb.2007.2131
- Scholl, F. G., Boucek, M. M., Chan, K. C., Valdes-Cruz, L., and Perryman, R. (2010). Preliminary experience with cardiac reconstruction using decellularized porcine extracellular matrix scaffold: human applications in congenital heart disease. World J. Pediatr. Congenit. Heart Surg. 1, 132–136. doi: 10.1177/2150135110362092
- Selem, S. M., Kaushal, S., and Hare, J. M. (2013). Stem cell therapy for pediatric dilated cardiomyopathy. *Curr. Cardiol. Rep.* 15:369. doi: 10.1007/s11886-013-0369-z
- Shetty, R., Pibarot, P., Audet, A., Janvier, R., Dagenais, F., Perron, J., et al. (2009). Lipid-mediated inflammation and degeneration of bioprosthetic heart valves. *Eur. J. Clin. Invest.* 39, 471–480. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2362.2009.02132.x
- Shinoka, T., Breuer, C. K., Tanel, R. E., Zund, G., and Miura, T., Ma, P. X., et al. (1995). Tissue engineering heart valves: valve leaflet replacement study in a lamb model. *Ann. Thorac. Surg.* 60(6 Suppl.), S513–S516. doi: 10.1016/0003-4975(95)00733-4

- Shin'oka, T., Imai, Y., and Ikada, Y. (2001). Transplantation of a tissueengineered pulmonary artery. N. Engl. J. Med. 344, 532–533. doi: 10.1056/NEJM200102153440717
- Shin'oka, T., Matsumura, G., Hibino, N., Naito, Y., Watanabe, M., Konuma, T., et al. (2005). Midterm clinical result of tissue-engineered vascular autografts seeded with autologous bone marrow cells. J. Thorac. Cardiovasc. Surg. 129, 1330–1338. doi: 10.1016/j.jtcvs.2004.12.047
- Simari, R. D., Pepine, C. J., Traverse, J. H., Henry, T. D., Bolli, R., Spoon, D. B., et al. (2014). Bone marrow mononuclear cell therapy for acute myocardial infarction: a perspective from the cardiovascular cell therapy research network. *Circ. Res.* 114, 1564–1568. doi: 10.1161/CIRCRESAHA.114.303720
- Simon, P., Aschauer, C., Moidl, R., Marx, M., Keznickl, F. P., Eigenbauer, E., et al. (2001). Growth of the pulmonary autograft after the Ross operation in childhood. *Eur. J. Cardiothorac. Surg.* 19, 118–121. doi: 10.1016/S1010-7940(00)00638-2
- Simpson, D. L., Mishra, R., Sharma, S., Goh, S. K., Deshmukh, S., and Kaushal, S. (2012). A strong regenerative ability of cardiac stem cells derived from neonatal hearts. *Circulation* 126(11 Suppl. 1), S46–S53. doi: 10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.111.084699
- Smit, F. E., and Dohmen, P. M. (2015). Cardiovascular tissue engineering: where we come from and where are we now? *Med. Sci. Monit. Basic Res.* 21, 1–3. doi: 10.12659/MSMBR.893546
- Strange, G., Brizard, C., Karl, T. R., and Neethling, L. (2015). An evaluation of Admedus' tissue engineering process-treated (ADAPT) bovine pericardium patch (CardioCel) for the repair of cardiac and vascular defects. *Expert Rev. Med. Devices* 12, 135–141. doi: 10.1586/17434440.2015.985651
- Sun, R., Liu, M., Lu, L., Zheng, Y., and Zhang, P. (2015). Congenital heart disease: causes, diagnosis, symptoms, and treatments. *Cell Biochem. Biophys.* doi: 10.1007/s12013-015-0551-6. [Epub ahead of print].
- Sutherland, F. W., Perry, T. E., Yu, Y., Sherwood, M. C., Rabkin, E., Masuda, Y., et al. (2005). From stem cells to viable autologous semilunar heart valve. *Circulation* 111, 2783–2791. doi: 10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.104.498378
- Takahashi, K., Tanabe, K., Ohnuki, M., Narita, M., Ichisaka, T., Tomoda, K., et al. (2007). Induction of pluripotent stem cells from adult human fibroblasts by defined factors. *Cell* 131, 861–872. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2007.11.019
- Tarui, S., Sano, S., and Oh, H. (2014). Stem cell therapies in patients with single ventricle physiology. *Methodist Debakey Cardiovasc. J.* 10, 77–81. doi: 10.14797/mdcj-10-2-77
- Tateishi, K., Ashihara, E., Honsho, S., Takehara, N., Nomura, T., Takahashi, T., et al. (2007). Human cardiac stem cells exhibit mesenchymal features and are maintained through Akt/GSK-3beta signaling. *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun.* 352, 635–641. doi: 10.1016/j.bbrc.2006.11.096
- Tendera, M., Wojakowski, W., Ruzyllo, W., Chojnowska, L., Kepka, C., Tracz, W., et al. (2009). Intracoronary infusion of bone marrow-derived selected CD34+CXCR4+ cells and non-selected mononuclear cells in patients with acute STEMI and reduced left ventricular ejection fraction: results of randomized, multicentre Myocardial Regeneration by Intracoronary Infusion of Selected Population of Stem Cells in Acute Myocardial Infarction (REGENT) Trial. *Eur. Heart J.* 30, 1313–1321. doi: 10.1093/eurheartj/ehp073
- Tennant, P. W., Pearce, M. S., Bythell, M., and Rankin, J. (2010). 20-year survival of children born with congenital anomalies: a population-based study. *Lancet* 375, 649–656. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(09)61922-X
- Torella, D., Ellison, G. M., Karakikes, I., and Nadal-Ginard, B. (2007). Resident cardiac stem cells. *Cell. Mol. Life Sci.* 64, 661–673. doi: 10.1007/s00018-007-6519-y
- Torella, D., Ellison, G. M., Mendez-Ferrer, S., Ibanez, B., and Nadal-Ginard, B. (2006). Resident human cardiac stem cells: role in cardiac cellular homeostasis and potential for myocardial regeneration. *Nat. Clin. Pract. Cardiovasc. Med.* 3(Suppl. 1), S8–S13. doi: 10.1038/ncpcardio0409
- Torigoe, I., Sotome, S., Tsuchiya, A., Yoshii, T., Takahashi, M., Kawabata, S., et al. (2007). Novel cell seeding system into a porous scaffold using a modified low-pressure method to enhance cell seeding efficiency and bone formation. *Cell Transplant.* 16, 729–739. doi: 10.3727/000000007783 465109
- Tudorache, I., Cebotari, S., Sturz, G., Kirsch, L., Hurschler, C., Hilfiker, A., et al. (2007). Tissue engineering of heart valves: biomechanical and morphological properties of decellularized heart valves. *J. Heart Valve Dis.* 16, 567–573. discussion: 574.

- Tweddell, J. S., Pelech, A. N., Frommelt, P. C., Mussatto, K. A., Wyman, J. D., Fedderly, R. T., et al. (2000). Factors affecting longevity of homograft valves used in right ventricular outflow tract reconstruction for congenital heart disease. *Circulation* 102(19 Suppl. 3), III130–III135. doi: 10.1161/01.cir.102.suppl_3.iii-130
- Uccelli, A., Moretta, L., and Pistoia, V. (2008). Mesenchymal stem cells in health and disease. *Nat. Rev. Immunol.* 8, 726–736. doi: 10.1038/nri2395
- Uemura, R., Xu, M., Ahmad, N., and Ashraf, M. (2006). Bone marrow stem cells prevent left ventricular remodeling of ischemic heart through paracrine signaling. *Circ. Res.* 98, 1414–1421. doi: 10.1161/01.RES.0000225952.61196.39
- Vacanti, C. A., Paige, K. T., Kim, W. S., Sakata, J., Upton, J., and Vacanti, J. P. (1994). Experimental tracheal replacement using tissue-engineered cartilage. J. Pediatr. Surg. 29, 201–204. discussion: 204–205. doi: 10.1016/0022-3468(94)90318-2
- Vincentelli, A., Wautot, F., Juthier, F., Fouquet, O., Corseaux, D., Marechaux, S., et al. (2007). *In vivo* autologous recellularization of a tissue-engineered heart valve: are bone marrow mesenchymal stem cells the best candidates? *J. Thorac. Cardiovasc. Surg.* 134, 424–432. doi: 10.1016/j.jtcvs.2007.05.005
- Wald, R. M., Marie Valente, A., and Marelli, A. (2014). Heart failure in adult congenital heart disease: emerging concepts with a focus on tetralogy of Fallot. *Trends Cardiovasc. Med.* 25, 422–432. doi: 10.1016/j.tcm.2014.11.011
- Williams, A. R., Hatzistergos, K. E., Addicott, B., McCall, F., and Carvalho, D., Suncion, V., et al. (2013). Enhanced effect of combining human cardiac stem cells and bone marrow mesenchymal stem cells to reduce infarct size and to restore cardiac function after myocardial infarction. *Circulation* 127, 213–223. doi: 10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.112.131110
- Witt, R. G., Raff, G., Van Gundy, J., Rodgers-Ohlau, M., and Si, M. S. (2013). Short-term experience of porcine small intestinal submucosa patches in paediatric cardiovascular surgery. *Eur. J. Cardiothorac. Surg.* 44, 72–76. doi: 10.1093/ejcts/ezs638
- Wohrle, J., Merkle, N., Mailander, V., Nusser, T., Schauwecker, P., von Scheidt, F., et al. (2010). Results of intracoronary stem cell therapy after acute myocardial infarction. Am. J. Cardiol. 105, 804–812. doi: 10.1016/j.amjcard.2009.10.060
- Woodward, C. S. (2011). Keeping children with congenital heart disease healthy. *J. Pediatr. Health Care* 25, 373–378. doi: 10.1016/j.pedhc.2011.03.007
- Wu, K. H., Mo, X. M., Zhou, B., Lu, S. H., Yang, S. G., Liu, Y. L., et al. (2009). Cardiac potential of stem cells from whole human umbilical cord tissue. J. Cell. Biochem. 107, 926–932. doi: 10.1002/jcb.22193

- Xin, Z., Meng, W., Ya-Ping, H., and Wei, Z. (2008). Different biological properties of circulating and bone marrow endothelial progenitor cells in acute myocardial infarction rats. *Thorac. Cardiovasc. Surg.* 56, 441–448. doi: 10.1055/s-2008-1038879
- Yap, K. H., Murphy, R., Devbhandari, M., and Venkateswaran, R. (2013). Aortic valve replacement: is porcine or bovine valve better? *Interact. Cardiovasc. Thorac. Surg.* 16, 361–373. doi: 10.1093/icvts/ivs447
- Yoder, M. C. (2015). Differentiation of pluripotent stem cells into endothelial cells. *Curr. Opin. Hematol.* 22, 252–257. doi: 10.1097/MOH.00000000000140
- Yoon, C. H., Koyanagi, M., Iekushi, K., Seeger, F., Urbich, C., Zeiher, A. M., et al. (2010). Mechanism of improved cardiac function after bone marrow mononuclear cell therapy: role of cardiovascular lineage commitment. *Circulation* 121, 2001–2011. doi: 10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.109.909291
- Yoon, Y. S., Wecker, A., Heyd, L., Park, J. S., Tkebuchava, T., Kusano, K., et al. (2005). Clonally expanded novel multipotent stem cells from human bone marrow regenerate myocardium after myocardial infarction. J. Clin. Invest. 115, 326–338. doi: 10.1172/JCI200522326
- Young, P. P., Vaughan, D. E., and Hatzopoulos, A. K. (2007). Biologic properties of endothelial progenitor cells and their potential for cell therapy. *Prog. Cardiovasc. Dis.* 49, 421–429. doi: 10.1016/j.pcad.2007.02.004
- Yu, J., Vodyanik, M. A., Smuga-Otto, K., Antosiewicz-Bourget, J., Frane, J. L., Tian, S., et al. (2007). Induced pluripotent stem cell lines derived from human somatic cells. *Science* 318, 1917–1920. doi: 10.1126/science. 1151526
- Yuan, S. M., and Jing, H. (2009). Palliative procedures for congenital heart defects. Arch. Cardiovasc. Dis. 102, 549–557. doi: 10.1016/j.acvd.2009. 04.011

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2015 Avolio, Caputo and Madeddu. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) or licensor are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.



Intractable diseases treated with intra-bone marrow-bone marrow transplantation

Ming Li¹, Kuquan Guo² and Susumu Ikehara¹*

¹ Department of Stem Cell Disorders, Kansai Medical University, Hirakata City, Japan

² Department of Cardiac Surgery, Beijing Institute of Heart, Lung and Blood Vessel Disease, Beijing Anzhen Hospital Affiliated to Capital Medical University, Beijing, China

Edited by:

Atsushi Asakura, University of Minnesota, USA

Reviewed by:

Hong Zhang, Harvard Medical School, USA Simone Pacini, University of Pisa, Italy

*Correspondence:

Susumu Ikehara, Department of Stem Cell Disorders, Kansai Medical University, 2-5-1 Shinmachi, Hirakata City, Osaka 570-1010, Japan e-mail: ikehara@hirakata.kmu.ac.jp Bone marrow transplantation (BMT) is used to treat hematological disorders, autoimmune diseases (ADs) and lymphoid cancers. Intra bone marrow-BMT (IBM-BMT) has been proven to be a powerful strategy for allogeneic BMT due to the rapid hematopoietic recovery and the complete restoration of T cell functions. IBM-BMT not only replaces hematopoietic stem cells (HSCs) but also mesenchymal stromal cells (MSCs). MSCs are multi-potent stem cells that can be isolated from bone marrow (BM), umbilical cord blood (UCB), and adipose tissue. MSCs play an important role in the support of hematopoiesis, and modify and influence the innate and adaptive immune systems. MSCs also differentiate into mesodermal, endodermal and ectodermal lineage cells to repair tissues. This review aims to summarize the functions of BM-derived-MSCs, and the treatment of intractable diseases such as rheumatoid arthritis (RA) and malignant tumors with IBM-BMT.

Keywords: intra-bone marrow-bone marrow transplantation, mesenchymal stem cell, rheumatoid arthritis, malignant tumors, autoimmune diseases

INTRODUCTION

Mesenchymal stromal cells (MSCs) are multi-potent progenitor cells mainly isolated from bone marrow (BM) (Campagnoli et al., 2001), adipose tissue (Zuk et al., 2001), and the umbilical cord (UC) (Erices et al., 2000). MSCs have been shown to differentiate into osteoblasts, adipocytes (Dominici et al., 2006), cardiomyocytes (Makino et al., 1999), and pancreatic islets (Tang et al., 2004). Furthermore, MSCs have the ability to migrate to injured tissue of liver (van Poll et al., 2008) and heart (Yokokawa et al., 2008). Adipose tissue and BM are the most readily available sources of MSCs because they are easy to harvest, and there are no ethical concerns. BM-derived MSCs (BMMSCs) have a higher degree of commitment to differentiate into chondrogenic and osteogenic lineages than adipose tissue-derived MSCs (Gimble et al., 2007), although there appears to be no difference between adipose tissue-derived MSCs and BM MSCs in terms of immunoregulatory functions and support of hematopoiesis (Poloni et al., 2012). On the other hand, BM MSCs modulate the immune response, suppress allogeneic T cell responses, and prevent the development of graft-versus-host disease (GVHD) (English, 2013).

BM transplantation (BMT) is useful for treating hematopoietic disorders, allogeneic BMT also being used to treat autoimmune diseases (ADs) (Nishimura et al., 1994). Intra-bone marrow-bone marrow transplantation (IBM-BMT) has been proven to be the most effective approach to treating allogeneic BMT, since IBM-BMT can replace not only hematopoietic stem cells (HSCs) but also BMMSCs Thus hematopoietic recovery is rapid, and no GVHD develops even if whole BM cells are injected (Kushida et al., 2001; Ikehara, 2003). In this review, we focus on rheumatoid arthritis (RA) and malignant tumors treated with IBM-BMT.

IMMUNOREGULATORY FUNCTIONS OF BMMSCs

BMMSCs have been reported to have the ability to modify and influence almost all the cells of the innate and adaptive immune systems mediated by BMMSC soluble factors, including IL-6, M-CSF, IL-10, TGFβ, HGF, and PGE2 (Aggarwal and Pittenger, 2005; Beyth et al., 2005; Ramasamy et al., 2007). The adaptive immune system, which is composed of T and B lymphocytes, generates specific immune responses to pathogens with the production of memory cells. BMMSCs modulate the function of dendritic cells (DCs), indirectly regulate T and B cell activity, and delay or prevent the development of acute GVHD (Zhang et al., 2009). BMMSCs have also been shown to suppress the differentiation of DCs and their function during allogeneic islet transplantation (Urban et al., 2008; Aldinucci et al., 2010). BMMSCs strongly inhibited the maturation and functioning of monocytederived DCs by interfering selectively with the generation of immature cells via inhibitory mediator of MSC-derived PGE2 (Lee et al., 2006). PGE2 has been identified as one of the candidates responsible for T cell inhibition by BMMSCs, and may have an immunostimulatory role by facilitating Th1 differentiation and expanding the Th17 T cell population (English et al., 2009; Yao et al., 2009). The expression of PGE2 was shown to be upregulated by IFNy and TNFa in the BMMSCs for immunomodulatory function (English et al., 2007). BMMSCs can inhibit the cytotoxic effects of antigen-primed cytotoxic T cells by suppressing the proliferation and activity (Zhao et al., 2005) via the inhibition of the nuclear translocation of nuclear factor-kappa B (Matsuda-Hashii

et al., 2004). BMMSCs have been shown to alter the NK cell phenotype and suppress proliferation of NK cells via the secretion of TGF β 1 and PGE2, and via cytotoxicity against HLA class I-expressing targets (Aggarwal and Pittenger, 2005; Sotiropoulou et al., 2006; Ryan et al., 2007; Uccelli et al., 2008). BMMSCs have also been shown to inhibit the proliferation of B cells when stimulated with anti-CD40L and IL-4 (Glennie et al., 2005). One report has suggested that allogeneic BMMSCs inhibit the activation, proliferation and IgG secretion of B cells in a BXSB mouse model of human systemic lupus erythematosus (Deng et al., 2005).

Allogeneic BMMSCs are effective in the treatment of murine models of human disease (Zappia et al., 2005; Ding et al., 2009; Fiorina et al., 2009). BMMSCs were shown to be able to secrete regulatory cytokines that affect regulatory T cells, and to modulate the immunological dysregulation observed in antibody producing B cells and cytotoxic NK cells in the NOD mouse (Anderson and Bluestone, 2005). BMMSCs promote the endogenous repair of pancreatic islets and renal glomeruli in a streptozotocin-induced diabetic mouse model (Lee et al., 2006). Co-infusion of BMMSCs and BM cells was shown to inhibit the beta cell-specific T cell proliferation and to restore insulin and glucose levels (Urban et al., 2008). BMMSCs secrete many cytokines and growth factors such as HGF, which shows anti-apoptotic activity in hepatocytes and plays an essential part in the regeneration of the liver (Trim et al., 2000; Matsuda-Hashii et al., 2004). BMMSCs have also been shown to protect against experimental liver fibrosis in CCl4-induced rats (Zhao et al., 2005), and to suppress CD3 T-cell proliferation in collagen-induced arthritis (Schurgers et al., 2010).

In mammals, there are seven sirtuin family members, named Sirt1-7. Sirtuins plays a critical role in the regulation of fundamental biological responses to nutritional and environmental stimuli in each subcellular compartment (Blander and Guarente, 2004; Imai and Guarente, 2010). Sirt1 is a class III protein deacetylase, and Sirt1 activity can be regulated through NAD⁺. Sirt1 binds to and deacetylates a number of important transcription factors-such as peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor gamma (PPARy), PPARa, PPAR gamma coactivator 1 alpha (PGC-1a), and the forkhead box, subgroup O (FOXO) family of transcription factors-to drive metabolic responses such as insulin secretion, gluconeogenesis, and fatty acid oxidation (Haigis and Sinclair, 2010). Some reports indicate that Sirt1 promotes osteogenesis and decreases adipogenesis of BMMSCs in vitro (Tseng et al., 2011; Peltz et al., 2012; Puri et al., 2012).

Sirt1 deacetylates β -catenin to regulate differentiation of MSCs in MSCs specific Sirt1 knock-out mice (MSC KO) (Simic et al., 2013). Moreover, Sirt1 has been shown to directly downregulate *Sost* gene expression, and promote bone formation in the treatment of osteoporosis (Cohen-Kfir et al., 2011). One report has shown that CD8 T cell differentiation is regulated by basic leucine zipper transcription factor, ATF-like (BATF), which is a member of the AP-1 family, via Sirt1 expression, BATF deficiency inducing high levels of Sirt1 expression in memory CD8 T cells but not in naive CD8 T cells (Kuroda et al., 2011).

IBM-BMT

We reported that MRL/lpr mice possess abnormal radioresistant stem cells and have provided impressive evidence regarding the origin of ADs in this strain (Ikehara et al., 1989). BMT plus bone graft, which can recruit donor stroma cells, can prevent the recurrence of ADs (Ishida et al., 1994). However, allogeneic BMT + bone grafts failed to treat ADs in MRL/lpr mice, because these mice become more radiosensitive after the onset of lupus nephritis. Moreover, our previous reports showed that stroma cells can be trapped in the liver when BM cells are injected via the portal vein. Thus, directly injecting whole BM cells into the BM, as in IBM-BMT, has been shown to be a powerful strategy for the treatment of ADs in MRL/lpr mice. IBM-BMT, which not only replaces HSCs but also MSCs, has been proven to be the best method for allogeneic BMT: (1) hematopoietic recovery is rapid because the MSCs directly home to the bone cavity, (2) the restoration of T cell functions is complete even in donor-recipient combinations across the MHC barriers, and (3) no graft failure occurs even if the radiation dose is reduced (Kushida et al., 2001). Moreover, IBM-BMT of young marrow cells reversed the reduction of pro-B cells and pre-B cells. The frequency of follicular-B cells in the IBM-BMT group was significantly increased compared to the old group (Hida et al., 2010). We have already used IBM-BMT to successfully treat ADs, osteoporosis, diabetes, Alzheimer's disease, and for the induction of tolerance for organ transplantation (Takada et al., 2006; Guo et al., 2008; Kushida et al., 2009; Li et al., 2009, 2010) (Table 1).

BM cells mainly include HSCs and MSCs. MSCs are essential for supporting hematopoiesis in the BM. HSCs can normally proliferate in major histocompatibility complex (MHC)-compatible MSCs even in allogeneic microenvironments. Because the BMCs are directly injected into bone, IBM-BMT circumvents the risk of MSCs being trapped in the lung and liver. And because both MSCs and HSCs are transplanted, hematopoiesis can be rapidly restored. Moreover, IBM-BMT can prevent the risk of graft rejection, even with the use of a mild conditioning regimen (Kushida et al., 2001).

IBM-BMT FOR TREATMENT OF RA

RA is an AD that results in a chronic, systemic inflammatory disorder that may affect many tissues and organs. RA primarily affects joints, but it also affects other organs such heart, kidney, and blood vessels (Turesson et al., 2003). Its pathophysiology indicates that TNF α drives synovial inflammation and joint destruction. The synovial cells include both fibroblast-like and macrophage-like synoviocytes. Fibroblast-like synoviocytes show abnormal behavior in RA (Scott et al., 2010). About 50% of RA is caused by genetic abnormalities (van der Woude et al., 2009). The classification criteria for RA by the American College of Rheumatology (2010), and the treatment options, are summarized in the work by Scott et al (Scott et al., 2010). Here we talk about stem cell therapy for the treatment of RA in basic experiments and clinical applications.

SKG/Jcl mice are a murine model for RA. BM cells of C57BL/6J mice were transplanted into SKG/Jcl mice using IBM-BMT, and the hematolymphoid cells in the recipient mice were reconstituted by donor-derived cells. There was no evidence of arthritis

Table 1 IBM-BMT treatment of various diseases and induction of
tolerance for organ transplantation.

Authors	Animal model	Effect of IBM-BMT	
Li et al., 2012	Mouse	Improve renal function	
Zhang et al., 2012	Mouse	Prevention of leukemia	
Shi et al., 2011	Mouse	Diminish risk of GVHD	
Feng et al., 2010	Mouse	Prevention of premature ovarian failure	
Li et al., 2009	Mouse	Amelioration of cognitive ability	
Kushida et al., 2009	Mouse	Prevention of rheumatoid arthritis	
Okazaki et al., 2008	Mouse	Liver transplantation	
Miyake et al., 2008	Mouse	Prevention of GVHD	
Abraham et al., 2008	Mouse	Prevention of type 2 diabetes	
Guo et al., 2008	Rat	Long-term donor specific tolerance in cardiac allograft	
Feng et al., 2007	Mouse	Prevention of osteoporosis and hypogonadism	
Koike et al., 2007	Mouse	Suppression of growth of colon cancer cells	
lkebukuro et al., 2006	Mouse	Tolerance induction in allogeneic pancreatic islets	
Kaneda et al., 2005	Rat	Induction of tolerance for lung transplantation	
Takada et al., 2006	Mouse	Prevention of senile osteoporosis	
Taira et al., 2005	Rat	Prevention of type 1 diabetes	
Nakamura et al., 2004	Mouse	Prevention of GVHD	
Esumi et al., 2003	Rat	Induction of tolerance for allogeneic leg transplantation	
lchioka et al., 2002	Mouse	Prevention of senile osteoporosis	

in the SKG/Jcl mice at 12 months after transplantation. Moreover, IBM-BMT has been shown to normalize the percentages of Treg (Foxp3+/CD4+) cells, the percentages of receptor activator of NF-kB ligand+ cells on the CD4+ T cells and the serum levels of TNFa, IL-1, and IL-6. One report demonstrated that IBM-BMT is a viable method of immunological manipulation that suppresses the severe joint destruction and bone absorption in SKG/Jcl mice and lends further credence to the use of this methodology in humans with intractable RA (Kushida et al., 2009). Human UC-derived MSCs have been discussed as a possible treatment for RA in the clinical setting. TNFa and IL-6 decreased and CD4+ CD25+ Foxp3+ T cells increased, in active RA patients after UC-derived MSCs were infused, and the UC-derived MSCs survived for 3-6 months, suggesting that treatment with MSCs would benefit RA patients (Wang et al., 2013). Expression of IL-17, IL-6, and TNFa were inhibited when allogeneic UC-derived MSCs were cultured with peripheral blood mononuclear cells (PBMCs) from RA patients, suggesting that MSCs can prevent the expression of these cytokines and that they have therapeutic potential in the treatment of RA (Wang et al., 2012).

MALIGNANT TUMORS TREATED WITH IBM-BMT + THYMUS TRANSPLANTATION (TT)

Donor lymphocyte infusion (DLI) is a useful method for the treatment of malignant tumors, but it also induces GVHD. However, IBM-BMT has been shown to prevent not only graft failure but also GVHD in animals, even when the radiation dose is reduced (Nakamura et al., 2004). Thus, IBM-BMT plus DLI were used to treat malignant tumors (fibrosarcomas) induced by a tumor cell line (methA). DLI (CD4⁻ spleen cells) can prevent GVHD, but the tumor growth was not suppressed, indicating that CD4+ cells play important roles in graft-versus-tumor (GVT) and GVHD. Our previous results showed that IBM-BMT plus DLI (CD4⁻ lymphocytes) suppressed not only GVHD but also tumor growth (Suzuki et al., 2005). Moreover, the combination of DC, IBM-BMT and DLI showed even better results than the combination of IBM-BMT and DLI in the treatment of solid tumors (Mukaide et al., 2007).

The thymus regulates the production, proliferation and functions of T cells. BMT + TT has been shown to be useful in the treatment of ADs in the MRL/Lpr mouse, because the allogeneic T cells newly-developed by TT are naïve T cells, which show less Fas expression and more resistance to apoptosis than the activated memory T cells with their high Fas expression. We found that the combination of allogeneic IBM-BMT + adult TT from the same donor is effective in mice with solid tumors, as it can induce high thymopoiesis, preserving strong GVT effects without inducing a severe graft-versus-host reaction (GVHR). Meth A sarcoma cells were subcutaneously inoculated into mice, and IBM-BMT + adult TT was then used to treat these mice when the tumor had grown to 5 mm. In tumor-bearing mice, tumor growth was more strongly inhibited by IBM-BMT + adult TT than by IBM-BMT alone. The numbers of CD8⁺ T cells that infiltrated the tumors, and the number of apoptotic tumor cells, both significantly increased in the mice treated with IBM-BMT + adult TT. IBM-BMT + adult TT prevented tumor development with mild GVHR resulting from the induction of high thymopoiesis and a strong GVT effect in the tumor-bearing mice. The number of CD4⁺ FoxP3⁺ cells was lower in the mice treated with IBM-BMT + adult TT than in those treated with IBM-BMT alone. Furthermore, the numbers of CD8⁺ cells infiltrating the tumor and the levels of IFN- γ were higher in the mice treated with IBM-BMT + adult TT than in those treated with IBM-BMT alone (Miyake et al., 2009). Although T regs have been reported to suppress the GVHR induced by CD4⁺T cells, they did not reduce the GVT induced by CD8⁺ T cells (Edinger et al., 2003). Tumors were suppressed to a greater extent as a result of the increased CD4⁺ and CD8⁺ T cells and decreased number of Gr-1⁺/CD11b⁺ myeloid suppressor cells and Foxp3⁺/CD4⁺ T regs, Moreover, the production of CD62L⁻CD44⁺ effector memory T cells and IFN- γ were also higher (Zhang et al., 2011).

IBM-BMT seems to be better than co-transplantation of HSCs and cultured MSCs, mainly because the number of functional MSCs may drop after being cultured *in vitro*, and cultured MSCs also are trapped by the liver and lung in the case of IV-BMT. Umbilical cord blood (UCB) can also be used a source of stem cells for transplantation, although the numbers are generally insufficient to allow this to be used as a general source. IBM thus appears to be the best choice for allogeneic transplantation, despite the limited number of stem cells that can be directly transplanted into the bone cavity. In conclusion, IBM-BMT can efficiently transplant both HSCs and MSCs, is useful to treat intractable diseases such as RA and malignant tumors, and in the future may be useful for treating various intractable diseases.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We would like to thank Mr. Hilary Eastwick-Field and Ms. Keiko Ando for their help in the preparation of the manuscript.

REFERENCES

- Abraham, N. G., Li, M., Vanella, L., Peterson, S. J., Ikehara, S., and Asprinio, D. (2008). Bone marrow stem cell transplant into intra-bone cavity prevents type 2 diabetes: role of heme oxygenase-adiponectin. *J. Autoimmun.* 30, 128–135. doi: 10.1016/j.jaut.2007.12.005
- Aggarwal, S., and Pittenger, M. F. (2005). Human mesenchymal stem cells modulate allogeneic immune cell responses. *Blood* 105, 1815–1822. doi: 10.1182/blood-2004-04-1559
- Aldinucci, A., Rizzetto, L., Pieri, L., Nosi, D., Romagnoli, P., Biagioli, T., et al. (2010). Inhibition of immune synapse by altered dendritic cell actin distribution: a new pathway of mesenchymal stem cell immune regulation. *J. Immunol.* 185, 5102–5110. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1001332
- Anderson, M. S., and Bluestone, J. A. (2005). The NOD mouse: a model of immune dysregulation. Annu. Rev. Immunol. 23, 447–485. doi: 10.1146/annurev.immunol.23.021704.115643
- Beyth, S., Borovsky, Z., Mevorach, D., Liebergall, M., Gazit, Z., Aslan, H., et al. (2005). Human mesenchymal stem cells alter antigen-presenting cell maturation and induce T-cell unresponsiveness. *Blood* 105, 2214–2219. doi: 10.1182/blood-2004-07-2921
- Blander, G., and Guarente, L. (2004). The Sir2 family of protein deacetylases. Annu. Rev. Biochem. 73, 417–435. doi: 10.1146/annurev.biochem.73.011303.073651
- Campagnoli, C., Roberts, I. A., Kumar, S., Bennett, P. R., Bellantuono, I., and Fisk, N. M. (2001). Identification of mesenchymal stem/progenitor cells in human first-trimester fetal blood, liver, and bone marrow. *Blood* 98, 2396–2402. doi: 10.1182/blood.V98.8.2396
- Cohen-Kfir, E., Artsi, H., Levin, A., Abramowitz, E., Bajayo, A., Gurt, I., et al. (2011). Sirt1 is a regulator of bone mass and a repressor of Sost encoding for sclerostin, a bone formation inhibitor. *Endocrinology* 152, 4514–4524. doi: 10.1210/en.2011-1128
- Deng, W., Han, Q., Liao, L., You, S., Deng, H., and Zhao, R. C. (2005). Effects of allogeneic bone marrow-derived mesenchymal stem cells on T and B lymphocytes from BXSB mice. DNA Cell Biol. 24, 458–463. doi: 10.1089/dna.2005.24.458
- Ding, Y., Xu, D., Feng, G., Bushell, A., Muschel, R. J., and Wood, K. J. (2009). Mesenchymal stem cells prevent the rejection of fully allogenic islet grafts by the immunosuppressive activity of matrix metalloproteinase-2 and -9. *Diabetes* 58, 1797–1806. doi: 10.2337/db09-0317
- Dominici, M., Le Blanc, K., Mueller, I., Slaper-Cortenbach, I., Marini, F., Krause, D., et al. (2006). Minimal criteria for defining multipotent mesenchymal stromal cells. The international society for cellular therapy position statement. *Cytotherapy* 8, 315–317. doi: 10.1080/14653240600855905
- Edinger, M., Hoffmann, P., Ermann, J., Drago, K., Fathman, C. G., Strober, S., et al. (2003). CD4+CD25+ regulatory T cells preserve graft-versus-tumor activity while inhibiting graft-versus-host disease after bone marrow transplantation. *Nat. Med.* 9, 1144–1150. doi: 10.1038/nm915
- English, K. (2013). Mechanisms of mesenchymal stromal cell immunomodulation. *Immunol. Cell Biol.* 91, 19–26. doi: 10.1038/icb.2012.56
- English, K., Barry, F. P., Field-Corbett, C. P., and Mahon, B. P. (2007). IFN-gamma and TNF-alpha differentially regulate immunomodulation by murine mesenchymal stem cells. *Immunol. Lett.* 110, 91–100. doi: 10.1016/j.imlet.2007.04.001
- English, K., Ryan, J. M., Tobin, L., Murphy, M. J., Barry, F. P., and Mahon, B. P. (2009). Cell contact, prostaglandin E(2) and transforming growth factor beta 1 play non-redundant roles in human mesenchymal stem cell induction of CD4+CD25(High) forkhead box P3+ regulatory T cells. *Clin. Exp. Immunol.* 156, 149–160. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2249.2009.03874.x

- Erices, A., Conget, P., and Minguell, J. J. (2000). Mesenchymal progenitor cells in human umbilical cord blood. Br. J. Haematol. 109, 235–242. doi: 10.1046/j.1365-2141.2000.01986.x
- Esumi, T., Inaba, M., Ichioka, N., Kushida, T., Iida, H., and Ikehara, S. (2003). Successful allogeneic leg transplantation in rats in conjunction with intra-bone marrow injection of donor bone marrow cells. *Transplantation* 76, 1543–1548. doi: 10.1097/01.TP.0000081945.23698.5D
- Feng, W., Cui, Y., Song, C., Zhan, H., Wang, X., Li, Q., et al. (2007). Prevention of osteoporosis and hypogonadism by allogeneic ovarian transplantation in conjunction with intra-bone marrow-bone marrow transplantation. *Transplantation* 84, 1459–1466. doi: 10.1097/01.tp.0000288182.75398.74
- Feng, W., Cui, Y., Zhan, H., Shi, M., Cui, W., Guo, K., et al. (2010). Prevention of premature ovarian failure and osteoporosis induced by irradiation using allogeneic ovarian/bone marrow transplantation. *Transplantation* 89, 395–401. doi: 10.1097/TP.0b013e3181ca86bb
- Fiorina, P., Jurewicz, M., Augello, A., Vergani, A., Dada, S., La Rosa, S., et al. (2009). Immunomodulatory function of bone marrow-derived mesenchymal stem cells in experimental autoimmune type 1 diabetes. *J. Immunol.* 183, 993–1004. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.0900803
- Gimble, J. M., Katz, A. J., and Bunnell, B. A. (2007). Adipose-derived stem cells for regenerative medicine. *Circ. Res.* 100, 1249–1260. doi: 10.1161/01.RES.0000265074.83288.09
- Glennie, S., Soeiro, I., Dyson, P. J., Lam, E. W., and Dazzi, F. (2005). Bone marrow mesenchymal stem cells induce division arrest anergy of activated T cells. *Blood* 105, 2821–2827. doi: 10.1182/blood-2004-09-3696
- Guo, K., Inaba, M., Li, M., An, J., Cui, W., Song, C., et al. (2008). Longterm donor-specific tolerance in rat cardiac allografts by intrabone marrow injection of donor bone marrow cells. *Transplantation* 85, 93–101. doi: 10.1097/01.tp.0000296061.71662.76
- Haigis, M. C., and Sinclair, D. A. (2010). Mammalian sirtuins: biological insights and disease relevance. Annu. Rev. Pathol. 5, 253–295. doi: 10.1146/annurev.pathol.4.110807.092250
- Hida, D., Ishiguro, N., Haneda, M., Ishida, Y., Suzuki, H., and Isobe, K. (2010). Intra-bone marrow bone marrow transplantation rejuvenates the B-cell lineage in aged mice. *Immunol. Cell Biol.* 88, 87–94. doi: 10.1038/icb.2009.69
- Ichioka, N., Inaba, M., Kushida, T., Esumi, T., Takahara, K., Inaba, K., et al. (2002). Prevention of senile osteoporosis in SAMP6 mice by intrabone marrow injection of allogeneic bone marrow cells. *Stem Cells* 20, 542–551. doi: 10.1634/ stemcells.20-6-542
- Ikebukuro, K., Adachi, Y., Suzuki, Y., Iwasaki, M., Nakano, K., Koike, Y., et al. (2006). Synergistic effects of injection of bone marrow cells into both portal vein and bone marrow on tolerance induction in transplantation of allogeneic pancreatic islets. *Bone Marrow Transplant.* 38, 657–664. doi: 10.1038/sj.bmt. 1705500
- Ikehara, S. (2003). A novel strategy for allogeneic stem cell transplantation: perfusion method plus intra-bone marrow injection of stem cells. *Exp. Hematol.* 31, 1142–1146. doi: 10.1016/j.exphem.2003.08.020
- Ikehara, S., Yasumizu, R., Inaba, M., Izui, S., Hayakawa, K., Sekita, K., et al. (1989). Long-term observations of autoimmune-prone mice treated for autoimmune disease by allogeneic bone marrow transplantation. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 86, 3306–3310.
- Imai, S., and Guarente, L. (2010). Ten years of NAD-dependent SIR2 family deacetylases: implications for metabolic diseases. *Trends Pharmacol. Sci.* 31, 212–220. doi: 10.1016/j.tips.2010.02.003
- Ishida, T., Inaba, M., Hisha, H., Sugiura, K., Adachi, Y., Nagata, N., et al. (1994). Requirement of donor-derived stromal cells in the bone marrow for successful allogeneic bone marrow transplantation. Complete prevention of recurrence of autoimmune diseases in MRL/MP-Ipr/Ipr mice by transplantation of bone marrow plus bones (stromal cells) from the same donor. *J. Immunol.* 152, 3119–3127.
- Kaneda, H., Adachi, Y., Saito, Y., Ikebukuro, K., Machida, H., Suzuki, Y., et al. (2005). Long-term observation after simultaneous lung and intra-bone marrow-bone marrow transplantation. *J. Heart Lung Transplant.* 24, 1415–1423. doi: 10.1016/j.healun.2004.08.015
- Koike, Y., Adachi, Y., Suzuki, Y., Iwasaki, M., Koike-Kiriyama, N., Minamino, K., et al. (2007). Allogeneic intrabone marrow-bone marrow transplantation plus donor lymphocyte infusion suppresses growth of colon cancer cells implanted in skin and liver of rats. *Stem Cells* 25, 385–391. doi: 10.1634/stemcells.2006-0227

- Kuroda, S., Yamazaki, M., Abe, M., Sakimura, K., Takayanagi, H., and Iwai, Y. (2011). Basic leucine zipper transcription factor, ATF-like (BATF) regulates epigenetically and energetically effector CD8 T-cell differentiation via Sirt1 expression. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 108, 14885–14889. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1105133108
- Kushida, T., Inaba, M., Hisha, H., Ichioka, N., Esumi, T., Ogawa, R., et al. (2001). Intra-bone marrow injection of allogeneic bone marrow cells: a powerful new strategy for treatment of intractable autoimmune diseases in MRL/lpr mice. *Blood* 97, 3292–3299. doi: 10.1182/blood.V97.10.3292
- Kushida, T., Ueda, Y., Umeda, M., Oe, K., Okamoto, N., Iida, H., et al. (2009). Allogeneic intra-bone marrow transplantation prevents rheumatoid arthritis in SKG/Jcl mice. J. Autoimmun. 32, 216–222. doi: 10.1016/j.jaut.2009. 02.015
- Lee, R. H., Seo, M. J., Reger, R. L., Spees, J. L., Pulin, A. A., Olson, S. D., et al. (2006). Multipotent stromal cells from human marrow home to and promote repair of pancreatic islets and renal glomeruli in diabetic NOD/scid mice. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 103, 17438–17443. doi: 10.1073/pnas.06082 49103
- Li, M., Abraham, N. G., Vanella, L., Zhang, Y., Inaba, M., Hosaka, N., et al. (2010). Successful modulation of type 2 diabetes in db/db mice with intra-bone marrow–bone marrow transplantation plus concurrent thymic transplantation. *J. Autoimmun.* 35, 414–423. doi: 10.1016/j.jaut.2010.09.001
- Li, M., Inaba, M., Guo, K., Abraham, N. G., and Ikehara, S. (2009). Amelioration of cognitive ability in senescence-accelerated mouse prone 8 (SAMP8) by intrabone marrow-bone marrow transplantation. *Neurosci. Lett.* 465, 36–40. doi: 10.1016/j.neulet.2009.09.001
- Li, M., Vanella, L., Zhang, Y., Shi, M., Takaki, T., Shapiro, J. I., et al. (2012). Stem cell transplantation increases antioxidant effects in diabetic mice. *Int. J. Biol. Sci.* 8, 1335–1344. doi: 10.7150/ijbs.4654
- Makino, S., Fukuda, K., Miyoshi, S., Konishi, F., Kodama, H., Pan, J., et al. (1999). Cardiomyocytes can be generated from marrow stromal cells *in vitro. J. Clin. Invest.* 103, 697–705. doi: 10.1172/JCI5298
- Matsuda-Hashii, Y., Takai, K., Ohta, H., Fujisaki, H., Tokimasa, S., Osugi, Y., et al. (2004). Hepatocyte growth factor plays roles in the induction and autocrine maintenance of bone marrow stromal cell IL-11, SDF-1 alpha, and stem cell factor. *Exp. Hematol.* 32, 955–961. doi: 10.1016/j.exphem.2004. 06.012
- Miyake, T., Hosaka, N., Cui, W., Nishida, T., Takaki, T., Inaba, M., et al. (2009). Adult thymus transplantation with allogeneic intra-bone marrow-bone marrow transplantation from same donor induces high thymopoiesis, mild graftversus-host reaction and strong graft-versus-tumour effects. *Immunology* 126, 552–564. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2567.2008.02920.x
- Miyake, T., Inaba, M., Fukui, J., Ueda, Y., Hosaka, N., Kamiyama, Y., et al. (2008). Prevention of graft-versus-host disease by intrabone marrow injection of donor T cells: involvement of bone marrow stromal cells. *Clin. Exp. Immunol.* 152, 153–162. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2249.2008.03615.x
- Mukaide, H., Adachi, Y., Koike-Kiriyama, N., Suzuki, Y., Minamino, K., Iwasaki, M., et al. (2007). Immunotherapy for malignant tumors using combination of allogeneic intra-bone marrow-bone marrow transplantation, donor lymphocyte infusion and dendritic cells. *Int. J. Oncol.* 30, 1309–1315.
- Nakamura, K., Inaba, M., Sugiura, K., Yoshimura, T., Kwon, A. H., Kamiyama, Y., et al. (2004). Enhancement of allogeneic hematopoietic stem cell engraftment and prevention of GVHD by intra-bone marrow bone marrow transplantation plus donor lymphocyte infusion. *Stem Cells* 22, 125–134. doi: 10.1634/stemcells.22-2-125
- Nishimura, M., Toki, J., Sugiura, K., Hashimoto, F., Tomita, T., Fujishima, H., et al. (1994). Focal segmental glomerular sclerosis, a type of intractable chronic glomerulonephritis, is a stem cell disorder. *J. Exp. Med.* 179, 1053–1058.
- Okazaki, S., Hisha, H., Mizokami, T., Takaki, T., Wang, X., Song, C., et al. (2008). Successful acceptance of adult liver allografts by intra-bone marrowbone marrow transplantation. *Stem Cells Dev.* 17, 629–639. doi: 10.1089/scd. 2007.0218
- Peltz, L., Gomez, J., Marquez, M., Alencastro, F., Atashpanjeh, N., Quang, T., et al. (2012). Resveratrol exerts dosage and duration dependent effect on human mesenchymal stem cell development. *PLoS ONE* 7:e37162. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0037162
- Poloni, A., Maurizi, G., Leoni, P., Serrani, F., Mancini, S., Frontini, A., et al. (2012). Human dedifferentiated adipocytes show similar properties to bone marrowderived mesenchymal stem cells. *Stem Cells* 30, 965–974. doi: 10.1002/stem.1067

- Puri, N., Sodhi, K., Haarstad, M., Kim, D. H., Bohinc, S., Foglio, E., et al. (2012). Heme induced oxidative stress attenuates sirtuin1 and enhances adipogenesis in mesenchymal stem cells and mouse pre-adipocytes. J. Cell. Biochem. 113, 1926–1935. doi: 10.1002/jcb.24061
- Ramasamy, R., Fazekasova, H., Lam, E. W., Soeiro, I., Lombardi, G., and Dazzi, F. (2007). Mesenchymal stem cells inhibit dendritic cell differentiation and function by preventing entry into the cell cycle. *Transplantation* 83, 71–76. doi: 10.1097/01.tp.0000244572.24780.54
- Ryan, J. M., Barry, F., Murphy, J. M., and Mahon, B. P. (2007). Interferon-gamma does not break, but promotes the immunosuppressive capacity of adult human mesenchymal stem cells. *Clin. Exp. Immunol.* 149, 353–363. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2249.2007.03422.x
- Schurgers, E., Kelchtermans, H., Mitera, T., Geboes, L., and Matthys, P. (2010). Discrepancy between the *in vitro* and *in vivo* effects of murine mesenchymal stem cells on T-cell proliferation and collagen-induced arthritis. *Arthritis Res. Ther.* 12, R31. doi: 10.1186/ar2939
- Scott, D. L., Wolfe, F., and Huizinga, T. W. (2010). Rheumatoid arthritis. *Lancet* 376, 1094–1108. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(10)60826-4
- Shi, M., Adachi, Y., Cui, Y., Li, M., Lian, Z., Zhang, Y., et al. (2011). Combination of intra-bone marrow-bone marrow transplantation and subcutaneous donor splenocyte injection diminishes risk of graft-versus-host disease and enhances survival rate. *Stem Cells Dev.* 20, 759–768. doi: 10.1089/scd.2010. 0232
- Simic, P., Zainabadi, K., Bell, E., Sykes, D. B., Saez, B., Lotinun, S., et al. (2013). SIRT1 regulates differentiation of mesenchymal stem cells by deacetylating betacatenin. *EMBO Mol. Med.* 5, 430–440. doi: 10.1002/emmm.201201606
- Sotiropoulou, P. A., Perez, S. A., Gritzapis, A. D., Baxevanis, C. N., and Papamichail, M. (2006). Interactions between human mesenchymal stem cells and natural killer cells. *Stem Cells* 24, 74–85. doi: 10.1634/stemcells.2004-0359
- Suzuki, Y., Adachi, Y., Minamino, K., Zhang, Y., Iwasaki, M., Nakano, K., et al. (2005). A new strategy for treatment of malignant tumor: intra-bone marrowbone marrow transplantation plus CD4- donor lymphocyte infusion. *Stem Cells* 23, 365–370. doi: 10.1634/stemcells.2004-0258
- Taira, M., Inaba, M., Takada, K., Baba, S., Fukui, J., Ueda, Y., et al. (2005). Treatment of streptozotocin-induced diabetes mellitus in rats by transplantation of islet cells from two major histocompatibility complex disparate rats in combination with intra bone marrow injection of allogeneic bone marrow cells. *Transplantation* 79, 680–687. doi: 10.1097/01.TP.0000155500.17348.94
- Takada, K., Inaba, M., Ichioka, N., Ueda, Y., Taira, M., Baba, S., et al. (2006). Treatment of senile osteoporosis in SAMP6 mice by intra-bone marrow injection of allogeneic bone marrow cells. *Stem Cells* 24, 399–405. doi: 10.1634/stemcells.2005-0068
- Tang, D. Q., Cao, L. Z., Burkhardt, B. R., Xia, C. Q., Litherland, S. A., Atkinson, M. A., et al. (2004). *In vivo* and *in vitro* characterization of insulin-producing cells obtained from murine bone marrow. *Diabetes* 53, 1721–1732. doi: 10.2337/diabetes.53.7.1721
- Trim, N., Morgan, S., Evans, M., Issa, R., Fine, D., Afford, S., et al. (2000). Hepatic stellate cells express the low affinity nerve growth factor receptor p75 and undergo apoptosis in response to nerve growth factor stimulation. Am. J. Pathol. 156, 1235–1243. doi: 10.1016/S0002-9440(10) 64994-2
- Tseng, P. C., Hou, S. M., Chen, R. J., Peng, H. W., Hsieh, C. F., Kuo, M. L., et al. (2011). Resveratrol promotes osteogenesis of human mesenchymal stem cells by upregulating RUNX2 gene expression via the SIRT1/FOXO3A axis. *J. Bone Miner. Res.* 26, 2552–2563. doi: 10.1002/jbmr.460
- Turesson, C., O'Fallon, W. M., Crowson, C. S., Gabriel, S. E., and Matteson, E. L. (2003). Extra-articular disease manifestations in rheumatoid arthritis: incidence trends and risk factors over 46 years. *Ann. Rheum. Dis.* 62, 722–727. doi: 10.1136/ard.62.8.722
- Uccelli, A., Moretta, L., and Pistoia, V. (2008). Mesenchymal stem cells in health and disease. *Nat. Rev. Immunol.* 8, 726–736. doi: 10.1038/nri2395
- Urban, V. S., Kiss, J., Kovacs, J., Gocza, E., Vas, V., Monostori, E., et al. (2008). Mesenchymal stem cells cooperate with bone marrow cells in therapy of diabetes. *Stem Cells* 26, 244–253. doi: 10.1634/stemcells.2007-0267
- van der Woude, D., Houwing-Duistermaat, J. J., Toes, R. E., Huizinga, T. W., Thomson, W., Worthington, J., et al. (2009). Quantitative heritability of anti-citrullinated protein antibody-positive and anti-citrullinated protein antibody-negative rheumatoid arthritis. *Arthritis Rheum.* 60, 916–923. doi: 10.1002/art.24385

- van Poll, D., Parekkadan, B., Cho, C. H., Berthiaume, F., Nahmias, Y., Tilles, A. W., et al. (2008). Mesenchymal stem cell-derived molecules directly modulate hepatocellular death and regeneration *in vitro* and *in vivo*. *Hepatology* 47, 1634–1643. doi: 10.1002/hep.22236
- Wang, Q., Li, X., Luo, J., Zhang, L., Ma, L., Lv, Z., et al. (2012). The allogeneic umbilical cord mesenchymal stem cells regulate the function of T helper 17 cells from patients with rheumatoid arthritis in an *in vitro* co-culture system. *BMC Musculoskelet. Disord.* 13:249. doi: 10.1186/1471-2474-13-249
- Wang, L., Cong, X., Liu, G., Zhou, J., Bai, B., Li, Y., et al. (2013). Human umbilical cord mesenchymal stem cell therapy for patients with active rheumatoid arthritis: safety and efficacy. *Stem Cells Dev.* 22, 3192–3202. doi: 10.1089/scd.2013.0023
- Yao, C., Sakata, D., Esaki, Y., Li, Y., Matsuoka, T., Kuroiwa, K., et al. (2009). Prostaglandin E2-EP4 signaling promotes immune inflammation through Th1 cell differentiation and Th17 cell expansion. *Nat. Med.* 15, 633–640. doi: 10.1038/nm.1968
- Yokokawa, M., Ohnishi, S., Ishibashi-Ueda, H., Obata, H., Otani, K., Miyahara, Y., et al. (2008). Transplantation of mesenchymal stem cells improves atrioventricular conduction in a rat model of complete atrioventricular block. *Cell Transplant.* 17, 1145–1155. doi: 10.3727/096368908787236594
- Zappia, E., Casazza, S., Pedemonte, E., Benvenuto, F., Bonanni, I., Gerdoni, E., et al. (2005). Mesenchymal stem cells ameliorate experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis inducing T-cell anergy. *Blood* 106, 1755–1761. doi: 10.1182/blood-2005-04-1496
- Zhang, B., Liu, R., Shi, D., Liu, X., Chen, Y., Dou, X., et al. (2009). Mesenchymal stem cells induce mature dendritic cells into a novel Jagged-2-dependent regulatory dendritic cell population. *Blood* 113, 46–57. doi: 10.1182/blood-2008-04-154138
- Zhang, Y., Hosaka, N., Cui, Y., Shi, M., and Ikehara, S. (2011). Effects of allogeneic hematopoietic stem cell transplantation plus thymus transplantation on

malignant tumors: comparison between fetal, newborn, and adult mice. *Stem Cells Dev.* 20, 599–607. doi: 10.1089/scd.2010.0230

- Zhang, Y., Hosaka, N., Cui, Y., Shi, M., Li, M., Li, Q., et al. (2012). Effects of intrabone marrow-bone marrow transplantation plus adult thymus transplantation on survival of mice bearing leukemia. *Stem Cells Dev.* 21, 1441–1448. doi: 10.1089/scd.2011.0358
- Zhao, D. C., Lei, J. X., Chen, R., Yu, W. H., Zhang, X. M., Li, S. N., et al. (2005). Bone marrow-derived mesenchymal stem cells protect against experimental liver fibrosis in rats. World J. Gastroenterol. 11, 3431–3440.
- Zuk, P. A., Zhu, M., Mizuno, H., Huang, J., Futrell, J. W., Katz, A. J., et al. (2001). Multilineage cells from human adipose tissue: implications for cell-based therapies. *Tissue Eng.* 7, 211–228. doi: 10.1089/107632701300062859

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Received: 12 June 2014; accepted: 15 August 2014; published online: 02 September 2014.

Citation: Li M, Guo K and Ikehara S (2014) Intractable diseases treated with intrabone marrow-bone marrow transplantation. Front. Cell Dev. Biol. 2:48. doi: 10.3389/ fcell.2014.00048

This article was submitted to Stem Cell Research, a section of the journal Frontiers in Cell and Developmental Biology.

Copyright © 2014 Li, Guo and Ikehara. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) or licensor are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.



Recruitment of bone marrow-derived cells to periodontal tissue defects

Yasuyuki Kimura¹, Motohiro Komaki²*, Kengo Iwasaki², Masataka Sata³, Yuichi Izumi^{1,4} and Ikuo Morita^{4,5}

¹ Department of Periodontology, Graduate School of Medical and Dental Science, Tokyo Medical and Dental University, Tokyo, Japan

² Department of Nanomedicine (DNP), Graduate School of Medical and Dental Science, Tokyo Medical and Dental University, Tokyo, Japan

³ Department of Cardiovascular Medicine, Institute of Health Biosciences, The University of Tokushima Graduate School, Tokushima, Japan

⁴ Global Center of Excellence Program, International Research Center for Molecular Science in Tooth and Bone Diseases, Tokyo Medical and Dental University, Tokyo, Japan

⁵ Department of Cellular Physiological Chemistry, Graduate School of Medical and Dental Science, Tokyo Medical and Dental University, Tokyo, Japan

Edited by:

Mario Petrini, University of Pisa, Italy

Reviewed by:

Hiroyuki Moriyama, Kinki University, Japan Jyotsna Dhawan, Institute for Stem Cell biology and Regenerative Medicine. India

*Correspondence:

Motohiro Komaki, Department of Nanomedicine (DNP), Graduate School of Medical and Dental Science, Tokyo Medical and Dental University, Room#N607, M&D tower, 1-5-45 Yushima, Bunkyo-ku, 113-8549 Tokyo, Japan e-mail: komaki.peri@tmd.ac.jp Bone marrow-derived cells (BMCs) are considered to be a major source of mesenchymal stem cells (MSCs) in adults and are known to be effective in periodontal tissue regeneration. However, whether endogenous BMCs are involved in periodontal tissue repair process is uncertain. We therefore created periodontal tissue defects in the buccal alveolar bone of mandibular first molars in bone marrow chimeric mice, and immunohistochemically examined the expression of stromal cell derived factor-1 (SDF-1) and the mobilization of BMCs. We found that SDF-1 expression was increased around the defects at as early as 1 week after injury and that BMCs were mobilized to the defects, while GFP+/CD45+ were rarely observed. Fluorescence-activated cell sorting (FACS) analysis demonstrated that the number of platelet-derived growth factor receptor (pdgfr) α +/Sca-1+ (P α S) cells in the bone marrow decreased after injury. Taken together, these results suggest that BMCs are mobilized to the periodontal tissue defects. Recruitment of BMCs, including a subset of MSCs could be a new target of periodontal treatment.

Keywords: bone marrow chimeric mice, periodontal defects, mesenchymal stem cells, recruitment, SDF-1

INTRODUCTION

Periodontal disease is a bacterially induced chronic inflammatory disease that destroys the tooth-supporting tissue and is one of the main causes of tooth loss. The inflammation and breakdown of tissue can be prevented by conventional periodontal treatment such as scaling and root plaining (tissue debridement). However, the conventional treatment does not regain the tissue that has been lost during the disease process. Recently MSC-like cells have been discovered in periodontal ligament (PDLSCs) (Seo et al., 2004) and extensive studies have been carried out to investigate the potential use of PDLSCs as a therapeutic agent for periodontal regeneration.

Mesenchymal stem cells (MSCs) show multi-differentiation capability and self-renewability *in vitro*. Bone marrow is considered as the one of main source of MSCs. Bone marrow MSCs have attracted attention as donor cells for regenerative therapy, and the efficacy of bone marrow MSCs has been also shown by experiments in the periodontal tissue regeneration. For example, it has been reported that canine periodontal defects can be regenerated from bone marrow MSCs mixed with atelocollagen (Kawaguchi et al., 2004) and that transplanted bone marrow MSCs were observed in regenerated periodontal tissue (Hasegawa et al., 2006). Yang et al. demonstrated that engraftment of bone marrow-derived MSCs with gelatin beads successfully regenerated periodontal tissue in rats (Yang et al., 2010).

Endogenous bone marrow-derived cells (BMCs) including MSCs have been reported to promote repair of the remote tissue

by mobilizing into peripheral blood by injury signals, and homing to injured tissues (Mansilla et al., 2006; Alm et al., 2010). Recently, SDF-1 has been reported to involve in the recruitment and engraftment of stem cells in wound sites (Yin et al., 2010). C-X-C chemokine receptor type 4 (CXCR4) is a unique receptor of SDF-1, and is known to express in various cell types, including stem cells (Honczarenko et al., 2006). However, whether the SDF-1/CXCR4 axis is involved in recruitment of BMCs to periodontal wound is not clarified. Particularly, the contribution of endogenous bone marrow MSCs during periodontal tissue repair is not fully understood due to lack of appropriate detection system of MSCs *in vivo*.

A lack of the unique marker is a major obstacle for detection of MSCs *in vivo*. The characteristics of MSCs were confirmed by combination expression of cell surface markers such as CD44, CD73, CD90, and CD105 in a single cell. Besides it must be shown that there is not expression of hematopoietic stem cell marker, CD34 and hematopoietic progeny markers such as CD11b, and CD45. Recently, Morikawa et al. reported the method to isolate MSCs from murine bone marrow without cell culture by cell sorting of pdgfr α (+)/Sca-1 (+) cells (Morikawa et al., 2009).

In this study, we created periodontal defects in the buccal alveolar bone of mandibular first molars in bone marrow chimeric mice and investigated the expression of SDF-1 and the recruitment of bone marrow MSCs during periodontal tissue repair process.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

PREPARATION OF BONE MARROW CHIMERIC MICE

BMCs were isolated from femurs and tibias of GFP transgenic mice as reported previously (Okabe et al., 1997; Sata et al., 2002; Fukuda et al., 2009). In brief, BMCs were hemolyzed with ACK lysing buffer (Lonza, Basel, Switzerland). C57/BL/6 mice (age, 8 weeks; male) were lethally irradiated 9.5 Gy (MBR-1520RB; Hitachi, Tokyo, Japan). Two days after irradiation, unfractionated BMCs $(1 \times 10^6 \text{ cells}/0.3 \text{ ml D-PBS})$ from GFP transgenic mice were intravenously injected into irradiated mice by tail vein puncture. Eight weeks after the transplantation, peripheral bloods were collected from retro-orbital plexus. Replacement ratio of bone marrow was confirmed by fluorescence-activated cell sorting (FACS) aria (BD, Franklin Lakes, NJ, USA). Chimeric mice with a bone marrow substitution rate of over 83% were used in this experiment. All procedures involving the experimental animals were performed in accordance with protocols approved by the local institutional guidelines for animal care of The University of Tokyo and Tokyo Medical and Dental University (0120218A) and complied with the Guide for the Care and Use of Laboratory Animals (NIH guidelines 32).

EXPERIMENTAL PERIODONTAL TISSUE INJURY

Under general anesthesia with sodium pentobarbital (40– 50 mg/kg, IP), we produced 2.0×1.5 mm periodontal tissue defects in the buccal alveolar bone of mandibular first molars in bone marrow chimeric mice, by removing alveolar bone, periodontal ligament and cementum using a round bar with water cooling under a stereoscopic microscope.

IMMUNOHISTOCHEMICAL STAINING

Before or at 1, 2, 4, 5, and 10 weeks after injury, tissue was fixed with 4% paraformaldehyde, followed by decalcification in 10% ethylenediaminetetraacetic acid (EDTA) solution at 4°C. Tissue sections (5 μ) were immunostained for GFP and SDF-1. Briefly, after deparaffinization, sections were washed with PBS, and were treated with 1% hydrogen peroxide (Wako, Osaka, Japan) in methanol. After washing with PBS, sections were blocked with blocking solution (0.5% goat serum in PBS) at room temperature for 30 min.

Before anti mouse SDF-1 antibody treatment, sections were treated with a M.O.M. Immunodetection Kit (Vector Laboratories Inc., Burlingame, CA, USA). Sections were then treated with either anti-mouse GFP antibody (1: 500 dilution, #47894A; Molecular Probes, Eugene, OR) or anti mouse SDF-1 antibody (1: 1000 dilution, #79014; R&D systems, Minneapolis, MN, USA) or anti-mouse CD45 antibody (1: 200 dilution #550539; BD) for 2 h. After washing with PBS three times, sections were treated with secondary antibodies, either anti-rabbit conjugated with biotin (Dako Japan, Kyoto, Japan) or anti-mouse conjugated with biotin (Dako Japan) or anti-rat Cy3 (1: 200 diluted, #56021; Jackson, West Grove, PA, USA) at room temperature for an hour. After washing with PBS three times, sections were treated with ABC-AP mix (Vector Laboratories Inc.) at room temperature for an hour. Detection was performed using Vector Red at room temperature for 10-20 min. Histological examination was performed

FLUORESCENCE-ACTIVATED CELL SORTER (FACS) ANALYSIS FOR IDENTIFICATION OF BONE MARROW MSCs

In the experimental group, BMCs were obtained from murine femurs and tibias 1 week after preparation of periodontal defects. Untreated mice were used as controls. To evaluate the ratio of bone marrow MSCs for all collected cell counts, we conducted at least three experiments using two mice in the experimental and control groups. BMCs were obtained as described previously (Morikawa et al., 2009). Briefly, femurs and tibias were aseptically removed from two mice and bones were crushed with an icecold pestle and mortar. Bone chips, including marrow were rinsed with HBSS+ and were digested using collagenase (#032-22364; Wako) for an hour at 37°C. Collected BMCs were hemolyzed and FcR was blocked with anti-mouse CD16/32 (#553142; BD) on ice for 5 min. BMCs $(2-5 \times 10^5)$ were multi-stained with CD45.2-APC-eFlour780 (#47-0454; eBioscience, San Diego, CA, USA), TER119-PECv7 (#25-5921; eBioscience), pdgfrα-PE (#12-1401-81; eBioscience), Sca-1-APC (#17-5981-81; eBioscience) (1: 100 dilution, 30 min, on ice) and 7AAD (#559925; BD) (1: 100 dilution, 10 min, on ice). The ratio of MSCs [CD45.2 (-), TER119 (-), 7AAD (-), pdgfr α (+), Sca-1 (+) in BMCs was evaluated by FACS analysis.

RESULTS

LOCALIZATION OF GFP-POSITIVE CELLS IN PERIODONTAL TISSUE

In order to investigate the localization of BMCs, we prepared bone marrow chimeric mice and examined GFP-positive cells in the periodontium. Both osteoclasts-like multinucleated giant cell in resorption pits of alveolar bone and macrophages in gingival epithelium, which are known to be derived from bone marrow, were positive for GFP (**Figures 1A,B**). In control mice, GFPpositive cells were observed in both periodontal ligament and dental pulp (**Figures 1C–E**). GFP-positive cells in periodontal ligament were mainly observed around blood vessels (**Figure 1D**). GFP-positive cells were rarely observed in alveolar bone or dentin.

TIME-COURSE OBSERVATIONS OF BMCs AROUND PERIODONTAL TISSUE DEFECTS

Experimental periodontal tissue defects were created in bone marrow chimeric mice. Five weeks after injury, GFP-positive cells were observed in the periodontal ligament in both control and experimental groups. In the experimental group, the number of GFP-positive cells increased significantly around the periodontal tissue defects (Figure 2). Ten weeks after injury, GFP-positive cells around the periodontal tissue defects decreased to control levels. Meanwhile, no changes were seen during the course of experiment in control tissue. In addition, we performed double staining for SDF-1 and GFP in order to check co-localization of SDF-1 and GFP. Five weeks after injury, SDF-1 expression was ubiquitously seen in periodontal ligament and the number of BMCs in experimental tissues was higher than in controls (Figure 3). In control tissue, SDF-1 expression was dominantly observed around blood vessels. A double staining for GFP and CD45 showed limited co-localization of GFP (green) and CD45



FIGURE 1 | Localization of GFP-positive cells in intact periodontal tissue. Visualization of BMCs *in vivo* on periodontal tissue. Arrows indicate osteoclast-like multinucleated giant cells **(A)** and macrophage-like cells in gingival epithelium **(B)** were GFP-positive, implying that GFP-positive images were confirmed to match BMCs. GFP-positive cells were also observed at

the periodontal ligament **(C)**, blood vessels **(D)**, and dental pulp **(E)**. A, multinucleated giant cells in resorption lacunae of alveolar bone; B, gingival epithelium; C, periodontal ligament; D, blood vessels in periodontal ligament; E, dental pulp. G, gingiva; AB, alveolar bone; P, periodontal ligament; DP, dental pulp; D, dentin.



(red). In experimental tissue the number of GFP(+)/CD45(+) cells peaked at 13% GFP-positive cells.

TIME-COURSE OBSERVATIONS OF SDF-1 EXPRESSION AROUND PERIODONTAL TISSUE DEFECTS

At 1, 2, and 4 weeks after injury, SDF-1 expression was immunohistochemically evaluated (Figure 4). One week after



FIGURE 3 | Double staining of GFP and SDF-1/CD45 in periodontal ligaments. In control sites, blood vessel-like structures showed intense staining of SDF-1. GFP-positive cells were observed around SDF-1-positive cells. In experimental sites, SDF-1 expression was ubiquitously detected in periodontal ligament 5 weeks after surgery. The number of GFP-positive cells in experimental tissues was higher than in controls. In experimental tissue, the number of GFP(+)/CD45(+) cells (yellow arrows) was elevated, accounting for 13% of GFP-positive cells (n = 4).

injury, some SDF-1 was observed within the blood vessels of periodontal ligaments in control tissue. In experimental tissue, weak and diffuse SDF-1 staining was observed in the defects and periodontal ligament. After 2 weeks, SDF-1 staining increased markedly and was attenuated by 4 weeks after injury.



POST-OPERATIVE CHANGES IN MSC POPULATION IN BONE MARROW

One week after injury, BMCs were collected from murine femurs and tibias. Immediately after collecting BMCs, MSC population in bone marrow was evaluated by FACS analysis. FACS analysis confirmed that the percentage of pdgfra (+)/Sca-1(+) cells in bone marrow of mice with periodontal defects was significantly lower when compared to controls (**Figure 5**).

DISCUSSION

Involvement of BMCs in the physiology and pathology of various tissues, including heart, lung, liver, kidney, skeletal muscle, bone, and blood vessels, has been reported. Some of these studies used bone marrow chimeric mice and successfully tracked BMCs. In order to determine roles of endogenous BMCs in periodontal tissue, we created bone marrow chimeric mice. Both osteoclast-like multinucleated giant cells at the alveolar bone and macrophages in gingival connective tissue, known to be of bone marrow origin, were positive for GFP staining (Figures 1D,E), implying BMCs were successfully tracked. However, we should be aware of possibility that recipient bone marrow cells may fuse with donor cells, acquiring such phenotypes in periodontal tissue. GFP-positive cells were observed in both the periodontal ligament and dental pulp (Figures 1A,B). To our knowledge, this is the first time that the presence of endogenous BMCs has been demonstrated in naive murine periodontal ligament, at least by observation of bone marrow chimeric mice. In addition, these cells were mainly observed around blood vessels in periodontal ligament (Figure 1C). McCulloch reported that stem cell-like cells with a slow rate of cell proliferation were located in paravascular



BMCs were collected from murine femurs and tibias in both the control and experimental groups. (A) A representative data from FACS analyses. (B) FACS analysis showed that the percentage of MSCs in bone marrow of mice with periodontal defects was significantly lower than in controls. (**p = 0.01) Independent experiments were repeated at least five times.

sites in murine periodontal ligament (McCulloch, 1985). Chen et al. reported that putative stem cells that showed cross-reactivity with at least one among STRO-1, CD146, and CD44 antibodies, mainly in the paravascular region of human periodontal ligament (Chen et al., 2006). It remains elusive whether BMCs observed in our study were the same as the MSCs/progenitor cells residing in periodontal tissue. It is of interest to clarify the physiological role of BMCs in periodontium and to determine whether BMCs are the origin of MSCs/progenitor cells around blood vessels residing in the periodontal ligament. Further studies are thus necessary.

Next, in order to determine whether BMCs contribute to periodontal wound healing, we created periodontal defects in the bone marrow chimeric mice. Zhou et al. have reported engraftment and differentiation of BMCs to periodontal tissue-forming cells when periodontal defects were treated by regenerative procedure, a grafting of ceramic bovine bone (Zhou et al., 2011). In contrast, Ohta et al. have reported that bone marrow-derived MSCs were not detected in repairing periodontal ligament by a single staining of either STRO-1 or CD44 (Ohta et al., 2008). Our result clearly demonstrated that the number of BMCs around periodontal defects increased as a result of tissue injury in accordance with data reported by Zhou et al. The result that Zhou et al. demonstrated is different from ours in that they investigated the participation of BMCs after periodontal regenerative treatment. In contrast, we investigated whether BMCs are involved in tissue repair without treatment. We observed neither localization of BMCs in alveolar bone 10 weeks post-surgery nor restoration of alveolar bone. It is well known that the tissue debridement abrogates tissue degradation, but does not regain the lost tissue,

implying that our model mimics this clinical situation. It is also possible that periodontal tissue healing in irradiated recipient mice may not represent a physiological process that occurs naturally in non-irradiated mice in response to injury. Thus, it remains to be elucidated whether mobilized BMCs actually contribute to periodontal tissue healing.

Kitaori et al. reported that SDF-1 increased during the repair of bone grafts at both the messenger RNA and protein levels, and that anti-SDF-1 antibody inhibited new bone formation (Kitaori et al., 2009). Moreover, Jones et al. demonstrated that migration of MSCs to bone and bone marrow is CXCR4/SDF-1 dependent in a murine osteogenesis imperfecta model and that SDF-1 up-regulates CXCR4 demonstrating chemotaxis in vitro and enhancing engraftment in vivo (Jones et al., 2012). It has been reported that inflammation and hypoxia play an important role in regulating the SDF-1/CXCR4 axis. First we confirmed that hypoxia around periodontal defects after periodontal injury (supplemental figure 1). We then checked the expression of SDF-1 in periodontium, and found that SDF-1 expression increased around periodontal defects and in periodontal ligament prior to the recruitment of BMCs (Figure 4). It has been reported that SDF-1 levels increase in periodontal disease. (Havens et al., 2008) We confirmed that SDF-1 stimulated the migration of plastic dish-adhered BMCs and that CXCR4-positive BMCs migrated to SDF-1 more promptly than CXCR4-negative BMCs in transwell assay (supplemental figure 2). It has been reported that in BMCs hematopoietic cells, hematopoietic stem cells, MSCs, and endothelial progenitor cells express CXCR4 and that other molecules such as inflammatory factors and cytokines are involved in mobilization of BMCs. (Salem and Thiemermann, 2010) Further experiments are necessary to examine the direct involvement of the SDF-1/CXCR4 axis in recruitment of BMCs in vivo. It is also interesting to compare recruitment potential among BMCs.

Adult bone marrow contains several distinct populations of stem cells, such as hematopoietic stem cells, MSCs, endothelial progenitor cells. We observed the number of GFP-positive cells increased in periodontal ligament 5 weeks after injury and about 13% of them are CD45 positive (**Figure 3**). This result suggested that most of cells detected in periodontal ligament were not hematopoietic cells at least at time point we evaluated (5 weeks after injury). It is necessary to directly determine what types of cells are recruited to periodontal defects.

In FACS analyses, we used CD45 (-), TER119 (-), PDGFR α (+), and Sca-1 (+) cells to detect P α S cells, a subset of MSCs in bone marrow. Based on the results of FACS analyses, we demonstrated for the first time that P α S cells in bone marrow decreased after periodontal injury (**Figure 5**). However, it was not clarified whether P α S cells contribute to periodontal tissue repair process. Morikawa et al. reported that PaS-derived clones with multi-differentiation potential are also positive for CD105 and CD90 *in vitro* (Morikawa et al., 2009). It is very important to analyze whether P α S cells that migrated to periodontal defects also express CD90 and CD105.

In summary, our data demonstrate that bone marrow cells are mobilized to periodontal defects. Further experiments are needed to determine cells to be mobilized from bone marrow to periodontal defects and regulatory mechanism involved in this process. Recruitment of BMCs, including a subset of MSCs could be a new target of periodontal treatment.

SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: http://www.frontiersin.org/journal/10.3389/fcell.2014.00019/ abstract

REFERENCES

- Alm, J. J., Koivu, H. M., Heino, T. J., Hentunen, T. A., Laitinen, S., and Aro, H. T. (2010). Circulating plastic adherent mesenchymal stem cells in aged hip fracture patients. *J. Orthop. Res.* 28, 1634–1642. doi: 10.1002/jor. 21167
- Chen, S. C., Marino, V., Gronthos, S., and Bartold, P. M. (2006). Location of putative stem cells in human periodontal ligament. *J. Periodontal Res.* 41, 547–553. doi: 10.1111/j.1600-0765.2006.00904.x
- Fukuda, D., Enomoto, S., Shirakawa, I., Nagai, R., and Sata, M. (2009). Fluvastatin accelerates re-endothelialization impaired by local sirolimus treatment. *Eur. J. Pharmacol.* 612, 87–92. doi: 10.1016/j.ejphar.2009.04.006
- Hasegawa, N., Kawaguchi, H., Hirachi, A., Takeda, K., Mizuno, N., Nishimura, M., et al. (2006). Behavior of transplanted bone marrow-derived mesenchymal stem cells in periodontal defects. *J. Periodontol.* 77, 1003–1007. doi: 10.1902/jop.2006.050341
- Havensm A. M., Chiu, E., Taba, M., Wang, J., Shiozawa, Y., Jung, Y., et al. (2008). Stromal-derived factor-1 alpha (CXCL12) levels increase in periodontal disease. *J. Periodontol.* 79, 845–853. doi: 10.1902/jop.2008.070514
- Honczarenko, M., Le, Y., Swierkowski, M., Ghiran, I., Glodek, A. M., and Silberstein, L. E. (2006). Human bone marrow stromal cells express a distinct set of biologically functional chemokine receptors. *Stem Cells* 24, 1030–1041. doi: 10.1634/stemcells.2005-0319
- Jones, G. N., Moschidou, D., Lay, K., Abdulrazzak, H., Vanleene, M., Shefelbine, S. J., et al. (2012). Upregulating CXCR4 in human fetal mesenchymal stem cells enhances engraftment and bone mechanics in a mouse model of osteogenesis imperfecta. *Stem Cells Transl. Med.* 1, 70–78. doi: 10.5966/sctm. 2011-0007
- Kawaguchi, H., Hirachi, A., Hasegawa, N., Iwata, T., Hamaguchi, H., Shiba, H., et al. (2004). Enhancement of periodontal tissue regeneration by transplantation of bone marrow mesenchymal stem cells. *J Periodontol.* 75, 1281–1287. doi: 10.1902/jop.2004.75.9.1281
- Kitaori, T., Ito, H., Schwarz, E. M., Tsutsumi, R., Yoshitomi, H., Oishi, S., et al. (2009). Stromal cell-derived factor 1/CXCR4 signaling is critical for the recruitment of mesenchymal stem cells to the fracture site during skeletal repair in a mouse model. *Arthritis Rheum.* 60, 813–823. doi: 10.1002/art. 24330
- Mansilla, E., Marín, G. H., Drago, H., Sturla, F., Salas, E., Gardiner, C., et al. (2006). Bloodstream cells phenotypically identical to human mesenchymal bone marrow stem cells circulate in large amounts under the influence of acute large skin damage: new evidence for their use in regenerative medicine. *Transplant. Proc.* 38, 967–969. doi: 10.1016/j.transproceed.2006. 02.053
- McCulloch, C. A. G. (1985). Progenitor-cell populations in the periodontalligament of mice. Anat. Rec. 211, 258–262. doi: 10.1002/ar.1092110305
- Morikawa, S., Mabuchi, Y., Kubota, Y., Nagai, Y., Niibe, K., Hiratsu, E., et al. (2009). Prospective identification, isolation, and systemic transplantation of multipotent mesenchymal stem cells in murine bone marrow. J. Exp. Med. 206, 2483–2496. doi: 10.1084/jem.20091046
- Ohta, S., Yamada, S., Matuzaka, K., and Inoue, T. (2008). The behavior of stem cells and progenitor cells in the periodontal ligament during wound healing as observed using immunohistochemical methods. J. Periodontal. Res. 43, 595–603. doi: 10.1111/j.1600-0765.2007.01002.x
- Okabe, M., Ikawa, M., Kominami, K., Nakanishi, T., and Nishimune, Y. (1997). Green mice as a source of ubiquitous green cells. *FEBS Lett.* 407, 313–319. doi: 10.1016/S0014-5793(97)00313-X
- Salem, H. K., and Thiemermann, C. (2010). Mesenchymal stromal cells: current understanding and clinical status. *Stem Cells* 28, 585–596. doi: 10.1002/ stem.269

- Sata, M., Saiura, A., Kunisato, A., Tojo, A., Okada, S., Tokuhisa, T., et al. (2002). Hematopoietic stem cells differentiate into vascular cells that participate in the pathogenesis of atherosclerosis. *Nat. Med.* 8, 403–409. doi: 10.1038/nm0402-403
- Seo, B. M., Miura, M., Gronthos, S., Bartold, P. M., Batouli, S., Brahim, J., et al. (2004). Investigation of multipotent postnatal stem cells from human periodontal ligament. *Lancet* 364, 149–155. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(04)16627-0
- Yang, Y., Rossi, F. M. V., and Putnins, E. E. (2010). Periodontal regeneration using engineered bone marrow mesenchymal stromal cells. *Biomaterials* 31, 8574–8582. doi: 10.1016/j.biomaterials.2010.06.026
- Yin, Y., Zhao, X., Fang, Y., Yu, S., Zhao, J., Song, M., et al. (2010). SDF-1 alpha involved in mobilization and recruitment of endothelial progenitor cells after arterial injury in mice. *Cardiovasc. Pathol.* 19, 218–227. doi: 10.1016/j.carpath. 2009.04.002
- Zhou, J., Shi, S., Shi, Y., Xie, H., Chen, L., He, Y., et al. (2011). Role of bone marrow-derived progenitor cells in the maintenance and regeneration of dental mesenchymal tissues. J. Cell. Physiol. 226, 2081–2090. doi: 10.1002/jcp.22538

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Received: 18 December 2013; accepted: 28 April 2014; published online: 21 May 2014. Citation: Kimura Y, Komaki M, Iwasaki K, Sata M, Izumi Y and Morita I (2014) Recruitment of bone marrow-derived cells to periodontal tissue defects. Front. Cell Dev. Biol. **2**:19. doi: 10.3389/fcell.2014.00019

This article was submitted to Stem Cell Research, a section of the journal Frontiers in Cell and Developmental Biology.

Copyright © 2014 Kimura, Komaki, Iwasaki, Sata, Izumi and Morita. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) or licensor are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

Cancer-associated mesenchymal stem cells aggravate tumor progression

Chie Kudo-Saito*

Institute for Advanced Medical Research, Keio University School of Medicine, Tokyo, Japan

Mesenchymal stem cells (MSCs) have both stemness and multi-modulatory activities on other cells, and the immunosuppressive and tumor-promotive mechanisms have been intensively investigated in cancer. The role of MSCs appears to be revealed in tumor aggravation, and targeting MSCs seems to be a promising strategy for treating cancer patients. However, it is still impractical in clinical therapy, since the precise MSCs are poorly understood in the *in vivo* setting. In previous studies, MSCs were obtained from different sources, and were prepared by *ex vivo* expansion for a long term. The inconsistent experimental conditions made the *in vivo* MSCs obscure. To define the MSCs in the host is a priority issue for targeting MSCs in cancer therapy. We recently identified a unique subpopulation of MSCs increasing in mice and human with cancer metastasis. These MSCs are specifically expanded by metastatic tumor cells, and promote tumor progression and dissemination accompanied by immune suppression and dysfunction in the host, more powerfully than normal MSCs growing without interference of cancer. In this review, we summarize current knowledge of the role of MSCs in tumor aggravation, along with our new findings of the bizarre MSCs.

Keywords: mesenchymal stem cell, cancer, metastasis, epithelial-to-mesenchymal transition, immunosuppression

Introduction

Mesenchymal stem cells (MSCs) have stemness including self-renewability and pluripotency to differentiate into adipocytes, osteocytes, chondrocytes, fibroblasts, pericytes and more, and also have multiple immunoregulatory properties for maintaining immune tolerance (Uccelli et al., 2008; Liu et al., 2009). MSCs suppress immune responses directly by producing immunomodulatory molecules such as IDO, PGE2, TGF β and nitric oxide, and indirectly via generation and expansion of potent immunosuppressors such as CD4⁺FOXP3⁺ or CD8⁺FOXP3⁺ regulatory T cells (Tregs) and myeloid-derived regulatory cells including dendritic cells (DCregs), monocytes/macrophages (M-MDSCs) and granulocytes (G-MDSCs) (Nauta and Fibbe, 2007; Uccelli et al., 2008; Maggini et al., 2010). Recent studies have demonstrated that MSCs are originally silent, and become immunosuppressive by activation with pro-inflammatory cytokines such as IFN γ , TNF α , and IL-1 β , and ligation of TLRs such as TLR2, TLR3, and TLR4 expressed on the MSCs (Burr et al., 2013; English, 2013). This suggests that the functional role of MSCs depends on the components within the microenvironment.

Tumor tissues contain a number of influential factors for recruiting and activating MSCs (Uccelli et al., 2008; Yang et al., 2013). In turn, in the tumor microenvironment, the MSCs modulate

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Simone Pacini, University of Pisa, Italy

Reviewed by:

Eumorphia Remboutsika, Biomedical Sciences Research Center "Alexander Fleming," Greece Laura Iop, University of Padua, Italy

*Correspondence:

Chie Kudo-Saito, Institute for Advanced Medical Research, Keio University School of Medicine, 35 Shinanomachi, Shinjuku-ku, Tokyo 160-8582, Japan kudoc@a3.keio.jp

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Stem Cell Research, a section of the journal Frontiers in Cell and Developmental Biology

> Received: 12 February 2015 Paper pending published: 02 March 2015 Accepted: 17 March 2015 Published: 01 April 2015

Citation:

Kudo-Saito C (2015) Cancer-associated mesenchymal stem cells aggravate tumor progression. Front. Cell Dev. Biol. 3:23. doi: 10.3389/fcell.2015.00023 biological properties of tumor cells directly by causing epithelialto-mesenchymal transition (EMT) followed by induction of tumor metastasis and cancer-initiating stem cells (CSCs), and indirectly via angiogenesis followed by promotion of tumor growth (Uccelli et al., 2008; Yang et al., 2013). These totally lead to tumor heterogeneity responsible for resistance to various treatments. Thus, targeting immunoregulatory and tumor-promotive MSCs seems to be a promising strategy for both attenuating the tumor malignancy, and improving the host immunity against cancer in treating patients.

However, targeting MSCs is still unrealistic in clinical settings, because the in vivo MSC profiles remain obscure. The surface molecules expressed in MSCs have been widely investigated, and many studies demonstrated the high expression of CD49a, CD73, CD90, CD105, CD146, CD271, and STRO-1, but not CD11b, CD14, CD19, CD34, CD45, CD79a in human MSCs (Nauta and Fibbe, 2007; Kuhn and Tuan, 2010). However, these molecules are not unique markers specific for MSC phenotype and function. In previous studies, MSCs were mostly obtained from different sources followed by ex vivo expansion for a long term. This implies that only a part of MSC subpopulations might be selectively expanded, or transformation in MSCs might generate another type different from the original MSCs in the host. Furthermore, the biological properties of MSCs may be much more modulated under cancer than we have ever known in regenerative research without cancer. These inconsistent experimental conditions impede development of targeting MSCs in cancer therapy. To rigorously define the precise MSCs in cancer patients is a priority issue for the practical application of MSC targeting in the treatment.

We have been exploring novel anticancer therapeutics by focusing on the interplay between neoplastic lesions and host immunity for a while, and have recently provided new insights into the metastatic process (Kudo-Saito, 2013; Kudo-Saito et al., 2013a, 2014). Using murine and human tumor cells with typical features of EMT, high motility and invasivity, following transduction of a cDNA coding for snail family zinc finger 1 (Snail), we found that Snail⁺ metastatic tumor cells specifically release a large amount of TSP1 (Kudo-Saito et al., 2009), CCL2 (Kudo-Saito et al., 2013b), and FSTL1 (Kudo-Saito, 2013; Kudo-Saito et al., 2013a), all of which can generate immune suppression and dysfunction mediated by immunoregulatory cells including CD4⁺Foxp3⁺ Tregs, CD11c⁺MHC II^{low/-} DCregs and CD45⁻ALCAM⁺ MSCs, and functionally impaired CD8^{low} T cells. This pathway totally accelerates cancer metastasis in the host. Among the Snail⁺ tumor-producing factors, FSTL1, which is a member of the SPARC family (Sylva et al., 2013), is an outstanding molecule playing a dual role in cancer metastasis particularly to the bones. FSTL1 confers the invasive potential and bone tropism on tumor cells, and also generates and expands CD45⁻ALCAM⁺ MSCs initially in bone marrow and sequentially all over the body in the host (Kudo-Saito, 2013; Kudo-Saito et al., 2013a). We compared the biological properties between Snail/FSTL1-expanded MSCs (designated "sMSCs") and other MSCs manipulated by none or non-metastatic tumor cells prepared in vitro and in vivo. The in vitro MSCs were CD45⁻ cells sorted from bone marrow, spleen and peripheral blood of naive

mice followed by stimulation with none or culture supernatant of Snail⁻ or Snail⁺ tumor cells for 5–7 days. The *in vivo* MSCs were CD45⁻ cells freshly isolated from those tissues of naive mice or the mice implanted with Snail⁻ or Snail⁺ tumor cells (labeled with GFP for elimination). We found that the sMSCs prepared either in vitro or in vivo specifically produce ANGPT2, CCL2, CCL3, and FSTL1, and most powerfully affect tumor behavior and host immunity by using these molecules (unpublished data except CCL2). ALCAM is expressed only in these MSCs, but not in normal MSCs growing without interference of cancer. These MSCs could be the "activated MSCs" with immunoregulatory properties, since ALCAM is known as an activation marker as well as a MSC marker (Weidle et al., 2010). We validated these results observed in the murine system, using human system with human tumor cells and PBMCs. In addition, we immunohistochemically analyzed tumor tissues of advanced breast cancer patients, and found that accumulation of ALCAM⁺ cells (possibly including the sMSCs) significantly correlates with FSTL1 expression level in tumor portions, but not in the adjacent normal counterparts. This points to the *in vivo* existence of a causal molecular connection between FSTL1 and ALCAM within the tumor microenvironment in patients.

In another study focusing on human endogenous retrovirus antigen H (HERV-H) that is frequently and highly expressed in metastatic tumor cells, we also found that CD45⁻CD271⁺ MSCs are specifically recruited by CCL19 released from HERV-H⁺ tumor cells in the microenvironment (Kudo-Saito et al., 2014). These MSCs are expanded by a 17-mer peptide that is encoded in the immunosuppressive domain of the HERV-H envelope protein. HERV-H was also found to upstreamly regulate Snail and Twist expressions in the metastatic tumor cells. In the immunohistochemical analysis, the significant correlation between HERV-H and CCL19 expressions and accumulation of CD271⁺ cells (possibly including the HERV-H-induced MSCs) was observed in tumor tissues of colon cancer patients. This also suggests the clinical relevance of the experimental findings. Later, we additionally found a high similarity of the phenotype and function between the sMSCs and the HERV-H-induced MSCs. Both ALCAM and CD271 are the functional molecules required for cell proliferation and sphere formation of these MSCs, and the soluble factors released by the sMSCs are also upregulated in the HERV-H-induced MSCs (unpublished data). This suggests that the CD45⁻ALCAM⁺CD271⁺ MSCs (also designated "sMSCs" below) could be the cancer-activated MSCs in vivo, particularly generated and expanded in the presence of cancer metastasis in patients. The sMSCs would be a promising target for breaking through the difficulty in treating patients with cancer metastasis and impaired immunity. Here, we summarize the current knowledge of the diversified functional role of the bizarre sMSCs (Figure 1) including normal MSCs in tumor aggravation.

MSCs Promote Tumor Growth

Because of the high migratory property, MSCs promptly migrate into tumor tissues in response to the inflammatory molecules including chemokines such as CCL5 (Karnoub et al., 2007; Luo et al., 2014) and CXCL16 (Jung et al., 2013). MSCs were



considered to contribute to tumor progression by causing angiogenesis essential for tumor survival and growth after differentiation into the cancer-associated cells such as fibroblasts (CAFs), pericytes and endothelial cells (Bergfeld and Declerck, 2010). However, the role of the MSC itself begins to be recognized in tumor progression. One paper has demonstrated that CD44 expressed in MSCs is a functional molecule crucial for the migratory and angiogenic properties of the differentiated CAFs (Spaeth et al., 2013). This suggests that the functional role of fibroblasts depend on the original MSCs. In our study, a number of angiogenic factors were significantly upregulated in the sMSCs, and also in the MSCs manipulated by non-metastatic tumor cells as compared to normal MSCs. This seems to be the cancer-associated features. Particularly, ANGPT2 and CCL2 were specifically released by the sMSCs leading to the much more aggressive tumor growth, although no superior production of other potent angiogenic molecules like VEGFs was seen in the sMSCs compared to other MSCs (unpublished data). When the sMSCs were transfected with siRNAs specific for angpt2 or ccl2 before coinjection with tumor cells in mice, the sMSC-induced tumor growth accompanied by increase of F4/80⁺TIE2⁺ tumorassociated macrophages (TAMs) or CD11b⁺Gr1⁺ MDSCs in the tumor tissues was significantly inhibited. This suggests that the sMSC-derived ANGPT2 and CCL2 play a key role in the sMSCinduced tumor growth. ANGPT2, which binds to TEK/TIE2, is the antagonist of a potent angiogenic molecule ANGPT1 (Fagiani and Christofori, 2013). However, as well as CCL2, ANGPT2 has been demonstrated to promote tumor growth indirectly via increase of TIE2⁺ TAM-like macrophages in the tumor microenvironment (De Palma and Naldini, 2011). FSTL1 was reported to significantly increase in CAFs within stroma of colon cancer tissues (Torres et al., 2013). However, FSTL1 was a small impact on tumor growth in our study.

Some studies have reported no MSC efficacy on tumor growth (Bergfeld and Declerck, 2010). One possible reason for the paradoxical effects may be the experimental conditions such as MSC sources and *in vitro* culture term. Another possible reason may be the distribution site and the amount of the MSCs *in vivo*. In our experiments, the sMSC effect on tumor growth depended on the route of injection of MSCs into mice. Subcutaneous tumor growth was much more aggressively promoted by subcutaneous (s.c.) coinjection with the sMSCs as compared to the case of intravenous (i.v.) injection, by which only a small and limited amount of the sMSCs spontaneously migrated into the tumor tissues (Kudo-Saito et al., 2013a).

MSCs Promote Tumor Metastasis

Recent studies begin to uncover the roles of MSCs in facilitating tumor metastasis. CCL5 is one of the chemokines produced from both tumor cells and MSCs in the tumor tissues of breast cancer (Karnoub et al., 2007) and prostate cancer (Luo et al., 2014). Tumor-derived CCL5 recruits MSCs to the microenvironment, and the MSCs also release CCL5 for inducing EMT in the tumor cells. Possibly because the major source of MSCs is bone marrow, the relationship between MSCs and bone metastasis has been intensively investigated (Bergfeld and Declerck, 2010). Bone metastasis is frequently seen in patients, particularly with breast cancers and prostate cancers, giving a high risk that deteriorates the quality of life of patients leading to poor prognosis (Weilbaecher et al., 2011). Previous studies demonstrated that tumor cells migrate into bone marrow in response to various chemokines and cytokines such as CXCL12, CCL2, and IL6, which are released by MSCs (Bergfeld and Declerck, 2010). However, little is known about the molecular mechanisms how MSCs direct tumor cells to the bone.

In our study, we did not observed the significant production of CCL5 and CXCL12 in the sMSCs. Instead, ANGPT2, CCL2, and FSTL1 are significantly upregulated in the sMSCs compared to other MSCs (Kudo-Saito et al., 2013a). The crucial roles of ANGPT2 (Minami et al., 2013; Rigamonti and De Palma, 2013) and CCL2 (Lu et al., 2009; Tang and Tsai, 2012) have been already established in the mechanism of cancer metastasis. We also demonstrated the significance of CCL2 in EMTassociated cancer metastasis (Kudo-Saito et al., 2013b). Later, we additionally found that FSTL1 plays a key role in bone metastasis. FSTL1 can confer bone polarity on tumor cells by inducing the bone metastasis-associated molecular expression such as CCR2, CXCR4, and RANKL (Kudo-Saito et al., 2013a). Cancer metastasis is amplified by CCL2 and FSTL1, which are abundantly produced by both the sMSCs and the metastatic tumor cells within the tumor microenvironment. Interestingly, in addition to the soluble factors, cell-cell contact between tumor cells and the sMSCs is required for tumor metastasis, particularly to bone marrow, where is a niche for maintaining CSCs (Kudo-Saito et al., 2013a). This is also involved in the mechanism of the sMSC-created tumor heterogeneity as described below.

MSCs Create Tumor Heterogeneity and Complexity

It is increasingly being recognized that every tumor cell has a different profile in gene expression and cellular function even if the source (tumor tissue and patient) is just same, and the clonal evolution in a tumor cell builds tumor heterogeneity and complexity governing resistance to the treatments leading to poor outcome in patients (Junttila and De Sauvage, 2013). Although the extracellular matrix is one of the most influential factors for altering tumor properties (Faurobert et al., 2015), MSCs have been also demonstrated to play a key role in generating CSCs with a high metastaticity, dormancy and chemoresistance. In our study, we also observed that tumor cells transform into CSC-like tumor cells following in vitro coculture or in vivo coinjection with the sMSCs (Kudo-Saito et al., 2013a). This is partly mediated by cellcell interaction through the ALCAM-ALCAM homophilic binding after ALCAM clustering on the cell surface, which is crucial for proliferation and colonization of CSCs (Weidle et al., 2010)

and the sMSCs (Kudo-Saito et al., 2013a). Interestingly, Roodhart et al. reported platinum-based chemotherapy activates MSCs to produce polyunsaturated fatty acids, which confer chemoresistance on tumor cells (Roodhart et al., 2011). This gives a warning in practical settings of treating cancer patients with chemotherapeutics.

In addition to such epigenetic mutations in tumor cells, spontaneous hybridization between tumor cells and MSCs has been recently demonstrated as a non-mutational mechanism in breast cancer (Rappa et al., 2012) and lung cancer (Xu et al., 2014). The tumor/MSC-fused cells have CSC-like properties such as high tumorigenicity and metastaticity, maintaining both profiles of tumor cells and MSCs. In our study, when tumor cells were cocultured with the sMSCs in phagocytosis assay, a few tumor cells were engulfed by the sMSCs, but not fused together, and the tumor cells taken were kept inside of the sMSCs alive without cell death or digestion for a long term (unpublished data). This may be another mechanism that tumor cells lurk with the help of MSCs in the host. To analyze the phenotype and behavior of these tumor-holding MSCs may contribute to further understanding of the mechanism involved in tumor survival and escape. Interestingly, it has been also demonstrated that MSCs transform into tumor-like cells with high proliferative ability following spontaneous mutations (Miura et al., 2006; Tolar et al., 2007; Rosland et al., 2009; Mohseny and Hogendoorn, 2011). This seems to be the fundamental mechanism underlying the emergence of the cancer stem cells originated from non-cancerous cells in the host.

MSCs Protect Tumor Cells from Immune Attack

MSCs cause immune suppression and dysfunction, which totally support all steps of tumor progression (Nauta and Fibbe, 2007; Uccelli et al., 2008). Such immunoregulatory MSCs have been interest in the therapy to properly induce and activate anti-tumor immune responses in cancer patients, since impaired immunity has been a critical issue in the treatment (Uccelli et al., 2008; Yang et al., 2013). Recent studies have demonstrated that MSCs become immunosuppressive following activation through inflammatory signals (Burr et al., 2013; English, 2013). A tumor tissue, where is a milieu filled with abundant pro-inflammatory molecules produced by tumor cells and a variety of the infiltrating cells, could be the best educational place for MSCs to acquire the distinctive competence to support tumor cells. However, how to distinguish between the cancer-activated MSCs and normal healthy MSCs remains to be elucidated.

In our study, we identified CCL2, CCL3, and FSTL1 as the prominent immunomodulatory molecules upregulated only in the sMSCs. The sMSCs generate functionally impaired CD8^{low} T cells through cell-cell contact with ALCAM expressed on the sMSCs (Kudo-Saito et al., 2013a), in addition to regular Tregs as reported elsewhere (Nauta and Fibbe, 2007; Uccelli et al., 2008; Maggini et al., 2010). In the previous studies showing Treg or CD8^{low} T-cell induction by MSCs, CD8 reduction in the Foxp3⁺ T cells (Prevosto et al., 2007), or Foxp3 expression in the CD8^{low} T cells (Giuliani et al., 2011) were not analyzed. The sMSC-derived FSTL1 might amplify such abnormal

immunity by promoting the sMSC expansion in an autocrine manner as well as a paracrine manner by the metastatic tumorderived FSTL1. CCL2 is also responsible for immunosuppression. In our study, CCL2 orchestrates CCR2-expressing immunomodulatory cells including Tregs, MDSCs and TAMs in the tumor microenvironment, and generates DCregs partly in collaboration with LCN2 that is released from the CCL2-stimulated tumor cells (Kudo-Saito et al., 2013b). Tregs within tumor microenvironment have been demonstrated to highly express a CCL3 receptor, CCR5 (Tan et al., 2009; Schlecker et al., 2012). The sMSC-derived CCL3 may also help to promptly create a beneficial environment for immunoevasion of tumor cells by recruiting the cancerassociated CCR5⁺ Tregs, although not yet investigated in our study.

Concluding Remarks

The significant advances in profiling MSCs provided abundant knowledge about MSCs, and revealed the central role of

References

- Bergfeld, S. A., and Declerck, Y. A. (2010). Bone marrow-derived mesenchymal stem cells and the tumor microenvironment. *Cancer Metastasis Rev.* 29, 249–261. doi: 10.1007/s10555-010-9222-7
- Burr, S. P., Dazzi, F., and Garden, O. A. (2013). Mesenchymal stromal cells and regulatory T cells: the Yin and Yang of peripheral tolerance? *Immunol. Cell Biol.* 91, 12–18. doi: 10.1038/icb.2012.60
- De Palma, M., and Naldini, L. (2011). Angiopoietin-2 TIEs up macrophages in tumor angiogenesis. *Clin. Cancer Res.* 17, 5226–5232. doi: 10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-10-0171
- English, K. (2013). Mechanisms of mesenchymal stromal cell immunomodulation. Immunol. Cell Biol. 91, 19–26. doi: 10.1038/icb.2012.56
- Fagiani, E., and Christofori, G. (2013). Angiopoietins in angiogenesis. Cancer Lett. 328, 18–26. doi: 10.1016/j.canlet.2012.08.018
- Faurobert, E., Bouin, A. P., and Albiges-Rizo, C. (2015). Microenvironment, tumor cell plasticity, and cancer. Curr. Opin. Oncol. 27, 64–70. doi: 10.1097/CCO.00000000000154
- Giuliani, M., Fleury, M., Vernochet, A., Ketroussi, F., Clay, D., Azzarone, B., et al. (2011). Long-lasting inhibitory effects of fetal liver mesenchymal stem cells on T-lymphocyte proliferation. *PLoS ONE* 6:e19988. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0019988
- Jung, Y., Kim, J. K., Shiozawa, Y., Wang, J., Mishra, A., Joseph, J., et al. (2013). Recruitment of mesenchymal stem cells into prostate tumours promotes metastasis. *Nat. Commun.* 4:1795. doi: 10.1038/ncomms2766
- Junttila, M. R., and De Sauvage, F. J. (2013). Influence of tumour microenvironment heterogeneity on therapeutic response. *Nature* 501, 346–354. doi: 10.1038/nature12626
- Karnoub, A. E., Dash, A. B., Vo, A. P., Sullivan, A., Brooks, M. W., Bell, G. W., et al. (2007). Mesenchymal stem cells within tumour stroma promote breast cancer metastasis. *Nature* 449, 557–563. doi: 10.1038/nature06188
- Kudo-Saito, C. (2013). FSTL1 promotes bone metastasis by causing immune dysfunction. Oncoimmunology 2:e26528. doi: 10.4161/onci.26528
- Kudo-Saito, C., Fuwa, T., Murakami, K., and Kawakami, Y. (2013a). Targeting FSTL1 prevents tumor bone metastasis and consequent immune dysfunction. *Cancer Res.* 73, 6185–6193. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-13-1364
- Kudo-Saito, C., Shirako, H., Ohike, M., Tsukamoto, N., and Kawakami, Y. (2013b). CCL2 is critical for immunosuppression to promote cancer metastasis. *Clin. Exp. Metastasis* 30, 393–405. doi: 10.1007/s10585-012-9545-6
- Kudo-Saito, C., Shirako, H., Takeuchi, T., and Kawakami, Y. (2009). Cancer metastasis is accelerated through immunosuppression during Snail-induced

MSCs in tumor development and progression. The emerging evidences show that MSCs stand out as a promising therapeutic target for treating cancer and the consequent impaired immunity in patients. Nevertheless, we have understood little about the MSCs interacting with tumor cells in the *in vivo* setting. Our sMSC study is gradually unmasking the characteristics of the cancer-activated MSCs that can sharply build heterogeneic and complexed microenvironment beneficial for tumor survival and escape in the host. However, further studies are still needed to achieve translation of the findings to the clinical therapy.

Acknowledgments

The sMSC research was supported by Grant-in-Aid for Scientific Research from Japan Society for the Promotion of Science (19590405, 21590445, and 26430122), The Sagawa Foundation for Promotion of Cancer Research, and Keio Gijuku Academic Development Funds.

EMT of cancer cells. Cancer Cell 15, 195-206. doi: 10.1016/j.ccr.2009. 01.023

- Kudo-Saito, C., Yura, M., Yamamoto, R., and Kawakami, Y. (2014). Induction of immunoregulatory CD271+ cells by metastatic tumor cells that express human endogenous retrovirus H. *Cancer Res.* 74, 1361–1370. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-13-1349
- Kuhn, N. Z., and Tuan, R. S. (2010). Regulation of stemness and stem cell niche of mesenchymal stem cells: implications in tumorigenesis and metastasis. J. Cell. Physiol. 222, 268–277. doi: 10.1002/jcp.21940
- Liu, Z. J., Zhuge, Y., and Velazquez, O. C. (2009). Trafficking and differentiation of mesenchymal stem cells. J. Cell. Biochem. 106, 984–991. doi: 10.1002/jcb.22091
- Lu, Y., Chen, Q., Corey, E., Xie, W., Fan, J., Mizokami, A., et al. (2009). Activation of MCP-1/CCR2 axis promotes prostate cancer growth in bone. *Clin. Exp. Metastasis* 26, 161–169. doi: 10.1007/s10585-008-9226-7
- Luo, J., Ok Lee, S., Liang, L., Huang, C. K., Li, L., Wen, S., et al. (2014). Infiltrating bone marrow mesenchymal stem cells increase prostate cancer stem cell population and metastatic ability via secreting cytokines to suppress androgen receptor signaling. Oncogene 33, 2768–2778. doi: 10.1038/onc.2013.233
- Maggini, J., Mirkin, G., Bognanni, I., Holmberg, J., Piazzon, I. M., Nepomnaschy, I., et al. (2010). Mouse bone marrow-derived mesenchymal stromal cells turn activated macrophages into a regulatory-like profile. *PLoS ONE* 5:e9252. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0009252
- Minami, T., Jiang, S., Schadler, K., Suehiro, J., Osawa, T., Oike, Y., et al. (2013). The calcineurin-NFAT-angiopoietin-2 signaling axis in lung endothelium is critical for the establishment of lung metastases. *Cell Rep.* 4, 709–723. doi: 10.1016/j.celrep.2013.07.021
- Miura, M., Miura, Y., Padilla-Nash, H. M., Molinolo, A. A., Fu, B., Patel, V., et al. (2006). Accumulated chromosomal instability in murine bone marrow mesenchymal stem cells leads to malignant transformation. *Stem Cells* 24, 1095–1103. doi: 10.1634/stemcells.2005-0403
- Mohseny, A. B., and Hogendoorn, P. C. (2011). Concise review: mesenchymal tumors: when stem cells go mad. Stem Cells 29, 397–403. doi: 10.1002/stem.596
- Nauta, A. J., and Fibbe, W. E. (2007). Immunomodulatory properties of mesenchymal stromal cells. *Blood* 110, 3499–3506. doi: 10.1182/blood-2007-02-069716
- Prevosto, C., Zancolli, M., Canevali, P., Zocchi, M. R., and Poggi, A. (2007). Generation of CD4+ or CD8+ regulatory T cells upon mesenchymal stem cell-lymphocyte interaction. *Haematologica* 92, 881–888. doi: 10.3324/haematol.11240
- Rappa, G., Mercapide, J., and Lorico, A. (2012). Spontaneous formation of tumorigenic hybrids between breast cancer and multipotent stromal cells is a source of tumor heterogeneity. *Am. J. Pathol.* 180, 2504–2515. doi: 10.1016/j.ajpath.2012.02.020

- Rigamonti, N., and De Palma, M. (2013). A role for angiopoietin-2 in organspecific metastasis. *Cell Rep.* 4, 621–623. doi: 10.1016/j.celrep.2013.07.034
- Roodhart, J. M., Daenen, L. G., Stigter, E. C., Prins, H. J., Gerrits, J., Houthuijzen, J. M., et al. (2011). Mesenchymal stem cells induce resistance to chemotherapy through the release of platinum-induced fatty acids. *Cancer Cell* 20, 370–383. doi: 10.1016/j.ccr.2011.08.010
- Rosland, G. V., Svendsen, A., Torsvik, A., Sobala, E., McCormack, E., Immervoll, H., et al. (2009). Long-term cultures of bone marrow-derived human mesenchymal stem cells frequently undergo spontaneous malignant transformation. *Cancer Res.* 69, 5331–5339. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-08-4630
- Schlecker, E., Stojanovic, A., Eisen, C., Quack, C., Falk, C. S., Umansky, V., et al. (2012). Tumor-infiltrating monocytic myeloid-derived suppressor cells mediate CCR5-dependent recruitment of regulatory T cells favoring tumor growth. *J. Immunol.* 189, 5602–5611. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1201018
- Spaeth, E. L., Labaff, A. M., Toole, B. P., Klopp, A., Andreeff, M., and Marini, F. C. (2013). Mesenchymal CD44 expression contributes to the acquisition of an activated fibroblast phenotype via TWIST activation in the tumor microenvironment. *Cancer Res.* 73, 5347–5359. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-13-0087
- Sylva, M., Moorman, A. F., and Van Den Hoff, M. J. (2013). Follistatin-like 1 in vertebrate development. *Birth Def. Res. (Part C)* 99, 61–69. doi: 10.1002/bdrc.21030
- Tan, M. C., Goedegebuure, P. S., Belt, B. A., Flaherty, B., Sankpal, N., Gillanders, W. E., et al. (2009). Disruption of CCR5-dependent homing of regulatory T cells inhibits tumor growth in a murine model of pancreatic cancer. *J. Immunol.* 182, 1746–1755. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.182.3.1746
- Tang, C. H., and Tsai, C. C. (2012). CCL2 increases MMP-9 expression and cell motility in human chondrosarcoma cells via the Ras/Raf/MEK/ERK/NFkappaB signaling pathway. *Biochem. Pharmacol.* 83, 335–344. doi: 10.1016/j.bcp.2011.11.013
- Tolar, J., Nauta, A. J., Osborn, M. J., Panoskaltsis Mortari, A., McElmurry, R. T., Bell, S., et al. (2007). Sarcoma derived from cultured mesenchymal stem cells. *Stem cells* 25, 371–379. doi: 10.1634/stemcells.2005-0620

- Torres, S., Bartolome, R. A., Mendes, M., Barderas, R., Fernandez-Acenero, M. J., Pelaez-Garcia, A., et al. (2013). Proteome profiling of cancer-associated fibroblasts identifies novel proinflammatory signatures and prognostic markers for colorectal cancer. *Clin. Cancer Res.* 19, 6006–6019. doi: 10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-13-1130
- Uccelli, A., Moretta, L., and Pistoia, V. (2008). Mesenchymal stem cells in health and disease. Nat. Rev. Immunol. 8, 726–736. doi: 10.1038/nri2395
- Weidle, U. H., Eggle, D., Klostermann, S., and Swart, G. W. (2010). ALCAM/CD166: cancer-related issues. *Cancer Genomics Proteomics* 7, 231–243.
- Weilbaecher, K. N., Guise, T. A., and McCauley, L. K. (2011). Cancer to bone: a fatal attraction. *Nature reviews. Cancer* 11, 411–425. doi: 10.1038/nrc3055
- Xu, M. H., Gao, X., Luo, D., Zhou, X. D., Xiong, W., and Liu, G. X. (2014). EMT and acquisition of stem cell-like properties are involved in spontaneous formation of tumorigenic hybrids between lung cancer and bone marrow-derived mesenchymal stem cells. *PLoS ONE* 9:e87893. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone. 0087893
- Yang, X., Hou, J., Han, Z., Wang, Y., Hao, C., Wei, L., et al. (2013). One cell, multiple roles: contribution of mesenchymal stem cells to tumor development in tumor microenvironment. *Cell Biosci.* 3:5. doi: 10.1186/2045-3701-3-5

Conflict of Interest Statement: The author declares that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2015 Kudo-Saito. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) or licensor are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

